Understanding respiratory illness in an HIV positive population with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy

James Brown

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of

University College London

Division of Medicine University College London

2019

Declaration

I, James Brown, declare that the work presented in this thesis is my own.

Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Abstract

The availability of effective antiretroviral therapy (ART) means that HIV infection is now a manageable chronic condition. However, although AIDS-related conditions are now rare in people living with HIV (PLWH) using ART, this population may be at greater risk of some non-AIDS conditions (such as cardiovascular disease) than the general population. The *respiratory* health of PLWH using ART has been less well explored. This thesis provides novel insights into respiratory illness among PLWH in a population with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy.

I have summarised existing evidence in a narrative literature review of respiratory illness in PLWH and systematic review of studies comparing respiratory symptoms in people with and without HIV. I have evaluated the prevalence of respiratory illness and carriage of respiratory bacterial and viral pathogens in cross-sectional data. I used molecular microbiology techniques to explore the carriage of pathogenic respiratory bacteria in PLWH. I have completed a 12-month prospective study of a cohort of HIV positive and negative participants to determine the frequency of acute respiratory illness and factors associated with illness incidence and severity in this population.

I found that respiratory symptoms are more common among HIV positive than negative people despite ART and that this difference is only partly explained by established risk factors such as tobacco smoking. In the population studied, the frequency of objective respiratory impairment as measured by spirometry was lower than that reported in many other HIV positive populations. I found no difference in the frequency of acute respiratory illnesses between HIV positive and negative individuals, however PLWH reported more severe symptoms and were more likely to seek healthcare when these illnesses occurred. In collaboration with colleagues, I have assessed interventions to improve or maintain respiratory health among PLWH. We evaluated the uptake of influenza immunisation and referral to smoking cessation services and identified barriers to these cost-effective interventions.

In summary, PLWH remain at greater risk of respiratory illness than the general population despite ART. In part this is due to greater exposure to known risk factors such as tobacco smoking, but even after adjustment for these, an independent effect of HIV status remains. We need a better understanding of the causes of this and interventions to improve the respiratory health of this population.

Contents

Acknowledgements	12
Impact statement	13
Introduction and overview of thesis	14
Overview of thesis and statement of hypothesis	15
Chapter 1: Background and literature review	17
1.1 Respiratory illness in People Living with HIV prior to the development of antiretroviral therapy	
1.2 Respiratory infection in HIV positive populations without antiretroviral therapy	
1.3 Non-communicable respiratory disease in HIV before the advent of ART	21
1.4 Changing epidemiology with the advent of antiretroviral therapy and implications for respiratory he	alth23
1.5 Respiratory infection and HIV in the antiretroviral era – is there still a problem?	26
1.6 HIV and susceptibility to Influenza	
1.7 Techniques used in assessment of respiratory health and lung function	
1.8 Non-communicable lung disease in HIV positive populations with access to ART	32
1.9 Evidence from populations other than the USA	
1.10 Data from Low and Middle-Income Countries	
1.11 Chronic lung disease in individuals with vertically acquired HIV infection in low and middle-income countries	40
1.12 Effect of HIV on measures of lung function other than spirometry	41
1.13 Summarising the epideimiology of lung function impairment and HIV in the antiretroviral era	43
1.14 Potential mechanisms for HIV-related lung disease	46
1.15 Immune dysregulation and HIV	46
1.16 Immunological mechanisms of lung impairment in HIV	47
1.17 Respiratory infection and chronic lung disease	49
1.18 Mechanisms of non-communicable lung disease in HIV	50
1.19 Effects of HIV on the airway epithelium	51
1.20 How complete is immune reconstitution with ART in the lung?	52
1.21 Summary	53
1.22 Aims of this thesis	54
Chapter 2: Respiratory symptoms in HIV positive individuals and the effect of antiretroviral therapy, a syst review and meta-analysis	ematic 55
2.1 Aims of the study	56

2.2 Methods	57
2.2.1 Search strategy	57
2.2.2 Review team	59
2.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria for systematic review	59
2.2.4 Study selection and data extraction	60
2.2.5 Statistical analysis	62
2. 3 Results	63
2.3.1 Identification of relevant studies	63
2.3.2 Risk of bias in the studies included	65
2.3.3 Characteristics of included studies and data available	67
2.3.4 Studies assessing respiratory symptoms in HIV infected adults without access to ART	68
2.3.5 Studies that examined symptoms in HIV positive children	71
2.3.6 Studies that examined respiratory symptoms in HIV positive adults with access to antiretroviral t	herapy 73
2.3.7 Studies that reported respiratory symptoms in adults in resource-rich settings	75
2.3.8 Data from resource-limited settings with access to ART	76
2.3.9 Quantitative data synthesis	77
2.3.10 Sensitivity analyses	83
2.4 Discussion	85
2.4.1 Strengths and limitations of this analysis	86
2.5 Conclusions	87
Chapter 3: Respiratory symptoms, health status and smoking in UK HIV positive adults, a cross-sectional stu	dy88
3.1 Background and rationale for study	89
3.2 Methods	90
3.2.1 Study population	90
3.2.2 Contributions to this work	91
3.2.3 Research Ethics Committee approval	92
3.2.4 Procedures	92
3.2.5 Spirometry	95
3.2.6 Other data collected with the questionnaire	96
3.2.7 Results of blood tests	96
3.2.8 Statistical analysis	97
3.2.9 Calculation of required sample size	97
3.2.10 Data Management	97
3.3 Study Results	98

3.3.1 Participant recruitment	98
3.3.2 Details of study participants	98
3.3.3 Smoking and recreational drug use	
3.3.4 Spirometry, respiratory symptoms and health-related quality of life	101
3.3.5 Factors associated with respiratory health status impairment in univariable analyses	105
3.3.6 Associations between HIV-related parameters and respiratory health	107
3.3.7 Multivariable analysis of factors associated with respiratory health status including all participan	ts109
3.3.8 Comparing HIV positive participants with an undetectable HIV viral load with HIV negative partic	ipants
	112
3.3.9 Sensitivity analyses	114
3.3.10 Attitudes and health beliefs towards respiratory illness	115
3.4 Discussion	117
3.4.1 Strengths and limitations of this data	118
3.5 Conclusions	120
Chapter 4: Acute respiratory illness in an HIV positive population with a high uptake of antiretroviral therap	y: a
4.1 Packground and rationale for the study	121
4.1 Background and rationale for the study.	172
4.2 What is known about the effect of the status of the frequency of acute respiratory infess	125
4.3 5 Ludy anns	125
4.3.1 Frinaly Study Outcome	125
4.5.2 Secondary study outcomes	125
4.5.5 Study registration	125
4.4 Methods	120
4.4.1 Retruitment strategy	120
4.4.2 Inclusion and exclusion ciferia.	120
4.4.5 Data collection	129
4.4.4 Detection of what respiratory pathogens	150
4.4.5 Demittion of acute respiratory inness	127
4.4.0 Follow-up of study participants and measurement of incluence of acute respiratory tract inness.	124
4.4.7 Assessment at the duration and sevency of acute respiratory niness	154
4.4.8 Written symptom daries	135
4.4.9 Comparison with existing acute respiratory liness scores	13/
4.4.10 Assessment during acute respiratory linesses	138
4.4.11 Statistical analysis	139
4.4.12 Analysis of primary outcome	139

4.4.13 Analysis of duration of illness	140
4.4.14 Analysis of severity of illness	140
4.4.15 Healthcare utilisation during acute respiratory illness	141
4.4.16 Pre-planned sensitivity analyses	141
4.4.17 Calculation of required sample size	142
4.4.18 Data management	142
4.5 Results	143
4.5.1 Participant recruitment	143
4.5.2 Follow-up and completion of weekly responses	145
4.5.3 Baseline details of study participants	145
4.5.4 Detection of respiratory viral pathogens at baseline	145
4.5.5 Results of prospective follow up: frequency of acute respiratory illness	148
4.5.6 Severity and duration of illness	150
4.5.8 Treatment and healthcare utilisation	155
4.5.9 Isolation of viral and bacterial pathogens during acute respiratory illness	157
4.5.10 Sensitivity analyses	160
4.6 Conclusions	161
Chapter 5: Effect of HIV status on the detection of pathogenic respiratory organisms in sputum	164
5.1 Background and rationale for study	165
5.1.1 Existing data regarding bacterial airway colonisation in HIV	166
5.1.2 Detection of pneumococcal carriage in the respiratory tract	167
5.2 Rationale for this study	169
5.3 Methods	170
5.3.1 Sample collection and storage	170
5.3.2 DNA extraction from sputum samples	170
5.3.3 Quantitative PCR for the detection of respiratory pathogens	171
5.3.4 Procedure for PCR experiments	172
5.3.5 Preparation of standard curves for quantitative PCR	174
5.4 Results	177
5.4.1 Proportion of cohort participants with sputum samples	177
5.4.2 Quantitative PCR results	179
5.4.3 Association between identification of respiratory bacterial pathogens and baseline participant	
characteristics	182
5.4.4 Sensitivity analysis including only spontaneously expectorated sputum samples	184
5.5 Conclusions	185

Chapter 6: Summary, conclusions and suggestions for future work	.189
6.1 Summary of findings and contributions made in this thesis:	.190
6.2 Discussion	.194
6.3 Understanding the mechanisms lying behind the association between HIV status and respiratory health impairment	.196
6.4 Suggestions for future work	.197
6.4.1 Respiratory symptoms among PLWH	.197
6.4.2 Interventions to address tobacco smoking	.198
6.4.3 Frequency and severity of bacterial pneumonia	.198
6.4.4 Completeness of immune reconstitution	.198
6.5 Summary	.200
References	.202
Appendix 1: Participant questionnaire for cross-sectional study reported in chapter 3	.215
Appendix 2: Publications arising from this thesis.	.243
Published manuscripts:	.243
Conference abstracts:	.243

Index of tables

Table 1 Studies evaluating frequency of airflow obstruction in HIV positive populations	44
Table 2 Modified Newcastle-Ottawa scale used	61
Table 3: Studies included in the review	64
Table 4 Newcastle-Ottawa scale scores	66
Table 5 Respiratory symptoms in resource-limited settings without access to ART	69
Table 6: Respiratory symptoms in resource-rich settings without access to ART	70
Table 7: Studies evaluating respiratory symptoms in HIV positive and negative children	72
Table 8: Studies from resource-rich settings with access to ART	74
Table 9: Studies evaluating resource-poor settings with access to ART	76
Table 10 questionnaires / scales used in this study	94
Table 11 Comparison of the demographic differences between HIV positive and negative participants	100
Table 12 Comparison of comorbidities and their management between HIV positive and negative	
participants	102
Table 13 Smoking and recreational drug use	103
Table 14 Respiratory symptoms and health status	104
Table 15 associations between participant characteristics and respiratory health status impairment	106
Table 16: Associations between HIV related factors and SGRQ total score	108
Table 17 Associations with St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire Total Score, multivariable log-stale	
linear regression	110
Table 18 multivariable logistic regression of associations between MRC score ≥2 and participant	
characteristics.	111
Table 19 Comparison of HIV positive participants with an undetectable HIV load and HIV negative	
participants	113
Table 20 Participant thoughts about lung health	116
Table 21: Participant baseline characteristics	146
Table 22 Baseline respiratory health status and spirometry	147
Table 23 Risk factors for acute respiratory illness among cohort participants	149
Table 24 Relationship between participant baseline characteristics and symptom severity at time of	
reporting acute respiratory illness, log-scale linear regression analyses	154
Table 25 medication and healthcare utilisation during acute respiratory illnesses	156
Table 26 Antibiotic resistance profiles from sputum samples during acute illness	159
Table 27 Probes and primers used for PCR analysis of sputum samples	171
Table 28 Reagents and concentrations used for qPCR reactions	173
Table 29 Comparison of study participants who did and did not produce a sputum sample at baseline	178
Table 30 Detection of respiratory pathogens in baseline sputum samples by qPCR	180
I able 31 comparison of participant characteristics from which bacteria were and were not identified	183

Index of figures

Figure 1 Overview of Thesis	16
Figure 2 Search terms used	58
Figure 3 PRISMA flow chart of studies included in systematic review	63
Figure 4 Meta-analysis of odds ratios for presence of cough, stratified by availability of ART and loca	ation
	78
Figure 5 Meta-analysis of studies evaluating prevalence of breathlessness, stratified by location and	ł
access to antiretroviral therapy	79
Figure 6 Funnel plot, odds ratio for cough, resource-limited populations without access to ART	81
Figure 7 Funnel Plot: odds ratio for breathlessness in populations with access to ART	82
Figure 8 Meta-analysis of studies in resource-rich settings using MRC dyspnea score to evaluate	
breathlessness in HIV positive and negative populations	84
Figure 9 Screenshot of the webform used	132
Figure 10 Written daily diary	135
Figure 11 Study recruitment flowchart	144
Figure 13 Participant-reported scores for individual symptoms during acute respiratory illness	151
Figure 14 Symptoms during acute respiratory illness	152
Figure 15 Detection of respiratory viral pathogens from nasopharyngeal swabs during acute respirat	lory
ilness	157
Figure 16: Process for creation of standard curves	175
Figure 17 Example of qPCR for standard curve creation.	176
Figure 18: Number of pathogenic species identified in HIV positive and negative groups	181

List of abbreviations used in this thesis

AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
ALIVE	AIDS Linked to Intravenous Experience (study)
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
BMI	Body Mass Index
CD4	Cluster of Differentiation 4-bearing T lymphocyte
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CCR5	C-C chemokine receptor type 5
CXCR4	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CGPS	Copenhagen General Population Study
DLCO	Diffusing Capacity for Carbon Monoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EQ5D	Euro-Qol 5 Dimension (score)
EXHALE	Examinations of HIV Associated Lung Emphysema (study)
FEV1	Forced Expiratory Volume in one second
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
GP	General Practitioner
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IAC	Internal Amplification Control
ITU	Intensive Therapy Unit
LMIC	Low and Middle-Income Countries
MACS	Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study
MRC	Medical Research Council
MSM	Men who have sex with men
OR	Odds Ratio
PCP	Pneumocystis jirovicii pneumonia
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PHQ-9	Patient Health Questionnaire 9
PLWH	People Living with HIV
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SGRQ	St George's Respiratory Questionnaire
START	Strategic Timing of Antiretroviral Therapy (study)
ТВ	Tuberculosis

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all those who have assisted with the work described in this thesis.

In particular, I am grateful to my primary supervisor, Dr Marc Lipman, without whom I would not have had the opportunity to pursue my interest in research and whose advice and encouragement have been invaluable over the past four years.

Additional thanks for the invaluable support of my secondary supervisors, Professors Margaret Johnson and Ibrahim Abubakar.

For the preparation of the systematic review contained in the second chapter of this thesis I would like to thank Anjana Roy, Ross Harris and Sara Filson for their collaboration and Ruth Muscat from the Royal Free Hospital library for advice on literature searches.

For assistance with the study described in chapter 3 I would like to thank Alison Rodger, Fiona Lampe, Jennifer McGowan, Tino Capocci, Rimi Shah, Mike Youle, Sara Madge, Colette Smith, David Lowe, Tabi Mahungu, Sophie Strachan and Memory Sachikonye, as well as all the staff and patients at Ian Charleson Centre, Claire Simpson and Marlborough clinics.

Thanks to Elisha Pickett, Irwin Nazareth, Lucy Brookes, Mike Youle, Sara Madge, David Lowe, Tabi Mahungu, Memory Sachikonye, Glykeria Pacou, Christianna Kyriacou and Steve Morris for assistance with the work described in chapters 4 and 5, and to Sylvia Rofael, Julio Ortis Canseco, Neelu Begum and Tim McHugh for their guidance and patience in assisting me with the microbiology analyses included in this thesis.

I would like to acknowledge the funding for this work provided by the National Institute for Health Research and British HIV association.

Finally, thanks to my family and friends for their support and encouragement.

Impact statement

The work presented in this thesis aims to benefit people living with HIV, their care providers, policy makers and researchers working in this field. It contributes to the growing evidence regarding the respiratory health of people living with HIV and how this has changed with the advent of antiretroviral therapy. As people living with HIV age, the comorbidities associated with ageing will become more prevalent. Evidence presented here can be used to guide the provision of care in the future, given that HIV is increasingly managed as a chronic manageable condition.

People living with HIV will be a key audience for this research – there is a large and often well-informed audience of HIV positive people who wish to know about novel work into HIV and associated co-morbidities. The dissemination of such findings is often mediated through community information and advocacy groups such as HIV i-base and NAM. These have already been involved in the information exchange of outputs of this research and we will continue to work with them.

The data presented here contributes to work provided by other researchers in this field, my novel findings should stimulate new avenues for productive further investigation. A key example of this is the consistent demonstration of greater respiratory symptoms among people living with HIV, which appears to persist (albeit at a reduced level) in those using antiretroviral therapy. Understanding why this is the case, and how this can be mitigated, offers the potential to improve the quality of life of this population in the long term.

Although the primary data presented in this thesis derives from people living with HIV in the UK, findings from this work will be of relevance to populations elsewhere. An encouraging aspect of HIV care over recent years has been the growing proportion HIV positive people globally who are able to access antiretroviral therapy. Although significant challenges remain in sustaining this and ensuring that populations achieve consistent access and levels of response similar to those found in resource rich settings, there is likely to be growing numbers of people living with HIV as a stable chronic condition in many settings including low and middle-income countries. Research such as that presented in this thesis, which aims to understand how other comorbid conditions might differ in people with HIV compared to those without, will be of relevance to populations in these settings.

Introduction and overview of thesis

Overview of thesis and statement of hypothesis

Respiratory illness has been a key manifestation of HIV infection since the Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) was first recognised (1). However, the successful provision of antiretroviral therapy (ART) has transformed the epidemiology of respiratory illness among people living with HIV: In the UK, 90% of HIV positive individuals who attend HIV care are now using ART and 92% have a CD4 count above 350 cells/µL(2). This means that for most individuals accessing HIV care, opportunistic respiratory infections such as *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia (PCP) are now rare (3).

Successful immune reconstitution with antiretroviral therapy may not, however, mean that the risk of respiratory illness is the same as the HIV negative population (4). Many studies have suggested that HIV positive populations with access to ART may have higher rates of chronic non-AIDS conditions such as cardiovascular disease (5), osteoporosis (6), some types of cancer and neurological impairment (7, 8). The same may be true of chronic respiratory disease, with some authorities suggesting that conditions such as Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) occur more commonly in PLWH and may take an accelerated clinical course (9). Although ART reduces the incidence of respiratory infection, people living with HIV (PLWH) appear to remain at higher risk of infections such as bacterial pneumonia and tuberculosis than the general population (10, 11).

Significant uncertainties remain, however, regarding the relationship between HIV status and respiratory health in populations with good access to antiretroviral therapy, and there is therefore a need for research to guide patient care and public health policy.

This thesis explores these questions in the context of the UK HIV positive adult population, which has a high uptake of ART and good retention in care. Published evidence regarding the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in PLWH and how this has changed with the provision of ART are summarised in a systematic review. Results from a study of respiratory health status in the current UK HIV positive population are presented and the core of this doctoral thesis includes a study evaluating the frequency of acute respiratory illness in a contemporary HIV positive population, compared to HIV negative individuals with similar risk factors for respiratory disease. This included detailed molecular identification of bacterial airway pathogens at baseline. Finally, mechanisms to improve the respiratory health of PLWH will be evaluated and suggestions made for the future care of this population.

The hypothesis evaluated here is that despite the use of antiretroviral therapy, people living with HIV continue to experience a greater burden of respiratory illness than the general population. This results both from HIV-related effects and higher exposure to risk factors such as tobacco smoking. Identification of specific risk-factors for respiratory illness offers the opportunity to design interventions to improve the health-related quality of life of this population.





Chapter 1: Background and literature review

1.1 Respiratory illness in People Living with HIV prior to the development of antiretroviral therapy

Respiratory illness is a key manifestation of HIV infection; indeed the Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) was first recognised among individuals presenting with *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia (PCP) in the 1980s (12). Before effective antiretroviral therapy (ART) became available, respiratory infection and some forms of non-communicable respiratory disease were among the most important complications of HIV infection (3). This remains true today for individuals and populations unable to access ART. Although this thesis primarily concerns respiratory health of individuals using ART, a brief summary of respiratory illness in populations prior to the development of these treatments is provided here as this provides important context for later changes.

1.2 Respiratory infection in HIV positive populations without antiretroviral therapy

Infections are the predominant respiratory complication of HIV infection without ART. Most typically, as HIV infection progresses, CD4 T-cell numbers fall, significant immunodeficiency develops, and individuals become susceptible to a range of opportunistic respiratory infections. In the lung these include pneumonia caused by the yeast-like organism *Pneumocystis jirovecii* and (less commonly) other fungal pathogens such as *Cryptococcus neoformans* and (in endemic areas) *Histoplasma capsulatum* and *Penicillium marneffei* and viral pathogens such as Cytomegalovirus (CMV). As well as these opportunistic pathogens (which rarely cause infection in those with an intact immune system), organisms which can result in infections in immunocompetent individuals do so at a much higher frequency in those with HIV. Bacterial pneumonia, in particular caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, occurs much more commonly, with invasive pneumococcal disease being up 20-100 times more common in PLWH (13). Tuberculosis also occurs at a far greater frequency and represents the most common cause of mortality among PLWH in many high-TB incidence settings such as Sub-Saharan Africa (14). Although opportunistic infections such as PCP are largely restricted to those with CD4 counts under 200 cells/µL, the incidence of bacterial pneumonia and TB increase soon after HIV seroconversion, indicating that significant immunological changes occur early in HIV infection (15).

These respiratory infectious consequences of HIV were documented and explored in numerous case reports, series and reviews (16-18). More systematic studies were made of prospectively followed cohorts including the Pulmonary Complications of HIV infection study (PACS) (19), Multicentre AIDS cohort study (MACS) and Women's Interagency Cohort study (WIHS), (20) (21) all of which studied HIV positive populations in the US, and included HIV negative comparator participants.

The Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection study, recruited 1281 HIV positive and 165 HIV negative participants between 1988 and 1990 in 6 US cities (San Francisco, Los Angeles, Detroit, Chicago, Newark and New York) and followed this group prospectively to detail the incidence of respiratory illness (19). At recruitment, 74% of participants had CD4 counts above 250 cells/µL. Only limited antiretroviral therapies (the nucleoside analogues zidovudine (AZT), didanosine (DDI) or dideoxycytidine (DDc)) were available at this time. During the 18 months of prospective follow-up described by Wallace *et al* in 1997, bacterial pneumonia occurred in 4.8% of HIV positive participants (compared to 0.6% of those without HIV infection) and PCP pneumonia occurred in 3.9% (22, 23). Less severe (but more common) acute respiratory illnesses such as bronchitis, sinusitis and upper respiratory tract infections also occurred more frequently in those with HIV, with upper respiratory tract infections documented in 33% of HIV positive and 25% of HIV negative individuals, and bronchitis in 16% and 9% respectively during the 18 months of follow-up. Influenza like illness (defined as "acute self-limited febrile illness with myalgias and in some cases sore throat, coryza or cough, without radiographic evidence of pneumonia") was not more frequent among PLWH, and the evidence regarding susceptibility to influenza in HIV will be discussed in more depth in a later section.

In data specifically evaluating bacterial pneumonia in the Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection study, Hirschtick *et al* demonstrated a much higher incidence of bacterial pneumonia (5.5 per 100 person years) in HIV positive participants, compared to 0.9 per 100 person-years in HIV negative participants(24). This incidence was higher at lower CD4 counts. Injecting drug users had a greater incidence of pneumonia, as did tobacco smokers in the lowest CD4 stratum.

The cohort recruited for the Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection study was prospectively followed until May 1997. An analysis of the first 5 years of follow-up between 1988 and 1994 was published by Wallace *et al*: during this time, the level of immunocompromise in the cohort worsened as HIV infection progressed, with 19% having a CD4 count < 200 cells/µL at recruitment and 34% by year 5; by 5 years of follow-up, only 721 of the original 1143 participants were still surviving and being followed up. This study documented the progressive increase in respiratory infections in this cohort as HIV infection progressed, with bacterial pneumonia occurring at a frequency of 3.9 per 100 person-years in year 1 and 7.3 per 100 person-years in year 5, and PCP increasing from 2.8 to 9.6 per 100 person-years. Upper respiratory tract infection did not show a similar change over time, remaining at a frequency of between 35 and 52 per 100 person-years during follow-up. Overall, the occurrence of these upper respiratory tract infections was higher in those with HIV, occurring at a frequency of 42 per 100 person-years in the HIV positive and 29 per 100 person-years in the HIV negative participants.

Similar findings were reported by the Multicentre AIDS Cohort study, a cohort followed at six sites in the US, originally recruited in 1984 and comprising 6972 men who have sex with men either with, or at risk of, HIV infection(20). Recruitment occurred in three time periods: 1984; between 1987 and 1991 and 2001

to 2003. As with the Pulmonary Complications of HIV infection study, prior to the availability of ART, respiratory infection was much more common among PLWH, with the incidence of bacterial pneumonia recorded as 8.28 per 1000 person years among HIV positive and 0.41 per 1000 person years among HIV negative participants (OR 21.9, p <0.001); acute sinusitis or bronchitis were also more common among PLWH, albeit with a smaller relative difference – the absolute incidence rate of bronchitis of 35.89 per 1000 person years compared to 25.02 in HIV positive and negative participants respectively (OR (95%CI) 1.70 (1.46-1.97) p< 0.001), and of sinusitis of 75.05 and 65.04 per 1000 person years (OR 1.39 (95% CI 1.24-1.55) p <0.001) (25).

1.3 Non-communicable respiratory disease in HIV before the advent of ART

Although respiratory infection dominated the respiratory complications of HIV prior to the availability of antiretroviral therapy, there is also evidence from the pre-ART era of increased non-infectious pathologies. Most clearly related to HIV is the development of pulmonary Kaposi's sarcoma, although interstitial lung diseases were also associated with HIV infection including Non-Specific Interstitial Pneumonitis and Lymphocytic Interstitial Pneumonitis, however, these were relatively rare (occurring for instance in only 21 participants in the Pulmonary Complications of HIV study during 5 years of follow-up of 1143 participants) (22).

By the late 1980s and early 1990s investigators were suggesting that Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) might follow an accelerated course in some HIV positive individuals. This observation was first reported in the literature in 1989 by Kuhlman *et al* in a review of radiological evidence for emphysema in PLWH (26). This was followed by a report by Diaz *et al* of 4 cases of HIV positive non-smokers who had developed emphysema (27). A more systematic assessment of a cohort of HIV positive and negative individuals was then undertaken by these investigators, who compared 114 HIV positive and 44 HIV negative participants, with median ages of 34 and 33 years respectively, who underwent CT scans (28). These demonstrated that 17 of the HIV positive compared to only one of the HIV negative participants had radiological evidence of emphysema.

It should be noted, however, that these subjects studied by Diaz *et al* had a very high proportion of current smokers (60% and 56% respectively) and the HIV positive group had a greater pack-year exposure (7 vs 5 years) and 14 of the 17 PLWH with emphysema had over 12 pack-year exposure. No information on smoking of recreational drugs such as cannabis was provided in this report; it is possible therefore that this apparent effect of HIV is related to confounding by these risk factors.

The Pulmonary Complications of HIV infection study also evaluated lung function in PLWH and found a higher proportion with lung function impairment as assessed by DLCO (29). In this study, individuals with a CD4 count below 200/mm3 had a lower DLCO, as did subjects with a history of HIV-associated symptoms such as candidiasis, weight loss or herpes zoster.

Longitudinal follow-up of 474 HIV positive individuals documented that lung function worsened in those who developed pulmonary Kaposi's Sarcoma or PCP, and that recovery of lung function following an episode of PCP was impaired in smokers.

Data from the Multi-centre AIDS cohort study (MACS) prior to the availability of ART also suggested that chronic non-communicable respiratory disease, and specifically COPD, was more common among

PLWH, as the incidence of (a new diagnosis of) COPD was 0.61 vs 0.28 cases per 1000 person years (OR 2.84 (1.06-7.59) p=0.04)(30).

1.4 Changing epidemiology with the advent of antiretroviral therapy and implications for respiratory health

The first antiretroviral medication, zidovudine (AZT), was introduced in 1987 and by the mid-1990s effective combinations of antiretroviral medications were available which were able to control HIV replication and allow the immune system to recover. (31) Since then, combinations of antiretroviral medications that are capable of indefinitely suppressing viral replication if taken consistently have been available, transforming the treatment of PLWH.(32)

Over 40 different antiretroviral drugs and combination pills, utilising 5 different mechanisms of action are currently available in the UK (33). Current antiretroviral therapy (ART) typically involves the combination of three of these drugs, acting via different mechanisms (most commonly two nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors plus a third agent, either a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor, protease inhibitor or integrase inhibitor) and these combinations of anti-HIV drugs will be referred to as "ART" in this thesis. In most individuals, these drugs can suppress HIV viral replication to the extent that HIV viral RNA is no longer detectable in peripheral blood (the current threshold for detection being 40 copies/ml, below this being defined as "undetectable"). As medications have become more tolerable and the benefits of using antiretroviral therapy before severe immunodeficiency has developed have become clearer,(34) clinical guidelines have moved away from recommending treatment at a particular threshold of CD4 count and towards recommending treatment for all HIV positive individuals.(35) Cohorts of PLWH diagnosed today are therefore potentially very different from those diagnosed 20 or even 5 years ago, having less time with uncontrolled HIV and higher nadir CD4 counts. This may have important implications for their future health In addition to the benefits to individuals of treatment, wider use of ART may have the effect of reducing onward transmission and thus the number of new infections (36).

The effect of widespread and effective antiretroviral therapy has been that the life expectancy of people living with HIV has greatly improved. Indeed, for people maintained in care and adherent to ART, it may not differ from that of the general population (37, 38). Despite this, HIV and AIDS still cause significant numbers of early deaths, including in the UK, particularly in those who don't know their HIV status, present late to care, are within the first year after HIV diagnosis, or are not adherent to antiretroviral medication(39).

As the number of new HIV infections in the UK has been roughly stable in recent years, the greater life expectancy of PLWH means that the UK (like other similar settings) has a growing HIV positive population: from 55,923 in 2007 to 91,987 in 2017 (2). Furthermore, they are aging: the median age of people accessing care in the UK has increased over the past decade, from 39 in 2006 to 45 in 2015, and 38% are over the age of 50, (40) this is a trend that will continue and have a major effect on HIV care (41). This demographic transition inevitably means that the medical conditions affecting this population are changing (regardless of any specific risks associated with HIV). Management of age-related

comorbidities will therefore become an increasingly important part of HIV care. For instance, Smit *et al* estimated that by 2030 84% of HIV positive people in the Netherlands will have at least one noncommunicable disease (compared to 29% in 2010) and 28% will have three or more comorbidities (41). These projections are likely to be similar in other populations such as the UK with similar levels of antiretroviral use.

Although aging alone will inevitably mean that non-AIDS co-morbidities become more frequent among PLWH, other factors result in some conditions occurring more often than in the general population. Some of these effects are not directly related to HIV – for instance PLWH are more likely to smoke than the general population and therefore have a higher incidence of smoking related comorbidities. Many PLWH come from migrant communities with different frequencies of some medical conditions, for instance the incidence of tuberculosis among PLWH in the UK who have migrated from high TB incidence countries remains greater than that of the UK born population despite the reduction in TB incidence cause by ART (42).

Further changes in the incidence of non-AIDS comorbidities may occur because of antiretroviral therapy. Examples of this include the dyslipidaemia caused by some protease medications (43), increased frequency of myocardial ischaemia associated with use of the nucleoside reverse transcriptase (NRTI) medication abacavir (44) and reductions in bone density and renal function associated with the NRTI tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (45, 46). To date, however, no such associations have been found between respiratory illness and the use of antiretroviral medications.

In addition to the higher frequency of non-AIDS non-communicable comorbidities related to demographic differences between HIV positive and negative populations, differences in exposure to important risk factors and the well described (although normally small) adverse effects of ART, there have been suggestions that direct effects of the HIV virus, or immunological sequelae of infection, may promote the development of some comorbidities. Ischaemic heart disease has been extensively studied and suggestions made that, for instance, the heightened state of "immune activation" associated with HIV infection causes changes in monocytes and macrophage phenotype which result in increased atherosclerosis (47). Whether such effects are apparent in respiratory disease will be discussed in a later section.

A note of caution should be raised when considering data regarding any increased risk of conditions associated with HIV. Observational studies can only describe associations and a causative relationship is not necessarily present. Although attempts can be made to adjust for the confounding effects of (for instance) tobacco smoking, this can only be successfully achieved when these confounding effects are known and can be accurately measured. This is often not the case. Residual confounding due to known and unknown factors is always therefore a possible explanation for the associations reported between HIV and non-AIDS comorbidities. The effect of such confounding factors is illustrated by a study from Denmark where the frequency of myocardial infarction in the (HIV negative) mothers of PLWH was

compared to population controls and found to be higher in this group (IRR 1.31 95% CI 1.08-1.80), therefore indicating that this increased risk of myocardial infarction is likely to be due to shared family lifestyle risks, rather than direct effects of HIV infection (48).

1.5 Respiratory infection and HIV in the antiretroviral era – is there still a problem?

Effective antiretroviral therapy has transformed the epidemiology of respiratory infection among PLWH. Continuous follow-up of the Multicentre AIDS cohort since 1984 allows this to be directly observed: here the incidence of PCP among PLWH fell from 30.59/1000 person-years to 2.51/1000 person-years between these two time-periods. Whilst a reduction in the frequency of bacterial pneumonia was also observed, this was much less pronounced, falling from 8.28 per 1000 person years in the period 1984-1994 to 6.29 in 1996-2008 (30). The incidence remained significantly higher than that among HIV negative participants (which was 2.31/1000 person-years in the same period). Similarly, in the Veterans Aging Cohort Study, bacterial pneumonia remained more common among PLWH, occurring at an incidence of 28 per 1000 person-years among PLWH (95% CI 27.2-28.8) compared to 5.8 (5.6-6) among HIV negative comparators. However, this included data until 2007 and the median CD4 count of these subjects was relatively low at 264 cells/µL (95% CI 108-451 cells/µL) with 65% of individuals using ART, and only 14% having an HIV viral load below 400 copies/ml.

The frequency of respiratory infection among PLWH is likely to have improved further, given that treatment guidelines now recommend treatment before more individuals before immunocompromise develops. However, despite ART, PLWH appear to remain at greater risk of respiratory infection than the general population. In a population-based cohort study in Denmark using data between 1995 and 2007, HIV positive individuals were significantly more likely to be hospitalised for pneumonia than the general population, including a subgroup with CD4 counts above 500 cells/µL in 2005-7, who were still around six times more likely to be admitted with pneumonia than the general population (IRR 5.9, 95% CI 4.2-7.6) (11). It should be noted, however, that a significant proportion of the HIV positive population documented in this study were not using antiretroviral therapy and median CD4 count at study entry was 313 cells/µL, so these findings may not be fully applicable to current populations where there is a greater use of ART.

Recently published data from the UK also suggest an ongoing higher frequency of acute infections among PLWH: a study evaluating causes of death in PLWH conducted by Croxford *et al* using data from Public Health England and death registrations, found that mortality rates have remained significantly higher among PLWH compared to the general population (76). Importantly, this study included all individuals within in a national database of HIV infections (which was then linked to national death registration data) and so avoided the biases associated with data arising from cohorts attending for HIV treatment, as including individuals who were not linked to care, or presented late, has the effect of significantly increasing the mortality rate associated with HIV. Although the risk of death was particularly high during the first year after HIV diagnosis (where the Standardised Mortality Rate (SMR) was 24.3 times that of the general population), a higher mortality rate persisted after 1 year of diagnosis (SMR for all-cause mortality 2.8 (95% CI 2.7-2.9)). Of note, non-AIDS infections continued to stand out as a cause of death, with an SMR for non-AIDS infections of 6.8 (5.9-7.8) times that of the general population

(representing an absolute number of 169 excess deaths above expected among PLWH in England and Wales each year). Bacterial pneumonia was the single largest cause of these deaths from non-AIDS infections (122 of 358 deaths, S. Croxford personal communication). As the source for this analysis included data between 1997 and 2012, it will be important to assess whether this excess mortality has been improved by greater use of antiretroviral therapy since this date: following this time period clinical guidelines have been revised to recommend antiretroviral therapy for all HIV positive individuals (rather than using a threshold for CD4 count below which ART was recommended, previously 350-500 cells/µL). As the Strategic Timing of Anti-Retroviral Treatment (START) study suggested that ART leads to a reduction in non-AIDS illness even in those with CD4 counts above 500 cells/µL, (77) further improvements in mortality might be hoped for with greater use of ART.

Despite antiretroviral therapy, there is still a need therefore to better understand and control the risk of serious infections among PLWH.

1.6 HIV and susceptibility to Influenza

Whether PLWH have a greater incidence or become more unwell when they acquire influenza infection is an important question. Influenza is a common infection, associated with significant morbidity in the general population and is vaccine-preventable and treatable with anti-viral medications (49). Clinical guidelines support the use of influenza immunisation for PLWH (50). Coverage in the US is significantly below target levels at 30-50% (51), although may be better in the UK (52). Unfortunately, there are relatively few, and sometimes conflicting studies regarding the effect of HIV on influenza incidence and severity on which to base clinical management.

Prior to the availability of antiretroviral therapy data on influenza in PLWH are scarce. As discussed already, no difference in the frequency of influenza-like illness was observed between HIV positive and negative participants in the Pulmonary Complications of HIV infection study between 1988 and 1997 (22). In a population with access to antiretroviral therapy in Quebec, Canada, Klein *et al* identified influenza virus in 20 of 50 PLWH presenting with acute respiratory illness, and suggested that influenza was an important cause of acute respiratory illness among PLWH (53). This group also noted that some of those presenting with illness had received the influenza immunisation. An evaluation of the duration of influenza illness and viral shedding among PLWH was reported by Patel *et al* (54), assessing a population in 2010-11 using antiretroviral treatment. These investigators concluded that viral shedding was similar to that reported in HIV negative people (10 days when assessed by PCR), although this conclusion was limited by the absence of direct comparison with an HIV negative group and small sample size of only 20 individuals with influenza.

A systematic review of studies assessing risk factors for serious outcomes from influenza conducted by Coleman *et al* in 2016 identified differences in outcomes in high compared to low and middle income countries (55). In high income settings the pooled relative risk for hospitalisation with influenza did not differ by HIV status (pRR 0.94 (95% CI 0.37-2.10)), however the authors identified only three studies assessing this outcome, and these yielded highly heterogeneous results (I² statistic 87%). In an analysis of the risk of death or Intensive Therapy Unit (ITU) admission, six studies from high income settings were identified and again the pooled relative risk suggested that PLWH with influenza were no more likely to require ITU care or die. In contrast, in Low and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs) the authors identified only one study (from South Africa) which assessed risk of hospitalisation, which was found to be higher in those with HIV. Data on antiretroviral therapy use were only available for 59% of HIV positive subjects in this study, of whom 50% were using ART and details of CD4 counts only available for 29% of HIV positive subjects, therefore limiting interpretation of this result. Three studies from LMICs assessed the risk of death or ITU care and all found a higher risk in those with HIV (pooled RR 2.17, 95% CI 1.29-2.91).

A further prospective study from Malawi (published after the systematic review by Coleman *et al*) which compared PLWH with a HIV negative comparator group was conducted by Ho *et al* (56). The HIV positive

participants in this study had a median age of 37 years; 65% were using ART and median CD4 counts were 390 (IQR 244-547). These investigators found that the frequency of Influenza-like illness (identified in participants presenting to hospital) was not significantly different between HIV positive and negative participants (IRR 1.21 (0.99-1.48) but PLWH were more likely to have influenza virus identified when they had an acute illness (10% of 229 illnesses vs 4% of 119 illnesses). In an associated case-control study exploring risk factors for severe hospitalised respiratory tract infection, the investigators identified being HIV positive as a significant risk for severe influenza (OR 4.98 2.09-11.88).

1.7 Techniques used in assessment of respiratory health and lung function

Respiratory health can be studied with several different approaches, including physiological evaluations of lung function parameters, patient reported evaluations of subjective respiratory symptoms, and functional impairments and imaging studies of lung structure. I will briefly summarise the more commonly used techniques, their advantages and disadvantages and discuss the methods used in this thesis.

Measuring lung function

Physiological evaluations of lung function range from simple measurements that can be undertaken using hand-held devices, to studies requiring sophisticated laboratory equipment. A full description of these techniques is beyond the scope of this thesis, and this section will provide an overview of those relevant here.

One of the simplest and best characterised assessments of respiratory function is spirometry, which measures volumes of inhaled and exhaled air and flow rates. The key parameters measured are the FEV₁ (the volume of air exhaled in one second of forced exhalation); the FVC (the total volume of air exhaled in a single forced exhalation) and the peak flow rate. Further information can be obtained studying patterns of abnormality in the flow / volume loop and measurements of flow such as the MEF_{50} - the maximal expiratory flow at 50 % of the forced vital capacity, which is felt to provide some measure of small airways obstruction.

Spirometry is a fundamental tool for the evaluation of lung function (for instance COPD is defined by spirometric impairment) and has the advantage that it can be performed using simple hand-held equipment. In addition, techniques are well standardised with accepted methods of quality control. Normal values have been measured in large and rigorous population-based studies, allowing the definition of normal or predicted values (with predictions based on measurement of age, height, gender and ethnicity) although such datasets are largely based on European, North American and Asian populations, with few data from other populations, in particular from Sub-Saharan Africa. Spirometry is a key tool of respiratory epidemiology and as such I have used this extensively in work contained in this thesis, using hand-held spirometers and defining normal values based on the Global Lung Initiative equations, which are derived from large and multi-ethnic population-based data sources.

Although spirometry has many advantages, as a measure of respiratory physiology it has some important limitations – many disease processes can lead to the same spirometric pattern, whilst significant lung function impairment can occur with completely normal spirometry. It is not surprising, therefore, that spirometry can correlate poorly with reported respiratory symptoms.

In both routine clinical practice and respiratory research, evaluation of lung volumes (including both respirated and non-respirable air) provides further information that can be supplemented by measurement of the gas-transfer capabilities of the lung. The standard measure uses the ability of the lung to take-up carbon monoxide and is referred to as the Diffusing capacity of the Lungs for Carbon Monoxide (DLCO) (which can be adjusted to the estimated alveolar volume to give the KCO). This therefore provides an estimate of the integrity of the gas-exchange part of the lung (which can be affected by many processes including loss of alveolar surface, reduced diffusion across the alveolar membrane, pulmonary vascular pathologies, shunts and impairment of oxygen uptake by haemoglobin). Measurement of DLCO is a key aspect of respiratory physiology and has been used in several studies in the field of HIV-related lung disease, as discussed elsewhere in this Introduction. However, assessing DLCO requires specialised equipment in a lung function laboratory and imposes a considerable burden of time, expense and on the participant themselves. It is therefore challenging to use in large-scale studies. Although assessment of physiological parameters beyond spirometry, such as DLCO, would have provided interesting additional data for this thesis, the constraints on time and resources available did not make this possible.

In addition to spirometry and measurements of lung volumes and gas transfer further techniques of physiological measurement can be used to evaluate respiratory health. These include measurement of small airway function by multiple-breath washout of gasses that are not taken up in the alveoli,(57) or by impedance oscillometry, a technique that uses sound waves to measure airway obstruction(58). Cardiopulmonary exercise testing, in which physiological evaluation during exercise is evaluated to determine the cause of exercise limitation, can also provide useful insights.(59)

Physiological measurements of spirometry and lung function enable us to evaluate "lung health". Another approach identifies abnormalities through anatomical imaging. Although standard chest X-Ray can be used (and has the advantage of being relatively quick, cheap and of low radiation exposure to participants), they are difficult to standardise and provide limited information about lung abnormalities. Therefore, techniques utilising CT scanning are increasingly used. Such studies are resource-intense, both to obtain and interpret the scans, and also represent a much larger potential radiation exposure to participants. However, they have been used to define patterns of respiratory abnormality in HIV related lung disease – which is discussed elsewhere in this chapter.

1.8 Non-communicable lung disease in HIV positive populations with access to ART

Although improving treatments for HIV infection have resulted in reductions in the frequency of respiratory infection among PLWH, recent years have seen growing concerns that there may be a higher burden of chronic non-communicable respiratory disease in this population. As with other comorbidities, chronic respiratory disease is becoming more common among PLWH (4). This section will summarise current evidence regarding the epidemiology of chronic respiratory illness in HIV infected populations with access to ART.

As described previously, in the Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study (MACS) prior to the availability of ART, the risk of non-infectious pathology was higher among PLWH, with HIV positive participants nearly three times as likely to develop COPD (in the MACS study, adjusted hazard ratio 2.9, (95% CI, 1.02–8.4); p=0.046) (30). However, after ART became available this relationship weakened, with no significant association between HIV status and a diagnosis of COPD in the period 1996-2008, albeit with wide confidence intervals that do not exclude a similar magnitude of difference as that seen in the pre-ART era (OR 1.16 (0.28-4.68), p=0.84).

The MACS study only evaluated men, though similar findings were reported in the Women's Interagency Cohort Study (WIHS) of HIV positive and negative women (30). This cohort of 3,766 women with or at risk of HIV was followed at six centres in the USA from 1994. The 879 HIV negative participants had high rates of smoking and recreational drug use, with 54% being current smokers at baseline and 78% reporting current or previous recreational drug use. Not all of the HIV positive participants were on effective ART: the HIV positive participants had a median CD4 count of 382 (IQR 211-581) cells; 27% had HIV blood RNA levels >400 at baseline, and HIV positive participants had viral loads >400 at 53% of visits. This cohort therefore represents a population with significant levels of immunosuppression and findings from these studies may not be generalizable to populations with better uptake of ART and proportion with virological suppression. As with the MACS data, in this cohort respiratory infection remained more common among PLWH with an odds ratio for bacterial pneumonia of 13.5 (95% CI 4.3-42.6, p<0.001) and sinusitis of 2.27 (1.89-2.73, p<0.001). The incidence of non-communicable respiratory diagnoses did not differ between HIV positive and negative participants with an OR of 1.36 (0.49-5.64) for lung cancer or 0.9 (0.74-1.11) for asthma.

The Veterans Aging Cohort Study utilised routinely collected administrative data from 33,420 HIV-positive subjects and 66,840 demographically matched HIV-negative subjects within the Veterans Affairs (VA) healthcare system up to July 2007 (60). In an analysis based on ICD-9 codes, COPD was present in 4.6% of PLWH and 4% of HIV negative participants at baseline; incidence rate ratios (IRR) for the development of *new* respiratory pathology demonstrated higher incidences of COPD, lung cancer,

pulmonary hypertension, pulmonary fibrosis and TB with, for instance, an adjusted IRR of 1.17 (1.11-1.24, p <0.05) for the development of COPD in those under 50 and 1.08 (1.01-1.15, p<0.05) in those over 50.

As records of smoking status were thought likely to be incomplete and inaccurate in the routinely collected VA data, a nested sample of 3,707 HIV positive and 9,980 HIV negative individuals who had provided details regarding smoking status as part of the Large Health Survey of Veteran Enrolees in 1999 was included, allowing calculation of adjusted incidence rate ratios including smoking status (classified as never smokers or ever smokers if they reported greater than 100 lifetime cigarettes). In this analysis, incidence of COPD remained significantly higher in HIV positive individuals below the age of 50 (adjusted IRR 1.25 (1.08-1.43)) but not those over the age of 50 (1.11 (0.96-1.29)). Furthermore, those with a blood HIV viral load above 400 copies/mI had a higher prevalence of COPD and asthma.

One problem with using registry data in this way is that respiratory pathology is often undiagnosed and more direct evidence requires studies which directly measure lung function to identify disease. The AIDS Linked to Intravenous Experience (ALIVE) study has followed current or former Injection Drug Users in Baltimore since 1988 (61). Around 30% of this cohort were HIV positive, thus allowing direct comparisons between HIV positive and negative participants in a way that avoids the biases associated with studies that have different recruitment strategies for HIV positive and negative participants. A substudy of the ALIVE cohort evaluated obstructive lung disease and the presence of respiratory symptoms(62). Participants in these studies had a mean age of 49 years, 65% were male and 91% of African American ethnicity. As expected, due to the nature of the study population, frequencies of smoking and recreational drug use were extremely high. All participants were current or former injection drug users, 85% were current tobacco smokers (with only 6% recorded as never smokers) and 38% reported smoking of heroin or cocaine.

Overall in the ALIVE cohort the prevalence of airflow obstruction (FEV1/FVC <0.7) did not differ by HIV status, being present in 15% of both HIV positive and negative groups. Although the prevalence of reported cough or wheeze also did not differ by HIV status, PLWH in this cohort were more likely to report breathlessness (as defined by an MRC dyspnoea scale score of 2 or more). The effect of HIV status on respiratory symptoms will be discussed in more depth in Chapter 2. In a smaller sub-study evaluating only individuals with airflow obstruction, the investigators found that PLWH who were using ART were less likely to have their airflow obstruction previously diagnosed and suggested that this might be related to an emphasis on direct HIV care rather than diagnosis and management of comorbidities by HIV care providers.

These investigators went on to evaluate whether HIV-related characteristics such as CD4 count or HIV load were associated with respiratory health. In these analyses they found that PLWH with an HIV load above 200,000 copies/mI were more likely to have airflow obstruction than HIV negative participants (OR

3.30 1.26-8.69). CD4 counts were not associated with the presence of obstructive lung disease in these cross-sectional analyses.

In a prospective study of this cohort over a median follow-up time of 2.75 years, the same investigators studied the effect of HIV status and HIV-related parameters on lung function change (63). Overall, decline in FEV1 or FVC was not different in HIV positive and negative participants, however PLWH with an HIV viral load above 75,000 copes/ml had a greater decline in FEV1 and FVC than HIV negative individuals (76ml/year decline in FEV1 and 86 ml/year decline in FVC); lung function decline was also greater among PLWH with a CD4 count less than 100 cells/µL than in HIV negative participants.

One hypothesis to account for the higher prevalence of airflow obstruction and accelerated loss of lung function observed among PLWH with higher levels of viraemia in the ALIVE cohort is that HIV, or the consequences of immunocompromise, directly cause lung damage. Other explanations for these findings are possible. In particular, residual confounding by risk factors such as tobacco smoking and recreational drug use may be present, as these may well be more common among the group of PLWH with higher viraemia than in the HIV negative group. Although the investigators adjusted for (self-reported) smoking, this is difficult to quantify accurately and to comprehensively adjust for in regression models. In the ALIVE study, smoking was only included as a binary variable (tobacco exposure of over 40 pack-years or not) in the adjusted analysis of the association between HIV status, viral load and obstructive lung disease. Such difficulties are inevitable in any observational study and are a limitation of this methodology which must be considered when interpreting such results. When the hypothesis that HIV viraemia is associated with accelerated lung function decline was tested in the context of a randomised trial in the START study (in which PLWH with CD4 counts above 500 cells/µL were randomly assigned to early or deferred antiretroviral treatment) no difference in spirometric change was found (64). Whether this definitively answers this guestion can be debated however, as the START study was stopped before its planned duration due to meeting its overall primary endpoint and inevitably many in the deferred ART arm started ART due to clinical indications. In an analysis adjusting for smoking, the overall difference in FEV1 change between early and deferred ART was -5.2 mL/year, but the 95% confidence interval spanned a 25ml reduction to a 15ml increase per year. As future randomised trials of antiretroviral therapy would no longer be ethical, it may not be possible to conclusively answer the question of whether HIV viraemia accelerates lung function decline.

The Examinations of HIV Associated Lung Emphysema (EXHALE) study (a sub-study of the VACS cohort discussed above) evaluated respiratory illness in more detail and included measurement of spirometry rather than relying on routinely collected coding data: baseline assessments of 180 HIV positive and 153 HIV negative individuals found a significantly higher prevalence of chronic respiratory symptoms in those with HIV (e.g. 25% vs 15% reporting chronic cough and 25% vs 16% having breathlessness) but there was no significant difference in the proportion of HIV positive and negative individuals with airflow obstruction (19% and 20% respectively) (65). Both HIV positive and negative participants in this study

had impaired diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide (DLCO) measurements, but again there was no difference according to HIV status. Chronic respiratory symptoms did correlate with functional impairment however, with a reduction in 6-minute walk distance of 42m in HIV positive individuals with chronic cough compared to HIV positive individuals without (the minimum clinically important difference in the 6MWT is felt to be between 14 and 30m).

A further collaboration between several centres in the US with an interest in HIV related lung disease collected data on respiratory health in HIV positive individuals between 2008 and 2013. Spirometric impairment was common in this study, with 37% of 908 participants having abnormal spirometry (27% with airflow obstruction and 10% with restriction) (66). Age, tobacco smoking, a history of having PCP and current respiratory symptoms were all associated with an increased likelihood of having abnormal spirometry. Again, chronic respiratory symptoms were reported in around a third of this population. Interestingly, the majority (56%) of those with chronic respiratory symptoms had normal spirometry. In contrast to findings from earlier studies such as the ALIVE study, neither increased HIV load or lower blood CD4 counts were associated with airflow obstruction in this study.

1.9 Evidence from populations other than the USA

All the data discussed so far has derived from clinical studies of HIV positive populations in the United States. It has been a significant bias in the published literature in this field that HIV positive populations elsewhere have are well studied. However, in recent years some studies evaluating HIV positive populations in Europe and elsewhere have been published which help to address this deficiency, although most are single-centre studies, and many have methodological limitations. Studies evaluating PLWH in low and middle-income settings are discussed in the next section.

Madeddu *et al* reported a higher prevalence of respiratory symptoms (47% vs 15%, p= 0.002) and COPD (23% vs 8%, p=0.008) in a study of 111 HIV positive and 65 HIV negative individuals in Sassari, Italy (67). Other studies have also documented a high frequency of respiratory illness with, for instance, airflow obstruction (FEV1/FVC <0.7) reported in 17% by Samperiz *et al* from Spain (68), 10% by Nakamura et al from Japan (69) and 11% by Guaraldi *et al* from Italy (70). A multicentre evaluation of HIV positive individuals over the age of 40 with at least a 20 pack-year smoking in France history demonstrated airflow obstruction in 26% (71).

In Modena, Italy, HIV positive patients attending an outpatient "HIV metabolic clinic" underwent investigations including thoracic or cardiac CT scans as part of clinical management and data from this clinical cohort has been analysed and described by Guaraldi *et al (70)*. The indications for referral into this clinic, and details about the wider HIV population from which this group was drawn were not described by the authors, so it is difficult to know whether the group investigated were representative of the wider HIV population, but nonetheless this represents a useful source of data regarding the prevalence of cardiorespiratory impairment in this population, particularly as data are available regarding a relatively large group of individuals (1460 in total). All these patients were using antiretroviral therapy (for at least 18 months) and the median age was 48 years; 94% of the participants had an undetectable HIV viral load and the mean CD4 count was 612 cells/µL; 40% were current smokers and 28% had a history of previous injecting drug use.

In this group, CT scans were abnormal in 49% of subjects, with 13% having evidence of bronchiolitis, 19% emphysema and 16% both. The investigators performed most of these scans primarily as cardiac CTs and therefore had less complete imaging of the lungs. The prevalence of emphysema was 41% in those with full scans and 34% in those with cardiac scans only, suggesting that in this group some cases of emphysema may have been missed. As expected, being a current smoker, age and a history of injecting drug use were independently related to the presence of emphysema, as was a prior history of PCP, although only in univariable analyses.

This large dataset provides an insight into the high prevalence of radiographic lung abnormalities in a contemporary HIV positive population. In contrast to some other groups evaluated, the subjects were universally using ART, with good levels of viral suppression and CD4 counts. However, as there was no
HIV negative comparator group in these analyses it is difficult to draw clear conclusions regarding the extent to which these changes were driven by HIV infection rather than established risk factors such as smoking and age. A further study by the same authors in the same population described airflow obstruction in 11% of 903 individuals who underwent spirometry (this test was added as part of assessments in 2011, and hence was not available for all participants) (72). Again, tobacco smoking was the strongest predictor of respiratory impairment, with the number of pack-years of tobacco exposure strongly related to the presence of either heart or lung disease. (72)

To provide some comparison with an HIV negative group, data from this HIV cohort in Modena was compared to general population data from a population-based Italian national registry (the CINECA ARNO database), which is an observational study aggregating data from primary care records, prescriptions and hospital records. (73) In analyses stratified by age, this demonstrated a significantly higher prevalence of a range of non-communicable comorbidities (cardiovascular disease, hypertension, renal impairment, bone fracture and diabetes mellitus) (74), but respiratory illness was not included in these comparisons. For instance, among those aged 51-60 years, renal failure was documented in 9% of HIV positive and 0.29% of HIV negative individuals and cardiovascular disease in 6% and 3% respectively. Unfortunately, the interpretation of these data is complicated by the different methods of evaluation and data capture in the HIV positive and negative groups, with active (and very detailed) investigation of the HIV positive group compared to only passive collection of routine clinical data in the HIV negative comparator group, plus the possibility of biases in the selection of the HIV positive group if individuals who were more likely to have co-morbidities were preferentially referred to the clinic for investigation. Therefore, these data represent an information source at significant risk of bias, but nonetheless do demonstrate the high prevalence of non-communicable comorbidity that may be present in HIV positive patients in resource rich settings.

The prevalence of COPD in an HIV positive population in France was evaluated as part of a trial of chest CT screening for lung cancer (75). This study only examined individuals over the age of 40, with at least a 20 pack-year smoking history and a nadir CD4 count below 350 cells/µL who were current smokers or gave up smoking less than 3 years prior to recruitment. This cannot therefore provide information on the HIV positive population in this setting as a whole, but nonetheless does yield some useful insights. The HIV positive participants were then compared to a general population control group derived from a population-based epidemiological study (the CONSTANCES cohort), with HIV positive individuals matched by age and gender to a HIV negative comparator, and again only individuals aged above 40 with at least a 20 pack-year smoking history were included. A proxy measure of COPD prevalence using pre-bronchodilator spirometry was used (as post-bronchodilator spirometry was not undertaken in the CONSTANCES cohort), obstructive lung disease was therefore defined as a pre-bronchodilator FEV1/FVC ratio less than 0.7 plus FEV1 less than 80% predicted.

This analysis found a greater prevalence of airways disease among the HIV positive group, with 19% of HIV positive compared to 9% of HIV negative individuals having evidence of airflow obstruction. In a multivariable linear regression model using FEV1/FVC ratio as the dependent variable, HIV status, age, gender, Body Mass Index, tobacco smoking, and hepatitis C status were all independently associated with a lower FEV1/FVC ratio. As with the data presented by Guaraldi *et al*, methodological imitations complicate interpretation of these results: in particular, the different recruitment methods used for the two study groups and the possibility of biases in recruitment of HIV positive participants. Therefore, the differences found between HIV positive and negative individuals could be caused by residual confounding or biases in the study populations. The data could demonstrate a cross-sectional association, which may not necessarily imply that a causative relationship exists between HIV status and airways disease. Nonetheless this study provides further evidence of a high prevalence of obstructive lung disease among some HIV positive populations.

A further large and well-conducted European study comparing an HIV positive population with a general population control group has been undertaken by Ronit *et al* in Denmark (76). This study evaluated a cohort of 1098 PLWH who were compared to a general population sample derived from the Copenhagen General Population Study (CGPS). In this study matching did not attempt to obtain an HIV negative group with equivalent risk factors and the prevalence of tobacco smoking was significantly higher among PLWH (with 29% compared to 13% being current smokers) but instead regression models were used to assess the importance of different participant characteristics. In this population there was no difference in the prevalence of airflow obstruction defined as an FEV1/FVC less than the (age, gender and ethnicity standardised) lower limit of normal: by this definition airflow obstruction was present in 10.6% of PLWH and HIV negative controls. However, when airways disease was defined by the Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) criteria of FEV1/FVC < 0.7 and FEV1< 80% predicted, a significantly greater proportion of the HIV positive group were found to have impairment: 10% vs 5.8%, (p<0.0001). This appeared to be primarily driven by concurrent reduction in FEV1 *and* FVC, and was associated with a lower nadir CD4 count, suggesting that prior immunosuppression may have been an important driver of lung function derangement in this population.

1.10 Data from Low and Middle-Income Countries

In contrast to the HIV positive populations in resource rich settings, where large proportions of PLWH are established on antiretroviral therapy, low and middle-income countries (LMICs) have to date had much less access to ART, with important implications for the respiratory health of these populations. Chronic respiratory impairment has rarely been assessed in these settings (although as will be discussed in Chapter 2 there is some evidence regarding the frequency of respiratory symptoms). Gupte *et al* investigated risk factors for respiratory impairment among people living with HIV in South Africa (77). In a study of 730 predominantly (85%) female individuals, with a median age of 36 years, in an urban setting (Soweto) in South Africa, only 25% were using antiretroviral therapy; 30% of this population had ever smoked, yet only 8% were current smokers, (in marked contrast to populations in the US and Europe). Only 5% of the population had airflow obstruction, which was significantly associated with older age, current smoking and a higher blood CRP level.

Two other recent studies from Sub-Saharan Africa provide further data regarding respiratory illness in HIV positive populations in resource poor settings. An analysis of 356 PLWH over the age of 30 in Nigeria, found that airflow obstruction (post-bronchodilator FEV1/FVC <0.7) was present in 15%, despite only 17% of this cohort ever having smoked.(78) Perfura-Yone *et al* conducted a case-control study comparing HIV infected individuals in Yaoundé, Cameroon with age and sex matched HIV negative controls and found no significant difference in the proportion with airflow obstruction (2.2% HIV positive and 0.7% HIV negative individuals with FEV1/FVC <0.7) (79), however this was a relatively young population (mean age 42 years) with limited tobacco exposure (87% and 82% of HIV positive and negative participants respectively were never smokers), in which a past history of TB was the strongest predictor of airflow obstruction. These studies illustrate how diverse populations, with differing exposures to important risk factors have different burdens of respiratory illness. How this changes as antiretroviral therapy becomes more easily available, and resource poor settings have growing populations of HIV positive individuals using antiretroviral therapy will be an important question in future decades.

1.11 Chronic lung disease in individuals with vertically acquired HIV infection in low and middle-income countries

A specific group which appears to have a particular phenotype of HIV-related chronic lung disease are individuals with vertical acquisition of HIV infection who survive to adolescence without treatment. Although this group are not the subject of this thesis, they do offer insights into the potential impact of HIV on the lung and possibly mechanisms of disease. Whilst in most settings they may represent a relatively small population, in sub-Saharan Africa it is estimated that over 3 million HIV positive children and adolescents were alive in 2015 (80). Without antiretroviral treatment, about a third of vertically HIV infected infants typically survive to adolescence. A group of these "slow-progressors" was evaluated by Ferrand *et al* in Harare, Zimbabwe, who found a very high burden of chronic respiratory illness, with chronic cough reported by 66% and exercise limitation by 21%. (81) Thirteen percent were hypoxic at rest and 29% on exercise. Fifty-six of these individuals went on to have CT scans, and here the predominant findings were suggestive of small airways obstruction (characterised by mosaic attenuation on CT) and bronchiectasis.

Similar analyses of vertically infected children and adolescents have been undertaken in Nairobi, Kenya, and Blantyre, Malawi, which have recapitulated these findings – Mwalukomo *et al* found evidence of both small airways disease and bronchiectasis in 160 children with a mean age of 11 in Malawi who had a similarly high prevalence of respiratory symptoms and Attia *et al* also identified a high prevalence of hypoxia and tachypnoea in 258 adolescents in Nairobi (82, 83).

This group of vertically infected individuals in some ways represents an extreme end of the spectrum of HIV exposure, in which lung development and maturation occur in the presence of often uncontrolled HIV viraemia. Such individuals are likely to have experienced recurrent respiratory infections throughout childhood with important consequences for their lung health. This group illustrate the potential impact of HIV infection on the lung and their future management will be an important clinical issue in sub-Saharan African countries.

1.12 Effect of HIV on measures of lung function other than spirometry

Most studies evaluating respiratory health in HIV positive populations have used spirometry to assess lung function. Whilst this has the advantage of being relatively quick, well-standardised and able to be completed in a clinic room, this approach may miss more subtle, yet potentially important, lung function changes. To date, relatively few studies have used techniques such as evaluation of the diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide (DLCO) of the lung in a systematic way to assess respiratory impairment in HIV positive populations.

In a study of 167 HIV positive individuals recruited from the University of Pittsburgh between 2007-9, Gingo *et al* demonstrated that 64% of these participants had a DLCO of less than 80% of the predicted value (whereas only 21% had airflow obstruction) (29). Impairment was associated with greater number of pack-years smoked and a CD4 count of less than 200 cells/µL. As this study only evaluated HIV positive individuals, the relative importance of HIV status compared to established risk factors such as tobacco smoking could not be studied. Further work from the same group suggested that in HIV positive never smokers DLCO impairment was still common, with mean DLCO of 73% predicted (74).

Only two studies to date have systematically compared DLCO measurements in HIV positive and negative individuals. Crothers *et al* examined 300 HIV positive and 289 HIV negative men recruited as part of a cross- cohort study from the MACS and Veterans Aging Cohort Study cohorts (30). PLWH in this study were more likely to be current smokers (47% vs 35%) and had a greater total cigarette pack years (median 26 vs 20 pack-years), as well as being more likely to be current cannabis users and more likely to have had previous bacterial or *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia. However, in a multivariable linear regression model adjusting for ethnicity, smoking exposure and study site, HIV status remained associated with lower percentage predicted DLCO. This association was stronger in those with a CD4 count below 200 cells/µL.

The study of Crothers *et al* was restricted to men, and Fitzpatrick *et al* conducted a similar evaluation enrolling 63 HIV positive and 36 HIV negative women from the Women's Interagency HIV study (28). Here, exposure to tobacco smoking was again greater in the HIV positive group (10 pack-years compared to 4.2). Again, DLCO was found to be significantly lower in the HIV positive group (mean percentage predicted of 65% vs 72%, p=0.01) and HIV status was associated with lower DLCO in a multivariable linear regression model. In a regression model including only HIV positive participants, prior history of bacterial or PCP, current use of cocaine and cannabis use (ever) were also associated with lower DLCO.

Impairment in DLCO in PLWH was reported by several groups prior to the availability of ART, who noted impairment in gas transfer associated with worsening immunosuppression, even when opportunistic

infections such as PCP had been confidently excluded. (84-89) Diaz et al explored the physiology of this impairment in more detail, estimating the relative contribution of obstruction to diffusion at the alveolar membrane (due for instance, to the accumulation of an inflammatory exudate in the alveolar space) and loss of pulmonary vascular beds – their conclusion was that the predominant cause of this impairment was a loss of the pulmonary vascular beds, and concluded that this could indicate that PLWH are experiencing the early onset of emphysema (which is associated with loss of alveolar volume including the vascular beds). (90) There has been relatively little exploration of the pathophysiology of diffusion capacity impairment in PLWH using ART. Gingo *et al* investigated this in 158 PLWH (33 of whom were never-smokers) including comprehensive assessments of lung function, and CT imaging for 117 of the cohort. They concluded that different pathological mechanisms might be operating in smokers and non-smokers, with impairment among smokers characterised by airflow obstruction and radiological evidence of emphysema, whereas in never smokers there were stronger associations with a reduction in FVC and neutrophilic airway inflammation(91).

Ronit *et al* evaluated small airway dysfunction using a technique of Multiple Breath Washout for nitrogen to calculate the Lung Clearance Index (LCI) (75). This technique may allow assessment of small airways disease before changes in conventional lung function tests (such as FEV₁) become apparent. In order to avoid the confounding effects of tobacco and cannabis smoking, Ronit *et al* evaluated only people who had never smoked, recruited from the Copenhagen Co-morbidity in HIV infection study, compared to HIV negative subjects recruited from hospital staff and outpatient clinics. This group found that HIV status was associated with lower LCI, which persisted after adjustment for age (which was also found to be associated with lower LCI in univariable analysis). However, although HIV positive participants reported more respiratory symptoms, with slightly higher scores using the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (3.5 vs 1.4), LCI was not significantly associated with SGRQ scores.

1.13 Summarising the epideimiology of lung function impairment and HIV in the antiretroviral era

As discussed in this section, many studies have evaluated lung function in PLWH and attempted to determine whether or not HIV infection results in an increased likelihood of respiratory impairment (Table 1). This field as a whole is limited by the fact that the majority of studies are cross-sectional in design, use only spirometry as a measure of lung function, are often not able to adjust for important confounding effects and in many cases do not include an HIV negative comparator group. Therefore, the ability of such data to confidently answer the question of whether HIV infection leads to lung function impairment is limited.

Studies with more detailed phyisiological measurements (such as of lung diffusion capacity), with prospective follow-up and which could more fully assess the effect of confounding factors would provide a significantly improved level of evidence. Researchers can only hope to address the question of whether or not PLWH are more likely to have lung function impairment if they make direct comparisons with HIV negative comparators. If we look specifically at studies which have done so and reported prevalence of airflow obstruction in HIV positive and negative groups in populations with access to antiretroviral therapy (each discussed individually in this chapter), overall there appears to be no significant association between HIV status and airflow obstruction. The study by Madeddu *et al* was the only one which reported a significantly greater prevalence of airflow obstruction, and this appears to be an outlier when compared to the other studies.

TABLE 1 STUDIES EVALUATING FREQUENCY OF AIRFLOW OBSTRUCTION IN HIV POSITIVE POPULATIONS

First Author	Country	Ν	Prevalence of airflow	HIV negative
			obstruction	comparator
			(FEV1/FVC <0.7)	group?
Drummond (66)	USA	908	27%	No
Fitzpatrick (92)	USA	124	27%	No
Makinson (71)	France	338	26%	No
Madeddu(67)	Italy	111	23%	Yes
Gingo (93)	USA	167	21%	No
Crothers(94)	USA	300	18%	Yes
Samperiz (68)	Spain	275	17%	No
Drummond(95)	USA	316	16%	Yes
Akanbi (96)	Nigeria	356	15%	No
Hirani (97)	USA	98	14%	No
Guaraldi (72)	Italy	903	11%	No
Nakamura(69)	Japan	49	10%	No
Kristoffersen(98)	Denmark	88	9%	No
Risso (99)	France	624	9%	No
George (100)	USA	234	7%	No
Kunisaki (64)	Multi-site	1026	5%	No
Gupte (77)	South Africa	730	5%	No
Cui (101)	Canada	119	3%	No
Onyedum (78)	Nigeria	100	3%	No
Pefura Yone (79)	Cameroon	461	2.20%	Yes

Progress in our understanding of the relationship between HIV status and respiratory health, and where any specific associations between HIV and lung impairment exist, requires studies which do more than cross-sectional assessments of spirometry; more detailed physiological measurements of diffusion capacity or small airways disease and studies including prospective follow-up would add to the available data. Furthermore, all studies comparing spirometry in HIV positive and negative people have been conducted in Europe or the United States. Most PLWH live in low and middle-income countries, and the epidemiology of lung disease in these settings may well be different. We know that the prevalence of lung function impairment varies hugely in the general population in different settings, such that in the Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease (BOLD) study of the epidemiology of COPD, the prevalence of airflow obstruction ranged from 11% (in Guangzhou, China) to 24% (in Cape Town, South Africa). Different exposures to known risk factors such as tobacco smoking only partially explained these differences in prevalence (102). There is a need therefore to investigate the impact of HIV status on respiratory health in low and middle-income countries, as the proportion of PLWH globally who can access to ART grows.

1.14 Potential mechanisms for HIV-related lung disease

Investigators have suggested multiple mechanisms which may drive the development of chronic lung disease in PLWH (103). One of these is that lung damage may occur before an individual starts ART which could have long-term and persistent effects: although ART treatment guidelines now recommend starting therapy before significant immunocompromise develops, most PLWH have had a period of untreated infection which may last many years. Over this time, respiratory infections may result in lung damage that subsequently leads to chronic respiratory illness. Having an episode of PCP appears to be specifically associated with more chronic airflow obstruction than an episode of bacterial pneumonia, as demonstrated by Morris *et al* (104), and recovery of lung function following PCP may be particularly poor in smokers. It may therefore be that the effects of HIV prior to treatment have a persisting and negative impact on respiratory health.

Airway inflammation (which might be clinically manifested as chronic cough) may play an important role in the development of chronic lung disease, both in those with and without HIV (105) (106). The finding that neutrophilic airway inflammation (defined by the percentage of neutrophils in induced sputum samples) is associated with reduced DLCO in HIV infected non-smokers (91) is consistent with this hypothesis.

1.15 Immune dysregulation and HIV

Although peripheral blood CD4 counts are used as the primary clinical measure of immunocompromise in HIV infection, more complex derangements of immune function occur. Chronic HIV infection may be associated with a state of heightened "immune activation" as defined by circulating inflammatory markers (such as CRP and soluble CD14) and innate and adaptive immune cell phenotypes (defined by cell surface markers) (107). Disruption of the gut mucosal immune defence and consequent translocation of bacteria from the gut into the bloodstream has been suggested as a possible driver of this immune activation, a hypothesis supported by the association between serum levels of soluble CD14 and lipopolysaccharide. It has been suggested that this immune activation acts as a driver of the development of chronic comorbidities in PLWH: for instance, the severity of coronary atherosclerosis has been found to correlate with markers of immune activation (108). Similarly, Attia et al demonstrated an association between soluble CD14 in the blood and radiographic emphysema, suggesting that a state of generalised immune activation, or possibly premature immune senescence, may contribute to the development of respiratory illness in PLWH (109). These studies were, however, cross-sectional in nature and thus cannot establish temporality: the association found does not necessarily imply a causative relationship. A prospective study by Kirkegaard-Klitbo et al in Denmark evaluated the association between soluble CD163 (a marker of monocyte and macrophage activation) and the development of non-AIDS comorbidities in subsequent years, with the cohort followed-up from 2004-5 until 2014.(110) In this analysis, a higher CD163 at baseline was associated with an increased risk of developing chronic kidney

lung or liver disease (but not cardiovascular disease, cancer or diabetes mellitus), with a three-fold higher incidence of chronic lung disease in the highest sCD163 quartile compared to the lowest (Hazard ratio 3.2 95% CI 1.34-7.46). Although the authors suggested that their findings supported the hypothesis that monocyte/macrophage activation is involved in the pathogenesis of non-AIDS comorbidity, as with any such observational data, the association found may not indicate that the inflammatory marker studied is part of the causative pathway of these chronic diseases.

1.16 Immunological mechanisms of lung impairment in HIV

HIV causes systemic acquired immunodeficiency primarily by depleting CD4+ T helper lymphocytes (111). However, multiple specific mechanisms in the lung may contribute to pulmonary pathology (112). This is relevant both to the increased susceptibility to particular infections (such as *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*) the incidence of which is greatly increased in chronic HIV Infection before significant depletion of peripheral blood CD4 cell numbers occurs (15, 113) and the development of non-communicable respiratory disease (9).

The HIV virus has the ability to directly infect lung immune cells: both alveolar macrophages and lung T cells express CD4, CCR5 and CXCR4 receptors and are therefore permissive to HIV infection (114). Infection of these cells is well documented, although only a small minority (typically 1 in 100 lymphocytes and 1 in 1000 alveolar macrophages) are typically directly infected by the virus (115). Disruptions of normal immune response, rather than by direct infection of lung effector cells, may therefore be responsible for many of the deleterious effects of HIV infection on lung immunity.

During early infection, the HIV virus primarily utilises CCR5 as a viral co-receptor to facilitate cellular entry ("CCR5 tropism") and preferentially infects the population of memory CD4+ T cells expressing this coreceptor (in particular the effector memory subset). The period of apparent stability in total CD4 numbers observed during chronic (untreated) HIV infection, which often lasts several years, represents a balance between HIV-mediated loss of these cells and replacement from the (relatively spared) central memory and naïve T cell subsets (116). As the effector memory subset represents the major cellular population in extra-lymphoid effector tissues such as the gut, this leads to a severe depletion of lymphocytes in these tissues: in the gut mucosa, primary HIV infection is followed by a rapid and profound depletion of mucosal immunity, with a loss of the gut associated lymphoid cell populations (117). This has a significant impact on gut mucosal defence and the integrity of this mucosal barrier to pathogens.

Immunological consequences of HIV infection seem to be compartmentalised, with differing results in the gut, lung, peripheral blood and other sites. In the lung, depletion of mucosal lymphoid numbers does not appear to occur to the same extent as in the gut early in HIV infection, as lung CD4+ cell populations are relatively preserved in chronic HIV infection (118). However, a well-established finding in untreated HIV infection is an increase in CD8+ T cell numbers in the lung (119, 120). This "lymphocytic alveolitis"

appears to be a cytotoxic response directly targeting HIV, as the degree of CD8+ infiltrate correlates with the concentration of virus in the lung, and is associated with a poorer prognosis (120). This CD8+ T cell infiltrate in the lung appears to be reduced by antiretroviral therapy (121).

In addition to the depletion of lymphocyte populations, impairment of innate immunity in the lung also contributes to HIV pathogenesis (122) (123). Alveolar macrophages are the predominant immunological cell and are the main effector phagocyte in the lung. Although some data are conflicting, most studies suggest that phagocytosis by alveolar macrophages is not impaired by HIV infection – for instance, Gordon *et al* found no difference in phagocytosis of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* by alveolar macrophages from HIV positive and negative individuals (124). This may not tell the whole story however, as more subtle derangements of phagocytic function may be present: Jambo *et al* suggested that although overall phagocytic activity (based on the internalisation of reporter beads) by alveolar macrophages is unaffected by HIV status, there was a reduction in proteolytic activity, interpreted as an impairment in phagosomal function within these cells(125). This impairment of proteolysis was not restricted to macrophages directly infected with HIV but was a generalised property of cells derived from the lungs of HIV positive individuals.

Collini *et al* undertook further work elucidating the mechanisms underlying the higher susceptibility to pneumococcal infection *(126)*. In analyses comparing HIV positive participants using ART with an undetectable HIV viral load with healthy volunteers, this group found that alveolar macrophages had impaired ability to kill phagocytosed pneumococci. This defect appeared to be related to the HIV envelope glycoprotein gp120, via post-translational modification of McI-1, a regulator of macrophage apoptosis. Although participants had no detectable HIV RNA in peripheral blood, in some participants there was evidence of ongoing viral replication in the lung, either through detection of viral RNA, p24 in alveolar macrophages or gp120 in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid.

At the level of global proteomic analysis of immune function, Nguyen *et al* demonstrated downregulation of immune pathways in HIV positive individuals in an analysis of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (127). This disruption of the immune environment may persist despite antiretroviral treatment as Jambo *et al* demonstrated ongoing changes in lung cytokine networks even after a median of 5.5 years on antiretroviral therapy (128).

1.17 Respiratory infection and chronic lung disease

Respiratory infection may be one mechanism by which chronic lung disease can develop. Many respiratory infections may lead to long-term lung damage – for instance acute bacterial pneumonia can cause bronchiectasis with subsequent persistent symptoms and recurrent infection. Tuberculosis frequently leads to chronic lung disease which, at a global scale, is likely to be an important source of ill-health.(129) Also opportunistic lung infections including PCP in people living with HIV not taking ART or on ineffective treatment is likely to significantly contribute to chronic lung disease. Taken together, these severe respiratory illnesses, particularly in resource limited settings where the burden of respiratory infection is very high, may promote chronic lung disease in people living with HIV.(104) What is less well-documented is whether more common respiratory infections, such as bronchitis could also contribute to worsening respiratory health in HIV populations.

1.18 Mechanisms of non-communicable lung disease in HIV

This discussion of the mechanisms of lung disease in HIV has focussed on immune function and susceptibility to infection. Possible mechanisms contributing to non-communicable pulmonary disease in HIV are less well characterised (130). Several have been proposed by which HIV infection may promote lung damage and in particular the development of emphysema or airflow obstruction. Yearsley *et al* noted that HIV positive alveolar macrophages were more commonly found in areas of pulmonary emphysema in a histological analysis of lung samples removed at operation from people living with HIV, and suggested that these cells could be contributing to the destruction of lung tissue, perhaps by the release of inflammatory cytokines or proteinases(131). It is possible that specific pathogenic pathways contribute to the development of COPD in HIV positive individuals: Popescu *et al* compared HIV positive individuals with and without COPD and identified a particular CD8 T-cell alveolitis phenotype in those with COPD, plus depletion and dysfunction of CD4 T-cells compared to HIV positive individuals without COPD (132).

Changes to the pulmonary vascular system may also contribute to lung pathology. Several groups have noted a higher incidence of pulmonary arterial hypertension in PLWH, and HIV related vascular injury may contribute to this (133, 134). Although endothelial cells of the pulmonary vascular system are not susceptible to HIV infection, they may undergo apoptosis when exposed to HIV proteins and damage to endothelial cells could contribute to lung pathogenesis (135, 136).

1.19 Effects of HIV on the airway epithelium

Impairment of respiratory function may also result from HIV-related changes in the behaviour of airway epithelial cells, particularly in the small airways which are thought to be the initial site of pathology in the development of COPD. Although these small airway epithelial cells are not susceptible to productive HIV infection, Chung *et al* have demonstrated *in vitro* that HIV can bind to airway basal cells, and that this induces activation of intracellular signalling pathways that result in an increased production of matrix metalloproteinases (which can degrade lung tissue) and a change in cellular behaviour by which these cells acquire a "cell-invasion" phenotype (137). Whether these pathogenic mechanisms are of importance *in vivo*, and the extent to which this is a significant mechanism in individuals using antiretroviral therapy, however, has not been established.

Brune *et al* conducted a further analysis of the effect of HIV on the airway epithelium (138). These investigators cultured human airway epithelial cells *in vitro* and assessed the effect of HIV exposure on cellular permeability and intracellular signalling. They suggested that exposure to CXCR4-tropic HIV viruses (but not CCR5 tropic viruses) induced changes in these epithelial cell layers. Although epithelial cells do not have CD4 receptors, CXCR4 tropic viruses interacted with the CXCR4 receptor and were internalised by these epithelial cells but could not then replicate. Exposure to these viruses was associated with increased permeability of the cellular layers, decreased expression of E-cadherin and activation of intracellular inflammatory signalling pathways (ERK signalling and ICAM-1 expression).

In contrast to the findings of Brune *et al*, Chinnapayan and colleagues also evaluated lung epithelial cells and found that these cells express not only CD4 receptors, but also CCR5 and CXCR4 co-receptors and *were* susceptible to infection by both CXCR4 and CCR5 tropic viruses (139). Exposure to the HIV protein Tat appeared to interfere with normal epithelial and ciliary function and there was a reduction in cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) production and ciliary function. These authors suggest that impairment of airway mucociliary clearance could be a mechanism of pathogenesis in PLWH leading to increased frequency of infection and chronic airway inflammation.

The studies evaluating airway epithelial function demonstrate possible mechanisms by which HIV could promote the development of lung disease that are distinct from the pathways mediated by immune compromise or inflammatory responses to HIV. However, whether such effects occur *in vivo*, or have any clinical significance in PLWH using ART has not yet been established.

1.20 How complete is immune reconstitution with ART in the lung?

The extent to which antiretroviral therapy allows the immune system to return to a state equivalent to that of individuals without HIV is an important question in current HIV research (140). It appears that despite ART, PLWH continue to be more susceptible to some infections: the frequency of invasive Pneumococcal disease may continue to be 30 times higher than in the HIV negative (141) (142). Part of the reason for this may be ongoing immune changes despite virological suppression and recovery of peripheral blood CD4 numbers. Even with suppression of viral replication to the extent that HIV is not detectable in peripheral blood, analysis of encoded proviral DNA within alveolar macrophages suggests that the lung may be one "sanctuary site" where HIV persistence and replication continues, which may have ongoing effects on macrophage function (143).

Whether HIV positive individuals using ART have ongoing defects in T cell function is the subject of some debate. In an analysis of HIV positive and negative individuals including an HIV positive group with over 4 years ART exposure, although total CD4+ numbers did not differ, there were some deficiencies in particular T cell subsets and antigen-specific T cell responses (to Influenza and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*) in particular in polyfunctional (i.e. multiple cytokine producing) CD4 T cell responses(144). Recovery of CD4+ T cell numbers with antiretroviral therapy may not imply that the overall breadth of immune responses recovers. Analysis of the diversity of T cell receptors present in HIV positive individuals using RNA-sequencing techniques suggests that there is a significant perturbation of receptor diversity with a reduced overall diversity and over-expression of some sequences (145). Relatively short-term antiretroviral use does not appear to reverse these changes, although whether long-term antiretroviral use does is not known.

1.21 Summary

Multiple studies have evaluated the impact of lung disease in HIV positive populations in recent years. These have yielded very variable estimates of the prevalence of airflow obstruction in different populations, ranging from under 3% to over 25% of PLWH, reflecting important differences in the global epidemiology of HIV and exposures to risk factors such as tobacco smoking. A major limitation of the evidence available is that relatively few studies have included an HIV negative comparator group, and consequently cannot adequately adjust for important confounding factors such as tobacco smoking and age of the cohorts. There continues to be relatively little high-quality data addressing the question of whether HIV independently increased the likelihood of developing chronic lung disease.

The improvement in life-expectancy and quality of life attributable to ART use is undisputed. However, important unanswered questions exist regarding the extent to which PLWH remain at greater risk of infection and non-communicable comorbidities and underlying mechanisms of disease. Whether PLWH who achieve viral suppression with ART are still at higher risk of infections such as bacterial pneumonia is not known (and guidelines therefore continue to recommend Pneumococcal and influenza immunisation for all HIV positive individuals). Acute respiratory illnesses are a common cause of morbidity in any population, but relatively little is known about these illnesses in PLWH now that antiretroviral therapy is widely and successfully used. Despite the large amount of data that have become available in the last 5 years, the importance of chronic lung disease in HIV is debated, and the relative importance of HIV as an independent driver of lung disease verses the contribution of well-established risk factors such as tobacco smoking remains the subject of ongoing research.

1.22 Aims of this thesis

This thesis aims to contribute to our understanding of respiratory health in PLWH by providing new data regarding respiratory illness in a current HIV positive population with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy. Data arising from these studies will be of relevance to other HIV positive populations with similar levels of access to antiretroviral therapy, and to the increasing proportion of people living with HIV globally who are able to access ART.

To complete the research contained in this thesis I have used several methodologies including systematic review and quantitative meta-analysis of existing data. I have conducted systematic measurement of participant reported symptoms, relevant exposures and risk factors and lung function to determine the prevalence of respiratory ill-health in the population under examination. In addition, I have used molecular microbiology techniques for pathogen detection in respiratory samples to examine airway bacterial populations. A key novel aspect of this work is the use of detailed prospective follow-up of a well characterised cohort of HIV positive and negative participants to examine the frequency of acute respiratory illness in this population.

The work presented in this thesis extends and differs from the existing published literature in several important ways. Much of the data presented explores respiratory symptoms and health status (rather than lung function impairments alone) in contrast to most other published data, and therefore provides an insight into the effect on quality of life of impaired respiratory health of people living with HIV. Relatively few existing studies have prospectively compared people living with HIV with HIV negative comparator groups, and data presented here adds to this literature. In particular, this thesis includes data prospectively evaluating the frequency of acute respiratory illness in a cohort of HIV positive and negative individuals using diary cards to measure the onset of new symptoms in a comprehensive way, a type of study that has not previously been undertaken in an HIV positive population.

Chapter 2: Respiratory symptoms in HIV positive individuals and the effect of antiretroviral therapy, a systematic review and meta-analysis This chapter describes a systematic review undertaken regarding respiratory symptoms in HIV positive (compared to HIV negative) individuals and how this has changed with the provision of antiretroviral therapy.

2.1 Aims of the study

As summarized in Chapter 1, respiratory illness is a common consequence of HIV infection. Respiratory complications of HIV infection include both acute (normally infective) illnesses such as bacterial pneumonia, PCP, tuberculosis etc., but also chronic respiratory conditions including Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and pulmonary hypertension. In addition, other non-AIDS chronic comorbidities (in particular cardiovascular disease) manifest with "respiratory" symptoms such as breathlessness.

This systematic review had the following aims:

(a) To summarise existing data from studies comparing HIV positive and negative individuals which quantify the extent to which chronic respiratory symptoms are associated with HIV infection

(b) To evaluate the change in chronic respiratory symptoms among PLWH since the provision of antiretroviral therapy

(c) To highlight areas where the evidence base concerning chronic respiratory symptoms in people living with HIV is lacking

As discussed in the Introduction, although objective impairment of lung function has been the subject of considerable recent research, less attention has been paid to the symptoms that individuals report. For this reason, we focused this systematic review on respiratory symptoms (rather than changes in objectively measured lung function). This is important, as lung function impairment can correlate poorly with symptoms and functional status (146). We therefore aimed to provide a comprehensive analysis of existing data regarding respiratory symptoms in people living with HIV with the aim of understanding how this has changed with antiretroviral therapy, and where deficiencies in the current evidence base exist.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Search strategy

The aim of this systematic review was to evaluate and summarise the currently available published evidence regarding the relative frequency of respiratory symptoms in HIV positive and negative populations.

We therefore chose search terms that would capture any respiratory symptom (excluding those arising from pathology of the ear, or obstructive sleep apnoea).

We did not attempt to set rigid definitions (for instance regarding the duration of symptoms required to distinguish chronic from acute cough) and instead used those provided by the investigators of the primary studies.

The protocol of this systematic review was registered with the PROSPERO database (Ref: PROSPERO 2015:CRD42015013762), details are available online:

http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.asp?ID=CRD42015013762

A systematic literature search was undertaken in the MEDLINE, EMBASE, Cochrane and CINAHL databases between 1946 and August 2015. Only publications in peer-reviewed journals were included, but we undertook manual search of abstracts from the Conference of Retroviruses and Opportunistic infections (CROI), International AIDS Society (IAS) and American Thoracic Society conferences since 1982 (where these were available) to find abstracts that may have been published as full papers. There was no language restriction on searches. Searches were limited to studies in humans.

The search terms used for each database are listed in Figure 3.

FIGURE 2 SEARCH TERMS USED

EMBASE (Ovid)

HIV.mp OR Human Immunodeficiency Virus OR Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome

AND (Wheezing or coughing or dyspn?ea or h?emoptysis).mp

MEDLINE (Ovid)

Exp "signs and symptoms respiratory"/ OR (signs and symptoms, respiratory).mp

OR (cough\$ or breathless\$ or dyspn?ea or h?emoptysis or (short\$ adj2 breath)).mp

AND Exp HIV OR Exp HIV Infections OR (HIV or human adj immunodeficiency adj virus) or acquired adj immunodeficiency adj syndrome).mp

CINAHL (EBSCO)

(MH "Human Immunodeficiency Virus+" OR MH ("Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome") OR MH "HIV Infections+") OR (MH "HIV Infected Patients+")) OR ((HIV) OR (human immunodeficiency virus) OR (AIDS) OR (Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome)) AND ((MH "Signs and symptoms, Respiratory (Non-CINAHL)+") OR "Cough" OR "Dyspn?ea" OR "h?emoptysis" OR "short*adj2 breath")

2.2.2 Review team

The study was designed and led by myself with assistance from my primary and secondary supervisors. Advice regarding study design and conduct, and assistance with searches and data extraction were provided by Dr Anjana Roy (Public Health England).

In addition, statistical advice was provided by Dr Ross Harris (Public Health England). I conducted all the final statistical analyses presented here.

2.2.3 Inclusion and exclusion criteria for systematic review

We included studies if they were published in a peer-reviewed journal, reported data from HIV positive and negative individuals, measured respiratory symptoms in each group and provided quantitative data. No age restriction was applied and there was no language restriction, (although searches were conducted in English).

Exclusion criteria were as follows:

- 1. Studies which did not include HIV negative individuals
- 2. Studies reporting symptoms of obstructive sleep apnoea (such as hyper-somnolence)
- 3. Studies reporting symptoms arising from the ear (such as ear pain, discharge or hearing change)
- 4. Studies reporting data with the intention of describing the symptoms associated with a specific condition (such as tuberculosis, bacterial or *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia) rather than the occurrence of symptoms within the general or HIV positive population.
- 5. Studies which only assessed hospital in-patients, as these would not be representative of the population as a whole.

We did not exclude population-based studies if, by chance, they contained people with prevalent respiratory conditions as part of the population studied.

2.2.4 Study selection and data extraction

All abstracts were independently reviewed by two members of the review team (JB and AR). A short-list was then compiled of possibly relevant articles for review in full-text. These full text articles were accessed and jointly reviewed by two reviewers based on the inclusion/ exclusion criteria. Where necessary, discrepancies were resolved by discussion with the senior member of the team (ML). After selection of relevant studies had been completed, data were extracted on the following study characteristics:

- 1. Study design
- 2. Date of study
- 3. Age and gender of participants
- 4. Prevalence of tobacco smoking
- 5. Risk of acquisition of HIV
- 6. Geographical location(s) of study
- 7. Number of HIV positive and HIV negative participants
- 8. Frequency of respiratory symptoms
- 9. Description of respiratory symptoms / tool used to evaluate
- 10. Availability of antiretroviral treatment
- 11. Treatment provided for the respiratory illness
- 12. Level of immunocompromise in the HIV positive group (e.g. median blood CD4 count).

In order to assess the risk of bias in each study, we used a modified Newcastle Ottawa Scale based on that reported by Herzog *et al* (147). This is shown in Table 2. The Newcastle Ottawa scale provides a quantitative assessment of risk of bias in a study relevant to observational studies (in contrast to the Cochrane risk of bias tools which are more appropriate to randomized trials of two or more interventions). The Newcastle Ottawa scale awards up to 8 points to each study: three for adequate selection of participants, three for comparability of HIV positive and negative participants included in the study and two for the assessment of symptoms and reporting of statistical tests (148). In this scale, stars are awarded for higher scores for each criterion, giving a total score out of a possible 8 stars. High quality studies were defined as those that scored 6 to 8 stars, moderate quality 5 or 6 stars and low quality those with 0-3 stars.

TABLE 2 MODIFIED NEWCASTLE-OTTAWA SCALE USED

Selection	Representativeness of sample	Truly representative of the target population (random sampling) *	*				
		Somewhat representative of the target population (non-random sampling) *	*				
		Selection of population No description of sampling strategy					
	Non-respondents	Comparability between respondents and non-respondents is established and the response rate satisfactory	*				
		Poor response rate, or comparability between respondents and non- respondents is not established					
		No description of response rate or characteristics of non-respondents					
	Ascertainment of HIV status in HIV negative participants	HIV test undertaken or contemporaneous clinic record of HIV test available	*				
		Self -report of HIV status or not tested in HIV uninfected group or details of HIV testing for HIV negative participants not described					
		Information not provided					
Comparability	Subjects in HIV positive	Same recruitment strategy used for both groups *					
	comparable based on recruitment strategy	Recruitment strategy different for HIV negative group or recruitment strategy not mentioned					
	Smoking status:	Details of smoking history provided for all participants, including evaluation of pack-year history*	*				
		Limited information on smoking status (e.g. number of current smokers only provided)					
		Data on smoking not provided					
	Level of immunocompromise in	Mean or median CD4 count reported with range or standard deviation*	*				
	HIV positive participants	CD4 count reported as range or range / standard deviation not given*	*				
		No data on CD4 counts					
Outcome	Ascertainment of respiratory symptoms	Validated tool*	*				
		Non-validated tool					
		Other					
	Statistical test	Association between HIV status and respiratory symptoms reported and appropriate statistical tests provided, including confidence intervals and probability (p value)*	*				
		Association between HIV status and respiratory symptoms not evaluated or details of statistical test used not described.					

2.2.5 Statistical analysis

The difference in prevalence of respiratory symptoms in HIV positive and negative individuals was compared using odds ratios for the occurrence of each symptom (e.g. cough, breathlessness) in each group. Although the absolute frequency of these symptoms varied significantly according to how they are defined and measured by the investigators of each study, the definitions would be the same for all participants in each study the relative frequency of symptoms in HIV positive and negative participants could therefore be compared by means of odds ratios, allowing estimation of the effect of HIV infection on the likelihood of having these symptoms.

Studies of adults were stratified by (a) location of study in resource-limited or resource-rich settings (which also equated with high and low TB prevalence and high and low HIV prevalence settings) and (b) the availability of ART in the population studied. This stratification was performed because the causes of respiratory illness were likely to differ between these settings, and this would allow the effect of antiretroviral therapy provision to be evaluated.

Studies evaluating children were not included in the quantitative analyses because HIV positive children represent a unique population and these studies were highly heterogenous in methodology and outcome.

Study data were summarised in Microsoft Excel. Meta-analyses were conducted using RevMan 5.3 (Cochrane collaboration, 2014).

Pooled odds ratios for the presence of specific respiratory symptoms were calculated within each stratum wherever more than 1 study provided data. The DerSimonian and Laird random effects model was used to account for between-study heterogeneity (149). Statistical heterogeneity was assessed using the Cochran χ^2 test and the I² statistic, calculated using RevMan software and used to summarise the degree of heterogeneity.

The possibility that small studies have more extreme results (due to reporting bias) was assessed by the visual inspection of funnel plots.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Identification of relevant studies

A total of 5,788 publications were identified by the database search after removal of duplicate publications. Of these, 5,611 were excluded after review of the article title and abstract. 192 potentially relevant articles were reviewed in full-text of which 154 were excluded; reasons for exclusion are given in Figure 2.2. Twenty-four publications were included in the final list for review (Full list of studies is provided in Table 2.2).

Figure 3 PRISMA flow chart of studies included in systematic review



TABLE 3: STUDIES INCLUDED IN THE REVIEW

	Ist Author & reference	Year of publication	Number of study participants	% HIV positive	Risk for HIV	Study location
1	Lepage (150)	1991	431	50%	General population	Rwanda
2	el Sadr (151) (Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study)	1992	223	56%	IDU [‡]	USA
3	Hoover (152) Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study Visit 3	1993	2854	33%	MSM [◊]	USA
	Hoover - visit 7	1993	2627	29%	MSM	USA
4	Norrgren (153)	1998	2215	9%	General population	Guinea-Bissau
5	Spira (154)	1999	401	54%	Vertical transmission	Rwanda
6	Olayinka (155)	1999	272	45%	Vertical transmission	Zimbabwe
7	Nilses (156)	2000	1213	21%	General population	Zimbabwe
8	Taha (157)	2000			Vertical transmission	Malawi
9	Diaz (158)	2003	379	85%	MSM	USA
10	Galli (159)	2003	280	75%	Vertical transmission	Italy
11	Lewis (160)	2009	1955	29%	General population	South Africa
12	Read (161)	2009	1317	84%	Vertical transmission	Malawi, Tanzania, Zambia
13	Kheaw-On (162)	2010	210	50%	General population	Thailand
14	Corbett (163)	2010	8979	21%	General population	Zimbabwe
15	Drummond (164) ALIVE cohort	2010	974	30%	IDU	USA
16	Onyedum (78)	2010	200	50%	General population	Nigeria
17	Gounder (165)	2011	3937	37%	General population	South Africa
18	Crothers (94) Lung HIV Study	2013	589	51%	Mixed	USA
19	Fitzpatrick (92) WHIS	2013	97	64%	Mixed	USA
20	Madeddu (67)	2013	176	63%	MSM	Italy
21	Antwal (166)	2014	1546	35%	Not detailed	India
22	Campo (167) EXHALE sub-study, VACS cohort	2014	340	53%	Mixed	USA
23	Gingo (30) (MACS)	2014	1896	71%	MSM	USA
24	Gingo (WIHS)	2014	1976	71%	Mixed	USA
25	Telisinghe (168) Prison cohort	2014	846	25%	General population	South Africa

2.3.2 Risk of bias in the studies included

Using the modified Newcastle Ottawa Scale to assess risk of bias, 6 studies were rated as low quality/ high risk of bias, 14 as moderate and 4 as high quality / low risk of bias (Table 4).

The main reasons for lower study quality scores were potential biases in the selection of study participants, who were rarely randomly selected from the populations being studied and only a minority of studies provided details of non-respondents. In contrast, ascertainment of HIV status was good, and most studies used the same recruitment strategies for HIV positive and negative participants. Smoking history among study participants was incompletely reported with only 8 studies reporting full details (including a measure of exposure such as pack-year history). In assessing the outcomes, most studies did not utilize a validated patient reported outcome tool. Overall, therefore, the published evidence regarding the association between HIV status and respiratory symptoms had at least a moderate risk of bias, and this represents a significant limitation of the evidence available to answer this question.

Study	Selecti	on		Compara	Outcon	ne	Quality / risk of bias				
	Representativenes s (a-c)	Non-respondents (a-c)	Ascertainment HIV status	Comparable (a-b)	Smoking (a-c)	Immuno- compromise	Ascertainment symptoms (a-c)	Statistical test (a-	Star rating	Overall rating	Quality
Lepage	С	С	A*	A*	С	B*	В	A*	4*	50%	Moderate
el Sadr	B*	С	A*	A*	С	A*	В	A*	5*	62%	Moderate
Hoover	B*	С	A*	A*	С	B*	В	A*	5*	50%	Moderate
Norrgren	С	A*	A*	A*	С	A*	В	A*	5*	62%	Moderate
Spira	С	В	A*	A*	С	B*	В	A*	4*	50%	Moderate
Olayinka	С	С	A*	A*	С	С	В	A*	3*	37%	Low
Nilses	A*	A*	A*	A*	A* C		В	A*	5*	62%	Moderate
Taha	B*	В	A*	A*	N/A	A*	В	A*	5*	50%	Moderate
Diaz	С	С	С	В	A*	A*	A*	A*	4*	50%	Moderate
Galli	С	A*	A*	A*	С	С	В	В	3*	37%	Low
Kheaw-On	С	С	С	A*	A*	B*	В	В	3*	37%	Low
Lewis	С	A*	A*	A*	С	С	В	A*	4*	50%	Moderate
Read	B*	A*	A*	A*	N/A	B*	В	В	5*	50%	Moderate
Corbett	A*	В	A*	A*	В	С	В	В	3*	37%	Low
Drummond	B*	С	A*	A*	A*	A*	A*	A*	7*	87%	High
Onyedum	С	С	С	A*	N/A	B*	В	A*	3*	37%	Low
Gounder	С	В	A*	A*	С	A*	В	A*	4*	50%	Moderate
Crothers	B*	C	С	A*	A*	A*	A*	A*	6*	75%	High
Fitzpatrick	B*	C	A*	A*	A*	A*	A*	A*	7*	87%	High
Madeddu	B*	C	С	B	A*	A*	A*	A*	4*	50%	Moderate
Antwal	B*	С	A*	A*	С	A*	В	В	4*	50%	Moderate
Campo	B*	С	С	A*	A*	В	A*	A*	5*	62%	Moderate
Gingo	B*	С	A*	A*	A*	A*	A*	A*	7*	87%	High
Telisinghe	С	A*	A*	A*	В	С	В	В	3*	37%	Low

2.3.3 Characteristics of included studies and data available

All studies included were observational studies, although two papers investigated cohorts recruited as part of randomized trials.

The earliest study recruited patients from 1985 (152); the most recent provided data collected in 2012 (167). Eight articles reported research conducted in the USA (detailing 9 separate studies), with 12 studies conducted in Africa, 2 in Asia and 2 Europe (both from Italy). Nineteen studies included adult patients and 5 evaluated infants only.

The presence of cough and breathlessness were the most common symptoms evaluated: data on cough were presented by 17 of 19 studies in adults. Definitions of cough varied, with the most common being the presence of cough for >2 weeks. Frequency of breathlessness was reported by 11 studies. Usually this was only defined as the presence of "dyspnoea", "breathlessness" or "shortness of breath", though four studies (all evaluating adults with access to ART) used the MRC dyspnoea score as a standardised measure.

2.3.4 Studies assessing respiratory symptoms in HIV infected adults without access to ART

Twelve studies provided data regarding respiratory symptoms in HIV positive adults without access to ART (Tables 5 and 6). All of these demonstrated a greater proportion of HIV positive participants with respiratory symptoms. Five studies reported prevalence of breathlessness (2 from the USA, others from Nigeria, Zimbabwe and India).

Nine studies reported the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in HIV positive and negative individuals without access to ART in resource-limited settings, 7 of these were in Sub-Saharan African populations (Table 5). The earliest of these used data from Rwanda collected in 1988, the most recent was from Antwal et al in 2014 (169). Only 2 studies evaluated populations outside of the USA and Africa (Kheaw-on *et al* in Cambodia and Antwal *et al* in India) (162).

Three studies provided data regarding respiratory symptoms in HIV positive populations in the first decade of the HIV epidemic in the USA. The Multicentre AIDS Cohort study collected data from a cohort of men who have sex with men at 4 sites from 1985 onwards; el Sadr *et al* studied a cohort of injection drug users in New York and Diaz *et al* evaluated a cohort of predominantly white men in Ohio (151, 158). Data on respiratory symptoms in these populations are presented in Table 6.

TABLE 5 RESPIRATORY SYMPTOMS IN RESOURCE-LIMITED SETTINGS WITHOUT ACCESS TO ART

1st Author	Year of publicatio n	Study location	Total N	% HIV +	HIV + on ART (%)	Mean / median blood CD4*	% HIV+ Smoker s	% HIV- smoker s	Definition of cough used	% HIV+ with cough	% HIV- with cou gh	Definition of breathles sness	% HIV+ with breathlessne ss	% HIV- with breathlessness
Lepage (150)	1991	Rwanda	431	50%	0	24% CD4:CD8 <0.5	NR	NR	"Persistent cough > 1 month"	14%	7%			
Norrgren (153)	1998	Guinea- Bissau	2215	9%	0	715 (men) 430 (women)	NR	NR	"Cough > 1 month"	3%	1%			
Nilses (156)	2000	Zimbab we	1213	21%	0	NS	NR	NR	"Cough"	4%	2%	"Dyspnoea "	1%	1%
Kheaw- On (162)	2009	Thailand	210	50%	NR	261	36%	15%	"History of chronic cough"	57%	31%			
Lewis (160)	2009	South Africa	1955	29%	NR	NR	NR	NR	"New or worsening cough, any duration	4%	2%			
									> 2 weeks	2%	1%			
									>3 weeks"	2%	1%			
Corbett (163)	2010	Zimbab we	8979	21%	NR	NR	NR	NR	"Cough for 2 weeks or more"	8%	2%			
Onyedum (170)	2010	Nigeria	200	50%	0	71% CD4 <200	0	0	"Cough"	48%	8%	"Breathles sness"	32%	0%
Gounder (165)	2011	South Africa	3937	37%	NR	333	NR	NR	"Cough for 2 weeks or longer"	7%	4%			
Antwal (169)	2014	India	1546	35%	0	241	NR	NR	"Cough with sputum"	10%	2%	"Breathles sness"	4%	1%

TABLE 6: RESPIRATORY SYMPTOMS IN RESOURCE-RICH SETTINGS WITHOUT ACCESS TO ART

1st	Year	Study	Total	% HIV	Risk	HIV+	Mean	%	%	Definition of	%	%	Definition of	% HIV+	% HIV- with
Author		location	numb	+	for HIV	on	1	HIV+	HIV-	cough used	HIV+	HIV-	breathlessnes	with	breathlessn
			er of			ART	media	Smok	smok		with	with	s	breathle	ess
			partici			(%)	n	ers	ers		cough	cough		ssness	
			pants				blood								
							CD4*								
el Sadr	199	USA	223	56%	IDU	0	200-	NR	NR	"Persistent	17%	7%			
(151)	2						500			cough"					
Hoover	199	USA	2854	33%	MSM	0	619	NR	NR	"New or	5%	2%	"persistent	1%	2%
visit 3	3									unusual			shortness of		
(152)										cough lasting			breath"		
Hoover	199	USA	2627	29%	MSM	0	552	NR	NR	> 2 weeks"	5%	2%		3%	2%
- visit 7	3														
Diaz	200	USA	379	85%	MSM	0	370	54%	50%	"Do you	40%	25%	"are you	42%	8%
(158)	3									usually have			troubled by		
										a cough?"			shortness of		
													breath when		
													hurrying on the		
													level or walking		
													up a slight hill?"		
										"Do you	24%	12%	"Do you have to	20%	0%
										usually			walk slower		
										cough like			than most		
										this on most			people of your		
										days			own age on the		
										For ≥ 3			level ground		
										consecutive			because of		
										months of			breathlessness		70
										the year?"			?"		/0

2.3.5 Studies that examined symptoms in HIV positive children

Five studies reported the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in HIV positive and negative children (Table 7). All these studies evaluated cohorts of vertically infected infants followed up from birth, and no studies assessed older children. The earliest was conducted in Rwanda from 1988 with subsequent work in Malawi and Zimbabwe. None of these study populations had access to ART.

One study evaluated symptoms in HIV positive infants born in Chieti, Italy; this suggested a *lower* frequency of "wheezy respiratory illness" in HIV infected infants despite more maternal smoking, premature delivery, low birth rate and formula feeding. However, the design of the study (based on routine clinic records) did not allow appraisal of the possibility of differences in health-seeking behaviour or reporting of acute respiratory illness which could bias the comparison of respiratory symptoms between the different groups.

TABLE 7: STUDIES EVALUATING RESPIRATORY SYMPTOMS IN HIV POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE CHILDREN

1st Author	Year of publi catio n	Study location	Total Number of particip ants	% HIV+	% HIV+s on ART	Duration of follow-up (from birth)	Respiratory data collected	Notes / comments
Spira	1999	Rwanda	401	54%	0%	Median 27 months (HIV positive group), 51 months (HIV negative group)	Chronic cough (>14 days)	Measured cumulative incidence of developing a cough lasting >14 days.
Olayinka	1999	Zimbabwe	272	45%	0%	24 months	Persistent cough	
Taha	2000	Malawi	689	19%	0%	Median 18 months	Cough since last review	2 HIV negative groups - exposed uninfected infants and unexposed. Rate of cough the same in each.
Galli	2003	Italy	280	75%	25%	24 months	History of wheezy illness collected at clinic appointments	Presents proportion of infants with wheezy illness in 1st 2 years of life
Read	2009	Malawi, Tanzania, Zambia	1317	84%	0%	12 months	Retraction of intercostal muscles, wheezes, cough, active nasal flaring or rales at follow up visits	HPTN 024 study cohort, studied 2001-4
2.3.6 Studies that examined respiratory symptoms in HIV positive adults with access to antiretroviral therapy

Six studies (using data from 7 cohorts) reported on adults with access to ART. All were from resource-rich settings other than one from South Africa. Data on respiratory symptoms in these populations is presented in tables 8 and 9.

All contained a high proportion of current smokers in both the HIV positive and negative groups and, where reported, often had high rates of former or ongoing recreational drug use.

.

TABLE 8: STUDIES FROM RESOURCE-RICH SETTINGS WITH ACCESS TO ART

Author	Year	Location	Total number of participa nts	% HIV+	HIV+ on ART (%)	% undetectab le HIV plasma load	Mean / median blood CD4	% HIV+ smo kers	% HIV- smokers	Definition of cough	% HIV+ with cough	% HIV- with cough	Definition of breathlessness	% HIV+ with breathless ness	% HIV - with breathles sness
Drummond (62)	2010	USA	974	30%	54%	16.5%	320	83%	86%	"Cough present"	3%	29%	MRC Dyspnoea score ≥ 2	35%	28%
ALIVE cohort										"Morning cough ≥ 4 days per week"	19%	19%			
										"Morning cough ≥3 months"	15%	15%			
Crothers (94) Lung HIV Study	2013	USA	589	51%	89%	84%	493	47%	35%	"Unusual cough"	28%	20%	MRC Dyspnoea score ≥ 2	15%	11%
Fitzpatrick (92) WIHS	2013	USA	99	64%	81%	NS	426	46%	50%				Dyspnea	35%	31%
Madeddu (67)	2013	Italy	176	63%	78%	71%	541	57%	58%	"Cough"	32%	14%	MRC Dyspnoea score ≥ 2	30.6%	15.4%
Campo (167) EXHALE sub- study, VACS cohort	2014	USA	340	53%	89%	NS	431	64%	58%	"Chronic cough"	24%	15%	MRC Dyspnoea score ≥ 2	25%	16%
Gingo (25) MACS	2014	USA	1896	48%	77%	70%	572	31%	23%	"Cough"	42%	38%	Dyspnoea	14%	9%
Gingo – WIHS	2014	USA	1976	71%	76%	56%	502	39%	52%	"Cough"	54%	58%	Dyspnea	36%	37%

2.3.7 Studies that reported respiratory symptoms in adults in resource-rich settings

The first systematic comparison of respiratory symptoms in an HIV positive population with access to ART with HIV negative comparators is provided by the AIDS Linked to Intravenous Experience (ALIVE) cohort of former and current injection drug users in Baltimore, USA.(62) This found no difference in frequency of current cough, although a history of "wheezing" was reported by 50% of HIV positive and 37% of HIV negative participants.

Several cohort studies have addressed respiratory symptoms in HIV infected individuals with access to ART in the USA: the Women's Interagency HIV Study (WIHS); Multi-Centre AIDS Cohort Study (MACS) and the EXHALE sub-study of the Veterans Aging Cohort Study. Tobacco use was high in these cohorts, and smoking was more frequent in the HIV positive than HIV negative groups (reported in 39-64% and 23-58% respectively). The prevalence of respiratory symptoms was high in these populations: for instance Fitzpatrick *et al* described breathlessness in 35% of HIV positive and 31% HIV negative participants in the WIHS study and Campo et al reported cough in 25% of HIV positive and 16% in HIV negative participants in the EXHALE VACS sub-study (92, 167).

There is little published information comparing respiratory symptoms in HIV negative and HIV positive individuals with access to ART outside of North America. The only study providing data from Europe documented the presence of any respiratory symptom in 47% HIV positive participants and 23% of HIV negative participants, with 32 vs 14% reporting cough (p=0.006) and 31 vs 15% breathlessness (p=0.02) (67).

The prevalence of tobacco smoking was only consistently reported in studies undertaken in resource-rich settings with access to ART. In all these studies a large proportion of both HIV positive and negative participants were current smokers.

2.3.8 Data from resource-limited settings with access to ART

In the only data published from resource limited settings with access to ART at the time of searching, Telisinghe *et al* evaluated a prison population in South Africa (with a 25% HIV prevalence) in which cough was present in 25% of HIV positive and 19% of HIV negative individuals (168). 36% of the HIV positive participants reported the use of ART.

TABLE 9: STUDIES EVALUATING RESOURCE-POOR SETTINGS WITH ACCESS TO ART

Author	Year	Study location	Total number of participants	% HIV+	HIV+ on ART (%)	% undetectable HIV plasma load	Mean / median blood CD4	% HIV+ smokers	% HIV- smokers	Definition of cough	% HIV + with cough	% HIV - with cough
Telisinghe (168) Prison cohort	2014	South Africa	846	25%	41%	NS	NS	59%	59%	"Cough > 2 weeks"	13%	8%

2.3.9 Quantitative data synthesis

In total, from the 19 studies evaluating HIV positive adults, data were available on 12,075 HIV positive individuals compared with 24,450 individuals without HIV infection. The symptoms for which sufficient data were available to allow quantitative synthesis were cough and breathlessness. Figures 5 and 6 demonstrate the odds ratios for the presence of cough and breathlessness in those with and without access to ART, and in resource rich and resource limited settings.

Meta-analysis suggested that the availability of ART has been associated with a reduction in the difference in prevalence of respiratory symptoms between HIV positive and negative individuals, yet these symptoms remained more common in people living with HIV. There was little evidence regarding respiratory symptoms in HIV positive populations in resource limited settings. The pooled odds ratio (OR) for the presence of cough in resource limited populations without access to ART was 3.05 (95% CI 2.24-4.16, I^2 = 68%); in resource-rich populations without access to ART this was 2.18 (1.55-3.04 I^2 = 0%); and in those from resource-rich settings with access to ART the odds ratio for the presence of cough was 1.26 (0.97-1.63). There was, however, a substantial degree of heterogeneity in this analysis (I^2 = 74%). Only one study reported frequency of cough in a high prevalence setting with access to ART.

Figure 4 Meta-analysis of odds ratios for presence of cough, stratified by availability of ART and location

	HIV nos	itive	HIV neg	ative	Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H Random 95% CL V	lear	M-H Random 95% Cl	
Resource limited		ons wit	hout acce	ss to Al	RT	cai		
Antwol 2014	51	549	10	000	5 20 12 00 0 051 20	014		
Gounder 2011	105	1454	01	2483	2 05 [1 53 2 73] 2	014	-	
Opvedum 2010	105	1404	91	100	10 62 [4 67 24 15] 2	010		
Corbott 2010	40	1050	100	7121	2 46 12 77 4 221 2	010	-	
Louis 2000	155	1000	100	1200	1 95 [0 77 4 41] 2	0000		
Khoow Op 2000	60	105	22	105	2.01 [1.65 5.12] 2	000		
Nilcon 2000	11	247	10	002	2.91[1.05, 5.12] 2	000		
Nilses 2000	5	247	10	2016	2.20 [1.05, 4.00] 2	000		
Norrgren 1998	5	199	20	2016	2.57 [0.95, 6.93] 1	998		
Lepage 1991 Subtotal (95% CI)	30	215	10	210	2.03 [1.07, 3.84] 13	991		
Tatal aventa	470	5255	207	15515	5.05 [2.24, 4.10]		•	
Total events	4/2	24.00	397	0.000	12 - 60%			
Heterogeneity: Tau- = 0	1.13; Chi* =	= 24.96,	ar = 8 (P :	= 0.002)	1* = 68%			
l est for overall effect: Z	. = 7.06 (P	< 0.000	01)					
Recourse rich or	nulation	without	it access					
Diaz 2002	124	207	10	EO	2.04.14.02.2.001.0	002		
Diaz 2003	131	327	13	52	2.01[1.03, 3.90] 2	003		
Hoover 1993 - Visit 3	40	838	46	2016	2.15[1.39, 3.31] 1	993	· · ·	
el Sadr 1992 Subtotal (05% CI)	21	124		2167	2.68 [1.09, 6.59] 1	992		
Subtotal (55% CI)	400	1209		2107	2.10 [1.55, 5.04]			
I otal events	192	0.07	66	0.070 12	0.01			
Heterogeneity: Tau- = 0	1.00; Chi- =	= 0.27, 0	T = 2 (P = 0.4)	0.87); F	= 0%			
l est for overall effect: Z	. = 4.54 (P	< 0.000	101)					
Perource limited	Inopulati	one wit	haccose					
Telisisebe 2014	07	212	40	eaa	1 77 14 07 0 001 0	014		
Subtotal (95% CI)	21	213	40	633	1.77 [1.07, 2.92] 2	014		
Tatal avents	07	215	40	033	1.17 [1.07, 2.32]			
Fotal events	21		40					
Test for everall offerts 7		- 0.02)						
Test for overall effect: Z	. = 2.24 (P	= 0.03)						
Perource rich pr	nulations	with a	coss to	DT				
Cines 2014 MACC	077	007	270	000	1 10 10 00 1 401 0	014	-	
Gingo 2014 - MACS	3//	907	372	989	1.16 [0.96, 1.42] 2	014		
Gingo 2014 - WIHS	/58	1405	332	5/1	0.84 [0.69, 1.03] 2	014		
Campo 2014 Madaddu 2012	43	180	24	160	1.78 [1.02, 3.09] 2	014	-	
Madeddu 2013	36	111	9	60	2.99 [1.33, 6.70] 2	013		
Crothers 2013	84	300	58	289	1.55 [1.06, 2.27] 2	013		
Drummond 2010 Subtotal (05% CI)	88	288	202	2760	1.05 [0.78, 1.42] 2	010		
Subtotal (95% CI)	1000	2191	007	2760	1.20 [0.97, 1.03]			
I otal events	1386	10.10	997		12 7404			
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0	1.07; Chi ² =	= 19.49,	ar = 5 (P :	= 0.002)	; I* = 74%			
lest for overall effect: Z	. = 1.74 (P	= 0.08)						
						0.02	2 0.1 1 10 50	
							HIV negative HIV positive	

FIGURE 5 META-ANALYSIS OF STUDIES EVALUATING PREVALENCE OF BREATHLESSNESS, STRATIFIED BY LOCATION AND ACCESS TO ANTIRETROVIRAL THERAPY

	HIV pos	itive	HIV neg	ative	Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio				
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H, Random, 95% C	l Year	M-H, Random, 95% CI				
Resource limited	l populati	ons wit	hout acce	ss to Al	RT						
Nilses 2000	3	249	9	889	1.19 [0.32, 4.44]	2000					
Onyedum 2010	32	100	0	100	95.36 [5.74, 1583.81]	2010					
Antwal 2014	23	548	5	998	8.70 [3.29, 23.02]	2014					
Subtotal (95% CI)		897		1987	7.50 [0.92, 61.31]						
Total events	58		14								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2.69; Chi ² = 11.59, df = 2 (P = 0.003); l ² = 83%										
Test for overall effect: Z	. = 1.88 (P	= 0.06)									
Resource rich po	pulations	withou	it access	to ART							
Hoover 1993 - Visit 3	12	838	34	2016	0.85 [0.44, 1.64]	1993					
Diaz 2003	136	327	4	52	8.54 [3.01, 24.26]	2003					
Subtotal (95% CI)		1165		2068	2.60 [0.25, 26.93]						
Total events	148		38								
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 2	2.65; Chi ² =	= 14.32,	df = 1 (P	= 0.0002); I ² = 93%						
Test for overall effect: Z	2 = 0.80 (P	= 0.42)									
Decourse sich a				ADT							
Resource rich po	opulations	s with a	ccess to	ARI		0010					
Drummond 2010	101	288	189	686	1.42 [1.06, 1.91]	2010					
Crothers 2013	45	300	30	289	1.52 [0.93, 2.50]	2013					
Fitzpatrick 2013	22	63	11	36	1.22 [0.51, 2.93]	2013					
Madeddu 2013	34	111	10	65	2.43 [1.11, 5.33]	2013					
Campo 2014	45	180	26	160	1.72 [1.00, 2.94]	2014	_				
Gingo 2014 - MACS	123	907	93	989	1.51 [1.14, 2.01]	2014	1-				
Subtotal (95% CI)	506	3254	209	2796	1.39 [1.11, 1.73]	2014	•				
Total events	878	0201	568	2.00			·				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0).04: Chi ² =	= 12.61.	df = 6 (P	= 0.05);	² = 52%						
Test for overall effect: Z	= 2.91 (P	= 0.004	u (.								
			'								
							U.U.T U.T T TU 100 HIV negative HIV positive				
							The hegalive The positive				

Breathlessness was also assessed by quantitative meta-analysis, although fewer studies reported this. In resource limited settings without access to ART the OR for the presence of breathlessness was 7.5 (0.92-61.31, $I^2 = 83\%$). Only 2 studies were available from resource-rich settings without access to ART, and meta-analysis of these data provides an OR of 2.60 (0.25-26.93, $I^2 = 93\%$). In resource-rich settings with access to ART there was evidence for a higher frequency of breathlessness in HIV positive individuals with an OR of 1.39 (1.11-1.73, I^2 52%, p=0.004).

Funnel plots were inspected to evaluate the possibility of reporting or publication bias where there were enough studies within each stratum of ART availability and location to make this useful. For the most part these did not suggest the presence of significant reporting bias (e.g. Figure 7) although this was possible for the apparent association between breathlessness in HIV positive populations with access to ART (Figure 8). As there were fewer than 10 studies within each stratum, we did not use quantitative tests of reporting bias, in accordance with the Cochrane Handbook guidance.

FIGURE 6 FUNNEL PLOT, ODDS RATIO FOR COUGH, RESOURCE-LIMITED POPULATIONS WITHOUT ACCESS TO ART







2.3.10 Sensitivity analyses

Two studies (Onyedum 2010 and Antwal 2014) included in the analysis of respiratory symptoms in populations without access to ART were judged to be at high risk of bias due to the inclusion of significant numbers of participants presenting for care with acute respiratory illnesses due to their methodology (which involved recruitment within acute care services). Exclusion of these studies reduced somewhat the effect size for the prevalence of cough to an OR of 2.84 (2.45-3.30) and reduced the statistical heterogeneity in this analysis ($l^2 = 55\%$).

Four studies (all in populations with access to ART) used the MRC dyspnoea scale to measure breathlessness (see Table 2.7). A meta-analysis including only studies that used the MRC dyspnea scale (with breathlessness defined as a score of \geq 2) did not significantly change the effect size (compared to the analysis of all studies reporting the prevalence of breathlessness in populations with access to ART) but reduced heterogeneity significantly (OR for having MRC dyspnoea \geq 2 = 1.50, 95% CI 1.21-1.85, I²= 0%, Figure 2.7). **FIGURE 8** META-ANALYSIS OF STUDIES IN RESOURCE-RICH SETTINGS USING MRC DYSPNEA SCORE TO EVALUATE BREATHLESSNESS IN HIV POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE POPULATIONS

	Experimental Control			Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio				
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% C	1	M-H, Rand	iom, 95% CI	
Campo 2014	74	180	56	160	23.1%	1.30 [0.83, 2.01]		-	-	
Drummond 2010	101	288	185	686	51.5%	1.46 [1.09, 1.96]				
Crothers 2013	45	300	29	289	18.1%	1.58 [0.96, 2.60]				
Madeddu 2013	34	111	10	65	7.3%	2.43 [1.11, 5.33]				
Total (95% CI)		879		1200	100.0%	1.50 [1.21, 1.85]			•	
Total events	254		280							
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0	0.00; Chi ² =	= 1.94, d	if = 3 (P =	: 0.58);	$I^2 = 0\%$				<u> </u>	
Test for overall effect: 2	z = 3.73 (P	= 0.000)2)				0.01	0.1	1 1	J 100
								HIV negative	HIV positive	

2.4 Discussion

This systematic review and meta-analysis suggests that despite the availability of ART, HIV positive populations continue to experience more respiratory symptoms than comparable HIV negative groups, at least in resource-rich settings for which there are sufficient data to draw conclusions. It also highlights several research needs: in particular the lack of rigorous data concerning respiratory symptoms in HIV positive populations in low and middle-income settings where the majority of the world's HIV positive individuals live.

The successful provision of ART means that HIV positive populations are experiencing considerable improvements in life-expectancy and quality of life. This has been reflected in a reduction in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in HIV positive populations. However, aging HIV infected populations will have an increasing frequency of non-AIDS co-morbidities and respiratory illness is likely to become increasingly important over time. The data summarised in this chapter demonstrate that the prevalence of respiratory symptoms among PLWH has reduced since ART has become available, although this also indicates that the evidence available is unevenly distributed, with little data from the resource-limited settings where most PLWH live. An improved understanding of the health needs of aging HIV positive populations is required, as even in resource-rich settings the impact of respiratory illness on individuals (measured by instruments designed to evaluate health related quality of life) or at a societal health-economic level has been infrequently determined in HIV positive populations.

In resource-rich settings, HIV positive populations often have greater cigarette and recreational drug use than the general population. Interventions to reduce this are therefore important, given that there is accumulating evidence of increased rates of both cardiovascular and respiratory illness. In some high HIV prevalence settings tobacco smoking is rising fast, with important implications for the future health of people living with HIV. The true effect of HIV status on respiratory symptoms may be exaggerated by the higher proportion of HIV positive subjects who were current smokers in several of the included studies, as few provided data adjusted for smoking status.

2.4.1 Strengths and limitations of this analysis

Strengths of this analysis include a comprehensive search strategy and robust methods for study selection. Limitations include the lack of standardized assessments of respiratory symptoms in the primary studies, heterogeneity of assessments used and incomplete reporting of important confounding factors (such as smoking and recreational drug use) which may influence the effect sizes found. Incomplete reporting of exposures such as tobacco smoking and drug use mean that the extent to which the association identified between HIV status and respiratory symptoms is a direct result of HIV is uncertain. A wide range of terms might be used to describe respiratory symptoms and use of more search terms, (for instance including upper respiratory tract symptoms such as sneezing, sore throat, blocked nose or pain in nose or face) might have yielded relevant studies regarding these symptoms. We decided not to include ear symptoms in the search terms, yet the middle ear is arguably part of the upper respiratory tract.

One difficulty when evaluating respiratory symptoms is the challenge of standardising assessments: The wide range in the frequency of respiratory symptoms found arises in part from the diversity of methods used to evaluate them: the definitions used for symptoms such as cough or breathlessness were often not stated, and only a minority of studies used standardised tools such as the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (171), American Thoracic Society Division of Lung Disease questionnaire, or the MRC Dyspnoea scale (172) (see Tables 5 to 9) for details of data collected in each study). Furthermore, investigators usually presented results the proportion or number with respiratory symptoms, and no study reported estimates adjusted for potential confounders.

It is important to note that although populations may have access to ART, most studies included a significant proportion of participants who were either not using ART, or who do not have an undetectable HIV load. This meta-analysis did not include patient-level data and so could not evaluate the effect of HIV infection at an individual level in those with a favourable virological and immunological response to ART. Furthermore, most of the data regarding populations with access to ART derives from the USA and there is limited information from other settings. Exposures of importance that could lead to respiratory disease may differ in other locations, and the findings of the studies included in this review may not be generalizable - for instance to HIV positive African populations using ART.

2.5 Conclusions

This analysis suggests that despite the availability of antiretroviral therapy, HIV positive individuals remain more likely to experience respiratory symptoms than those without HIV. Although the impacts of these symptoms cannot be measured in the data available here, it is likely that these have significant consequences – this includes an impairment on the quality of life of the individuals affected, including on their mental health, and impacts on wider society such as loss of capacity for work and caring responsibilities. Furthermore, it may be that this greater prevalence of respiratory ill-health results in greater healthcare resource utilisation such as consultations with healthcare providers and episodes of hospitalisation.

Interventions are required to address this health need, which might include reducing the frequency of tobacco smoking among PLWH, greater uptake of immunisation against respiratory infections and an earlier use of antiretroviral therapy. However, as highlighted in this review, there is little available evidence regarding the determinants of respiratory illness in HIV positive individuals in resource limited settings, where the majority of the PLWH live.

Chapter 3: Respiratory symptoms, health status and smoking in UK HIV positive adults, a cross-sectional study

3.1 Background and rationale for study

As detailed in chapter 2, the currently available data suggest that respiratory symptoms are common among people living with HIV and continue to occur at a higher frequency than in HIV negative individuals despite access to antiretroviral therapy.

Few studies have examined respiratory health in PLWH in a way that enables adjustment for important confounding effects such as tobacco smoking. There is also little information from the UK. At the time of conducting this analysis, the only published data available regarding the prevalence of respiratory illness in the UK HIV positive population was a study by Dickson *et al* in abstract form that reported 15% of 133 HIV positive participants attending for HIV care in Brighton had evidence of airflow obstruction by spirometry (173). My hypothesis was that, based on existing data from other HIV positive populations, despite the use of antiretroviral therapy people living with HIV would continue to have a greater prevalence of respiratory symptoms, a greater proportion with obstructive lung disease and that tobacco smoking would be more prevalent among people living with HIV than HIV negative comparators. We sought to collect data that would allow us to explore the relationship between HIV and respiratory health, and to estimate the extent to which this relationship could be explained by confounding by tobacco smoking.

We therefore sought to evaluate the prevalence of respiratory illness in individuals attending ambulatory HIV care at the Royal Free London NHS Trust. In addition to the frequency of respiratory symptoms and spirometric impairment, we also explored tobacco smoking and use of recreational drug use, health-related quality of life and health beliefs regarding smoking and lung disease.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Study population

We conducted a cross-sectional observational study in the HIV ambulatory care service and Sexual Health Clinics (at Royal Free and Barnet Sites) of the Royal Free London NHS Trust, London, UK from February to July 2015. The recruitment of an appropriate HIV negative comparator group is an important consideration in the design of studies evaluating chronic ART-treated HIV infection. In many settings, including the UK, HIV positive populations have greater exposures to relevant risk factors (in particular tobacco smoking and recreational drug use) than the general population (174). Therefore, selection of a comparator population with similar risk factors is required if a study aims to evaluate the effect of HIV status. This, however, can be difficult to achieve, and a balance between recruitment of an ideal study population and the feasibility of completing recruitment is necessary.

The Royal Free London NHS Trust manages a relatively large patient cohort of around 3,500 PLWH. This clinic maintains a longitudinal database of patients, allowing this patient group to be compared to national data. Uptake of ART and levels of virological suppression is good, with around 89% of the clinic population having an undetectable HIV viral load. Demographic details of the clinic population are broadly similar to those of PLWH nationally, although a slightly greater proportion are male (74% compared to 69% nationally) (175).

We chose Sexual Health clinics as the site for recruitment of HIV negative participants as this population was anticipated to have similar lifestyle characteristics, including smoking behaviours, to the HIV clinic population. Clinics at Barnet Hospital (the Clare Simpson clinic) and the Royal Free Hospital (Marlborough clinic) were selected as sites for recruitment.

Consecutive clinic patients were invited to take part in the study when they attended routine care appointments. Subjects completed written informed consent. As service users in the Sexual Health clinics were significantly younger than those attending HIV care, recruitment in these clinics was restricted to those over the age of 35 to achieve a sample which approximated the age of the HIV positive participants. There were no exclusion criteria for the HIV positive group. If individuals declined to participate in the study this choice was noted; we did not record any further details about individuals who declined to participate.

Participants were given a written information sheet detailing the study and provided written consent to participate; if they preferred, participants could take part in the study anonymously, or decline consent to access hospital medical records.

3.2.2 Contributions to this work

Recruitment of participants for this study was conducted by me with the assistance of Dr Jennifer McGowan. Additional data were collected for a collaborative project concerning psychological resilience among PLWH, the findings of which have been published separately and do not form part of this thesis (176). In addition to input from my primary supervisor for this project, further advice and support was provided by Dr Alison Rodger and Dr Fiona Lampe and I am grateful for their invaluable input. Advice regarding statistical analyses was provided by Dr Colette Smith; I completed all analyses presented here.

3.2.3 Research Ethics Committee approval

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the London – Camden and Islington Research Ethics Committee (14/LO/1646) on the 17th October 2014.

3.2.4 Procedures

Participants completed a questionnaire including items on risk factors for respiratory illness, smoking and recreational drug use and health related quality of life and mental health (depression and anxiety - the questionnaire used is provided as appendices 1 and 2). Where possible we utilised standard instruments to assess patient-reported outcomes. In addition to providing validated measures, this approach allows comparison between data arising from this study and those conducted in other populations. Respiratory health status was measured using the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ), and the MRC dyspnoea (breathlessness) scale, a 1-5 scale. Anxiety and depression were measured using the PHQ-9 score. The questionnaires / scales used in this study are described in more detail in Table 10.

The questionnaire was developed by reviewing the literature regarding instruments that could be used to evaluate respiratory health and to measure important confounding effects such as tobacco smoking and recreational drug use. Ideally, we wished to find instruments that measure respiratory health as a whole, rather than being specific for a particular condition such as asthma or COPD. Many validated disease-specific symptom and health status measures are available, such as the Asthma Control Questionnaire (ACQ) or COPD Assessment Tool (CAT),(177, 178) but these are not appropriate for use in individuals without these conditions. We therefore chose the SGRQ as the best available existing validated tool to evaluate respiratory health. It should be appreciated, however, that this was originally developed in the setting of COPD and is largely focussed on symptoms of obstructive airways disease. It is therefore by no means perfect for this objective and represented a compromise between measuring the symptoms and health impacts that we wanted to capture and the use of a validated and widely used instrument. The questionnaire once developed was piloted in a small number of individuals from the HIV positive population under study, to assess the feasibility of completing the questionnaire and time required to do so. There was no formal validation process for the questions specifically created for the questionnaire as these were not intended to be used as part of a quantified score or instrument, but rather to capture data on confounding variables such as smoking.

In addition to the respiratory-specific questionnaires we also included a generic health related quality of life instrument. We chose the Euro-Qol 5D-5L score – this is a simple and well characterised scoring system that evaluates general quality of life using 5 domains. There is extensive literature on its performance, and it is widely used in research and assessments, in particular within health-economic evaluations (where it is the basis for calculation of Quality-Adjusted Life Years, QALYs).

As differences in mental health could affect the relationship between HIV status and respiratory health, we also measured symptoms of depression, using the PHQ-9 score(179)

Instrument /	Description / details
assessment	
St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ)(171)	The SGRQ is a patient reported outcome measure that aims to quantify respiratory health status using a 50 item self-completed questionnaire. This evaluates not only symptoms but the impact on activities and quality of life. Responses are translated onto a 0-100 scale in which higher scores indicate worse respiratory health status. Individual domains assess Symptoms, Activities and Impacts as well as a Total score. Although initially developed for use in asthma and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) it has been widely used in other respiratory conditions and can be considered to evaluate general respiratory health status, rather than being disease-specific. The SGRQ has been shown to produce valid results both when used to discriminate between patients and to evaluate changes in condition within patients at different time points. The minimum clinically important difference (MCID) in the SGRQ (assessed by a variety of methods) has consistently been reported to be 4 points (180). The SGRQ is therefore sensitive to changes in patient condition (and hence is frequently used as an outcome measure in clinical trials).
MRC dyspnoea scale(172)	The MRC dyspnoea (breathlessness) scale is a simple and widely used measure of breathlessness which uses a simple 5-point scale and has been used in respiratory research and epidemiology since the 1950s. It reports breathlessness related to activity or perceived respiratory disability rather than being a measure of the symptom of breathlessness its self (as is quantified by, for instance the Borg scale). Although having the advantage of simplicity and face-validity, it is relatively insensitive to change, and therefore less useful in evaluating effects of treatment or longitudinal change over time.
PHQ-9(181)	The PHQ-9 is a self-completed, 9 item questionnaire, with each symptom question scored from 0 "not at all" to 3 "nearly every day", giving a total score out of 27. It has been shown to be valid for the assessment of depression, with a score of 10 or more having a sensitivity and specificity of 88% when compared to a structured mental health professional interview (179, 181)
EuroQoL 5D-5L(182)	The EuroQol 5D (EQ5D) seeks to measure general (rather than disease or organ specific) health status. It consists of a descriptive system of five dimensions: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain / discomfort and anxiety/ depression. In the "5L" form each of these is described in 5 possible levels, from "no problems" to "extreme problems". These answers can then be combined to give a 5 digit "health state", and there are therefore a total of 1325 possible health states described by different combinations of responses to the EQ5D-5L questions. In addition, there is a visual analogue scale in which individuals are asked to rate their health status on a 0-100 scale from 'The worst health you can imagine' to 'The best health you can imagine'.
	The characteristics of the EQ5D have been extensively evaluated, in particular for use in health-economic analyses, where its ability to allow comparisons between health-states in different conditions is useful. As well as providing the description of each of the five dimensions, "index values" have been calculated for each of the possible health states. As preference for different health states may differ between populations, these are population-specific, and derived from population-based studies.

TABLE 10 QUESTIONNAIRES / SCALES USED IN THIS STUDY

3.2.5 Spirometry

We performed spirometry according to standard procedures using a Carevision Micro I spirometer (Carevision, San Diego, USA). We gave subjects verbal instruction in the technique, including what the test entails and how they may feel during and after the test. Participants performed spirometry a minimum of 3 times, with appropriate single use one-way filter. Subjects underwent spirometry without bronchodilation and had their height and weight measured to allow calculation of normal values and body mass index.

FEV1, FVC and peak flow, plus quality of results were recorded at each attempt. All attempts were recorded and the best used as study measure. If an unexpected abnormal result were obtained this was highlighted to the participant and they were advised to discuss this with their General Practitioner.

We used the Global Lung Function Initiative equations to provide normal values for spirometry. (183)

3.2.6 Other data collected with the questionnaire.

In addition to the standardised questionnaires (such as the EQ5D) used in the questionnaire, further information was collected regarding:

- 1. General demographic information (gender, age, ethnicity, sexual orientation, educational attainment, employment)
- 2. Comorbid conditions and medications
- 3. Smoking and recreational drug use, including (for smokers) beliefs about quitting smoking
- 4. Health beliefs and perceptions regarding respiratory disease and smoking.

The questionnaire used for this study is provided in the Appendix.

3.2.7 Results of blood tests

No blood samples were obtained from participants for this study. However, as HIV-related factors (such as current or nadir CD4 count) could potentially influence outcomes of the study, we sought specific consent from participants to access medical records. 168 of 197 (85%) HIV positive participants consented to this.

As blood samples were not taken for study purposes and Sexual Health records are stored in pseudoanonymised format using clinic numbers (to which we did not seek consent to access), we relied on self-reported HIV status for HIV negative participants in this study, and this was not independently confirmed.

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

I compared participant characteristics and results using Chi Squared and Fisher's exact tests for categorical values, with t tests, and Mann Whitney tests for continuous variables as appropriate. Multivariable regression models were used to evaluate the relationship between participant characteristics and results. For the analysis of St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire results, these values were log-transformed to approximate a normal distribution and linear regression models used, with the resulting beta-coefficients being back transformed for presentation as adjusted fold-changes in SGRQ score. For analysis of MRC dyspnoea scale scores, these results were dichotomised into values of 1, or 2 or more and logistic regression models used to evaluate the odds of having a score of 2 or more.

3.2.9 Calculation of required sample size

The number of subjects required for this study was originally calculated to evaluate the difference in smoking rates between those with and without HIV infection as the primary outcome. Data on expected smoking rates have been obtained from national surveys of smoking to estimate smoking rates in the sexual health clinic and existing data on smoking in the HIV clinic at the Royal Free Hospital collected as part of routine clinical care. Prior to the study we expected that the prevalence of current smoking in the sexual health clinic would be around 25%, and that around 40% of the HIV clinic population would be current smokers. To have an 80% power to detect this difference (i.e. 25% vs. 40%) with a type 1 error of 5% we would need 165 individuals in the HIV infected and uninfected groups, giving a target for recruitment of 330 participants.

Although we originally intended to have equal numbers of cases and comparators, recruitment from the Sexual Health clinic proved to be slower than anticipated, and during completion of the study we decided to aim for a 2:1 case-to-control ratio as a pragmatic means of achieving the required recruitment target. The greater number of HIV positive individuals also allowed exploration of subgroups and characteristics specific to the HIV positive group (such as CD4 count and duration of HIV infection).

3.2.10 Data Management

Data from the participant-completed questionnaires were entered into spreadsheets by myself and Dr Jennifer McGowan, in the case of the SGRQ utilising the scoring spreadsheet provided by the developers of the questionnaire (<u>http://www.healthstatus.sgul.ac.uk/sgrq</u>). Results were entered into this database and then data-entry double-checked by a second researcher. A final master dataset was stored, identified by participant number, in secure hospital computer systems. Pseudo-anonymised data were analysed using the SPSS software system for statistical analysis.

3.3 Study Results

3.3.1 Participant recruitment

We invited 402 individuals to participate in the study, of whom 290 (72%) agreed: 197 HIV positive and 93 HIV negative. The response rate was 75% amongst HIV positive and 73% amongst HIV negative individuals (though recruitment of HIV negative individuals was lower as fewer eligible individuals attended these clinics during the recruitment times). We did not record details regarding participants who declined to take part.

3.3.2 Details of study participants

The median CD4 count of HIV positive participants was 627 cells/µL (IQR 456-838); 171 (94%) of PLWH reported using ART with a median duration of treatment of 7 years. 89% of all participants and 93% of those using ART had an undetectable HIV load (<40 copies/ml) at their last clinic visit. The median nadir CD4 count of study participants was 250 cells/µL (122-365). Eighty-nine percent of all PLWH and 93% of those using ART had an undetectable plasma HIV load. No significant differences were found in gender, educational attainment or being non-UK born between HIV positive and negative participants, but PLWH were more often of White ethnicity (72% vs 60%, p=0.001). HIV negative participants had a lower median age (43 vs 50 years, p=0.05) and were more likely to be heterosexual (71% vs 32%, p<0.01) than those recruited from the HIV ambulatory care clinic. Details of participant characteristics are provided in Table 11 and 12.

The HIV positive and negative groups had a similar reported prevalence of a range of physical comorbidities (asthma, COPD, diabetes, heart disease or stroke). Symptoms of depression were more common in the HIV positive group (thirty-nine (20%) of the HIV positive and 13 (14%) of the HIV negative group had PHQ-9 scores of 10 or more) although this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.25). When analysed as a continuous variable, PHQ-9 scores were higher among HIV positive participants with median scores of 4 (IQR 1-8) vs 2 (0-6) points (p=0.002).

3.3.3 Smoking and recreational drug use

Sixty (30%) HIV positive and 31 (33%) HIV negative participants were current smokers; 54 (28%) and 22 (25%) respectively were ex-smokers (Table 12). In smokers, PLWH reported more intensive smoking, with a median of 15 (IQR 8-20) vs 10 (5-13) cigarettes per day for current smokers (p<0.001).

Past recreational drug use was more often reported in those with HIV infection, with 60% indicating drug use ever compared to 48% of HIV negative participants (p=0.05). No significant differences were found in the proportion of participants indicating any recreational drug use in the past 3 months.

TABLE 11 COMPARISON OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC DIFFERENCES BETWEEN HIV POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE PARTICIPANTS

		HIV positive	HIV negative	P value
		n=197	n=93	
Gender				
Male, n (%)		158 (80%)	64 (71%)	0.09*
Age, years, median (IQR)	50 (42-55)	43 (38-52)	0.025#
BMI, kg/m ² , mean (SD)		25.84 (5.04)	25.36 (4.23)	0.434×
Race /ethnicity				
	White n (%)	143 (72%)	54 (60%)	0.003
	Black n (%)	37 (20%)	15 (17%)	
	Other n (%)	15 (8%)	24 (26%)	
Born in UK, n %		121 (62%)	49 (54%)	0.24*
Gender / Sexuality	MSM	131 (66%)	25 (27%)	<0.001
	MSW	27 (14%)	37 (40%)	
	Female	37 (20%)	24 (28%)	
	Not stated	0	5 (5%)	
Highest educational	None n (%)	24 (12%)	10 (12%)	
attainment	GCSE or equivalent, n (%)	28 (14%)	7 (8%)	0.64□
	A level or equivalent, n (%)	31 (16%)	14 (16%)	
	University degree or higher, n (%)	106 (54%)	50 (59%)	
	Other, n (%)	6 (3%)	4 (5%)	
Employment	Full-time, n (%)	92 (47%)	59 (67%)	
	Part-time, n (%)	22 (11%)	11 (12%)	0.015
	Unemployed, n (%)	25 (13%)	5 (6%)	
	Retired, n (%)	18 (9%)	4 (4%)	
	Student, n (%)	5 (3%)	1 (1%)	
	Not working due to ill health, n (%)	28 (14%)	4 (5%)	
	Other, n (%)	6 (3%)	5 (5%)	
* Chi square test	# Mann Whitney U test [•] Fishers	s exact test × Independe	I ent samples T-test	I

3.3.4 Spirometry, respiratory symptoms and health-related quality of life

Spirometry was within normal limits in most people: 18 (11%) HIV positive and 7 (9%) of HIV negative participants had evidence of airflow obstruction (FEV1/FVC <0.7), (p=0.55).

The MRC dyspnoea and St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) scores suggested a higher prevalence of breathlessness and respiratory health status impairment in PLWH (Table 14). SGRQ scores were higher in the HIV positive group for all domains, with median SGRQ Total scores of 12 in the PLWH and 6 in HIV negative participants (p <0.01). Breathlessness was also more common in the HIV positive group, with 47% having an MRC dyspnoea score \geq 2 (on a 1-5 scale) suggesting at least moderate breathlessness compared to 25% of the HIV negative participants (p=0.001); 13% of HIV positive vs 1% of HIV negative participants had MRC dyspnoea scores of 3 or more (p= 0.001).

There was no significant difference in general health-related quality of life scores between the HIV positive and negative groups with median EQ5D-5L (UK) index values of 0.88 and 0.85 (p=0.06) respectively and median VAS scores of 78 and 72 (p=0.46).

		HIV positive	HIV negative	P value
		N=197	N=93	
Diagnosis of comorbid condit	ions (self-report), ever.			
Asthma, n (%	6)	36 (18%)	21 (23%)	0.34
COPD / emp	hysema, n (%)	9 (5%)	1 (1%)	0.18 [□]
Cancer (any), n (%)	9 (5%)	3 (3%)	0.76□
Heart diseas	e, n (%)	11 (6%)	4 (4%)	0.78 [□]
Stroke, n (%)	3 (1%)	1 (1%)	1 "
Diabetes, n	(%)	10 (5%)	6 (7%)	0.59
Currently receiving treatment	for depression, n (%)	40 (20%)	8 (9%)	0.02*
PHQ-9 score, median, IQR		4 (1-8)	2 (0-6)	0.002#
PHQ-9 score ≥10, n (%)		39 (20%)	13 (14%)	0.25
Self-reported history of immu	inization against:			
Influenza in	past 12 months, n (%)	138 (70%)	27 (30%)	<0.01
Streptococo	cus pneumonia (ever), n (%)	50 (26%)	6 (7%)	<0.01
Use of inhaled medications (a	ny), n (%)	24 (12%)	15 (17%)	0.30*
Undertakes physical activity	at least once per week	115 (59%)	63 (71%)	0.05*
History of acute respiratory	sinusitis	23 (12%)	7 (8%)	0.41
illness in past year	bronchitis	6 (3%)	3 (3%)	1.0
	chest infection	39 (20%)	11 (12%)	0.13 [□]
	cold or flu serious enough to	54 (28%)	19 (21%)	0.31
	miss work or stop normal			
	activities			
	pneumonia	3 (1.5%)	0	0.55
	Any acute respiratory illness	93 (47%)	30 (32%)	0.02*

TABLE 12 COMPARISON OF COMORBIDITIES AND THEIR MANAGEMENT BETWEEN HIV POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE PARTICIPANTS

□ Fisher's exact test * Chi squared test # Mann Whitney U Test

TABLE 13 SMOKING AND RECREATIONAL DRUG USE

	HIV Positive	HIV negative	p value
	N= 197	N= 93	
Smoking			
Current smoker, n (%)	60 (30%)	31 (33%)	0.81
Ex-smoker, n (%)	54(27%)	22 (24%)	
Never smoker, n (%)	80 (41%)	37 (40%)	
Not stated, n (%)	3 (1.5%)	3 (3%)	
Cigarettes smoked per day (current smokers only) median	15(8-20)	10 (5-13)	<0.01 [#]
(IQR)			
Most cigarettes smoked per day in the past,	20 (15-30)	12.5 (7.5-20)	0.04#
median (IQR)			
Currently using electronic cigarettes	20 (18%)	8 (16%)	0.83*
History of recreational drugs use, ever.			
Any	118 (61%)	41 (48%)	0.07□
Cannabis, n (%)	98 (51%)	35 (41%)	0.15□
Cocaine (smoked), n (%)	23 (12%)	3 (3%)	0.03
Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums), n (%)	71 (37%)	21 (25%)	0.05
Ecstasy / GHB / Ketamine / crystal meth, n (%)	72 (36%)	13 (14%)	<0.001
Heroin smoked, n (%)	13 (7%)	1 (1%)	0.07
Heroin injected, n (%)	7 (4%)	1 (1%)	0.44
History of recreational drug use in last 3 months			
Anv. n (%)	58 (30%)	18 (20.7%)	0.15
Cannabis. n (%)	39 (20%)	14 (16.1%)	0.51
Cocaine (smoked), n (%)	3 (1%)	0	0.55"
Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums), n (%)	13 (7%)	8 (9%)	0.47□
Ecstasy / GHB / Ketamine / crystal meth, n (%)	22 (11%)	3 (3%)	0.025
Heroin smoked, n (%)	3 (1%)	0	0.55□
Heroin injected, n (%)	0	0	-
	1	1	1

Fisher's exact test

* Chi squared test # Mann Whitney U Test

		HIV positive	HIV negative	p-value
		(N=197)	(N=93)	
FEV ₁ , L,	mean (SD),	3.49 (0.87)*	3.25 (0.76)*	0.56 [∆]
	% predicted	93%	91%	
FVC, L	mean (SD),	4.29 (1.05)*	3.95 (0.91)*	0.23 ^α
	% predicted	91%	89%	
FEV₁/FV	/C < 0.7, n (%)	18 (11%)*	7 (9%)*	0.50
MRC dy	spnoea scale			
1.	Not troubled by breathlessness except on strenuous exercise, n (%)	99 (53%)	61 (75%)	0.02□
2.	Short of breath when hurrying or walking up a slight hill, n (%)	62 (33%)	19 (24%)	
3.	Walk slower than contemporaries on level ground or have to stop for breath when walking at your own pace. n (%)	8 (4%)	1 (1%)	
4.	Stop for breath after walking about 100m or after a few minutes on level ground, n (%)	13 (7%)	0 (0%)	
5.	Too breathless to leave the house, or breathless when dressing/undressing, n (%)	4 (2%)	0 (0%)	
St Geo	rge's Respiratory Questionnaire			
	Symptoms, median (IQR)	25 (7-48)	18 (0-29)	<0.01#
	Activity, median (IQR)	17 (6-36)	12 (0-19)	
	Impacts, median (IQR)	5 (0-15)	0 (0-6)	<0.01#
	Total, median (IQR)	12 (6-25)	6 (2-14)	< 0.01 [#] < 0.01 [#]

TABLE 14 RESPIRATORY SYMPTOMS AND HEALTH STATUS

*157 (80%) HIV positive and 74 (80%) HIV negative participants had acceptable spirometry results

 $^{\scriptscriptstyle \Delta}\,$ T-test; comparison of FEV % predicted. $^{\scriptscriptstyle \alpha}\text{T-test}$; comparison of FVC % predicted

3.3.5 Factors associated with respiratory health status impairment in univariable analyses

In addition to HIV status, we explored other possible contributors to impaired respiratory health among the whole study sample (Table 15). As expected, higher SGRQ scores were associated with impaired lung function, with a median Total SGRQ score of 28.5 (IQR 7.2-41.9) found in those with an FEV1 <80% predicted compared to 9.1 (4.4-17.4) in those with an FEV1 in the normal range (p<0.01). Symptoms of depression were associated with impaired self-reported respiratory health status: median SGRQ total scores were 7.7 in the 238 participants with PHQ-9 scores less than 10 compared to 26.5 in the 52 participants with scores of 10 or more.

Combining HIV positive and negative groups, no significant associations were found between gender, ethnicity, smoking status or recreational drug use and impaired respiratory health status in univariable analyses. An association between BMI and SGRQ Total score was seen (with higher scores in those with BMIs below 20 or above 25) that approached statistical significance (p=0.07).

TABLE 15 ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN PARTICIPANT CHARACTERISTICS AND RESPIRATORY HEALTH STATUS IMPAIRMENT

		N*	St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire Total Score Median (IQR)	P value	MRC dyspnea score mean (SD)	p- value**
HIV status	HIV positive	197	11.64 (5.70-25.16)	p = 0.001	1.72 (0.99)	p<0.01
	HIV negative	93	6.01 (1.92-13.92)		1.25 (0.47)	
Gender	Male	222	9.25 (4.38-19.69)	p = 0.15	1.50 (0.82)	p = 0.01
	Female	65	12.77 (5.59-30.67)		1.88 (1.04)	
Council origination	Heterosexual	125	9.24 (4.37-23.61)	p = 0.758	1.80 (0.90)	p=0.19
Sexual orientation	MSM	139	10.79 (4.54-22.78)		1.57 (0.89)	
	Bisexual	18	10.90 (4.57-20.37	0.04	1.41 (0.62)	0.47
Use of recreational	Yes	120	9.90 (5.05- 20.26)	0.24	1.56 (0.91)	p=0.47
arugs, ever	No	159	8.07 (3.48- 24.51)	0.404	1.60 (0.88)	0.04
Use of recreational	Yes	207	11.31 (4.48-25.30)	0.121	1.64 (0.94)	p=0.61
drugs, past 3 months	No	76	8.97 (4.43- 19.69)		1.56 (0.88)	
Age (years)	<40	78	7.50 (2.36-14.62)	p = 0.024	1.42 (0.74)	p = 0.22
	40-50	103	9.60 (5.24-23.73)		1.49 (0.71)	
	50-60	77	12.05 (5.76-33.34)		1.74 (1.01)	
	60+	32	11.53 (4.47-28.43)		1.83 (1.26)	
Body Mass Index	<20	17	15.36 (6.01-28.33)	p = 0.07	1.81 (0.83)	p=0.02
(kg/m²)	20-25	110	8.21 (3.48-15.12)		1.41 (0.74)	
	25-30	75	10.50 (5.07-24.48)		1.46 (0.65)	
	30+	34	9.76 (4.65-39.57)		1.91 (1.15)	
Ethnicity	White	197	10.55 (4.78-20.37)	p = 0.36	1.57 (0.90)	p=0.19
	Black Caribbean or African	54	7.81 (4.71-23.73)		1.69 (0.80)	
	Asian	8	9.85 (4.42-29.66)		1.63 (1.06)	
	Mixed ethnicity	7	11.46 (3.87-19.56)		1.33 (0.52)	
	Other	20	5.48 (1.85-11.37)		1.21 (0.43)	
Self-reported anxiety or depression	no or mild anxiety or depression	224	7.86 (3.84-14.96)	p <0.001	1.33 (0.76)	p<0.001
	moderate or severe anxiety or depression	66	29.09 (9.50-45.70)		1.83 (0.93)	
PHQ score	PHQ <10	238	7.7 (3.8-15.1)	<0.001	1.44 (0.77)	<0.001
	PHQ ≥ 10	52	26.5 (15.0-39.6)		2.16 (1.11)	
Smoking status	never smoker	127	8.55 (3.57-24.44)	p = 0.28	1.62 (0.93)	p=0.51
	Current	87	11.56 (6.30-22.78)		1.57 (0.83)	
	smoker	70	0.40 (4.44.47.40)		4 54 (0.00)	
FFV/4 0/ mmodiated	EX-SMOKER	76	9.19 (4.41-17.12)		1.51 (0.90)	0.04
FEV1 % predicted	<80%	40	20.49 (7.19-41.92)	p = 0.008	2.03 (1.18)	0.01
	80-100%	120	10.07 (4.65-16.66)		1.52 (0.73)	
	>100%	71	8.25 (4.16-16.65)		1.44 (0.84	
FEV1/FVC	<0.7	24	15.20 (9.25-32.78)	p= 0.016	1.88 (1.12)	0.14
	>0.7	207	9.17 (4.38-19.56)		1.55 (0.84	

*values may not sum to full study sample due to missing data

3.3.6 Associations between HIV-related parameters and respiratory health

In analyses restricted to HIV positive participants, neither current nor nadir CD4 count were significantly associated with higher SGRQ Total scores (although trends were seen for higher scores with lower current or nadir blood CD4 counts). No significant difference in median SGRQ Total score was found between those with and without a HIV load <40 copies/ml (Table 16). After adjustment for age in a log-scale linear regression model, there was a trend towards higher SGRQ Total scores in those who had been diagnosed with HIV infection for longer. A significant association was found between having a longer period between HIV diagnosis and starting ART and a higher SGRQ Total score.

TABLE 16: ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN HIV RELATED FACTORS AND SGRQ TOTAL SCORE

		HIV positive participants N (%)	SGRQ Total (Median, IQR)	Unadjusted fold change in SGRQ* (95% CI)	Age-adjusted fold-change in SGRQ*	P value*
Current CD4	0-350	19 (11%)	20 (6-35)	1.53 (0.88-2.18)	1.57 (0.94-2.62)	0.11
(cens/µL)	350-500	30 (18%)	16 (9-34)	1.39 (0.91-2.54)	1.40 (0.90-2.19)	
	500+	119 (71%)	11 (6-20)	Refer	ence	
Viral load <	No	19 (11%)	15 (5-67)	1.31 (0.78-2.19) 1.52 (0.89-2		0.12
at last clinic review	Yes	149 (89%)	13 (6-25)	Refei	-	
Nadir CD4	0-100	35 (21%)	17 (7-43)	1.80 (0.98-3.32)	1.65 (0.88-1.74)	0.11
(cells/µL)	100-250	47 (28%)	16 (8-33)	1.52 (0.85-2.73)	1.40 (0.76-2.55)	
	250-500	67 (40%)	12 (6-17)	1.04 (0.60-1.81)	1.0 (0.57-3.09)	
	500+	17 (10%)	10.5 (4-14)	Refer	ence	
Time since HIV diagnosis	20+ years	47 (27%)	16 (8-37)	1.72 (1.14-2.61)	1.56 (1.01-2.43)	0.07
	10-20 years	62 (36%)	11 (6-25)	1.24 (0.85-1.83)	1.19 (0.80-1.76)	
	0-10 years	62 (36%)	10 (4-20)	Refei	ence	
Years	>10	33 (20%)	21 (11-48)	1.90 (1.23-2.91)	1.79 (1.17-2.75)	0.004
diagnosis and	5-10	43 (25%)	9 (5-26)	1.00 (0.68-1.45)	0.95 (0.64-1.39)	
ART	0-5	93 (55%)	12 (5-21)	Refer	rence	
	>10	68 (49%)	17 (7-37)	1.73 (1.13-2.64)	1.58 (1.0-2.49)	0.15
Years of ART	5-10	26 (19%)	13 (7-24)	1.54 (0.87-2.70)	1.41 (0.78-2.52)	1
s.poouro	1-5	46 (33%)	9 (4-21)	Refer	rence	1

* log-scale linear regression model
3.3.7 Multivariable analysis of factors associated with respiratory health status including all participants

To allow adjustment for potential confounding factors we used multivariable (log scale) linear regression models including all participants, with log SGRQ as the dependent variable. In addition to those factors chosen *a priori* (smoking status, age and gender), PHQ-9 scores and BMI were also included as they reached statistical significance at the 5% level in univariable analysis.

After adjustment for these other factors, HIV infection remained independently associated with an increased SGRQ Total score, with a 54% higher SGRQ total score compared to HIV negative individuals (adjusted fold-change 1.54 (1.14-2.09), p=0.005) (Table 17). Depression (PHQ-9 score \geq 10) was also independently associated with a higher SGRQ Total score (adjusted fold change 1.90 (1.42-2.53), p<0.001).

Similar factors were independently associated with an MRC dyspnoea score ≥ 2 in a multivariable logistic regression model (Table 18). Here, the adjusted odds ratio for an MRC dyspnoea score of ≥ 2 was 2.84 (1.35-6.00), P=0.006 in HIV positive compared to HIV negative participants. Independent associations were found with female gender (adjusted OR 4.69 (1.85-11.45), p=0.001) and depression (aOR=6.30 (2.75-14.46), p <0.001).

TABLE 17 ASSOCIATIONS WITH ST GEORGES RESPIRATORY QUESTIONNAIRE TOTAL SCORE, MULTIVARIABLE LOG-STALE LINEAR REGRESSION

		Adjusted fold-change in SGRQ* (95%CI)	P value
HIV status	HIV positive	1.58 (1.18-2.12)	0.002
	HIV negative	Reference	
Age (per year)		1.01 (1.00-1.02)	0.33
Gender	Female	1.37 (0.96-1.09)	0.08
	Male	Reference	
Depression	≥10	2.77 (1.98-3.88)	<0.001
(PHQ-9 score)	<10	Reference	
Body Mass Index	<20	1.18 (0.68-1.74)	0.68
(kg/m²)	20-25	Reference	
	25-30	1.18 (0.85-1.37)	
	30+	1.23 (0.8-1.42)	
Smoking	Current smoker	1.23 (0.89-1.24)	0.41
	Ex -smoker	1.01 (0.72-2.57)	
	Never smoker	Reference	

TABLE 18 MULTIVARIABLE LOGISTIC REGRESSION OF ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN MRC SCORE \geq 2 AND PARTICIPANT CHARACTERISTICS.

Covariate		Mean (SD)	MRC sore	p-	Unadjusted odds	adjusted Odds Ratio of
		MRC	≥2 n (%)	value*	ratio of MRC score	MRC dyspnoea score
		dyspnea			>1	>1, multivariable
		score (1-5				logistic regression**
		scale)				
HIV status	HIV positive	1.72 (0.99)	87 (47%)	0.001	2.68 (1.5-4.8)	2.84 (1.35-6.00)
					p=0.001	P=0.006
	HIV negative	1.25 (0.47)	20 (25%)		1	1
Gender	Female	1.88 (1.04)	35 (58%)	0.001	2.57 (1.42-4.62)	4.27 (1.79-10.14)
					p= 0.002	0.001
	Male	1.50 (0.82)	72 (35%)	-	1	1
Depression	≥10	2.16 (1.11)	35 (70%)	<0.001	4.70 (2.41-9.16)	6.30 (2.75-14.46)
(PHQ-9 score)						P<0.001
	<10	1.44 (0.77)	72 (33%)		1	1
		()	~ /			
DM		4.04 (0.00)	4.0 (0.00()			0.50 (0.70, 0.00)
BIVII	<20	1.81 (0.83)	10 (62%)	0.02	3.76 (1.26-11.27)	2.56 (0.76 -8.68)
					p=0.018	P=0.13
	20-25	1.41 (0.74)	31 (31%)	-	1	
	25-30	1.46 (0.65)	32 (39%)		1.45 (0.76-2.76)	1.05 (0.50-2.19)
					p=0.255	P= 0.99
	>30	1.91 (1.15)	17 (53.1%)		2.56 (1.13-5.77)	1.39 (0.41- 3.79)
					p=0.023	P=0.518
Smoking	Current	1.51 (0.90)	25 (34%)	0.43	1.03 (0.58-1.86)	1.18 (0.52-2.63)
status	smoker				p=0.897	p=0.69
	Ex-smoker	1.57 (0.83)	34 (43%)	1	0.72 (0.38-1.29)	0.72 (0.31-1.68)
					p=0.254	p=0.44
	Never smoker	1.62 (0.93)	48 (42%)	1	1	1

* Chi-squared test ** age included in model in addition to covariates listed

3.3.8 Comparing HIV positive participants with an undetectable HIV viral load with HIV negative participants

As other studies have suggested that untreated HIV is associated with chronic respiratory impairment, a higher prevalence of respiratory symptoms within the PLWH as a whole might be the result of increased symptoms only among HIV positive individuals not yet taking ART, or on ART without virological suppression. We therefore undertook a subgroup analysis comparing HIV negative participants with HIV positive participants whose HIV load was undetectable (<40 copies/ml) within 6 months of the study visit. Participants who declined consent to access clinical records were excluded from this analysis, leaving 157 PLWH with documented virological suppression, compared to the 93 HIV negative participants. Those with virological suppression had similar demographic details to the PLWH study population as a whole (Table 19), and a median CD4 count of 684 (473-839) cells/µL. The differences in respiratory health scores between HIV positive (HIV supressed) and HIV negative groups were similar to those present in the complete dataset: median SGRQ Total scores were 12 (IQR 6-25) compared to 6 (2-14) (p<0.001) and 70 (47%) of the HIV positive group had MRC dyspnoea scores of ≥2 compared to 20 (24.7%) of the HIV negative group p= 0.001. In a log-scale linear regression model (including the same predictive factors as the whole-group analysis), HIV status remained independently associated with a higher SGRQ Total score, with a similar effect size to that in the whole group (1.53 (1.13-2.06), p=0.007).

TABLE 19 COMPARISON OF HIV POSITIVE PARTICIPANTS WITH AN UNDETECTABLE HIV LOAD AND HIV NEGATIVE PARTICIPANTS

		HIV positive,	HIV negative	p value	
		undetectable VL	(n= 93)		
		(n=157)			
Gender	Male	125 (80%)	64 (71%)	0.13*	
	Female	32 (20%)	26 (29%)		
Age, years, Median	(IQR)	50 (44-56)	43 (38-52)	0.001#	
Smoking status	never smoker	69 (44%)	42 (45%)	0.50*	
	Current smoker	41 (26%)	29 (31%)		
	Ex-smoker	47 (30%)	22 (24%)		
PHQ-9 score (mear	n, SD)	5.48 (5.65)	3.74 (4.69)	0.005#	
PHQ-9 score	<10	126 (80%)	80 (86%)	0.25*	
≥10	≥10	31 (20%)	13 (14)		
Sexual	Missing / declined to	0	5 (5%)	<0.001**	
orientation	state				
	MSM	106 (67%)	25 (27%)		
	MSW	19 (12%)	37 (40%)		
	Female	32 (20%)	26 (28%)		
Body Mass Index	<20	10 (8%)	4 (5%)	0.24**	
(kg/m ²⁾	25-30	43 (35%)	23 (28%)		
	30+	21 (17%)	10 (12%)		
	20-25	49 (40%)	44 (54%)		
* Chi Causana dita at	# Manan M/hitman II taat	** Eicherie even	1 4 a a 4		

Chi Squared test # Mann Whitney U test

** Fisher's exact test

3.3.9 Sensitivity analyses

To further explore the possible effect of the difference in age distribution between the HIV positive and negative groups, we undertook a sensitivity analysis in which we examined only those aged 52 or less (the 75th centile of the HIV negative participants). Using this restricted analysis (of 127 HIV positive and 69 HIV negative participants) the age distributions were similar - with a median age of 42 in both groups. The previously-demonstrated differences remained, with median (IQR) SGRQ Total scores of 11.2 (6-20) in the PLWH and 6.2 (3-15) in the HIV negative group p=0.01). MRC dyspnoea scores were also higher, with 55 (46%) of the HIV positive and 16 (27%) of the HIV negative participants having a MRC Dyspnoea score ≥ 2 (p=0.01).

3.3.10 Attitudes and health beliefs towards respiratory illness

In addition to comparing respiratory health status and risk factors for respiratory illness in the HIV positive and negative groups evaluated, we sought to explore health beliefs and attitudes towards respiratory health in these populations (Table 20).

The overwhelming majority of both HIV positive and negative participants agreed that smoking increases the risk of lung cancer and heart disease; similarly, there were no significant differences in the responses to questions about influenza, and immunisation with influenza and pneumococcal vaccines.

Only the HIV positive participants were asked about HIV and lung disease. Overall, 53% were unsure as to whether HIV infection is associated with the early onset of smoking-related lung disease, with only 21% agreeing with this statement (and the same proportion disagreeing). Similar responses were found to a question asking if PLWH are at greater risk of developing lung cancer. Respondents were more likely to agree with the statement that PLWH are more likely to get pneumonia (78% agreed).

TABLE 20 PARTICIPANT THOUGHTS ABOUT LUNG HEALTH

		Agree or strongly	Agree or strongly	P value	
		agree n (%)	agree n (%)		
		HIV positive (n=197)	HIV negative (n=93)		
Most smokers will o	develop lung disease	155 (79%)	62 (68%)	0.55	
Smoking increases	Smoking increases the risk of heart disease		76 (82%)	0.23	
Only people who an the 'flu:	re old or overweight or pregnant die of	20 (10%)	7 (7%)	0.50	
Having the 'flu vaccine:	Means I can't catch the 'flu at all this year:	57 (29%)	18 (19%)	0.22	
	Means I can still get the 'flu, but it might be less severe:	121 (61%)	51 (55%)	0.75	
	Will make me feel terrible:	36 (18%)	13 (14%)	0.05	
Having the pneumococcal vaccine	Means I won't ever get pneumonia in the future	32 (16%)	13 (14%)	0.2	
(Pneumovax or Previnar):	Will give me some protection from pneumonia for a few years	92 (47%)	28 (30%)	0.33	
	Will make me feel terrible	13 (12%)	8 (9%)	0.13	
HIV is associated with early onset of smoking related lung disease (emphysema/ chronic bronchitis)		33 (18%)			
The risk of develop living with HIV	ing lung cancer is increased in people	53 (27%)			
People with HIV are	e more likely to get pneumonia.	113 (57%)			

3.4 Discussion

The results of this study suggest that HIV infection continues to be associated with impaired respiratory health despite viral suppression on ART. We compared HIV positive individuals with an HIV negative group with similar exposures to risk factors such as tobacco smoking. Although some differences were present in the age and ethnicity composition of these two groups, these did not account for the differences in respiratory health status seen after adjustment in multivariable analyses.

HIV positive participants commonly reported breathlessness, with 47% of PLWH reporting breathlessness of at least moderate severity, compared to 25% of the HIV negative participants. Using the SGRQ respiratory health questionnaire (which assesses not only respiratory symptoms but the impact on activity and quality of life) we found a 6-point difference in the median Total score between HIV positive and negative groups (a minimum clinically important difference in SGRQ being around 4 points), suggesting that there is a meaningful impairment of the respiratory health of PLWH. Of note, this difference was present despite the prevalence of airflow obstruction in our HIV positive subjects (11%) being lower than that reported in other HIV positive populations (for instance 23% in Italy and 27% in the USA)(66, 67). There was also no difference in the prevalence of airflow obstruction in our study between the HIV positive and negative groups.

To our knowledge, no other study has used patient-reported outcomes to compare respiratory health status in HIV positive and negative populations. Two previous reports used the SGRQ to evaluate respiratory health in HIV positive adults: Hirani *et al* evaluated 98 consecutive HIV positive individuals (84% male) attending HIV care in Philadelphia (97), USA, and found a mean SGRQ Total score of 7, in contrast, Leung *et al* reported a mean SGRQ Total score of 32 in 199 HIV positive men attending care in Vancouver, Canada (146). Our data therefore provide the first estimate of the difference in respiratory health (as experienced by individuals) between HIV positive adults with optimised access to ART and HIV negative adults.

What might be contributing to these findings? Impairment of lung function not measured by spirometry may be present: as discussed earlier, reductions in transfer factor (DLCO) and measures of small airways impairment have been found to be more common among PLWH than equivalent HIV negative comparators. This might be the result of a higher frequency of respiratory infection prior to effective ART and lead to long-term lung damage: this could also result from the direct effect of HIV in the lung. Other possibilities include heart disease or other non-respiratory comorbidities which can lead to respiratory symptoms. Depression was strongly associated with impaired respiratory health in our population and this may contribute to the burden of physical symptoms (although it should be noted that the difference in respiratory health status persisted after adjustment for the presence of depression in our population).

As discussed in the Introduction to this thesis, several hypotheses have been advanced to try and account for the apparent association between HIV and impairment in respiratory health. These have included direct HIV mediated damage to the lung epithelium (138) or pulmonary vasculature (135),

disruption or dysregulation of immune responses caused by HIV or the host immune response to it (109, 132, 184), or residual damage due to prior immunosuppression (perhaps the result of opportunistic infections) which persists after antiretroviral therapy has been started (76). Mechanistic studies, in particular those with prospective follow-up, may allow the relative importance of these possible mechanisms to be determined.

3.4.1 Strengths and limitations of this data

The strengths of our study include the presence of an HIV negative control group with similar exposures to tobacco smoking and recreational drugs and the use of well-validated measures of respiratory health status. Our high response rate (72%) suggests that participants were representative of the wider clinic population, who in turn are similar to the UK HIV population as a whole.

Limitations include the relatively small sample size, recruitment at a single study site and the crosssectional nature of the data collected – meaning that temporality cannot be established. As people were not randomly selected to participate, recruitment bias is possible. Spirometry was our only objective measure of lung function, however as discussed in the Introduction, impairment of gas transfer may be more common than airflow obstruction in PLWH. There were also differences in age and ethnicity between groups which could have influenced our results; though, our findings persist after adjustment in multivariable analyses. Our sensitivity analysis is reassuring in that the difference in age distribution between HIV positive and negative participants appeared to have little impact on the results.

The choice of HIV negative comparator group requires discussion – as we wished to derive findings reflective of the HIV positive population as a whole, we did not restrict recruitment of people living with HIV to one risk-group (e.g. MSM), However recruitment of the HIV negative comparator group occurred primarily within Sexual Health clinics, and consequently may not adequately capture the diversity within our HIV positive participants, such as migrants from high HIV incidence settings and injecting drug users. A wider recruitment strategy could have mitigated this issue – and provided more confidence in our findings.

Finally, we relied on self-reported HIV status for the HIV negative participants, so we cannot exclude the possibility that HIV positive or undiagnosed individuals were included in this group. However, we believe that this is unlikely to be a major source of bias, as although we do not have data directly measuring the prevalence of undiagnosed HIV infection in this sexual health clinic population, data based on anonymised testing of residual samples in the Unlinked Anonymous HIV Prevalence Monitoring Programme (UAPMP) reported a low HIV prevalence in sexual health clinic attendees of 2%. However (as this surveillance programme used anonymised samples) the proportion with undiagnosed HIV infection is unknown. Furthermore, more recent data from Public Health England (PHE) have demonstrated significant declines in the number of new HIV diagnoses from Sexual Health clinics, with positive HIV results in around 1-2% of HIV tests undertaken in individuals not tested in the previous 2 years.(185) Therefore it is unlikely that significant numbers of undiagnosed

HIV positive individuals were present in our comparator group. Also, if this did occur, it would have acted to weaken the association between HIV and respiratory health status impairment.

3.5 Conclusions

Interventions that can preserve the respiratory health of people with chronic HIV infection are needed. The earlier use of ART may yield reductions in non-AIDS comorbidities including respiratory illness – although (notwithstanding a median duration of follow-up of only 2.8 years) this was not associated with differences in lung function decline in the recent START trial (64)., The impaired respiratory health of PLWH despite effective virological suppression found in our study suggests that more than ART alone is required to maintain population health. Reducing the effect of known risk factors such as tobacco is key to this (many HIV positive populations have high rates of smoking) and the provision of appropriate smoking cessation services should be a priority. Though further evidence is required to determine why HIV infection is associated with worse respiratory health even in people who have never smoked. Chapter 4: Acute respiratory illness in an HIV positive population with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy: a prospective cohort study

4.1 Background and rationale for the study

As discussed previously, there is evidence that ART reduces the incidence of respiratory infections such as bacterial pneumonia and tuberculosis (11, 42), however, most studies evaluating respiratory illness in the modern HIV population have been cross-sectional in nature and therefore cannot determine whether acute respiratory illnesses continue to be more frequent among PLWH. These illnesses are common in the general population and associated with significant morbidity and healthcare utilisation (186). Therefore, if these remain at a higher incidence in HIV positive individuals (or if they are more severe or longer lasting) this would have a considerable impact on health-related quality of life and might contribute to the development of chronic lung disease in people living with HIV. The identification of specific risk factors for acute respiratory illnesses in this population could also enable interventions to reduce the incidence or severity of these illnesses (such as smoking cessation, immunisations and treatment for respiratory conditions) to be more effectively targeted.

This study aimed to prospectively measure the frequency of acute respiratory illness among HIV positive individuals with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy compared to HIV negative comparator participants.

4.2 What is known about the effect of HIV status on the frequency of acute respiratory illness

HIV positive individuals have been known to experience a high frequency of acute respiratory illness since the start of the HIV epidemic. The epidemiology of respiratory illness prior to the use of ART was detailed by the Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study, which followed 1,353 HIV positive and 183 HIV negative individuals in the USA between 1988 and 1994 (22). The most prevalent respiratory diseases in this study were upper respiratory tract infections (which occurred at a rate of 42/100 person years in those with HIV infection compared to 29 per 100 person-years in those without) and bronchitis (which was twice as common in those with HIV infection). Although less prevalent, bacterial pneumonia was six times more common in PLWH.

The use of effective antiretroviral therapy has changed the epidemiology of respiratory disease. Several large observational cohorts and population-based registry studies have provided evidence regarding the rates of respiratory illness since the widespread introduction of ART. These suggest that the frequency of acute respiratory illness may remain higher in people living with HIV. The Multicentre AIDS Study since 1996 (when ART became available) suggest that the odds ratio was 1.51 for bronchitis (95% CI 1.24-1.84); 1.46 (1.28-1.68) for sinusitis and 4.14 (2.43-7.08) for bacterial pneumonia compared to the HIV negative study participants (30). The Women's Interagency HIV study, which recruited women in the US since 1994, reported an OR of 2.17 for sinusitis (p<0.001), 1.46 for acute bronchitis (p= 0.22) and 9.55 (p <0.001) for pneumonia since the development of ART (30).

The Veterans Aging Cohort Study in the USA has used registry data to evaluate rates of disease and reports that pneumonia is around 5 times more common in those with HIV infection compared to those without (60). The investigators found that higher CD4 count and lower plasma HIV load were protective against bacterial pneumonia in this study.

These studies all evaluated HIV positive cohorts in the US, where access to care and uptake of antiretroviral therapy may be lower than in European settings. A Danish cohort study evaluated all HIV positive individuals receiving care in Denmark since 1995 and compared them to population controls selected from the Danish Civil Registration System (11). Data regarding hospitalisation for pneumonia were extracted from Danish National Hospital Registry data, with discharge diagnoses of pneumonia recorded. The results demonstrated a significant reduction in hospitalisation for pneumonia among people with HIV between 1995 and 1999, associated with increased uptake of antiretroviral therapy. After that, the incidence of hospitalisation for pneumonia remained around 18-20 per 1000 person-years among the HIV positive population. This compared with an annual incidence of 1.5-3 hospitalisations for pneumonia per 1000 person-years among the HIV negative comparator group.

The finding that a higher frequency of bacterial pneumonia persists among people living with HIV is supported by the work of Coxford *et al*, which used Public Health England data (187). This evaluated causes of death among HIV positive people in England between 1997 and 2012. Although a

particularly high mortality rate occurred soon after HIV diagnosis, in this data set, mortality remained higher even if those in the first year after HIV diagnosis were excluded. In particular, non-AIDS infections were significantly more common as a cause of death, with Standardised Mortality Ratios of 5.8 in HIV positive men and 10.7 in women.

Although population-level epidemiological data are appropriate to evaluate comparatively rare, but severe, events such as death from bacterial pneumonia, there is little information available about the frequency of acute respiratory illness as a whole. There is therefore a need to better understand the epidemiology of acute respiratory illness among people living with HIV using prospective follow-up of a well characterised cohort.

4.3 Study aims

This study aimed to test the hypothesis that people living with HIV experience a greater incidence of acute respiratory illness than people without HIV despite the use of antiretroviral therapy. In addition, we sought to evaluate the severity and duration of these illnesses, the associated healthcare use, and impact on health-related quality of life. Furthermore, we evaluated the relationship between individual characteristics (such as tobacco smoking or prior immunosuppression) and the frequency of acute respiratory illness.

Specific pre-defined study objectives (as documented in the study protocol and reviewed by the Research Ethics Committee) were as follows:

4.3.1 Primary Study Outcome

The annual incidence of acute respiratory illness in HIV positive compared to HIV negative adults.

4.3.2 Secondary study outcomes

1. Duration of symptoms during respiratory tract illness in HIV positive and negative participants

2. Health-related quality of life measured by the St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire and EuroQoL-5D

- 3. Healthcare resource utilisation arising from acute respiratory illness
- 4. The prevalence of positive microbial isolation at baseline
- 5. The prevalence of positive microbial isolation during acute respiratory illness
- 6. The baseline prevalence of obstructive lung disease

4.3.3 Study registration

We registered this study with the ISRCTN registry (http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN38386321)

4.4 Methods

4.4.1 Recruitment strategy

(a) Recruitment of HIV positive participants:

HIV positive participants were recruited from individuals attending for HIV ambulatory care at the Royal Free Hospital HIV care service. During the first 6 months of recruitment, potential participants were randomly selected from clinic lists to be invited to take part in the study, with three individuals being selected from each clinic list. However, this strategy did not meet the required recruitment targets (as some selected individuals might not attend for their clinic visit) and recruitment from more than one list at a time was difficult. Therefore, after interim review the recruitment strategy was altered to include unselected invitation from clinic lists.

Individuals were initially asked if they might be interested in participating in the study by their HIV care consultant. Those who suggested that they might be interested in doing so were then given verbal details of the study as well as a written participant information leaflet. Potential participants were given at least 24 hours to consider whether they wished to take part.

Limited demographic details of individuals who were invited to participate but declined to do so were recorded to allow quantification of the response rate and any biases in recruitment.

(b) Recruitment of HIV negative participants:

The ideal HIV negative participants in this study would have socio-economic and social backgrounds similar to the HIV positive participants and have similar exposure to risk factors such as tobacco smoking. However, recruitment of such a control group is not easy. Experience gained during recruitment for the study described in Chapter 2 suggested that although Sexual Health clinics serve a population with similar characteristics to the HIV positive population, the numbers of potentially suitable people attending these clinics who would be interested in participating in this study would be relatively low. We therefore did not select this as the primary source for recruitment. Nonetheless, study information with details of how to contact the study team were displayed in the Sexual Health clinics and staff there were given information about the study and asked to provide written information to any potentially interested individuals.

The main source of recruitment of HIV negative participants in the study was via postal invitation from Primary Care. This was achieved in collaboration with the Primary Care research group led by Professor Irwin Nazareth. In order to recruit participants with similar characteristics to the HIV positive study group, potentially suitable individuals were selected from Primary Care GP records at the Keats Practice and Hampstead Group Practice, London, matched by age, gender and smoking status. These individuals were then sent information

about the study by post. This matching and postal invitation was undertaken by research staff at the Keats Group Practice to maintain patient confidentiality. Limited demographic details of those who did not chose to participate were recorded.

4.4.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The aim of the study was to evaluate a study sample population that was reflective of the UK HIV positive population we were aiming to study. Therefore, broad inclusion criteria were chosen.

Inclusion criteria for HIV-positive cohort participants

- 1. Willing to participate in study and able to return for review in the event of respiratory tract infections, and to participate for the duration of the study
- 2. 18 years or above

Inclusion criteria for HIV-negative participants

- 1. Willing to participate in study and able to return for review in the event of respiratory tract infections, and to participate for the duration of the study
- 2. 18 years or above
- 3. Consent to HIV testing and negative HIV test result

Exclusion criteria (for both study groups):

- 1. Unable to participate for the full duration of the study
- 2. Unable to return for review in the event of respiratory tract infection (for instance those living a long distance from the study site)
- 3. Current significant acute respiratory tract illness such as pulmonary tuberculosis, *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia or bacterial pneumonia

4.4.3 Data collection

Participants in the study were interviewed at recruitment and invited for review at all times of acute respiratory illness. Data were recorded on paper questionnaires and entered into a database under allocated study number.

Baseline data collection for all study participants consisted of:

- 1. Demographic details
- 2. HIV and non-HIV related medical history
- 3. History of tobacco and recreational drug use including use of electronic cigarettes
- 4. History of pneumococcal and influenza immunisation
- 5. Medication history
- 6. Social history: employment; educational attainment; young children within household

For HIV positive participants, additional data were collected from existing hospital records with written participant consent. This data included:

- 1. Nadir blood CD4 count
- 2. Duration of known HIV infection
- 3. Risk for HIV acquisition
- 4. Ever AIDS diagnosis
- 5. Blood CD4 count and HIV viral load at baseline

The presence of respiratory symptoms at baseline was assessed using the St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) and MRC dyspnoea scores. General health status was measured by the EuroQoL 5-dimension (EQ-5D) (see Chapter 3 for further details of these instruments).

The following biological samples/measurements were collected at baseline:

- 1. Naso-pharyngeal swab for detection of respiratory viruses
- 2. Spontaneous or induced sputum collection for detection of respiratory viruses and bacteria
- 3. Spirometry (without bronchodilation)

As previously, spirometry was undertaken using a hand-held Micro I spirometer (Carevision, San Diego, USA). The Global Lung Function Initiative equations were used to calculate normal values. Airflow obstruction was defined as an FEV1/FVC ratio of <0.7 and restriction as FVC <80% predicted with FEV1/FVC ratio ≥0.7.

4.4.4 Detection of viral respiratory pathogens

The detection of respiratory viral pathogens from nasopharyngeal swabs at baseline and during an acute respiratory illness was undertaken using multiplex PCR testing. Oropharygneal swabs were collected using flocked swabs in viral culture medium (Copan UTM, Copan Diagnostics Inc., Corona, California, USA). This testing was performed in the Virology laboratory at the Royal Free London NHS Trust and conducted by biomedical scientists working within this laboratory, supervised by Dr Tabitha Mahungu. I did not undertake this laboratory analysis myself.

Analysis of samples was completed using standardised laboratory protocols. RNA and DNA were extracted from respiratory specimens using the EASYMAG® platform. In-house real-time RT-PCR assay was performed which was designed to simultaneously detect: rhinovirus, influenza (A & B), parainfluenza (1-4), RSV, adenovirus, enterovirus, coronavirus (NL63, HKU, 229E, OC43), parechovirus and human metapneumovirus. The procedure included contained a primer and probe pair that amplifies a DNA sequence present in all human cells (K-ras oncogene) and PDV (Phocine Distemper Virus) was added to samples prior to extraction acts as internal controls. PCR reaction was undertaken using the Applied Biosystems Prism 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System.

4.4.5 Definition of acute respiratory illness

We defined an acute respiratory illness as the new occurrence (lasting more than 24 hours) of any of the following symptoms: cough, sore throat, blocked or runny nose with or without a sensation of facial pain or pressure, breathlessness, or pain on breathing. This definition sought to include both upper and lower respiratory tract illnesses. No assumption was made about whether an illness was caused by an infection, and fever was not included in the illness definition (although individuals were asked about a history of fever).

The definition of acute respiratory illness was chosen after review of the available literature. We did consider using an existing validated tool, however, none of these instruments fully met our requirements. For instance, validated tools exist to define acute upper respiratory illness such as the Wisconsin Upper Respiratory Symptom Survey (WURSS),(188) but these would not capture symptoms such as breathlessness. Definitions of Influenza Like Illness are often used in epidemiological studies,(189) but again we felt that such definitions would be too narrow to capture all acute respiratory illnesses, as we intended to do. Standard definitions of COPD and asthma exacerbations also exist,(190) but using these in a population without these conditions would be inappropriate without an extensive process of validation. I therefore decided to define an illness definition necessarily was a compromise between including a broad enough definition to avoid missing significant respiratory illnesses and being brief enough for participants to read and follow easily. The symptom scores were then piloted with six individuals to ensure the feasibility of completion and use of the online reporting tool.

4.4.6 Follow-up of study participants and measurement of incidence of acute respiratory tract illness

Study subjects were followed for 12 months. During this time participants were requested to answer a weekly question asking about any new respiratory symptoms that had occurred over the previous week.

For the majority of study participants (190/215) this weekly contact was achieved by emailing a unique link to a web-based questionnaire (supplied by Formic Solutions, <u>http://www.formic.com/</u>). This enabled electronic capture of the response to the weekly respiratory symptom question, with supplementary questions asking about symptoms and healthcare resource utilisation if unwell. Responses to this electronic data capture were returned in Excel spreadsheet emailed each day. A screenshot of the question sent to participants is illustrated in Figure 10.

FIGURE 9 SCREENSHOT OF THE WEBFORM USED

+Web Fo	rms	+Web Fo	rms							
Project Navigation NEXT PAGE PREVIOUS PAGE CANCEL	Royal Free London NHS NHS Foundation Trust	Project Navigation NEXT PAGE PREVIOUS PAGE CANCEL CLEAR	Question 2 For each of the following p you today, if you don't hav	roblems, plea e one of thes	ise indicate e symptom	how muc s, please ii	h of a proble ndicate "non	m this is mal or no	to problem".	
CLEAR → SUBMIT	Question 1	SUBMIT Completion Errors		Normal no problem	Very little problem	Slight problem	Moderately bad	Bad	Very bad	Bad as it could be
Completion Errors	of any of the following symptoms:		Sore throat							
Page One (1) <u>O1 New Onset</u> Minimum number of responses not found.	Sore throat Blocked or runny nose Rain or pressure in the nose or face		Blocked nose or feeling of fullness or discomfort in the nose							
	Cough or increased production of phlegm (sputum) Breathlessness or pain on breathing		Fever or chills							
			Cough							
	Yes No		Producing more phiegm (sputum) than normal							
			Shortness of breath							
			Disturbed sleep							
			Is your illness interfering with your normal activity?							
			Overall, how unwell do you feel?							

For participants who preferred not to be contacted by email each week, the weekly symptom question could be completed by text message, or in written diary format. 20 (10%) participants preferred to be contacted by text messages and 2 completed written diaries. These methods of contact did not allow collection of supplementary data at the time of submission and participants simply answered "yes" or "no" to the question of whether they had new respiratory symptoms.

The intention of the diary cards was to ensure documentation of all episodes of acute respiratory illness and reduce recall bias that would be inevitable with retrospective documentation of these events.

The use of electronic submission of follow up data was intended to allow regular data collection from participants without imposing too great a demand on them, thus helping to optimise response rate during follow-up and minimise biases associated with recall and missing data.

4.4.7 Assessment at the duration and severity of acute respiratory illness

In addition to documenting the incidence of acute respiratory illness and any differences in this between HIV positive and negative participants, secondary objectives included measurement of the severity and duration of these illnesses. It was therefore necessary to collect data on the symptoms occurring each day during these illnesses, and how long they lasted.

Data on symptoms occurring were collected in two ways: all individuals reporting new respiratory symptoms on their weekly emailed symptom question were then asked a series of supplementary questions on the same web-based platform. These detailed several specific symptoms, each assessed on a 0-6 scale, plus general questions about ability to perform activities and how unwell they were feeling. These measures were specifically created for the study based on common symptoms of acute respiratory illness, as no previously validated similar score was available. Although this has the advantage of allowing specific questions to be tailored to the study aims, a disadvantage of this approach is that comparison with other populations and studies is difficult. Therefore, in addition to these "acute respiratory symptom" questions, we also included the more general and well validated health-status questions of the Euro-QoL 5D instrument in this web-based questionnaire.

4.4.8 Written symptom diaries

The web-based symptoms score was completed at the same time as reporting new symptoms. This therefore allowed high completion rate for these questions (as completion of this took only a few minutes). However, this permitted collection of data at a single time-point (whereas acute respiratory illnesses by definition are rapidly changing events). To try and capture this information, participants were asked to complete a written daily diary during these illnesses (Figure 11).

DAY 1								
lease tick which Monday Tues	day: dav We	dnesdav	Thursday	Frida	w Sa	turdav	Sunday	Have you seen a doctor, nurse or pharmacist about this illness? (please tick)
0)	Ó	0			0	\bigcirc	No Yes, a pharmacist Yes a nurse in Yes, in a hospital clinic my GP practica
or each of the sy icking one of the	mptoms boxes in	listed, pl each rov	ease india w:	ate how	severei	it is toda	у Бу	Yes a doctor in my GP practice O Yes, in a hospital accident and emergency department
	NO PROBLEM	м	ш	мор	ERATE	SEVERE	PROBLEM	Are you taking any treatment for this illness? (please tick)
SYMPTOM Sare throat	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	No Yes, over the counter from a pharmacy Yes, I am taking antibiotics
Blocked nose								Yes, other treatment. Please state
Fever or chills								
Cough								
Producing more phlegm (sputum) than normal								
Shortness of breath								
Disturbed sleep								
is your illness interfering with your normal activity?								
Overall, how unwell do you feel?								
do you feel?			2					

FIGURE 10 WRITTEN DAILY DIARY

Although existing symptom scores have been used to detail daily symptoms of acute respiratory illness (for instance the COPD Assessment Test (CAT) score (191)), these have been developed for use in particular conditions (such as COPD or asthma) rather than in the general population. We therefore felt that it was appropriate to design a new symptom score rather than utilising an existing instrument.

This diary included details of 7 individual symptoms, plus an assessment of overall illness and impact on normal activity. Each of these items was scored by participants on a 0-6 Likert scale. In addition, questions detailed contact with healthcare services, and any treatment taken. These diaries were selfcompleted in paper booklets which were then returned to the investigators either in person or by post. Participants were requested to complete these diaries at the end of each day. The sum of the responses to the 9 items detailing daily symptoms was used to assess daily symptom burden, giving a total daily score with a possible range from 0 to 54.

An illness was defined as having ended when participants answered "0" to the question "Overall, how unwell do you feel". The duration of illness was then calculated as the number of days between illness onset and the first day with a response of "0", or the number of days for which data were submitted. A total symptom score for each illness was calculated as the sum of the daily symptom scores.

4.4.9 Comparison with existing acute respiratory illness scores

Severity scores exist for acute upper respiratory tract illness – the most well characterised being the Wisconsin Upper Respiratory Symptom Survey (WURSS). This, however, specifically evaluates upper respiratory pathology (largely acute viral illness) and does not collect any data on breathlessness or lower respiratory symptoms. Similarly validated instruments for quantifying lower respiratory tract illness are lacking. Macfarlane *et al* used a standardised definition of acute lower respiratory tract illness: cough as the cardinal symptom with at least one of sputum production, dyspnoea, wheeze and chest discomfort / pain.(192) This, however, was based on physician definition of symptoms, and did not include any quantification of the severity of these symptoms, although Martineau *et al* subsequently scored these symptoms on a 0-3 scale for the purpose of quantifying severity of illness in a randomised trial.(193) Validation of the use of this scale in this way has not, however, been published, and the publication by Martineau *et al* was not available when our study was developed in 2014.

We therefore chose to create a symptom score specifically for this study – one aspect of the Macfarlane symptoms is that these were based on physician recognition of symptoms rather than participant self-report. What constitutes the symptom of "wheeze" is not defined and may be interpreted in several ways by individuals; and we therefore chose not to include wheeze in the symptoms recorded. However other than this, the symptoms documented in the 0-6 scale used included those in the Macfarlane definition. Once the score had been developed, it was piloted by four individuals to ensure feasibility of completion. No formal validation process was undertaken.

4.4.10 Assessment during acute respiratory illnesses

When participants reported an acute respiratory tract illness, they were requested to attend the hospital and have samples taken for the detection of bacterial and viral pathogens.

Samples collected from all participants who attended to be reviewed consisted of nasopharyngeal swabs for respiratory virus detection. Where possible a spontaneous or induced sputum sample was also collected for the detection. This was sent for routine bacterial culture; where sufficient residual sample was available this was retained and stored at -80°C for subsequent molecular microbiological analysis.

4.4.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of study results was undertaken to determine the significance of, and differences in, the primary and secondary study outcomes between the study groups. Baseline characteristics of the HIV positive and negative participants were compared by using t-test or Wilcoxon rank-sum test for normally and non-normally distributed continuous values. Chi-squared and Fisher's exact tests were used for categorical values.

4.4.12 Analysis of primary outcome

For the primary analysis, all participants who were recruited to the study and provided more than one week of follow-up data were included in the analysis.

An acute respiratory illness was defined as the new onset any of the following symptoms lasting more than 24 hours:

- 1. cough
- 2. sore throat
- 3. blocked or runny nose with or without a sensation of facial pain or pressure
- 4. breathlessness or pain on breathing

For an event to be labelled as a new illness, participants needed to have recorded at least one week without symptoms between events. Counting of independent events was undertaken by creating a graphical representation of the weeks of follow-up for each study participant, with the number of independent events manually counted.

The primary outcome of the study will be the annual incidence of acute respiratory illness in HIV infected adults compared to those without HIV infection. The number of events recorded in each group was divided by the number of weeks of follow up to give a rate of events per person-year of follow-up.

We analysed results using univariable Poisson regression analyses to determine the statistical significance of differences in frequency of acute respiratory illness according to baseline characteristics and to explore the effect of different patient characteristics (e.g. age, HIV status, smoking history, baseline respiratory symptoms and spirometric impairment) on frequency of illness.

For multivariable analyses, we compared the frequency of respiratory illness using Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR) and multivariable Poisson regression to adjust for potential confounders and explore the effect of participant characteristics on frequency of acute respiratory illness. Assumptions necessary for Poisson regression were checked and the analysis repeated using a negative binomial model to confirm that conclusions drawn were robust to the analysis method.

4.4.13 Analysis of duration of illness

Participants were asked to complete a daily diary recording their symptoms whilst unwell for as long as symptoms persisted, or up to 14 days. The written instructions provided with this diary asked participants to continue completing this until they felt "back to normal". Therefore, the end of an illness was defined as the day that a participant stops entering data into the daily diary, or reports that they are no longer feeling unwell (defined as answering "0 - no problem" to the question "overall, how unwell do you feel?"). The total duration of illness (in days) for each illness was calculated and the median duration of illness in the HIV positive and negative groups compared.

4.4.14 Analysis of severity of illness

Total symptom scores for each day of illness were calculated by adding the scores for individual symptoms, with no weighting applied. These total scores were compared between HIV positive and negative groups by means of Wilcoxon rank-sum tests. The total scores were log-transformed to approximate a normal distribution and linear regression analyses of log-transformed total symptom scores were used to adjust for differences in baseline characteristics with appropriate adjustment for clustering. Factors considered for inclusion in these multivariable analyses were chosen *a priori* based on those with known or likely associations with acute respiratory illness (gender, tobacco smoking and use of recreational drugs, respiratory symptoms at baseline, presence of abnormal spirometry at baseline). Analyses were conducted using Stata v14 with appropriate adjustment for the clustered nature of the data (with multiple observations per participant).

The presence of chronic respiratory symptoms at baseline may affect reporting of symptoms during acute respiratory illness (e.g. individuals with chronic cough or breathlessness may be more likely to report these during acute illness). Therefore, in addition to comparing the whole HIV positive and negative groups I undertook a further analysis in which participants were stratified according to the presence of respiratory symptoms at baseline (measured by the MRC dyspnoea scale score or St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire score).

4.4.15 Healthcare utilisation during acute respiratory illness

Using the written diaries completed by participants, the proportion of illnesses for which participants sought treatment in GP practice, Hospital (outpatient clinic or A&E) or in-patient treatment was measured. To determine the statistical significance of differences in proportion of participant using these healthcare services, I performed logistic regression analyses with appropriate adjustment for repeated measures. The proportion of participants taking antibiotics and non-prescription medications was also compared.

4.4.16 Pre-planned sensitivity analyses

Sensitivity analyses were pre-specified in a data analysis plan prepared before study results were available and undertaken to evaluate the effect of missing responses on the primary outcome. The following sensitivity analyses were pre-specified:

- a. Excluding participants with less than an 80% response rate to the weekly study contact.
- b. Defining participants who stopped responding to weekly contacts after a point (e.g. 6 months) as having dropped out of the study. This therefore gave different durations of follow-up for some participants and I used this alternative offset value in the regression analysis to account for this.
- c. Rather than analysing the primary outcome as a count variable of the number of events occurring during follow-up, I calculated the proportion responses from each participant in which they reported an acute respiratory illness. This therefore provided a continuous variable which could be explored using linear regression.

4.4.17 Calculation of required sample size

The primary study outcome was number of acute respiratory tract illnesses occurring over a one-year follow up period, this included both upper and lower respiratory tract illnesses. The Pulmonary Complications of HIV study, Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study and the Women's Interagency HIV study all found that HIV infected participants had rates of respiratory tract infections approximately 50% higher than in HIV uninfected individuals (22, 30).

The FluWatch study of the epidemiology of influenza in the UK provided data regarding the expected numbers of acute respiratory illnesses in our study; this was used to estimate the required samples size (194). This study also used weekly diaries of acute respiratory symptoms to determine the frequency of acute respiratory illness and reported that 44% of those without serological evidence of influenza infection experienced an acute respiratory illness during each influenza season (the Fluwatch study was only conducted during influenza seasons). Based on this, we conservatively estimated that at least 44% of the HIV negative participants would have an acute respiratory illness over a 12-month period. As both the Pulmonary Complications of HIV infection study and the Multicentre AIDS cohort study found around a 50% greater frequency of acute respiratory illnesses in People Living with HIV, we therefore predicted that 68% of the HIV infected individuals would develop an acute respiratory illness over a 12-month period.

We planned to have a 2:1 ratio between HIV infected participants and controls, as we anticipated that the HIV infected participants would be easier to recruit. To have an 80% power to detect this difference (i.e. 68% vs. 45%) with a type 1 error of 5% we estimated that we needed 119 HIV positive and 60 HIV negative participants in the cohort. We assumed up to a 20% drop out of subjects from the study and therefore aimed to recruit 140 individuals with HIV infection and 70 individuals without HIV infection. The choice of a 2:1 case-to-control ratio was made due to pragmatic considerations of our likely ability to recruit in a timely way within the two study populations. A 1:1 ratio may have been preferable, although this would have offered less ability to stratify within the HIV positive group, and so identify factors that may be contributing to any noted differences between HIV positive and negative participants.

4.4.18 Data management

Data were collected in participant-completed questionnaires and additional information extracted from hospital electronic medical records with participant consent. Data were stored identifiable by study number in a database held on secure hospital systems. The hard-copies of the questionnaires were stored in a locked filing cabinet on the hospital site. For statistical analyses, pseudo-anonymised data were exported into SPSS and Stata.

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Participant recruitment

We undertook recruitment between November 2015 and January 2017 (Figure 12). In total, we invited 317 HIV positive individuals to participate from HIV ambulatory care clinic, of whom 143 (45%) consented to participate and attended for their baseline clinic visit. There was no significant difference in the median age or gender of those who did and didn't consent to participate: (median (IQR) ages of 51 (46-55) vs 49 (41-54) years respectively); uptake was lower in women invited to participate (38% (30/78)) than men, in whom 48% consented to participate (106/221), although this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.15).

The response rate to postal invitations sent to HIV negative potential participants from Primary Care was 6%: 73 individuals reported that they would be interested in taking part in the study from 1,327 invited by post. Of the 77 who stated that they would be prepared to take part in the study, 63 attended for a baseline visit and were included in the cohort. The positive response rate was 4.5% for women (17 recruited from 376 invitations) and 5% in men (48 recruited from 951 invitations); 4.4% of those recorded as being current smokers in Primary Care records responded positively (20/451) compared to 5.7% of never smokers (42/725) and 1% of those recorded as being ex-smokers (2/151). Uptake was 5.6% in those aged 45-54 (59/1056) and 10.8% in those aged 65-75 (13/120).

FIGURE 11 STUDY RECRUITMENT FLOWCHART


4.5.2 Follow-up and completion of weekly responses

The median number of weeks for which each participant provided data was 44/52 weeks (85%); this was not significantly different between HIV positive and negative participants.

4.5.3 Baseline details of study participants

Demographic details of study participants are given in **Tables 21 and 22**. There were no significant differences in age or gender of the HIV positive and negative participants, but the PLWH were more likely to be current smokers (30% vs 15%, p=0.04) and more likely to report previous or current (within the last 3 months) use of recreational drugs. HIV positive participants had a median (IQR) CD4 count of 686 (458-848) cells/µL; 87% had an HIV load < 40 copies/ml.

Most participants had normal spirometry, with no significant difference in the proportion of HIV positive and negative people with obstructive spirometry (14 (14%) vs 11 (11%), p=0.62). A greater proportion of HIV positive participants had restrictive spirometry (17 (17%) vs 2 (3%), p=0.01).

HIV positive participants had worse respiratory health status at baseline with higher scores on the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (median SGRQ Total score 13 (IQR 5-28) vs 6 (2-9), p< 0.001) and were also more likely to report breathlessness using the MRC dyspnoea scale (59/138 43% vs 12/72 17% reporting MRC dyspnoea scale score of 2 or more, p = <0.001), representing at least "short of breath when hurrying or walking up a slight hill". HIV positive participants also reported a lower general health-related quality of life at baseline using the EQ5D-5L scale with UK with mean UK index scores of 0.84 (SD 0.21) and 0.95 (SD 0.08) in HIV positive and negative groups respectively (p<0.001) and Visual Analogue Scale scores of 75 (SD 19) vs 83 (SD 11) (p=0.001).

4.5.4 Detection of respiratory viral pathogens at baseline

We detected viral respiratory pathogens in 5 (2%) of baseline oropharyngeal swabs, all from HIV positive participants. These were: Parainfluenza 2 (two participants), Coronavirus OC43, Influenza A and Parechovirus. All other participants had negative baseline swab results.

		HIV Positive N=136	HIV Negative N=73	p value
		11-100		
Gender	Female, n (%)	30 (22%)	18 (25%)	0.67*
	Male, n (%)	106 (78%)	55 (75%)	
Age, years, m	ean (SD)	50 (11)	52 (8)	0.11**
Ethnicity	Caucasian, n (%)	103 (76%)	70 (96%)	<0.01 ^
	Black African / Caribbean, n (%)	23 (17%)	0	
	South Asian, n (%)	2 (1%)	2 (3%)	
	Other, n (%)	8 (6%)	1 (1%)	
UK Born, n (%)		73 (54%)	54 (74%)	0.07*
Sexuality	Heterosexual, n (%)	37 (27%)	57 (78%)	<0.001 ^Δ
_	Homosexual, n (%)	86 (62%)	16 (22%)	
	Bisexual, n (%)	12 (9)	0	
	Not answered, n (%)	1 (1%)	0	
Educational	No qualifications, n (%)	7 (5%)	2 (3%)	0.54 [∆]
attainment	GCSE or equivalent, n (%)	20 (15%)	11 (15%)	
	A level or equivalent, n (%)	24 (18%)	8 (11%)	
	University education, n (%)	72 (53%)	44 (60%)	
	Other qualifications, n (%)	13 (10%)	7 (10%)	
	Not answered, n (%)	0	1 (1%)	
Immunisatio	Influenza (last 12 months)	90 (66%)	21 (29%)	<0.01*
ns (self-	Pneumococcal (ever)	50 (37%)	9 (12%)	<0.01*
report)				
Comorbid	Asthma	22 (16%)	7 (10%)	0.21 ^Δ
conditions	COPD	3 (2%)	1 (1%)	0.56 [△]
(self-report)	Heart disease	5 (4%)	2 (3%)	1 ^Δ
Previous histor	y of respiratory opportunistic	9 (7%) ^{##}		
	Any inholod modication	25 (199/)	E (70/)	0.07
USE OI	Inheled aerticectoroide	23 (10%)	3 (7 %)	0.07
medications	Innaled controsteroids	13 (10%)	1 (1%)	0.04
Tobacco	Current smoker n (%)	30 (20%)	12 (16%)	0.08*
smoking	Ex smoker, $n (%)$	<u> </u>	12(1070)	0.00
Shloking	Novor smokor, $n(2)$	40 (34 /0)	34(47/6)	
Tobacco pack	$\frac{1}{100}$	6 (2 12)	21(31/0)	0.17#
Pocreational de	years (meulan, ruck), $(0/2)$	0 (2-12)	9 (3-13) 27 (E10/)	-0.17
Recreational di	uy use (ever), ii (70)	<u>(00%)</u>	37(31%)	0.005
* Chi squared test	** t_test # Mann Whitney Test A Fisher's evan	42 (31%)	9(12%)	0.007

TABLE 21: PARTICIPANT BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS

♦ Calculated for smokers and ex-smokers only
consisting of PCP pneumonia (7 cases) tuberculosis (1 case) non-tuberculous mycobacterial infection (1 case)

			HIV Positive (N=136)	HIV Negative (N=73)	p value
Baseline SGRQ score	Symptoms, media	an (IQR)	30 (8-45)	11 (0-28)	<0.001 [#]
	Activity, median (IQR)	18 (6-36)	6 (0-12)	<0.001 [#]
	Impacts, median	(IQR)	4 (0-16)	0 (0-2)	<0.001 [#]
	Total score, med	ian (IQR)	13 (6-29)	6 (2-9)	<0.001 [#]
Baseline MRC Dyspnoea	1: Not troubled by strenuous exercis	y breathless except on se, n (%)	77 (57%)	58 (81%)	0.008 [∆]
score	2: Short of breath or when walking	when hurrying on a level up a slight hill, n (%)	43 (32%)	12 (17%)	
	3: Walks slower t level, stops after after 15 minutes (%)	han most people on the a mile or so, or stops walking at own pace, n	6 (4%)	0	
	4: Stops for breat yards, or after a f ground, n (%)	h after walking 100 ew minutes on level	4 (3%)	0	
	5: Too breathless breathless when (%)	to leave the house, or dressing/undressing, n	1 (1%)	0	
	Not answered		3 (2%)	2 (3%)	
Spirometry*	FEV1, L, mean (S	SD)	3.22 (0.78)	3.53 (0.73)	0.01
	FEV1 % predicte	d, mean (SD)	91% (14%)	97% (11%)	0.005
	FVC, L, % predic	ted, mean (SD)	4.16 (1.01)	4.55 (0.98)	0.02
	FVC % predicted	, mean (SD)	93 (14%)	99 (12%)	0.02
	Spirometry	Airflow obstruction, n%	13 (13%)	5 (8%)	0.004 [∆]
	interpretation	Restriction, n%	18 (19%)	2 (3%)	
		Normal spirometry n%	65 (68%)	54(88%)	

TABLE 22 BASELINE RESPIRATORY HEALTH STATUS AND SPIROMETRY

* 96 HIV positive and 61 HIV negative participants had spirometry results meeting ATS/ERS quality criteria #Mann-Whitney test # chi squared test ~ t-test Δ Fisher's exact test

4.5.5 Results of prospective follow up: frequency of acute respiratory illness

There was no significant difference in the frequency of acute respiratory tract illness between HIV positive and negative participants. The incidence rate per person year of follow-up was 2.08 (95% CI 1.81-2.38) in HIV positive and 2.30 (1.94-2.70) in HIV negative participants; IRR 0.87 (0.70-1.07 p=0.18).

In univariable regression analyses, smoking status (being an ex-smoker), airflow obstruction (FEV1/FVC <0.7) and the presence of chronic respiratory symptoms (MRC score \geq 2) at baseline were all associated with a significantly greater frequency of acute respiratory illness, and participants of black ethnicity reported a lower frequency of events than White participants (0.64 (0.42-0.96) p=0.03).

In a multivariable model including HIV status, age, gender, ethnicity and the presence of spirometric abnormality, there was no significant difference in the frequency of acute respiratory illness between HIV positive and negative participants (adjusted IRR 0.80 (0.61-1.06) p=0.13). Only tobacco smoking history (being an ex-smoker) and obstructive spirometry were independently associated with a greater frequency of acute respiratory illness in this model.

TABLE 23 RISK FACTORS FOR ACUTE RESPIRATORY ILLNESS AMONG COHORT PARTICIPANTS

Characteristic		N	Incidence rate of	Univariable an	nalysis ^b	Multivariable	analysis ^b
			acute respiratory	IRR (95% CI)	P	IRR (95% CI)	P value
			illness per person	(/	value	(,	
			vear of follow-up		Value		
HIV status	HIV positive	136	2 08 (1 81-2 38)	0.87 (0.70-1.07)	0.18	0.81 (0.61-1.06)	0.13
		100	2.00 (1.01 2.00)	0.07 (0.70 1.07)	0.10	0.01 (0.011.00)	0.10
	HIV negative	73	2.30 (1.94-2.70)	1		1	
Gender	Female	48	1.97 (1.56-2.48)	0.84 (0.54-1.23)	0.42	0.88 (0.65-1.21)	0.45
	Male	161	2.21 (1.95-2.47)	1		1	
Age (years)	65+	24	1.98 (1.42-2.68)	0.94 (0.67-1.32)	0.40	0.87 (0.58-1.31)	0.90
	55-65	35	2.19 (1.69-2.79)	1.04 (0.79-1.38)		1.03 (0.82-1.46)	
	45-55	104	2.19 (1.89-2.53)	1		1	
	<45	46	2.11 (1.64-2.67)	0.83 (0.63-1.09)		0.98 (0.68-1.43)	
Tobacco	Current	51	2.25 (1.82-2.76)	1.12 (0.85-1.48)	0.08	1.28 (0.92-1.77)	0.04
Smoking	smoker			· · · ·		· · · ·	
	Ex-smoker	80	2.37 (2.01-2.77)	1.29 (1.02-1.62)		1.45 (1.08-1.93)	
	Never	78	1.85 (1.53-2.23)	1		1	
	smoker						
Lung function	Obstructive	13	3.33 (2.42-4.47)	1.24 (0.90 1.72)	0.22	1.69 (1.16-2.46)	0.01
	Restrictive	18	1.71 (1.11-2.50)	0.81 (0.52-1.22)		0.83 (0.54-1.29)	
	Normal	65	2.07 (1.54-2.23)	1		1	
Baseline MRC	3-5	11	2.57 (1.63-3.86)	1.35 (0.82-2.22)	0.01		
breathlessness	2	55	2.64 (2.17-3.17)	1.37 (1.08-1.73)			
score	1	135	1.88 (1.63-2.15)				
Recreational	Yes	//	2.19 (1.92-2.50)	1.22 (0.85-1.76)	0.28		
drug use, ever	INO	127	2.03 (1.68-2.42)		0.07		
Recreational	res	51	2.11 (1.69-2.60)	0.92 (0.51-1.37)	0.67		
months	INO	153	2.18 (1.93-2.46)	1			
Ethnicity	Black	23	1.61 (1.06-2.37)	0.64 (0.42-0.96)	0.01	1.07 (0.62-1.88)	0.25
	African /						
	Calibbean South Asian	10	2.01 (1.50.5.20)	1 20 (0 08 2 00)		1 40 (0 04 2 07	
	Jothor /	15	3.01 (1.50-5.59)	1.39 (0.96-2.00)		1.40 (0.94-2.07	
	/ Uner /						
	White	173	2 13 (1 90-2 38)	1		1	
Educational	Other	20	2 27 (1 61-3 12)	0.88 (0.56-1.39)	0.91		
attainment	Degree	116	2.38 (2.07-2.73)	0.94 (0.70-1.25)	0.01		
	A level	32	1.89 (1.41-2.47)	0.91 (0.63-1.31)			
	None/GCSF	40	1.64 (1.23-2.13)	1	1		
Baseline SGRQ	>20	42	2,72 (2,17-3.38)	1.39 (0.68-2.24)	0.14		
	10-20	28	2.52 (1.99-3.14)	1.41 (0.69-2.89)			
	<10	96	1.84 (1.58-2.11)	1	1		
Current CD4 ^a	>500	94	1.98 (1.67-2.33)	0.73 (0.37-1.42)	0.27		
	350-500	27	1.86 (1.35-2.51)	0.58 (0.26-1.29)			
	<350	15	3.30 (2.23-4.72)	1	1		
Nadir CD4 ^a	500+	17	1.86 (1.19-2.76)	0.75 (0.38-1.48)	0.28		
	350-500	20	2.05 (1.40-2.90)	0.84 (0.45-1.58)	1		
				. ,			
	200-350	36	1.84 (1.37-2.41)	0.93 (0.55-1.56)			
	<200	63	2.26 (1.78-2.72)	1			

a: calculated for HIV positive participants only b: Poisson regression

4.5.6 Severity and duration of illness

In response to the web-based symptom questions (completed by 90% of participants; 361 (97%) of illnesses), HIV positive participants reported a greater symptom severity score, with a median total score at the time of reporting illness of 14 points (IQR 8-23) in HIV positive and 9 (5-14) in HIV negative participants (fold change in score 1.61 (1.28-2.02), p<0.001) (Figure 13).

Participants recorded written diaries detailing daily symptoms during 166 (45%) acute respiratory illnesses. During these illnesses, HIV positive participants also reported greater symptoms scores with median total symptom scores per day of 9.36 (IQR 5.77-14.95) in HIV positive and 6.4 (4.74-9.82) in HIV negative participants (p=0.008). HIV positive participants also reported more days with at least mild symptoms with a median duration of 8 (IQR 5.1-10.5) vs 6 (4.25-9.5) days, but this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.18). The total symptom scores per day in HIV positive and negative participants are displayed in Figure 14.



FIGURE 12 PARTICIPANT-REPORTED SCORES FOR INDIVIDUAL SYMPTOMS DURING ACUTE RESPIRATORY ILLNESS



Figure 13 Symptoms during acute respiratory illness

4.5.7 Effect of participant baseline characteristics on symptom scores during acute respiratory illness

We explored the relationship between participant baseline characteristics and the severity of symptoms during acute respiratory illness. In univariable log-scale linear regression analyses, HIV status, airflow obstruction (FEV1/FVC <0.7) recent (within 3 months) use of recreational drugs and the presence of increased respiratory symptoms at baseline (MRC dyspnoea score or St George's Respiratory Questionnaire score) were associated with greater self-reported symptom severity during acute respiratory illness. HIV positive participants had a 61% greater symptom score in univariable analyses (fold change in symptom score 1.61, (95% CI 1.28-2.02, p <0.001).

In accordance with the statistical analysis plan, HIV status, gender, baseline spirometry, use of recreational drugs, tobacco smoking and baseline respiratory symptoms were adjusted for in multivariable analyses. These had been chosen *a priori* and no additional factors were added after univariable analysis. Baseline MRC dyspnoea scale score was not also included in the multivariable analysis (despite being significantly associated with symptom score in univariable analysis) due to collinearity with baseline SGRQ scores.

In a multivariable regression model including HIV status, spirometry, recent recreational drug use, SGRQ score, and tobacco smoking, only HIV status remained significantly associated with greater symptom scores during acute respiratory illness, with an adjusted fold-change in symptom score of 1.50 (1.14-1.97), p= 0.004.

TABLE 24 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PARTICIPANT BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS AND SYMPTOM SEVERITY AT TIME OF REPORTING ACUTE RESPIRATORY ILLNESS, LOG-SCALE LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSES

Characteristic	C	Median (IQR)	Univariable ana	lysis	Multivariable an	alysis
		symptom score [#]	Fold-change in total symptom score*	P value [#]	Fold-change in total symptom score	P value**
HIV Status	HIV	14 (8-23)	1.61 (1.28-2.02)	<0.001	1.50 (1.14-1.97)	0.02
	Positive					
	HIV	9 (5-14)	1		1	
	Negative					
Gender	Female	13 (7-22)	1.08 (0.77-1.66)	0.648	1.30 (0.92-1.83)	0.15
Colina na atra /	IVIale Destrictive	11 (6-20)		0.04		0.50
Spirometry	Restrictive	12 (6-23)	1.00 (0.66-1.51)	0.04	0.96 (0.69-1.35)	0.56
	Obstructive	20 (10-23)	1.51 (1.10-2.07)	-	1.16 (0.80-1.67)	-
Boorootional	Normai	12 (6 21)		0.71	1	
druge (over)	No	12 (0-21)	1.04 (0.01-1.30)	0.71		
Becreational		12 (0-20)	I 1 34 (1 07-1 67)	0.01	1 27 (0 95-1 72)	0.27
druge nast 3	No	11 (6-20)	1.54 (1.07-1.07)	0.01	1	0.27
months	NO	11 (0-20)			1	
Ethnicity	Black	8 (4-21)	0.83 (0.41-1.68)	0.47		
	African /	~ /				
	Caribbean					
	South	13 (9-31)	1.08 (0.48-2.43)	1		
	Asian					
	Other/Mixe					
	d			_		
	White /	12 (6-20)	1			
	Caucasian	0 (5.04)	0.00 (0.00 4.00)	0.07		
Qualification	None	6 (5-24)	0.92 (0.69-1.22)	0.07		
S/	GCSE	8 (4-14)	0.75 (0.55-1.02)	-		
attainment	A level Othor	10 (7-17)		_		
attainment	University	13 (3-22)	1.00 (0.50-1.55)	-		
		13 (0-21)				
Baseline St	>20	14 (9-23)	1 68 (1 30-2 18)	<0.001	1 42 (1 11-1 83)	0.05
Georges	-20	11 (0 20)	1.00 (1.00 2.10)		1.12 (1.11 1.00)	0.00
Respiratory	10-20	14 (8-21)	1.48 (1.14-1.93)	1	1.43 (1.05-1.96)	
Questionnair	<10	9 (4-18)	1	1	1	
e score						
Baseline	3-5	14 (6-33)	1.75 (1.03-2.98)	0.004		
MRC	2	13 (7-21)	1.22 (0.53-1.58)			
Dyspnoea	1	10 (5-18)	1			
score						
I obacco	Current	11 (1-21)	1.12 (0.83-1.51)	0.22	0.91 (0.63-1.33)	0.96
smoking	smoker	44 (5.00)	0.00(0.70.4.00)	-		4
	Ex-smoker	11 (5-20)	0.92(0.70-1.02)	4	1.06 (0.81-1.38)	-
	never	12 (0-19)				
	SHIUKEI	1	1			

#Univariable log-scale linear regression analysis * univariable log-scale linear regression model ** multivariable log-scale linear regression including all factors with data in this column

4.5.8 Treatment and healthcare utilisation

Using the responses to the written diaries, HIV positive participants were more likely to seek advice from a healthcare professional during acute respiratory illness (42% vs 14%, p=0.003) and more likely to seek hospital outpatient assessment (for instance in an HIV ambulatory care service) **Table 25**. There was no significant difference in the proportion of illnesses for which participants took non-prescription medications (59% vs 54%). HIV positive participants took antibiotics during a numerically greater proportion of illnesses (22% vs 11.5%), but this difference was not statistically significant (OR (95% CI) 2.11 (0.75-5.94), p= 0.16).

		HIV positive	HIV negative	Odds ratio [#]	P value
		(88 illnesses)	(78 illnesses)		
Healthcare utilisation	GP, (n%)	11 (12.5%)	8 (10%)	1.25 (0.40-3.68)	0.70
dimodifient	Pharmacist, (n%)	7 (8%)	5 (6%)	1.26 (0.39-4.05)	0.696
	Primary care nurse, (n%)	6 (7%)	2 (3%)	2.78 (0.49-15.72)	0.247
	Hospital outpatient assessment, (n%)	28 (32%)	7 (9%)	4.73 (1.91-11.69)	0.001
	Emergency department, (n%)	5 (6%)	1 (1%)	4.63 (0.53-40.3)	0.164
	Any (excluding pharmacy), (n%)	37 (42%)	14 (18%)	3.32 (1.48-7.39)	0.003
Treatment	Over the counter medications, (n%)	52 (59%)	42 (54%)	1.23 (0.61-2.51)	0.55
	Antibiotics, (n%)	19 (22%)	9 (12%)	2.11 (0.75-5.94)	0.16

TABLE 25 MEDICATION AND HEALTHCARE UTILISATION DURING ACUTE RESPIRATORY ILLNESSES

logistic regression analysis adjusting for clustered data using Generalised Estimating Equations

4.5.9 Isolation of viral and bacterial pathogens during acute respiratory illness

We collected 162 nasopharygeal swabs from study participants during acute respiratory illness. Viral pathogens were isolated in 77 (48%) of these samples, with no significant difference in the likelihood of isolation of respiratory viral pathogens between HIV positive and negative groups: a respiratory viral pathogen was identified during 51% of illnesses in HIV positive participants (48/95) compared to 43% of HIV negative participants (29/67), p=0.36. Rhinovirus was the predominant virus identified in both groups (**Figure 15**).

FIGURE 14 DETECTION OF RESPIRATORY VIRAL PATHOGENS FROM NASOPHARYNGEAL SWABS DURING ACUTE RESPIRATORY ILNESS



We obtained sputum samples for bacteriological culture during 70 illnesses from 37 participants (33 of whom were HIV positive). Bacterial pathogens were identified by routine bacteriological culture in 10 (19%) of these samples from 9 different participants, all of whom were HIV positive. The pathogens identified were: *Haemophilus influenzae* (5 isolates from 4 participants), *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (3 isolates each from different participants), *Moraxella catarrhalis* (2 isolates from different participants). The fungal pathogen Aspergillus *fumigatis* was identified from one sample.

Of the 10 samples from which bacterial pathogens were isolated, 5 had antimicrobial resistance to first line oral antibiotics detected: (2 of 5 samples with Haemophilus influenzae and all three isolates of Streptococcus pneumoniae). Table 26 contains details of the antimicrobial resistance detected.

Streptococc	us pneumoniae					
ISOLATE	Levofic	xacin	Penicillin	Tetracycline	Erythromycir	Ceftriaxone
1	S		I	R	R	ND
2	S		I	R	R	S
3	S		R	R	R	ND
Haemophilus	s influenzae					
ISOLATE	Ampicillin	Clarithromycin erythromycin	ו / ו	Tetracycline	C	o-Amoxiclav
1	S	S		ND		ND
2	R	R		R		S
3	S	R		ND		S
4	S	ND		S		ND

TABLE 26 ANTIBIOTIC RESISTANCE PROFILES FROM SPUTUM SAMPLES DURING ACUTE ILLNESS

4.5.10 Sensitivity analyses

In accordance with the analysis plan, I conducted several pre-specified sensitivity analyses to ensure that our findings were robust using different analytical methods. These included: a) excluding all participants with less than 80% response rate; b) defining the offset value for the regression analyses as the number of weeks between the first and last response to the weekly messages recorded (rather than the total number of responses) and c) defining the outcome as the proportion of weeks of follow up in which a new respiratory illness was reported (thus giving a continuous rather than count variable) and performing linear regression analyses. The findings of the main analysis (that frequency of acute respiratory illness did not differ with HIV status, but PLWH reported more severe symptoms when these illnesses occurred) were consistent in all of these sensitivity analyses.

To further explore the effect of baseline respiratory symptoms on illness frequency and severity, we stratified participants according to the presence of chronic respiratory symptoms, based on baseline MRC dysponea scale score (1 or 2-5). In this analysis, in the group with a baseline MRC dyspnoea score of 1, a similar magnitude of difference in the participant-reported symptom severity scores was found to the whole dataset (fold-change in online severity score 1.31 (95% CI 0.92-10.12) although this difference was not statistically significant (p= 0.06). In participants with an MRC dyspnoea scale score of 2 or more a greater effect of HIV status was found, with a fold-change in symptom score of 1.97 (1.32-2.94).

4.6 Conclusions

In this prospective cohort study, we found that the frequency of acute respiratory illness did not differ between HIV positive and negative individuals in a setting with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy, but HIV positive individuals reported more severe and longer lasting illnesses. This greater symptom severity during acute respiratory illness was associated with an increased likelihood of seeking healthcare advice and a higher (although not statistically significant) proportion of illnesses treated with antibiotics.

As in other populations,(195) HIV positive participants were more likely to report chronic respiratory symptoms at baseline, and this was independently associated with the severity of acute respiratory illnesses during follow-up. However, the greater prevalence of baseline respiratory symptoms did not account for all of the difference between HIV positive and negative participants, as higher symptom scores in HIV positive participants persisted after adjustment for baseline symptoms.

As with the higher prevalence of respiratory symptoms found in the cross-sectional study described in Chapter 3, there are several possible explanations for the greater severity of self-reported symptoms during acute respiratory illness in PLWH. It is possible that impairments in lung function that were not measured by spirometry were present in the HIV positive group, as deficiencies in diffusing capacity,(94) or small airways disease, (196) may be more common among PLWH. Furthermore, an awareness among PLWH of the potential for more severe illness might lead to an increased perception or concern about physical symptoms. In addition, the higher prevalence of anxiety or depression (which impact on respiratory symptoms) in this population could contribute to the greater reporting of physical symptoms. (174, 197) Finally, there is evidence to suggest that despite immune reconstitution following antiretroviral therapy PLWH using ART have higher levels of immune activation than HIV negative individuals (107) – thus the heightened symptom burden during ARI could be a manifestation of a disordered immune response during these illnesses.

This study has several limitations: it aimed to document the frequency of all acute respiratory illness, and therefore it was not powered to measure less common but more severe events such as bacterial pneumonia. Epidemiological data suggest that pneumonia continues to be more common among PLWH, and remains a significant cause of mortality.(187) The lack of a difference in acute respiratory illness frequency in our data does not necessarily imply that severe respiratory infections such as bacterial pneumonia are not more common among PLWH. Whether HIV positive people with a good response to antiretroviral therapy continue to be at greater risk of severe bacterial pneumonia is a question that requires further attention. Our study was based on self-report of acute respiratory illness, and utilised participant reported outcomes to measure severity of respiratory symptoms, rather than having any objective measurement of illness severity based on physiological parameters or biomarkers in blood samples. Although the response rate to the weekly study contacts was very good (85%), written daily diaries during acute illnesses were only available for 46% of illnesses and biases in these responses could affect conclusions. Furthermore, as with any study evaluating a cohort

linked to HIV care services, these findings are not generalizable to settings where access to HIV care is poor, or to individuals who do not maintain linkage to HIV care.

For reasons discussed in the Methods section, we chose to specifically create a symptom scoring system for the study. This had the advantage of allowing us to define the symptoms of interest, and to create a score that could be easily completed by participants. However, limited validation of this questionnaire was performed, and consequently we cannot determine how well this score measured the severity of participant symptoms, or how it compared with existing scores. Use of pre-existing validated scores alongside this symptom score (such as the Jackson or WURSS scores for acute upper respiratory tract illness) would have enhanced the study by allowing comparison with these scores.

A further limitation of this study was the comparison of an HIV positive population with general population controls, and the different strategies used to recruit each group. There are likely to have been socioeconomic and behavioural differences between these two groups in ways that were not measured in the collected data (and thus could not be adjusted for in the analyses). These unmeasured differences could include confounding factors affecting the relationship between HIV status and outcomes. An important limitation of our study is the inability to draw causal conclusions about this. Our strategy for recruitment was chosen enable a comparator population with similar age and gender and exposure to the most important confounding effect (tobacco smoking) to be recruited within the time and resource limitations available. Alternative strategies of recruitment might have been possible, for instance recruitment of HIV positive individuals from Sexual Health clinics, or the healthcare workforce, peers or partners of HIV positive individuals. However, all of these presented their own challenges, such as slow recruitment of the HIV negative group, or further unaccounted for confounders occurring through unknown respiratory exposures (in particular in healthcare workers), which would have risked failure of the project as a whole.

The symptoms chosen to define acute respiratory illness included those arising from both the upper and lower respiratory tract and did not seek to differentiate between infective and non-infective causes. For instance, acute allergic rhinitis would fulfil the criteria for illness. The rationale for this was that distinguishing between infective and non-infective causes based on symptoms alone is not possible (for example, many infections will not result in a fever or sweats, and some non-infectious illnesses can do so). Furthermore, only seeking to evaluate infections might have introduced bias, as HIV positive participants might be more likely to interpret symptoms as a possible infection which may in fact be due to an non-infectious inflammatory response. Our aim therefore was to capture all acute respiratory illnesses regardless of underlying cause.

The greater severity of Acute Respiratory Illness symptoms identified suggests that we need a better understanding of the mechanisms underlying this finding. It may be result from organic processes such as impaired control of infections or dysregulated immune responses, though equally could reflect psychological processes such as greater anxiety or depression in the HIV positive population, or a

greater concern among people living with HIV about the potential significance of symptoms (and hence an increased likelihood of reporting any event to the researchers). Determining the relative importance of these processes is necessary to allow interventions to be designed that can effectively address this healthcare need.

Our data highlight the importance of identifying individuals with chronic respiratory symptoms who may particularly benefit from such interventions to reduce the risk of respiratory illness –these might include smoking cessation, immunisation against influenza and pneumococcus and diagnosis and treatment of underlying respiratory conditions.

In summary, in a population with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy, the frequency of acute respiratory illness is not affected by HIV status; however, HIV positive individuals report more severe and longer lasting illnesses when these occur, with implications for healthcare resource utilisation and health-related quality of life.

Chapter 5: Effect of HIV status on the detection of pathogenic respiratory organisms in sputum

5.1 Background and rationale for study

HIV infection is associated with considerable morbidity and mortality caused by respiratory bacterial pathogens (187). For instance, Pneumococcal infection is estimated to be 20-100 fold times more frequent in untreated HIV infection (13). Although severe bacterial illness is more common at lower CD4 counts, a greater incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease appears to occur even in those with relatively preserved blood CD4 counts. Although antiretroviral therapy reduces the incidence of acute bacterial illness (10), PLWH continue to be at significantly higher risk than the general population: in an analysis of deaths among PLWH in England and Wales between 1997 and 2012, bacterial illness was significantly more common than occurred in the general population, with a standardised mortality ratio (compared to age-standardised general population data) of 10.8 (95% CI 9.8-12.0), with 358 observed deaths compared to the expected 33 (187). This was still present when individuals in the first year after HIV diagnosis (who were at considerably greater risk) were excluded. Standardised mortality rates for non-AIDS infections were 5.8 (95% CI 4.9-6.9) for men and 10.7 (8.2-13.6) for women. There is therefore a need to understand why the incidence and mortality from infections continues to be higher among PLWH despite the provision of antiretroviral therapy.

One reason for a greater susceptibility to severe respiratory infection might be that there are specific impairments in the immune response to particular pathogens, such as *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, which has been suggested by some authors (113, 198). Alternatively, impairment of mucosal immunity may allow a more generalised increase in bacterial proliferation or invasion. Studies in populations without access to ART have suggested a higher frequency of colonisation with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in PLWH (199).

HIV infection is known to cause profound changes to the immune system at mucosal surfaces including the airways and the gut (200). A rapid disruption of gut mucosal immunity occurs soon after primary HIV infection: this has been well investigated, and a rapid loss of mucosal CD4 cells has been demonstrated, associated with an increase in bacterial translocation into the blood (117) (201). This loss of mucosal defence appears to be only partially reversed by ART (200).

As discussed in Chapter 1, whether similar effects occur in the lung and airway mucosa is less well established, in part due to the difficulty of obtaining adequate biopsy samples from these sites. HIV infection is associated with a loss of alveolar CD4 cells, often with an associated increase in (cytotoxic) CD8 T cells (which may be directed at HIV infected host cells themselves). Antiretroviral therapy appears to be able to reverse these changes (121). However, specific deficiencies in immune response may persist despite antiretroviral therapy, as demonstrated by Sepako *et al* who found that CD4 T cell responses to *Streptococcus pneumoniae* were still abnormal after 12 months of ART (198).

These changes in mucosal immunity could have the consequence of allowing increased bacterial colonisation, which might be one reason for the higher frequency of invasive bacterial disease seen in HIV.

5.1.1 Existing data regarding bacterial airway colonisation in HIV

Whether HIV infection is associated with changes in airway bacterial communities has been the subject of significant recent interest by several research groups. The technique of 16s ribosomal RNA sequencing allows a comprehensive evaluation of the bacterial communities present and has been used by multiple studies evaluating different clinical questions(202) (a full discussion of this methodology is beyond the remit of this thesis, and is reviewed by Dickinson *et al* (203)). Such culture independent techniques avoid the biases inherent to bacteriological culture, as many species are not easily cultured. These techniques have transformed our understanding of the bacterial communities present, particularly in the lungs (which were once thought to be essentially sterile). The clinical implications of changes in the "microbiome" are of particular current interest.

Two studies to date have used 16s rRNA sequencing to evaluate the effect of HIV status on the respiratory microbiome. Beck *et al* compared 86 HIV negative and 56 HIV positive individuals recruited at six centres in the US (204); the HIV positive group had relatively preserved immunity, with median CD4 counts of 618 cells/µL (range 208-1265 cells/µL) in those using antiretroviral therapy and 668 cells/µL (290-1192) cells/µL in those not on ART. Significant differences in age, gender and ethnicity were present between the HIV positive and negative groups, with HIV positive participants more likely to be male, of African American ethnicity and a greater proportion of HIV positive participants were current smokers, although this difference was not statistically significant. Both oral wash and broncho-alveolar lavage samples were analysed. Overall, Beck and colleagues did not find a difference in the number of Operational Taxonomic Units (related sequences identified by 16s sequencing analysis, broadly reflective of bacterial species), or diversity of bacteria present (Shannon diversity index) between HIV positive and negative individuals, although there were some differences in the microbial populations found in the oral wash samples between those with and without HIV.

A further study evaluating the respiratory microbiome in HIV was conducted by Twigg *et al (205)*. In contrast to the study by Beck *et al*, an HIV positive group with a greater level of immunocompromise was selected with significantly lower median CD4 counts (at 280 cells/µL before ART and 375 cells/µL after 3 years of ART exposure). Before antiretroviral therapy, the HIV positive lower airway microbiome was characterised by less richness (α diversity: diversity within individual samples) but greater β diversity (diversity between subjects) compared to HIV negative individuals. These differences were less marked when HIV positive participants using antiretroviral therapy were compared to HIV negative individuals, supporting the hypothesis that individuals with significant HIV-related immunocompromise have disordered microbial airway communities, and ART can allow the recovery of a "normal" respiratory microbial community.

Although studies using 16s rRNA sequencing can allow evaluations of entire microbial communities, these techniques do not enable specific pathogenic bacterial species or strains to be identified. As deficiencies in mucosal immunity may result from the loss of specific adaptive immunity to particular pathogens (such as *Streptococcus pneumoniae*) studies of this kind could miss important and clinically relevant differences between people with and without HIV, because pathogenic

Streptococcus pneumoniae cannot be differentiated from commensal streptococci. The use of targeted PCR techniques to evaluate specific pathogenic species can therefore provide information not available through 16s rRNA approaches.

Studies evaluating bacterial carriage using PCR typically demonstrate a significantly higher frequency of colonisation compared to culture-based techniques: for instance Desai *et al* identified at least one of four respiratory pathogens (*Haemophilus influenza, Moraxella catarrhalis, Streptococcus pneumoniae* or *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*) in 29% of sputum samples obtained from HIV negative individuals with COPD by PCR, compared to a positive culture result from only 8% of samples (206).

The carriage of specific bacterial pathogens in PLWH, and whether this differs from HIV negative people is a relatively unexplored question. Previous work from our group by Nimmo *et al* utilised targeted PCR for the presence of *Streptococcus pneumoniae, Haemophilus influenzae* and *Moraxella catarrhalis* in sputum samples obtained from HIV positive individuals (207). The samples were induced sputum, obtained from HIV positive individuals participating in a study evaluating the yield of testing for latent and active tuberculosis, and PCR analysis could only be performed where adequate quantities of residual sample were available. Overall, at least one of these bacteria was detected in 43% (23/53) samples, with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* being the most commonly detected pathogen.

5.1.2 Detection of pneumococcal carriage in the respiratory tract

Differing molecular and culture-based techniques can be used to evaluate the prevalence of respiratory pathogens, and these typically yield significantly different results. Culture of pathogenic organisms remains the gold standard for identification of bacteria, allowing phenotypic techniques for bacterial identification which have historically been the basis for species identification (for instance alpha-haemolytic colonies from a suitable medium which are optochin susceptible to identify Streptococcus pneumoniae). However, determining the presence of bacteria by culture of samples can lack sensitivity and may yield estimates of prevalence that are lower than when estimated by molecular techniques such as PCR. For example, van Deursen et al evaluated upper respiratory tract pneumococcal carriage in older adults in the Netherlands and found that although pneumococci was cultured from only 8% of participants, 20% were positive when tested by quantitative-PCR.(208) Although PCR techniques offer potentially greater sensitivity (allowing small bacterial populations to be detected by amplification of genetic material) this may come at the cost of lower specificity if the PCR target primer is not completely specific for the target. The identification of bacteria by PCR depends on the presence of genetic sequences that are unique and specific to the organism under evaluation. There is much debate, therefore, as to the degree by which PCR primers used are truly specific. This has been most thoroughly evaluated in the context of Streptococcus pneumoniae, where the specificity of some PCR assays for pneumococcal serotypes has been questioned. In particular, other oropharyngeal streptococci of the mitis group are closely related to Streptococcus pneumoniae and may possibly yield positive results to PCR primers that were previously felt to be specific for pneumococcus.(209, 210)

The potential insensitivity of culture and possible lack of specificity of PCR-based techniques represent a challenge when determining the frequency of bacterial carriage in the airways. These limitations of currently available techniques should be considered when interpreting results in this field.

5.2 Rationale for this study

The intention of this work was to compare the frequency of bacterial colonisation at a time when participants had no symptoms of an acute respiratory tract illness. We hypothesised that people living with HIV would be more likely to have pathogenic bacterial species detectable in sputum samples taken at baseline using culture-independent targeted PCR methods than HIV negative individuals.

To test this hypothesis, we used a targeted PCR technique to systematically evaluate baseline carriage of pathogenic respiratory bacteria in sputum samples

We chose to evaluate the presence of three bacterial airway pathogens: *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Moraxella catarrhalis*. These were chosen because they represent common causes of acute bacterial respiratory illness, which previous work has demonstrated can be detected in airway bacterial flora at significant levels. Although this list of pathogens did not aim to provide a comprehensive evaluation of all respiratory pathogens present, significant differences in the frequency of identification of these pathogens could indicate differences in airway bacterial colonisation which could relate to baseline symptoms or susceptibility to subsequent acute respiratory illness.

Well-characterised PCR primers and laboratory protocols exist within the UCL Centre for Medical Microbiology allowing for rigorous quantitative evaluation of the presence of these bacteria.

The sputum samples analysed in this study were those obtained during baseline sampling within the acute respiratory illness cohort study. However, sputum samples represent a mixture of sputum from the lower respiratory tract as well as inevitable contamination from the upper respiratory tract and therefore comprise more than the microbial communities within the lower airway, a fact that must be considered when interpreting the results. Sputum is thought to primarily originate in the larger airways and the microbial communities of the lung (for instance the alveoli) are different from those in these larger airways – no single sample can therefore characterise the whole "lung" or "airway" microbiota. Sputum samples do not, therefore, represent a comprehensive assessment of the microbial populations present, nor are solely a lower respiratory tract sample.

The upper respiratory tract is often believed to be the origin of bacteria causing lower respiratory tract infections, and therefore assessment of carriage in the upper respiratory tract provides a useful insight into carriage and transmission of pathogenic organisms such as *Streptococus pneumoniae*, as will be discussed later. With these limitations accepted, however, the use of sputum samples as a "snapshot" of the microbial populations present in the airway can provide useful insights, and has the advantage of being a sample that is available without invasive sampling techniques (such as bronchoscopy) and with a high yield of bacterial species.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Sample collection and storage

All participants in the cohort study described in Chapter 4 were asked to expectorate a sputum sample during baseline sample collection. If this could not be done spontaneously, participants were asked if they would undergo induced sputum collection using 3.5% nebulised hypertonic saline. This was not a mandatory part of study participation and subjects could decline to do this if they preferred.

Once collected, samples were stored unprocessed at -80 degrees before processing for analysis.

5.3.2 DNA extraction from sputum samples

For processing and DNA extraction, I thawed samples and mixed with 0.1% Dithiothreitol (Sputasol, Oxoid Ltd, UK) at a 1:1 ratio in Category 3 Biosafety cabinet. This was Vortex-mixed and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The sputum was transferred in 1ml aliquots and heat-killed by heating to 95° for 30 minutes.

Samples were then centrifuged for 12 minutes at 13,300 g and the supernatant discarded leaving a pellet. A quantity of glass beads (425-600µm) approximately equal in volume to the sample pellet was added to the tube. Ribolysis was then performed on a FastPrep 24 benchtop homogeniser (MP Biomedicals) for 45 seconds. Immediately following this 240µL of "extraction buffer 2" and 10 µL "Proteinase K" (both from Diasorin Ltd, Saluggia, Italy) were added to the sample. The sample was vortex mixed then incubated at 56°C for 10 minutes. DNA was extracted from sample lysates on the Diasorin IXT (Arrow) automated platform using DNA extraction cartridges eluting into 100µl. DNA concentration and purity was then assessed using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher Scientific).

5.3.3 Quantitative PCR for the detection of respiratory pathogens

I undertook quantitative real-time PCR to detect the presence of the following respiratory pathogens: *Haemophilus influenzae, Moraxella catarrahalis* and *Streptococcus pneumonae*. This procedure followed standard laboratory protocols developed by the UCL Centre for Medical Microbiology. The probe sets used have been previously evaluated and specificity for the bacteria targeted, confirmed by BLAST (Basic Local Alignment Search Tool) analysis by Sylvia Rofael who assisted with training for his aspect of this thesis (211). PCR probes and primers were obtained from Eurofins genomics, (Munich, Germany). Details and concentrations of probes and primers used are given in **Table 27.**

Species	Probe/primer	Sequence (5'-3')	Gene target	Fluorescence detection
				colour
Streptococcus	Forward primer	AGT CGT TCC AAG GTA ACA AGT CT	Streptococcus	Green
prieumoniae	Reverse primer	ACC AAC TCG ACC ACC TCT TT	Spn 9802	
	Probe*	[ROX] TAC ATG TAG GAA ACT ATT TTC CTC ACA AA [BHQ2]	(gene fragment of unknown function (212, 213)	
Haemophilus	Forward primer	CCG GGT GCG GTA GAA TTT AAT AA	Hel gene	Orange
IIIIIuenzae	Reverse primer	CTG ATT TTT CAG TGC TGT CTT TGC	lipoprotein)	
	Probe	[CY5] TGC ACA AGC TAT GGA ACA CCA CGT [BBQ650]		
Moraxella	Forward primer	GTG AGT GCC GCT TTT ACA ACC	Moraxella	Yellow
Calaimalis	Reverse primer	TGT ATC GCC TGC CAA GAC AA	(encodes outer	
	Probe	[JOE] TGC TTT TGC AGC TGT TAG CCA GCC TAA [BHQ1]	membrane protein)	

TABLE 27 PROBES AND PRIMERS USED FOR PCR ANALYSIS OF SPUTUM SAMPLES

* flourochromes and quenchers indicated in square brackets

5.3.4 Procedure for PCR experiments

A "mastermix" of reagents for each reaction was prepared in concentrations detailed in **Table 28**. Each sample was analysed in duplicate and also diluted 1:10 in PCR-grade distilled water (also in duplicate). This dilution was undertaken due to the possibility of inhibition of the PCR reaction by proteins persisting following the DNA extraction step (which could cause failure of the reaction for the undiluted sample).

PCR reactions were undertaken in 25µL with 20µL mastermix and 5µL sample; reactions were performed using a Rotor-gene Q (Qiagen) with cycling details optimised according to existing laboratory protocols. The maximum number of PCR cycles performed (CT value) before the result was declared to be negative was 30.

As an internal control to confirm the success of the PCR reaction and amplification of genetic material, 100µL of 10⁻⁸ concentration DNA from PhyB gene of potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) was included in the Mastermix, along with primers designed to amplify this material and probes allowing detection of the PCR reaction.

Reagent	Conc.	Volume x1 reaction µL
Platinum qPCR Supermix	x1	12.5 µL
MgCl2	50mM	1.5 µL
Bacterial forward primers (x3 mixed)	50µM	0.225 µL
Bacterial reverse primers (x3 mixed	50µM	0.375 µL
Bacterial probes (x3 mixed)	50µM	0.375 µL
Internal Amplification Control (IAC)	50µM	0.125 µL
Forward primer		
IAC Reverse primer	50µM	0.125 μL
IAC Probe	50µM	0.1 µL
IAC Amplicon	100µM x10-8	1 µL
PCR Grade Water	NA	3.675 µL
TOTAL VOLUME PER	RREACTION	20 µL

TABLE 28 REAGENTS AND CONCENTRATIONS USED FOR QPCR REACTIONS

5.3.5 Preparation of standard curves for quantitative PCR

To allow quantification of the amplicons arising from the PCR reactions, standard curves were created with known concentrations of the relevant organisms.

To create these standard curves, isolates of each pathogen were cultured from standard isolates held within the clinical microbiology laboratory (details of strains: *Streptococcus pneumoniae*: ATCC 49619; *Haemophilus influenzae* ATCC 8468; *Moraxella catarrhalis* sub-cultured laboratory sample). I incubated these isolates for 24 hours at 38° on chocolate agar (*Moraxella catarhallis* and *Haemophilus influenzae*) or blood agar (*Streptococcus pneumoniae*). Following incubation, a 2µL loop of bacteria was taken and a bacterial suspension created by vortex mixing. This suspension was then diluted into 10-fold serial dilutions from neat to 10⁻⁹.

20 µL drops of these diluted suspensions were then placed on agar plates (3 drops for each concentration) and incubated for 24 hours. The concentration at which separate discrete colonies could be readily counted were then selected and the number of colonies manually counted and the mean number of colonies of the three samples calculated. From this, the total bacterial concentration of the neat suspension could be determined. This procedure is illustrated in **Figure 16**.

Alongside the serial dilution of the bacterial suspension for culture and colony counting, a separate series of serial dilutions were made for DNA extraction. These dilutions were then processed for DNA extraction using the same method as used for the sputum samples.

The DNA extracts resulting from this process were then used as standard solutions for the quantitative PCR reactions. Within each PCR run, an aliquot of standard solutions of a known concentration for each of the three pathogens was also included (in duplicate). These therefore contained a quantified concentration of bacterial DNA which could be used to adjust the quantitative results expressed in fluorescence intensity derived from the PCR reaction to yield a result that could be expressed in number of colony-forming units per ml (Figure 17).

In addition to the standard samples included in each run, a positive control including all three of the standards diluted 50-fold was also included as a positive control. This diluted sample approximated the lower limit of detection of the PCR reaction and therefore acted as a further assessment of the effectiveness of the PCR amplification and detection.







FIGURE 16 EXAMPLE OF QPCR FOR STANDARD CURVE CREATION.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Proportion of cohort participants with sputum samples

In total 101 of 217 (46%) of participants were able to provide a sputum sample at baseline. 91 of these samples were spontaneously expectorated and 10 were induced sputum. The details of participants who were and were not able to produce sputum samples are given in Table 29.

No significant differences were found in the gender, age, tobacco smoking history or HIV status of those who could, rather than could not, provide a sputum sample; nor did a greater proportion of those with airflow obstruction provide a sample. There was no significant difference in respiratory symptoms (defined using the St Georges Respiratory Questionnaire) between those with and without a sample.

TABLE 29 COMPARISON OF STUDY PARTICIPANTS WHO DID AND DID NOT PRODUCE A SPUTUM SAMPLE AT BASELINE

		Sputum produced	No sputum produced	P value
		N= 101	N = 115	
		(47% cohort)	(53% cohort)	
HIV status	Positive, n (row %)	65 (45%)	78 (54%)	0.59*
	Negative, n%	36 (49%)	37 (51%)	
Gender	Male, n %	84 (50%)	83 (50%)	0.07*
	Female, n%	17 (35%)	31 (64%)	
Age, years, med	ian (IQR)	50 (11)	52 (9)	0.16 [#]
Smoking	Current	30 (60%)	20 (40%)	0.127*
status	Previous	35 (43%)	47 (57%)	
	Never	34 (44%)	43 (56%)	
Participants with	airflow obstruction, n	8 (42%)	11 (58%)	0.34*
(%)				
Respiratory sym	ptoms	10 (5-26)	8 (2-20)	0.16*
(SGRQ Total sco	ore), median (IRQ)			
Blood CD4 cour	nt, cells /μL**	700 (471-848)	679 (435-852)	0.95 [#]

* Chi squared test # T-Test **HIV participants only # Wilcoxon Rank Sum test

5.4.2 Quantitative PCR results

Overall, one or more of the three respiratory pathogens was detected in 71 (69%) of the 101 samples analysed: results are provided in Table 30. There were no significant differences in the proportion of samples from HIV positive and negative participants which were positive for any of the three pathogens: *Streptococcus pneumoniae* was detected in 55% of HIV positive and 44% of HIV negative samples (p=0.29); *Haemophilus influenzae* was detected in 43% of HIV positive and 56% of HIV negative samples (p=0.89) and *Moraxella catarrhalis* in 5% of HIV positive and 14% of HIV negative samples (p=0.32). Quantitative results were also similar in samples obtained from HIV positive and negative participants, with the exception of *Haemophilus influenzae* which was identified at lower concentrations in the HIV positive group: median (IQR) 7.71 x 10^2 (1.66 x $10^2 - 3.31 \times 10^3$) compared to 1.06 x 10^4 (1.92 x $10^3 - 7.20 \times 10^4$) cfu/ml (p=0.02).

The proportion of samples with one, two or three of the pathogens identified also did not differ between HIV positive or negative groups (Figure 18)

FABLE 30 DETECTION O	F RESPIRATORY PA	THOGENS IN BASELINE	SPUTUM SAMPLES BY QPCR
-----------------------------	------------------	---------------------	------------------------

Positive (n=65) Negative (n=36) Streptococcus pneumoniae Detected 36 (55%) 16 (44%) 0.29* Quantitative count (cfu/ml) median, (IQR) 2.00 x 10 ⁵ 3.27 x 10 ⁵ 0.69# Haemophilus influenzae Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89*
Image: Streptococcus pneumoniae Detected 36 (55%) 16 (44%) 0.29* Quantitative 2 .00 x 10 ⁵ 3.27 x 10 ⁵ 0.69# Count (cfu/ml) (1.12 x 10 ⁴ – (8.79 x 10 ³ – median, (IQR) 1.41 x10 ⁶) 8.22 x10 ⁵) 0.89* Influenzae Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89*
Streptococcus pneumoniae Detected 36 (55%) 16 (44%) 0.29* Quantitative count (cfu/ml) 2 .00 x 10 ⁵ 3.27 x 10 ⁵ 0.69# median, (IQR) (1.12 x 10 ⁴ – 1.41 x10 ⁶) (8.79 x 10 ³ – 8.22 x10 ⁵) 0.69# Haemophilus influenzae Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89*
pneumoniae Quantitative 2.00 x 10 ⁵ 3.27 x 10 ⁵ 0.69# Count (cfu/ml) (1.12 x 10 ⁴ – (8.79 x 10 ³ – 0.69# median, (IQR) 1.41 x10 ⁶) 8.22 x10 ⁵) 0.69# Haemophilus Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89*
Quantitative 2.00 x 10 ⁵ 3.27 x 10 ⁵ 0.69# count (cfu/ml) (1.12 x 10 ⁴ – (8.79 x 10 ³ – 6.69# median, (IQR) 1.41 x10 ⁶) 8.22 x10 ⁵) 6.69# Haemophilus Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89* influenzae 1.41 x10 ⁶ 1.41 x10 ⁶ 1.41 x10 ⁶ 1.41 x10 ⁶
count (cfu/ml) (1.12 x 10 ⁴ – (8.79 x 10 ³ – median, (IQR) 1.41 x10 ⁶) 8.22 x10 ⁵) Haemophilus Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89* influenzae <td< th=""></td<>
median, (IQR) 1.41 x10 ⁶) 8.22 x10 ⁵) Haemophilus Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89* influenzae Image: Comparison of the second sec
Haemophilus Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89* influenzae
Haemophilus Detected 28 (43%) 20 (56%) 0.89* influenzae
influenzae
Quantitative 7.71×10^2 1.06×10^4 0.01#
count (cfu/ml) $(1.66 \times 10^2 - (1.92 \times 10^3 - $
median, (IQR) 3.31×10^3) 7.20×10^4)
Moraxella Detected 5 (8%) 5 (14%) 0.32*
catarrhalis
Quantitative 2.92×10^2 1.12×10^3 $0.31\#$
count (cfu/ml) $(8.55 \times 10^{1} - (4.95 \times 10^{2} - $
median, (IQR) 4.51×10^4) 1.26×10^6)

* Chi squared test # Mann Whitney U test


FIGURE 17: NUMBER OF PATHOGENIC SPECIES IDENTIFIED IN HIV POSITIVE AND NEGATIVE GROUPS

5.4.3 Association between identification of respiratory bacterial pathogens and baseline participant characteristics

There were no significant differences in the age or gender of participants with and without pathogenic bacteria detected, nor were bacteria more likely to be identified from individuals with airflow obstruction. Baseline respiratory symptoms (using the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire) were not different in those with and without bacteria detected. It should be noted, however, that some of these comparisons were based on small numbers of participants, and this study was not designed to have sufficient statistical power to assess these associations.

TABLE 31 COMPARISON OF PARTICIPANT CHARACTERISTICS FROM WHICH BACTERIA WERE AND WERE NOT IDENTIFIED

			Bacteria identified	No bacteria identified	P value	
			(n=71)	(N=30)		
HIV status	Positive, n (row %)		47 (72%)	18 (27%)	0.55*	
	Negative, n (row)%		24 (67%)	12 (33%)		
Gender	Male, n (row %)		59 (70%)	25 (30%)	0.97*	
	Female, n (row %)		12 (71%)	5 (29%)		
Age, years, median (IQR)			52 (9)	51 (10)	0.52**	
Respiratory symptoms (SGRQ Total score), median (IQR)			9 (5-21)	10 (5-28)	0.89 [#]	
Smoking		Current smoker	15 (21%)	10 (33%)	0.48	
		Ex-smoker	26 (37%)	9 (30%)	1	
		Never smoker	24 (34%)	10 (33%)		

* Proportions compared with Fisher's exact tests ** T test # Mann Whitney U Test

5.4.4 Sensitivity analysis including only spontaneously expectorated sputum samples

Although we had intended to increase the proportion of participants who could produce a sputum sample by using induced sputum collection, only seven of the sputum samples were obtained by this method (largely due to the additional time required from participants to complete this after the already considerable data collection and sampling already undertaken). These were analysed alongside the spontaneously produced samples, although arguably may have yielded different results due to the different sampling method (for instance dilution of the sample due to the hypertonic saline used for sputum induction). I therefore re-analysed the results including only spontaneously expectorated sputum samples (61 samples from HIV positive and 33 from HIV negative participants). The results were consistent with the main analysis, with no significant differences in the proportion of samples from HIV positive and negative participants with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (57% vs 45% respectively (p=0.27) *Moraxella catarrhalis* (8% vs 15% respectively, (p= 0.30) or Haemophilus influenzae among samples from HIV negative participants in whom this bacteria was detected (median 1.06×10^4 (IQR $1.02 \times 10^2 - 7.2 \times 10^5$) in HIV negative compared to 7.7×10^2 ($1.66 \times 10^2 - 3.3 \times 10^4$) in HIV positive, p=0.014.

5.5 Conclusions

People living with HIV appear to remain at greater risk of severe bacterial respiratory infection despite using antiretroviral therapy. As the results of the cohort study described in chapter 4 demonstrate, although the frequency of acute respiratory illness does not differ between HIV positive and negative individuals, those with HIV are more likely to experience subjectively severe illness.

One possible reason for this could be a greater susceptibility to infection with bacterial respiratory pathogens. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* has been shown to cause severe or invasive infection at much greater frequencies in those with HIV, an effect which is reduced but not eliminated by use of ART (142).

One reason for this greater susceptibility to bacterial respiratory infection could be a failure to control such pathogens in the airways. Upper respiratory tract colonisation with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is believed to be a necessary precursor of pneumococcal disease (214, 215).

The recruitment of the clinical cohort described in Chapter 4 provided the opportunity to test the hypothesis that PLWH are more likely to have respiratory pathogens present in their airways, or have such pathogens detectable in greater numbers, by using targeted PCR techniques to quantify the presence of these pathogens in sputum samples collected at baseline. Such molecular techniques are highly sensitive and specific and allow robust quantification of their targets.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate the presence of specific respiratory pathogens in sputum samples from HIV positive individuals using ART compared to an HIV negative comparator group. Our data demonstrate that this cohort of PLWH (with almost universal use of antiretroviral therapy) are no more likely to have pathogenic bacteria detectable in their airway flora than healthy controls, and when these bacteria are present there is no difference in their concentration.

These findings suggest that in a HIV positive population with good uptake of antiretroviral therapy and immune reconstitution (measured by blood CD4 counts and undetectable HIV viral load), any persisting deficiencies in airway mucosal immunity do not lead to the overgrowth of the pathogenic species studied when PLWH are free from acute respiratory illness. This suggests that there may not be significant differences in airway bacterial colonies in general between PLWH using ART and HIV negative individuals, if the populations of these bacteria are reflective of the wider bacterial populations present in these samples

Although this evaluation provides new data regarding the interaction between pathogenic bacteria and HIV positive individuals, there are significant limitations which should be considered: Sputum samples represent a mixture of lower airway products and saliva. We did not undertake sputum cell counts to determine the quality of sputum samples and exclude those with heavy oral contamination or attempt to separate mucoid sputum from saliva. I did not compare the samples with oral washes to evaluate differences between upper and lower airway bacterial populations. Unlike studies evaluating bronchoalveolar lavage samples, microbiological analyses of sputum samples cannot provide information on lower airway bacterial populations alone. Therefore, the results should be considered

as an indicator of "airway" bacterial populations, without knowledge of the origin of the isolate from the upper or lower airways.

A further limitation was that sputum samples were not available from all participants. This analysis was undertaken as a sub-study of the wider prospective cohort study. Sputum samples were only obtained from 46% of participants and the study therefore has limited power to evaluate some possible associations.

Although our data suggest that PLWH are not more likely to carry pathogenic bacteria in their airways when systematically well, other mechanisms might still result in a higher incidence of bacterial respiratory infection during acute illness. Deficiencies in immune response could mean that PLWH are more likely to develop invasive bacterial disease when acute illness occurs, or to acquire new bacterial species in their airway flora, either of which could lead to greater susceptibility to bacterial infection (as opposed to colonisation).

It should be noted that the carriage rate for pneumococci suggested by these data is higher than that estimated in most studies evaluating pneumococcal carriage. As previously discussed, differences in sampling technique, analysis and definitions of carriage can result in very different estimates of the prevalence of carriage. Pneumococcal carriage has been evaluated in many studies, so it is possible to contextualise these results. Multiple studies have evaluated the prevalence of pneumococcal carriage in the upper respiratory tract - these consistently find very high rates of carriage in infants and young children which then typically decrease with age. However, there is a wide variation in carriage rates between populations - a systematic review of pneumococcal carriage prevalence published in 2014 reported prevalence of carriage in adults between 0% and 55% (with typically higher prevalence reported in developing countries).(216) Studies in adults typically suggest carriage frequency in the region of 5-25%. (208, 217-219) It should be noted, however, that these results are usually based on sampling of the oropharynx or nasopharynx with swabs and detection of pneumococci by culture. These results are therefore not directly comparable to the detection of bacteria in sputum samples by PCR. Appreciating the need for standardisation of methods of detection of pneumococcal colonisation, the World Health Authority (WHO) has created standardised methods for the measurement of pneumococcal colonisation in epidemiological studies and vaccine trials.(220) As well as defining methods of sampling, these suggest that culture of pneumococci remains the standard means of identification. Therefore, most published estimates of pneumococcal carriage are based on culture from nasopharyngeal or oropharyngeal swabs with fewer comparable studies using different methods. As discussed above, samples based on molecular detection have yielded higher estimates of pneumococcal carriage than those by culture: Trumuto et al used LytA PCR to evaluate oropharyngeal swabs from adults and children in Italy and reported a high prevalence of pneumococci (56% in those aged 26-49; 61% in those aged over 50) - although this study was relatively small and the adults evaluated were all family members of young children.(221) Similarly, Van Deursen reported a prevalence of 18% in pharyngeal swabs taken from adults over 65 years old – a value higher than is typically suggested by surveys based on culture of swabs from individuals in this age group.(208)

Previous studies of pneumococcal carriage among PLWH have suggested that this group have very high levels of carriage. Furthermore, data currently available suggest that this persists after ART use, with no change in carriage after 24 months of ART despite good improvement in blood CD4 counts in a study undertaken in Malawi by Heinsbroek *et al.*(222)

Why might our findings apparently differ from those suggested elsewhere? Firstly, as discussed, the higher prevalence of pneumococci may be the result of the samples and analyses used, with most studies of pneumococcal carriage using pharyngeal swabs (as this is felt to be the primary site of colonisation and is the standard method recommended by the WHO). There are fewer studies reporting the detection of pneumococci in sputum samples from individuals without an acute respiratory illness. Garcha *et al* did so using sputum samples from people with COPD and found that around 10% were positive for pneumococci, (211) however, this group defined a threshold of 10⁴ colony-forming units per ml as "positive". This was not the case with our data as we sought to determine colonisation by bacteria rather than define any particular population density of interest.

The higher prevalence of pneumococci found compared to most published estimates may relate to the use of sputum samples rather than pharyngeal swabs, or the greater sensitivity of PCR compared to culture, however we cannot also exclude the possibility that the potentially lower specificity of PCR for pneumococci (compared to other closely related streptococcal species) could increase the apparent prevalence of pneumococci, as this was not confirmed with culture. It is therefore a limitation of the data that should be noted.

Our findings are consistent with those of investigators who have used molecular techniques for the detection of similar pathogens in other (HIV negative) patient groups. For instance, Singh *et al*, using identical primer sets but applying a threshold of 10^4 cfu/ml to define "significant" bacterial colonisation found that one of the three pathogens could be detected in 35% of sputum samples from patients with COPD. The slightly higher proportion of samples with bacteria detected in our data may arise from differences in sample processing: in our study the whole sputum sample was heat-killed, combined with Dithiothreitol and mixed, with a 0.5-1ml aliquot of this homogenised sample used for PCR; in contrast, the protocols used by Singh *et al* and Garcha *et al* utilised individual sputum plugs derived from samples (211, 223).

These findings should be interpreted in the context of other recent studies examining airway bacterial populations in PLWH which have used 16s ribosomal RNA sequencing techniques to evaluate the respiratory microbiome. Although these have the advantage of potentially being able to assess the full microbial community present, these sequencing techniques do not allow determination of the presence of specific bacterial species, in contrast to the targeted PCR approach used here. These differing molecular techniques can therefore be seen as providing complementary information. Our findings, can therefore be interpreted as being in accordance with those of Beck *et al* who used 16s rRNA sequencing from oral washes and broncho-alveolar lavage and found that bacterial populations

were not significantly different between HIV positive and negative individuals, in a population where most PLWH were using ART with good levels of immune reconstitution.

In summary, my data suggest that PLWH using ART are no more likely to have asymptomatic colonisation of their respiratory tract with pathogenic bacteria. If, as several sources have suggested, a greater risk of severe bacterial respiratory illness persists despite ART,(10) (142) then other causes should be considered.

Chapter 6: Summary, conclusions and suggestions for future work

6.1 Summary of findings and contributions made in this thesis:

The findings discussed in this thesis contribute to the growing body of evidence regarding the health of HIV positive people since the introduction of effective antiretroviral therapy. The need for this new research is testament to the progress that has been made in treating HIV over recent years: antiretroviral therapy is now well tolerated and highly efficacious, allowing HIV positive people to enjoy full and productive lives.

However, there are several ways in which the health needs of people living with HIV remain different to the general population, and research is required to understand the epidemiology, mechanisms of disease and interventions that can improve the health of this population.

To summarise and discuss the findings of the work presented in this thesis:

Chapter 2 described the results of a systematic review summarising current knowledge regarding respiratory symptoms in PLWH. This demonstrated the significantly greater burden of chronic respiratory symptoms found among PLWH without access to ART and how this has reduced in populations using effective treatment. However, despite this improvement, PLWH remained about 50% more likely to report chronic respiratory symptoms such as breathlessness or cough. The review also highlighted areas where evidence is lacking – most importantly the almost complete absence of data from resource-limited populations with access to ART. As these populations (which represent the majority of the world's HIV positive population) are now much more likely to be able to obtain effective treatments, understanding the chronic comorbidities now affecting them, and how this may change in the future, is increasingly important.

The systematic review included data from 24 different studies containing over 12,000 HIV positive and 24,000 HIV negative participants. From this, I could investigate the association between HIV status and respiratory symptoms, and how this has changed since the introduction of widespread ART. However, the limitations of these findings must be appreciated – in particular many studies did not include data on important confounding factors (such as tobacco smoking), making the independent effect of HIV status difficult to confidently determine. Another important limitation is the difficulty in objectively measuring self-reported symptoms – many different definitions of, for instance, breathlessness or cough were used and relatively few studies used standardised instruments such as the MRC dyspnoea scale. The interpretation of, and response to, such symptom questionnaires may differ in different settings and be influenced by participant expectations of the responses – for instance PLWH may be more likely to report symptoms or be more concerned about the possible underlying causes and implications of symptoms.

Since the completion of this systematic review some new data have become available, such as a study from Denmark evaluating a cohort of over 1000 PLWH compared to the general population

controls.(76) This study supported the findings of the systematic review presented here and found that respiratory symptoms remained more common among PLWH, despite there being good access to care with 98% using antiretroviral therapy and 95% having an undetectable HIV load, although as with many other HIV positive populations, PLWH in this study were more likely to smoke than the HIV negative population they were compared with. Nonetheless, this study suggested that the higher prevalence of respiratory symptoms identified by the systematic review continues to be a problem despite the improving access to ART.

Chapter 3 presented the findings of a cross-sectional study evaluating the prevalence of respiratory illness among PLWH attending the Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust. This represented the first published UK report of respiratory health among people living with HIV using antiretroviral therapy. This found a lower frequency of lung function impairment (assessed by spirometry) than studies in many other HIV positive populations but a significantly higher prevalence of respiratory symptoms in the HIV positive compared to negative participants. An important part of this work was the systematic evaluation of respiratory symptoms and health status impairment, compared to an HIV negative comparator group with similar risk factors for respiratory illness, although the limitations discussed above regarding the measurement of subjective symptoms apply equally here. We found that PLWH were significantly more likely to report chronic respiratory symptoms, a finding that persisted after adjustment for smoking, age, gender, body mass index and the presence of anxiety / depression. Indeed, mental health was found to have an important relationship with physical symptoms, such that the presence of anxiety or depression (by self-report or PHQ-9 score) was the factor most strongly related to respiratory symptoms. The study also highlighted the greater proportion of PLWH who smoke tobacco compared to the general population. Whilst this is not a new finding and has been demonstrated in the UK and other HIV positive populations previously, it is of great importance for the future health of PLWH and should be a focus for health improvement by HIV care services.

This study had the advantage of the systematic measurement of respiratory symptoms and spirometry, using well-validated respiratory and generic health-related quality of life scores. However, it should be noted that the relatively small sample size and recruitment of participants from a single site limits the confidence with which findings can be generalised to other HIV positive populations. A multi-site study would allow better evaluation of the wider UK HIV positive population and reinforce the generalisability of the findings. In addition, as with the prospective work described in chapter 4, more detailed physiological measurement would give a better idea as to whether the greater reported frequency of respiratory symptoms was primarily due to deficits in respiratory or cardiovascular function cause by objective physical impairments and how much resulted from psychological comorbidity (particularly anxiety and depression), heightened concern about symptoms among PLWH, or expectations about appropriate responses in this group. Studies involving measurements of lung function allow conclusions to be drawn regarding the cause of these symptoms. Such studies have been undertaken by other groups, for instance the work of Crothers *et al* reporting that HIV is

associated with reduced DLCO;(94) Triplette *et al* suggesting an association between HIV status and emphysema, (65) and Ronit *et al* reporting a greater frequency of airflow obstruction among PLWH(76, 196), however these still suffer from the potential for residual confounding and yield somewhat conflicting results.

The largest body of work within this thesis is presented in Chapter 4, which describes a prospective cohort study evaluating the frequency and severity of acute respiratory illness among PLWH compared to HIV negative individuals. Relatively few studies of respiratory health in PLWH using ART have been prospective in design, and those that were often rely on regular clinic reviews or collection of data utilising access to healthcare access to measure acute illness frequency. While this methodology is appropriate to record more severe disease (such as tuberculosis or bacterial pneumonia), most acute respiratory illnesses are relatively minor and usually self-limiting and would therefore be underestimated by these studies. Nonetheless, because they are so common, these acute respiratory illnesses can have an important effect on health-related quality of life. Furthermore, an increase in their severity or duration could contribute to the development of chronic lung disease, as has been suggested in COPD (224).

We therefore sought to carefully evaluate a defined cohort of participants, using active surveillance for new respiratory illness by weekly contact with email or telephone text message to allow documentation of all acute respiratory illnesses and their (self-reported) severity.

We hypothesised that PLWH would have a greater frequency of acute respiratory illness than HIV negative individuals. This was not what we found. The frequency of acute respiratory illness was not significantly different between people with and without HIV, however, when PLWH became unwell they reported more severe symptoms. This finding raises several further questions: one explanation could be that PWLH are no more likely to have an acute respiratory illness, but are at greater risk of more severe disease - after all, prior to the availability of ART, PLWH had around a 50% higher incidence of upper respiratory tract illness and bronchitis, but 8 fold higher frequency of bacterial pneumonia and perhaps 30 fold higher incidence of severe invasive pneumococcal disease.(13)

Again, the limitations of these data must be considered alongside these conclusions: this was a relatively small single centre study, and a larger and more diverse study would provide more robust results. The HIV negative comparator group, whilst central to the conclusions drawn, were not perfectly matched and (as with any observational study) residual confounding remains a concern. Nonetheless, this data represent a novel finding in the field of respiratory health and HIV, and one that has implications for clinical practice and future research.

Understanding why PLWH appear to be more susceptible to severe illness is an important question that should be addressed. The findings of our cohort study suggest that (in a population using antiretroviral therapy) acute respiratory symptoms occur at the same frequency in people with and

without HIV (probably reflecting similar exposure to respiratory viruses and other causes of acute symptoms) but there may still be differences in the PLWH's host response, which may lay behind the greater severity of symptoms reported and perhaps the apparent continued increase risk of more severe illness highlighted by epidemiological studies such as those of Sogaard *et al* and Croxford *et al*, evaluating populations in Denmark and England and Wales respectively (10, 187). Whether the greater reported symptom severity, based self-report, reflects underlying differences in immune response was not determined by this study as we were not able to undertake objective measurements of host inflammatory response during acute illness. A more detailed mechanistic study evaluating host immune response during acute respiratory illness in a systematic manner would provide insights into whether significant differences in inflammatory response to acute illness persist despite antiretroviral treatment.

Chapter 5 explored the hypothesis that possible impairments in mucosal immunity could lead to increased colonisation by bacterial pathogens, which might result in increased respiratory symptoms or acute illness. This was done using targeted PCR techniques to identify the presence and quantity of three bacterial pathogens (*Streptococcus pneumoniae, Haemophilus influenzae and Moraxella catarrhalis*) which represent important cases of respiratory infection. I analysed sputum samples collected at baseline (when participants did not have symptoms of acute respiratory illness) from 101 participants who were able to provide a sample. We found no difference in the proportion of individuals from whom we could detect these pathogens, or in the concentrations of bacteria detected in these samples. This suggests that a failure to control bacterial colonisation by pathogenic bacteria may not be the explanation for the greater frequency of more severe respiratory infection in this population.

These findings are consistent with recent research regarding the respiratory microbiome in PLWH – for instance the study by Beck *et al* which compared the respiratory microbiome in oral washes and broncho-alveolar lavage in an HIV positive cohort using ART and found no significant difference in the microbial populations compared to HIV negative comparators.(204) These findings were in contrast to a similar study evaluating HIV positive individuals prior to the initiation of ART, which reported significant differences compared to HIV negative individuals and a loss of diversity in the bacterial populations present. Such findings contrast, however, to evidence suggesting that colonisation with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is common among PLWH and this high rate of carriage persisted after 24 months of ART. Although the findings based on sputum samples presented in this thesis add to this evidence, there were limitations to the approached used – in particular the assessment of bacterial colonisation might be better done using upper respiratory tract pharyngeal swabs rather than sputum; and despite the potential for greater sensitivity using PCR-based molecular techniques, the gold-standard for identification of bacteria such as pneumococci remains culture and phenotypic identification.

6.2 Discussion

A consistent finding throughout this thesis has been that PLWH report more respiratory symptoms than an HIV negative comparator group. In the systematic review described in Chapter 2, although ART use was clearly associated with a narrowing of the difference between people with and without HIV, PLWH continued to be about 50% more likely to report respiratory symptoms. Similar findings were present in the cross-sectional data described in Chapter 3 (where MRC dyspnoea scale and St George's Respiratory Questionnaire scores were higher among PLWH) as well as the prospective study discussed in Chapter 4, where HIV positive participants reported more severe and longer-lasting acute respiratory illnesses. These differences occurred despite having control groups with similar proportions of smokers and persisted after adjustment for differences in baseline characteristics in multivariable analyses.

Determining the cause of the higher burden of respiratory symptoms among people living with HIV goes beyond the data presented in this thesis, however available data (including the findings of other studies) do allow some discussion of possible causes. There is unlikely to be a single underlying cause, and multiple factors may play a part. Undiagnosed and sub-clinical lung disease might be relevant: where it has been evaluated, reductions in diffusing capacity for carbon monoxide (DLCO) have been found to be common among PLWH, possibly indicating underlying alveolar or pulmonary vascular changes. For example, the report by Ronit *et al* using multiple breath washout techniques suggest that small airways disease (not fully evaluated by spirometry) may be present among PLWH, even in never smokers (196). More detailed physiological assessments of lung function among PLWH who report breathlessness may therefore yield insights here, although (as with many of the studies discussed) comparing PLWH with appropriate HIV negative comparator groups is essential if the effect of HIV status is to be determined.

The small (although statistically significant) reduction in lung volumes seen in the cohorts of patients studied here may be of importance: a similar finding has been reported by Ronit *et al* from data arising from a large Danish cohort study in which 1083 HIV positive individuals were compared with a large general population control group (76). Here, the proportion with airflow obstruction (defined as FEV1/FVC less than the lower limit of normal) did not differ between HIV positive and negative participants, but those with HIV had concurrent reduction in *both* FEV1 and FVC (in a multivariable regression model, HIV was associated with a 197 ml lower FEV1 and 328 ml lower FVC). This resulted in significantly more HIV positive participants who meet the diagnostic criteria for COPD if defined as FEV1/FVC <70% *and* FEV1-predicted <80%. This reduction in lung volumes might be a consequence of previous immunocompromise, as lower nadir CD4 counts were associated with lower FEV1 or FVC, although other explanations such as the confounding effect of differences in socioeconomic status on both lung development and nadir CD4 could also potentially explain this. Within the data presented in this thesis, the suggestion that previous levels of immunocompromise are important to the understanding of current respiratory symptoms is supported by the trend towards greater impairments of respiratory health (as measured by the St George's Respiratory

Questionnaire) in those with a lower nadir CD4 count, longer time since HIV diagnosis and longer period between HIV diagnosis and starting ART in the cross-sectional data described in Chapter 4. However, this data-set did not have sufficient power to explore these associations further, and we had limited data regarding previous opportunistic respiratory infections which might affect current respiratory health.

Cardiovascular disease may also contribute to respiratory symptoms in some individuals; ischaemic heart disease appears to be more common among PLWH, due to the higher prevalence of risk factors such as smoking and possible ART and direct HIV-mediated effects. It has also been suggested that PLWH have a higher prevalence of pulmonary hypertension and cardiomyopathies.(225-228)

A significant finding of the cross-sectional study discussed in Chapter 3 is the influence of mental health on the reporting of physical symptoms, as anxiety and depression were associated with respiratory complaints. This is intuitive but nonetheless important, as the presence of anxiety or depression (measured by the PHQ-9 scale) was the factor with the strongest relationship to respiratory symptoms in multivariable analyses. The interaction between these two outcomes is likely to be complex and bi-directional. However, this demonstrates how factors other than HIV status *per se* may have an important influence on the health of this population.

The findings presented in this thesis in some ways contradict those from other studies evaluating chronic respiratory disease among PLWH. Drummond *et al* in the US,(66) Madeddu *et al* in Italy (67) and Makinson *et al* in France (75) all suggested that obstructive lung disease may be significantly more common among people with HIV. There are several possible explanations for these different conclusions. The good access to health services, uptake of antiretroviral therapy and retention in care seen in the UK may mean that some HIV-related effects are less pronounced than in other populations where access to treatment is more limited. Although a higher proportion of PLWH in the UK smoke and use recreational drugs than the general population, this difference is less marked than in several HIV positive populations evaluated in the US, where extremely high levels of smoking are seen (for instance only 27% of the MACS cohort are recorded as being never smokers compared with 41% in this work). Finally, the choice of comparator groups used in studies evaluating PLWH may have magnified the apparent effect of HIV status in studies which used "controls" with significantly different socioeconomic backgrounds, as it is possible that confounding effects were not adequately controlled for.

6.3 Understanding the mechanisms lying behind the association between HIV status and respiratory health impairment

Much of the data presented in this thesis have concerned the relationship between HIV status and respiratory health, and the extent to which HIV infection causes respiratory impairment despite antiretroviral therapy. As has been discussed, there are several possible mechanisms by which this could occur, including both direct effects of HIV on the lung (for instance HIV directly causing the development of emphysema) and indirect mechanisms mediated by other processes - for instance, HIV causing respiratory infection which then impairs subsequent respiratory health. A key question of course is the extent to which the observed association between HIV status and respiratory health impairment is the result of these direct or indirect mechanisms, and the extent to which this association is the result of confounding by factors related to both the exposure of interest (HIV infection) and the outcome (respiratory health). The simplest example of this is tobacco smoking -PLWH in the UK are more likely to smoke than the general population and therefore this will confound the relationship between HIV and respiratory health unless properly controlled for. This raises further difficulties - it is hard to accurately quantify smoking exposure, and the linear regression techniques that I have used in this thesis, assume a linear relationship between smoking exposure and respiratory health. Such difficulties are inevitable in any observational research, and careful consideration of which factors should be controlled for, and how these confounding measures can be accurately quantified, is necessary in order to attempt to determine a causal relationship between HV status and outcome.

6.4 Suggestions for future work

The findings of my research within this thesis encourages several avenues that future work could explore.

6.4.1 Respiratory symptoms among PLWH

The finding that PLWH are more likely to report respiratory symptoms, even after adjustment for confounding effects such as tobacco smoking, and anxiety or depression is important and requires further investigation, particularly as these symptoms may become more manifest as PLWH age. These symptoms are likely to arise from multiple aetiologies, and the relative importance of respiratory illness, cardiovascular impairment, muscle strength, and mental health needs to be determined for health services to better manage this potentially increasing problem.

The strong association between poor mental health (in the form of anxiety and depression) and physical symptoms identified in chapter 3 is worthy of further exploration. Interventions to improve mental health may allow individuals to tolerate physical symptoms more easily and could therefore significantly improve quality of life. In addition, improved metal health may allow individuals to take up lifestyle changes such as smoking cessation and increased physical exercise which could directly reduce physical illness in the long term.

6.4.2 Interventions to address tobacco smoking

One important message of the data presented here is the high prevalence of tobacco smoking and significant burden of respiratory ill-health. This should become an important focus of HIV services (as smoking now represents the leading cause of lost life-years for PLWH). How best to deliver smoking cessation services requires operational research into effective strategies and health economic evaluations of the cost benefit of different interventions. At present, the provision of smoking cessation services depends of local commissioning decisions, and services in different areas appear to be highly variable – making the provision of a comprehensive service for PLWH and other "high risk for cardiovascular and pulmonary disease" populations difficult. Targeted interventions specific to particular groups have been effective in people with peripheral vascular disease (229) or diabetes(230). The introduction and evaluation of specifically-targeted services to improve sustained smoking cessation for PLWH would be an important first step towards testing this out.

6.4.3 Frequency and severity of bacterial pneumonia

Although the data presented in Chapter 4 regarding the frequency of acute respiratory illness suggest that where antiretroviral therapy is readily available these are no more common in PLWH, the greater severity of symptoms reported requires further evaluation. My study was too small to allow evaluation of relatively infrequent events such as bacterial pneumonia, and (as discussed in the Introduction) there is epidemiological evidence to suggest that PLWH continue to have a higher frequency of death from pneumonia compared to the general population. Obtaining a clearer picture of why this may be would ideally be performed within large, prospectively observed cohorts, with data collected on potential risk factors and accurate determination of the occurrence and cause of respiratory symptoms and infections documented.

6.4.4 Completeness of immune reconstitution

Although the success of antiretroviral therapy in suppressing viral replication and allowing immune recovery is clear, the extent to which the immune system can completely recover and return to a state equivalent to that seen in HIV uninfected people is unknown. Clinical assessment of immune reconstitution primarily focusses on the CD4 count in peripheral blood. However, this single measure of immune health may miss important persisting changes, either in other areas of the immune system, or more distant body sites. Persisting deficiencies in specific groups of immune cells might be one mechanism for ongoing increased susceptibility to infection (and other conditions where immune changes are implicated in pathogenesis, such as some cancers) despite antiretroviral therapy.

It is possible that changes to the immune system occurring soon after primary HIV infection have a long-term impact on the immune response that are not fully corrected by antiretroviral therapy. Early HIV infection is associated with a rapid loss of CD4+ lymphocytes, particularly at mucosal surfaces such as the gut. Although antiretroviral therapy allows recovery of CD4 lymphocyte numbers, this reconstituted immune system may remain deficient in some aspects of immune function – an example

of this is that the repertoire of T cell receptors becomes significantly less diverse in people living with HIV who are not using antiretroviral therapy, and this appears not to improve after short-term antiretroviral therapy.(145)

A better understanding of immune changes despite ART could have important implications for the future care of people living with HIV – for instance through helping to explain why some infections (and non-infectious conditions in which immune responses could play a part, for instance some cancers) continue to be more common in HIV positive individuals using antiretroviral therapy. It could also allow individuals who may be at particular risk of such conditions to be identified prior to disease onset – and so receive preventive therapy.

Interventions to improve immune recovery in PLWH using ART may have the potential to yield important health benefits, these might include more comprehensive use of immunisations, although individuals at greatest risk of infection might respond least well to immunisations,(231) and hence strategies to boost immunisation response may be required.

6.5 Summary

The respiratory health of people living with HIV has been transformed by antiretroviral therapy, but challenges remain which should be addressed if the health of this population is to be maintained and improved. HIV infection is now a manageable chronic condition, and HIV positive people using antiretroviral therapy can have a life expectancy equalling that of the HIV uninfected. Sustaining health within this aging HIV positive population requires a shift in the emphasis of HIV care towards long-term reduction of risk factors such as tobacco smoking.

Although the finding of a significantly higher prevalence of chronic lung disease such as COPD suggested by some researchers has not been borne out in more recent studies, people living with HIV continue to represent a high-risk group for respiratory illness both due to risk factors such as smoking and HIV-related factors. As highlighted in this thesis, PLWH report a greater prevalence of respiratory symptoms, both in cross-sectional analyses and during acute illnesses. This difference persists even after adjustment for known confounding effects such as smoking. The reasons for this are unclear – it may be due to residual confounding, either by unmeasured additional factors, or incomplete or inaccurate measurement of known confounders such as mental health, socioeconomic status or tobacco and drug use. The very fact that PLWH are aware of their HIV status means that they may devote greater attention or concern to physical symptoms, which could result in a greater reported symptom burden when measured with patient reported outcome measures. However, it may also be that these symptoms are the result of impairments in respiratory function, either as a direct consequence of HIV infection or as a result of previous infection or immunocompromise. Understanding the relative importance of these effects would help to guide interventions that could improve the health-related quality of life of this population.

As uptake of antiretroviral therapy improves, there will be a growing global population of people with stable chronic HIV infection. In the absence of a cure for HIV, understanding the health needs of this group, and how they differ from those without HIV, will be central to future, long-term HIV care.

References

1. Capocci S, Lipman M. Respiratory infections in HIV-infected adults: epidemiology, clinical features, diagnosis and treatment. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2013;19(3):238-43.

Brown AE KP, Chau C, Khawam J, Gill ON, Delpech VC. Towards elimination of HIV transmission, AIDS and HIV-related deaths in the UK – 2017 report. London: Public Health England; 2017.

3. Raju R, Peters BS, Breen RA. Lung infections in the HIV-infected adult. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2012;18(3):253-8.

4. Drummond MB, Kirk GD. HIV-associated obstructive lung diseases: insights and implications for the clinician. Lancet Respir Med. 2014.

5. Triant VA, Grinspoon SK. Epidemiology of ischemic heart disease in HIV. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2017;12(6):540-7.

6. Walker-Bone K, Doherty E, Sanyal K, Churchill D. Assessment and management of musculoskeletal disorders among patients living with HIV. Rheumatology (Oxford, England). 2017;56(10):1648-61.

7. Grulich AE, van Leeuwen MT, Falster MO, Vajdic CM. Incidence of cancers in people with HIV/AIDS compared with immunosuppressed transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. Lancet. 2007;370(9581):59-67.

8. Winston A, Arenas-Pinto A, Stohr W, Fisher M, Orkin CM, Aderogba K, et al. Neurocognitive function in HIV infected patients on antiretroviral therapy. PLoS One. 2013;8(4):e61949.

9. Collini P, Morris A. Maintaining lung health with longstanding HIV. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2016;29(1):31-8.

10. Sogaard OS, Reekie J, Ristola M, Jevtovic D, Karpov I, Beniowski M, et al. Severe bacterial non-aids infections in HIV-positive persons: incidence rates and risk factors. J Infect. 2013;66(5):439-46.

11. Sogaard OS, Lohse N, Gerstoft J, Kronborg G, Ostergaard L, Pedersen C, et al. Hospitalization for pneumonia among individuals with and without HIV infection, 1995-2007: a Danish population-based, nationwide cohort study. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;47(10):1345-53.

Pneumocystis pneumonia--Los Angeles. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 1981;30(21):250-2.
 Klugman KP, Madhi SA, Feldman C. HIV and pneumococcal disease. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2007;20(1):11-5.

14. Gupta A, Wood R, Kaplan R, Bekker LG, Lawn SD. Prevalent and incident tuberculosis are independent risk factors for mortality among patients accessing antiretroviral therapy in South Africa. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e55824.

15. Sonnenberg P, Glynn JR, Fielding K, Murray J, Godfrey-Faussett P, Shearer S. How soon after infection with HIV does the risk of tuberculosis start to increase? A retrospective cohort study in South African gold miners. J Infect Dis. 2005;191(2):150-8.

16. Murray JF, Felton CP, Garay SM, Gottlieb MS, Hopewell PC, Stover DE, et al. Pulmonary complications of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Report of a National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute workshop. N Engl J Med. 1984;310(25):1682-8.

17. Murray JF, Mills J. Pulmonary infectious complications of human immunodeficiency virus infection. Part I. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1990;141(5 Pt 1):1356-72.

18. Murray JF, Mills J. Pulmonary infectious complications of human immunodeficiency virus infection. Part II. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1990;141(6):1582-98.

19. Wallace JM, Rao AV, Glassroth J, Hansen NI, Rosen MJ, Arakaki C, et al. Respiratory illness in persons with human immunodeficiency virus infection. The Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1993;148(6 Pt 1):1523-9.

20. Detels R, Jacobson L, Margolick J, Martinez-Maza O, Muñoz A, Phair J, et al. The multicenter AIDS Cohort Study, 1983 to Public Health. 2012;126(3):196-8.

21. Barkan SE, Melnick SL, Preston-Martin S, Weber K, Kalish LA, Miotti P, et al. The Women's Interagency HIV Study. Epidemiology. 1998;9(2):117-25.

22. Wallace JM, Hansen NI, Lavange L, Glassroth J, Browdy BL, Rosen MJ, et al. Respiratory disease trends in the Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study cohort. Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997;155(1):72-80.

23. Wallace JM, Stone GS, Browdy BL, Tashkin DP, Hopewell PC, Glassroth J, et al. Nonspecific airway hyperresponsiveness in HIV disease. Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. Chest. 1997;111(1):121-7.

24. Hirschtick RE, Glassroth J, Jordan MC, Wilcosky TC, Wallace JM, Kvale PA, et al. Bacterial pneumonia in persons infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1995;333(13):845-51.

25. Gingo MR, Balasubramani GK, Rice TB, Kingsley L, Kleerup EC, Detels R, et al. Pulmonary symptoms and diagnoses are associated with HIV in the MACS and WIHS cohorts. BMC Pulm Med. 2014;14:75.

26. Kuhlman JE, Knowles MC, Fishman EK, Siegelman SS. Premature bullous pulmonary damage in AIDS: CT diagnosis. Radiology. 1989;173(1):23-6.

27. Diaz PT, Clanton TL, Pacht ER. Emphysema-like pulmonary disease associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection. Ann Intern Med. 1992;116(2):124-8.

28. Diaz PT, King MA, Pacht ER, Wewers MD, Gadek JE, Nagaraja HN, et al. Increased susceptibility to pulmonary emphysema among HIV-seropositive smokers. Ann Intern Med. 2000;132(5):369-72.

29. Rosen MJ, Lou Y, Kvale PA, Rao AV, Jordan MC, Miller A, et al. Pulmonary function tests in HIV-infected patients without AIDS. Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1995;152(2):738-45.

30. Gingo MR, Balasubramani GK, Kingsley L, Rinaldo CR, Alden CB, Detels R, et al. The impact of HAART on the respiratory complications of HIV infection: longitudinal trends in the MACS and WIHS cohorts. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e58812.

31. Collier AC, Coombs RW, Schoenfeld DA, Bassett RL, Timpone J, Baruch A, et al. Treatment of human immunodeficiency virus infection with saquinavir, zidovudine, and zalcitabine. AIDS Clinical Trials Group. N Engl J Med. 1996;334(16):1011-7.

32. Survival of HIV-positive patients starting antiretroviral therapy between 1996 and 2013: a collaborative analysis of cohort studies. The lancet HIV. 2017;4(8):e349-e56.

33. <u>http://i-base.info/guides/category/arvs</u> 2018 [

34. Ford N, Migone C, Calmy A, Kerschberger B, Kanters S, Nsanzimana S, et al. Benefits and risks of rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy. Aids. 2018;32(1):17-23.

35. Walters L NA, B Angus, M Boffito, M Bower, D Churchill, D Dunn, S Edwards, C Emerson, S Fidler, [†]M Fisher, R Horne, S Khoo, C Leen, N Mackie, N Marshall, F Monteiro, M Nelson, C Orkin, A Palfreeman, S Pett, A Phillips, F Post, A Pozniak, I Reeves, C Sabin, R Trevelion, J Walsh, E Wilkins, I Williams, A Winston.

British HIV Association guidelines for the treatment of HIV-1-positive adults with antiretroviral therapy 2015 (2016 interim update). London: British HIV Association; 2016.

36. Hayes R, Sabapathy K, Fidler S. Universal testing and treatment as an HIV prevention strategy: research questions and methods. Curr HIV Res. 2011;9(6):429-45.

37. May MT, Gompels M, Delpech V, Porter K, Orkin C, Kegg S, et al. Impact on life expectancy of HIV-1 positive individuals of CD4+ cell count and viral load response to antiretroviral therapy. Aids. 2014;28(8):1193-202.

38. Smith CJ, Ryom L, Weber R, Morlat P, Pradier C, Reiss P, et al. Trends in underlying causes of death in people with HIV from 1999 to 2011 (D:A:D): a multicohort collaboration. Lancet. 2014;384(9939):241-8.

39. Croxford S, Kitching A, Desai S, Kall M, Edelstein M, Skingsley A, et al. Mortality and causes of death in people diagnosed with HIV in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy compared with

the general population: an analysis of a national observational cohort. The Lancet Public Health.2(1):e35-e46.

40. Kirwan PD CC, Brown AE, Gill ON, Delpech VC. HIV in the UK - 2016 report. In: England PH, editor. London2016.

41. Smit M, Brinkman K, Geerlings S, Smit C, Thyagarajan K, Sighem A, et al. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: a modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2015;15(7):810-8.

42. Gupta RK, Rice B, Brown AE, Thomas HL, Zenner D, Anderson L, et al. Does antiretroviral therapy reduce HIV-associated tuberculosis incidence to background rates? A national observational cohort study from England, Wales, and Northern Ireland. The lancet HIV. 2015;2(6):e243-51.

43. Holmberg SD, Moorman AC, Williamson JM, Tong TC, Ward DJ, Wood KC, et al. Protease inhibitors and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with HIV-1. Lancet. 2002;360(9347):1747-8.

44. Sabin CA, Worm SW, Weber R, Reiss P, El-Sadr W, Dabis F, et al. Use of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors and risk of myocardial infarction in HIV-infected patients enrolled in the D:A:D study: a multi-cohort collaboration. Lancet. 2008;371(9622):1417-26.

45. Wever K, van Agtmael MA, Carr A. Incomplete reversibility of tenofovir-related renal toxicity in HIV-infected men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2010;55(1):78-81.

46. Grigsby IF, Pham L, Mansky LM, Gopalakrishnan R, Mansky KC. Tenofovir-associated bone density loss. Therapeutics and clinical risk management. 2010;6:41-7.

47. Kelesidis T, Kendall MA, Yang OO, Hodis HN, Currier JS. Biomarkers of microbial translocation and macrophage activation: association with progression of subclinical atherosclerosis in HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis. 2012;206(10):1558-67.

48. Rasmussen LD, Omland LH, Pedersen C, Gerstoft J, Kronborg G, Jensen J, et al. Risk of myocardial infarction in parents of HIV-infected Individuals: a population-based Cohort Study. BMC Infect Dis. 2010;10:169.

49. Paules C, Subbarao K. Influenza. Lancet. 2017;390(10095):697-708.

50. Geretti AM, Brook G, Cameron C, Chadwick D, French N, Heyderman R, et al. British HIV Association Guidelines on the Use of Vaccines in HIV-Positive Adults 2015. HIV Med. 2016;17 Suppl 3:s2-s81.

51. Durham MD, Buchacz K, Armon C, Patel P, Wood K, Brooks JT. Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Rates in the HIV Outpatient Study-United States, 1999-2013. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60(6):976-7.

52. Ellis J, Brown J, Smith C, Snell L, Capocci S, Ferro F, et al. Influenza immunisation: knowledge and actions taken by UK HIV-positive adults. HIV Med. 2015.

53. Klein MB, Lu Y, DelBalso L, Coté S, Boivin G. Influenzavirus infection is a primary cause of febrile respiratory illness in HIV-infected adults, despite vaccination. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;45(2):234-40.

54. Patel P, Bush T, Kojic EM, Overton ET, Henry K, Onen N, et al. Duration of Influenza Virus Shedding Among HIV-Infected Adults in the cART Era, 2010-2011. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2016;32(12):1180-6.

55. Coleman BL, Fadel SA, Fitzpatrick T, Thomas SM. Risk factors for serious outcomes associated with influenza illness in high- versus low- and middle-income countries: Systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. 2017.

56. Ho A, Aston SJ, Jary H, Mitchell T, Alaerts M, Menyere M, et al. Impact of HIV on the burden and severity of influenza illness in Malawian adults: a prospective cohort and parallel case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2017.

57. Oude Engberink E, Ratjen F, Davis SD, Retsch-Bogart G, Amin R, Stanojevic S. Inter-test reproducibility of the lung clearance index measured by multiple breath washout. Eur Respir J. 2017;50(4).

58. Kalchiem-Dekel O, Hines SE. Forty years of reference values for respiratory system impedance in adults: 1977-2017. Respir Med. 2018;136:37-47.

59. Mezzani A. Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing: Basics of Methodology and Measurements. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2017;14(Supplement_1):S3-s11.

60. Crothers K, Huang L, Goulet JL, Goetz MB, Brown ST, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, et al. HIV infection and risk for incident pulmonary diseases in the combination antiretroviral therapy era. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183(3):388-95.

61. Vlahov D, Anthony JC, Munoz A, Margolick J, Nelson KE, Celentano DD, et al. The ALIVE study, a longitudinal study of HIV-1 infection in intravenous drug users: description of methods and characteristics of participants. NIDA research monograph. 1991;109:75-100.

62. Drummond MB, Kirk GD, Ricketts EP, McCormack MC, Hague JC, McDyer JF, et al. Cross sectional analysis of respiratory symptoms in an injection drug user cohort: the impact of obstructive lung disease and HIV. BMC Pulm Med. 2010;10:27.

63. Drummond MB, Merlo CA, Astemborski J, Kalmin MM, Kisalu A, Mcdyer JF, et al. The effect of HIV infection on longitudinal lung function decline among IDUs: a prospective cohort. AIDS. 2013;27(8):1303-11.

64. Kunisaki KM, Niewoehner DE, Collins G, Aagaard B, Atako NB, Bakowska E, et al. Pulmonary effects of immediate versus deferred antiretroviral therapy in HIV-positive individuals: a nested substudy within the multicentre, international, randomised, controlled Strategic Timing of Antiretroviral Treatment (START) trial. Lancet Respir Med. 2016;4(12):980-9.

65. Triplette M, Justice A, Attia EF, Tate J, Brown ST, Goetz MB, et al. Markers of Chronic
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease are associated with mortality in people living with HIV. Aids. 2017.
66. Drummond MB, Huang L, Diaz PT, Kirk GD, Kleerup EC, Morris A, et al. Factors associated
with abnormal spirometry among HIV-infected individuals. Aids. 2015;29(13):1691-700.

67. Madeddu G, Fois AG, Calia GM, Babudieri S, Soddu V, Becciu F, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an emerging comorbidity in HIV-infected patients in the HAART era? Infection. 2013;41(2):347-53.

68. Sampériz G, Guerrero D, López M, Valera J, Iglesias A, Ríos A, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for pulmonary abnormalities in HIV-infected patients treated with antiretroviral therapy. HIV Med. 2013.

69. Nakamura H, Tateyama M, Tasato D, Haranaga S, Ishimine T, Higa F, et al. The prevalence of airway obstruction among Japanese HIV-positive male patients compared with general population; a case-control study of single center analysis. J Infect Chemother. 2014.

70. Guaraldi G, Besutti G, Scaglioni R, Santoro A, Zona S, Guido L, et al. The Burden of Image Based Emphysema and Bronchiolitis in HIV-Infected Individuals on Antiretroviral Therapy. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e109027.

71. Makinson A, Hayot M, Eymard-Duvernay S, Quesnoy M, Raffi F, Thirard L, et al. High prevalence of undiagnosed COPD in a cohort of HIV-infected smokers. Eur Respir J. 2015;45(3):828-31.

72. Guaraldi G, Raggi P, Gomes A, Zona S, Marchi E, Santoro A, et al. Lung and Heart Diseases Are Better Predicted by Pack-Years than by Smoking Status or Duration of Smoking Cessation in HIV Patients. PLoS One. 2015;10(12):e0143700.

73. Marchesini G, Forlani G, Rossi E, Berti A, De Rosa M. The direct economic cost of pharmacologically-treated diabetes in Italy-2006. The ARNO observatory. Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD. 2011;21(5):339-46.

74. Guaraldi G, Orlando G, Zona S, Menozzi M, Carli F, Garlassi E, et al. Premature age-related comorbidities among HIV-infected persons compared with the general population. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;53(11):1120-6.

75. Makinson A, Hayot M, Eymard-Duvernay S, Ribet C, Raffi F, Pialoux G, et al. HIV is associated with airway obstruction: a matched controlled study. Aids. 2018;32(2):227-32.

76. Ronit A, Lundgren J, Afzal S, Benfield T, Roen A, Mocroft A, et al. Airflow limitation in people living with HIV and matched uninfected controls. Thorax. 2018.

77. Gupte AN, Wong ML, Msandiwa R, Barnes GL, Golub J, Chaisson RE, et al. Factors associated with pulmonary impairment in HIV-infected South African adults. PLoS One. 2017;12(9):e0184530.

78. Onyedum CC, Chukwuka JC, Onwubere BJ, Ulasi, II, Onwuekwe IO. Respiratory symptoms and ventilatory function tests in Nigerians with HIV infection. African Health Sciences. 2010;10(2):130-7.

79. Pefura-Yone EW, Fodjeu G, Kengne AP, Roche N, Kuaban C. Prevalence and determinants of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in HIV infected patients in an African country with low level of tobacco smoking. Respir Med. 2015;109(2):247-54.

80. UNAIDS. 2014 progress report on the Global Plan. Geneva: UNAIDS; 2013.

81. Ferrand RA, Desai SR, Hopkins C, Elston CM, Copley SJ, Nathoo K, et al. Chronic lung disease in adolescents with delayed diagnosis of vertically acquired HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;55(1):145-52.

82. Mwalukomo T, Rylance SJ, Webb EL, Anderson S, O'Hare B, van Oosterhout JJ, et al. Clinical Characteristics and Lung Function in Older Children Vertically Infected With Human Immunodeficiency Virus in Malawi. Journal of the Pediatric Infectious Diseases Society. 2016;5(2):161-9.

83. Attia EF, Weiss NS, Maleche Obimbo E, McGrath CJ, Cagle A, West TE, et al. Risk Factors for Hypoxia and Tachypnea Among Adolescents With Vertically-acquired HIV in Nairobi. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2017;36(4):e93-e7.

84. Backer V, Nybo Jensen B, Pedersen C, Hertz JB, Jensen TH. Time-related decrease in diffusion capacity in HIV-infected patients with impaired immune function. Scand J Infect Dis. 1992;24(1):29-34.

85. Kvale PA, Rosen MJ, Hopewell PC, Markowitz N, Hansen N, Reichman LB, et al. A decline in the pulmonary diffusing capacity does not indicate opportunistic lung disease in asymptomatic persons infected with the human immunodeficiency virus. Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1993;148(2):390-5.

86. French PD, Cunningham DA, Fleming J, Donegan C, Harris JR, Shaw RJ, et al. Low carbon monoxide transfer factor (TLCO) in HIV-infected patients without lung disease. Respir Med. 1992;86(3):253-6.

87. Shaw RJ, Roussak C, Forster SM, Harris JR, Pinching AJ, Mitchell DM. Lung function abnormalities in patients infected with the human immunodeficiency virus with and without overt pneumonitis. Thorax. 1988;43(6):436-40.

88. Nieman RB, Fleming J, Coker RJ, Harris JR, Mitchell DM. Reduced carbon monoxide transfer factor (TLCO) in human immunodeficiency virus type I (HIV-I) infection as a predictor for faster progression to AIDS. Thorax. 1993;48(5):481-5.

89. Mitchell DM, Fleming J, Pinching AJ, Harris JR, Moss FM, Veale D, et al. Pulmonary function in human immunodeficiency virus infection. A prospective 18-month study of serial lung function in 474 patients. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1992;146(3):745-51.

90. Diaz PT, King MA, Pacht ER, Wewers MD, Gadek JE, Neal D, et al. The pathophysiology of pulmonary diffusion impairment in human immunodeficiency virus infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1999;160(1):272-7.

91. Gingo MR, He J, Wittman C, Fuhrman C, Leader JK, Kessinger C, et al. Contributors to diffusion impairment in HIV-infected persons. Eur Respir J. 2014;43(1):195-203.

92. Fitzpatrick ME, Gingo MR, Kessinger C, Lucht L, Kleerup E, Greenblatt RM, et al. HIV infection is associated with diffusing capacity impairment in women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;64(3):284-8.

93. Gingo MR, George MP, Kessinger CJ, Lucht L, Rissler B, Weinman R, et al. Pulmonary function abnormalities in HIV-infected patients during the current antiretroviral therapy era. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;182(6):790-6.

94. Crothers K, McGinnis K, Kleerup E, Wongtrakool C, Hoo GS, Kim J, et al. HIV infection is associated with reduced pulmonary diffusing capacity. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2013;64(3):271-8.

95. Drummond MB, Kirk GD, Astemborski J, McCormack MC, Marshall MM, Mehta SH, et al. Prevalence and risk factors for unrecognized obstructive lung disease among urban drug users. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2011;6:89-95.

96. Akanbi MO, Taiwo BO, Achenbach CJ, Ozoh OB, Obaseki DO, Sule H, et al. HIV Associated
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in Nigeria. Journal of AIDS & clinical research. 2015;6(5).
97. Hirani A, Cavallazzi R, Vasu T, Pachinburavan M, Kraft WK, Leiby B, et al. Prevalence of

obstructive lung disease in HIV population: a cross sectional study. Respir Med. 2011;105(11):1655-61.

98. Kristoffersen US, Lebech AM, Mortensen J, Gerstoft J, Gutte H, Kjaer A. Changes in lung function of HIV-infected patients: a 4.5-year follow-up study. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2012;32(4):288-95.

99. Risso K, Guillouet-de-Salvador F, Valerio L, Pugliese P, Naqvi A, Durant J, et al. COPD in HIV-Infected Patients: CD4 Cell Count Highly Correlated. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0169359.

100. George MP, Kannass M, Huang L, Sciurba FC, Morris A. Respiratory symptoms and airway obstruction in HIV-infected subjects in the HAART era. PLoS One. 2009;4(7):e6328.

101. Cui Q, Carruthers S, McIvor A, Smaill F, Thabane L, Smieja M. Effect of smoking on lung function, respiratory symptoms and respiratory diseases amongst HIV-positive subjects: a cross-sectional study. AIDS Res Ther. 2010;7:6.

102. Buist AS, McBurnie MA, Vollmer WM, Gillespie S, Burney P, Mannino DM, et al. International variation in the prevalence of COPD (the BOLD Study): a population-based prevalence study. Lancet. 2007;370(9589):741-50.

103. Morris A, George MP, Crothers K, Huang L, Lucht L, Kessinger C, et al. HIV and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: is it worse and why? Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2011;8(3):320-5.

104. Morris AM, Huang L, Bacchetti P, Turner J, Hopewell PC, Wallace JM, et al. Permanent declines in pulmonary function following pneumonia in human immunodeficiency virus-infected persons. The Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;162(2 Pt 1):612-6.

105. Sutherland ER, Martin RJ. Airway inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: comparisons with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003;112(5):819-27; quiz 28.

106. Allinson JP, Hardy R, Donaldson GC, Shaheen SO, Kuh D, Wedzicha JA. The Presence of Chronic Mucus Hypersecretion Across Adult Life in Relation to COPD Development. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015.

107. Paiardini M, Muller-Trutwin M. HIV-associated chronic immune activation. Immunol Rev. 2013;254(1):78-101.

108. Fitch KV, Srinivasa S, Abbara S, Burdo TH, Williams KC, Eneh P, et al. Noncalcified coronary atherosclerotic plaque and immune activation in HIV-infected women. J Infect Dis. 2013;208(11):1737-46.

109. Attia EF, Akgun KM, Wongtrakool C, Goetz MB, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, Rimland D, et al. Increased risk of radiographic emphysema in HIV is associated with elevated soluble CD14 and nadir CD4. Chest. 2014;146(6):1543-53.

110. Kirkegaard-Klitbo DM, Mejer N, Knudsen TB, Moller HJ, Moestrup SK, Poulsen SD, et al. Soluble CD163 predicts incident chronic lung, kidney and liver disease in HIV infection. Aids. 2017;31(7):981-8.

111. Naif HM. Pathogenesis of HIV Infection. Infectious disease reports. 2013;5(Suppl 1):e6.

112. Almodovar S. The Complexity of HIV Persistence and Pathogenesis in the Lung Under Antiretroviral Therapy: Challenges Beyond AIDS. Viral Immunol. 2014.

113. Glennie SJ, Sepako E, Mzinza D, Harawa V, Miles DJ, Jambo KC, et al. Impaired CD4 T cell memory response to Streptococcus pneumoniae precedes CD4 T cell depletion in HIV-infected Malawian adults. PLoS One. 2011;6(9):e25610.

114. Park IW, Koziel H, Hatch W, Li X, Du B, Groopman JE. CD4 receptor-dependent entry of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 env-pseudotypes into CCR5-, CCR3-, and CXCR4-expressing human alveolar macrophages is preferentially mediated by the CCR5 coreceptor. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1999;20(5):864-71.

115. Clarke JR, Mitchell DM, Coker RJ, Israel-Biet D. Is the lung important as a privileged site for the human immunodeficiency virus? Thorax. 1998;53(2):81-2.

116. Okoye AA, Picker LJ. CD4(+) T-cell depletion in HIV infection: mechanisms of immunological failure. Immunol Rev. 2013;254(1):54-64.

117. Brenchley JM, Douek DC. HIV infection and the gastrointestinal immune system. Mucosal Immunol. 2008;1(1):23-30.

118. Brenchley JM, Knox KS, Asher AI, Price DA, Kohli LM, Gostick E, et al. High frequencies of polyfunctional HIV-specific T cells are associated with preservation of mucosal CD4 T cells in bronchoalveolar lavage. Mucosal Immunol. 2008;1(1):49-58.

119. Neff CP, Chain JL, MaWhinney S, Martin AK, Linderman DJ, Flores SC, et al. Lymphocytic alveolitis is associated with the accumulation of functionally impaired HIV-specific T cells in the lung of antiretroviral therapy-naive subjects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;191(4):464-73.

120. Twigg HL, Soliman DM, Day RB, Knox KS, Anderson RJ, Wilkes DS, et al. Lymphocytic alveolitis, bronchoalveolar lavage viral load, and outcome in human immunodeficiency virus infection. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1999;159(5 Pt 1):1439-44.

121. Popescu I, Drummond MB, Gama L, Lambert A, Hoji A, Coon T, et al. HIV Suppression Restores the Lung Mucosal CD4+ T-Cell Viral Immune Response and Resolves CD8+ T-Cell Alveolitis in Patients at Risk for HIV-Associated Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. J Infect Dis. 2016;214(10):1520-30.

122. Rasaiyaah J, Tan CP, Fletcher AJ, Price AJ, Blondeau C, Hilditch L, et al. HIV-1 evades innate immune recognition through specific cofactor recruitment. Nature. 2013;503(7476):402-5.

123. Noursadeghi M, Katz DR, Miller RF. HIV-1 infection of mononuclear phagocytic cells: the case for bacterial innate immune deficiency in AIDS. Lancet Infect Dis. 2006;6(12):794-804.

124. Gordon SB, Jagoe RT, Jarman ER, North JC, Pridmore A, Musaya J, et al. The alveolar microenvironment of patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus does not modify alveolar macrophage interactions with Streptococcus pneumoniae. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2013;20(6):882-91.

125. Jambo KC, Banda DH, Kankwatira AM, Sukumar N, Allain TJ, Heyderman RS, et al. Small alveolar macrophages are infected preferentially by HIV and exhibit impaired phagocytic function. Mucosal Immunol. 2014.

126. Collini PJ, Bewley MA, Mohasin M, Marriott HM, Miller RF, Geretti AM, et al. HIV gp120 in Lungs of ART-treated Individuals Impairs Alveolar Macrophage Responses To Pneumococci. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2018.

127. Nguyen EV, Gharib SA, Crothers K, Chow YH, Park DR, Goodlett DR, et al. Proteomic landscape of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in human immunodeficiency virus infection. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2014;306(1):L35-42.

128. Jambo KC, Tembo DL, Kamng'ona AW, Musicha P, Banda DH, Kankwatira AM, et al. HIVassociated disruption of lung cytokine networks is incompletely restored in asymptomatic HIVinfected Malawian adults on antiretroviral therapy. ERJ open research. 2017;3(4).

129. Brown J, Capocci S, Smith C, Morris S, Abubakar I, Lipman M. Health status and quality of life in tuberculosis. Int J Infect Dis. 2015;32:68-75.

130. Triplette M, Crothers K, Attia EF. Non-infectious Pulmonary Diseases and HIV. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep. 2016;13(3):140-8.

131. Yearsley MM, Diaz PT, Knoell D, Nuovo GJ. Correlation of HIV-1 detection and histology in AIDS-associated emphysema. Diagn Mol Pathol. 2005;14(1):48-52.

132. Popescu I, Drummond MB, Gama L, Coon T, Merlo CA, Wise RA, et al. Activation-induced Cell Death Drives Profound Lung CD4(+) T-Cell Depletion in HIV-associated Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014;190(7):744-55.

133. Opravil M, Pechere M, Speich R, Joller-Jemelka HI, Jenni R, Russi EW, et al. HIV-associated primary pulmonary hypertension. A case control study. Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1997;155(3):990-5.

Morris A, Gingo MR, George MP, Lucht L, Kessinger C, Singh V, et al. Cardiopulmonary function in individuals with HIV infection in the antiretroviral therapy era. AIDS. 2012;26(6):731-40.
Green LA, Yi R, Petrusca D, Wang T, Elghouche A, Gupta SK, et al. HIV envelope protein

gp120-induced apoptosis in lung microvascular endothelial cells by concerted upregulation of EMAP II and its receptor, CXCR3. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2014;306(4):L372-82.

136. Park IW, Ullrich CK, Schoenberger E, Ganju RK, Groopman JE. HIV-1 Tat induces microvascular endothelial apoptosis through caspase activation. J Immunol. 2001;167(5):2766-71.
137. Chung NPY, Ou X, Khan KMF, Salit J, Kaner RJ, Crystal RG. HIV Reprograms Human Airway Basal Stem/Progenitor Cells to Acquire a Tissue-Destructive Phenotype. Cell reports. 2017;19(6):1091-100.

138. Brune KA, Ferreira F, Mandke P, Chau E, Aggarwal NR, D'Alessio FR, et al. HIV Impairs Lung Epithelial Integrity and Enters the Epithelium to Promote Chronic Lung Inflammation. PLoS One. 2016;11(3):e0149679.

139. Chinnapaiyan S, Parira T, Dutta R, Agudelo M, Morris A, Nair M, et al. HIV Infects Bronchial Epithelium and Suppresses Components of the Mucociliary Clearance Apparatus. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0169161.

140. Wilson EM, Sereti I. Immune restoration after antiretroviral therapy: the pitfalls of hasty or incomplete repairs. Immunol Rev. 2013;254(1):343-54.

141. Nunes MC, von Gottberg A, de Gouveia L, Cohen C, Moore DP, Klugman KP, et al. The impact of antiretroviral treatment on the burden of invasive pneumococcal disease in South African children: a time series analysis. Aids. 2011;25(4):453-62.

142. Heffernan RT, Barrett NL, Gallagher KM, Hadler JL, Harrison LH, Reingold AL, et al. Declining incidence of invasive Streptococcus pneumoniae infections among persons with AIDS in an era of highly active antiretroviral therapy, 1995-2000. J Infect Dis. 2005;191(12):2038-45.

143. Cribbs SK, Lennox J, Caliendo AM, Brown LA, Guidot DM. Healthy HIV-1-infected individuals on highly active antiretroviral therapy harbor HIV-1 in their alveolar macrophages. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2015;31(1):64-70.

144. Jambo KC, Banda DH, Afran L, Kankwatira AM, Malamba RD, Allain TJ, et al. Asymptomatic HIV-infected Individuals on Antiretroviral Therapy Exhibit Impaired Lung CD4(+) T Cell Responses to Mycobacteria. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2014.

145. Heather JM, Best K, Oakes T, Gray ER, Roe JK, Thomas N, et al. Dynamic Perturbations of the T-Cell Receptor Repertoire in Chronic HIV Infection and following Antiretroviral Therapy. Front Immunol. 2015;6:644.

146. Leung JM, Liu JC, Mtambo A, Ngan D, Nashta N, Guillemi S, et al. The determinants of poor respiratory health status in adults living with human immunodeficiency virus infection. AIDS Patient Care STDS. 2014;28(5):240-7.

147. Herzog R, Alvarez-Pasquin MJ, Diaz C, Del Barrio JL, Estrada JM, Gil A. Are healthcare workers' intentions to vaccinate related to their knowledge, beliefs and attitudes? A systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2013;13:154.

148. Wells G, Shea B, O'connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa
Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses. 2000.
149. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. Controlled clinical trials.
1986;7(3):177-88.

150. Lepage P, Dabis F, Hitimana DG, Msellati P, Van Goethem C, Stevens AM, et al. Perinatal transmission of HIV-1: lack of impact of maternal HIV infection on characteristics of livebirths and on neonatal mortality in Kigali, Rwanda. Aids. 1991;5(3):295-300.

151. el-Sadr W, Goetz RR, Sorrell S, Joseph M, Ehrhardt A, Gorman JM. Clinical and laboratory correlates of human immunodeficiency virus infection in a cohort of intravenous drug users from New York, NY. Arch Intern Med. 1992;152(8):1653-9.

152. Hoover DR, Saah AJ, Bacellar H, Murphy R, Visscher B, Anderson R, et al. Signs and symptoms of "asymptomatic" HIV-1 infection in homosexual men. Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 1993;6(1):66-71.

153. Norrgren H, Da Silva ZJ, Andersson S, Biague AJ, Dias F, Biberfeld G, et al. Clinical features, immunological changes and mortality in a cohort of HIV-2-infected individuals in Bissau, Guinea-Bissau. Scand J Infect Dis. 1998;30(4):323-9.

154. Spira R, Lepage P, Msellati P, Van De Perre P, Leroy V, Simonon A, et al. Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in children: a five-year prospective study in Rwanda. Mother-to-Child HIV-1 Transmission Study Group. Pediatrics. 1999;104(5):e56.

155. Olayinka BA, Obi CL. Symptomatic HIV-infection in infants according to serostatus of mothers during pregnancy. East Afr Med J. 1999;76(10):566-70.

156. Nilses C, Nystrom L, Munjanja SP, Lindmark G. Symptoms and findings related to HIV in women in rural Gutu District, Zimbabwe, 1992 to 1993. The Central African journal of medicine. 2000;46(9):242-6.

157. Taha TE, Graham SM, Kumwenda NI, Broadhead RL, Hoover DR, Markakis D, et al. Morbidity among human immunodeficiency virus-1-infected and -uninfected African children. Pediatrics. 2000;106(6):E77.

158. Diaz PT, Wewers MD, Pacht E, Drake J, Nagaraja HN, Clanton TL. Respiratory symptoms among HIV-seropositive individuals. Chest. 2003;123(6):1977-82.

159. Galli L, Sabatino G, Zappa M, Barbante E, Chiappini E, de Martino M. Reduced frequency of wheezing respiratory illness in infants with perinatal human immunodeficiency virus-type 1 infection: a model for immunologic and inflammatory mechanisms of airway obstruction? Pediatric allergy and immunology : official publication of the European Society of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology. 2003;14(1):42-9.

160. Lewis JJ, Charalambous S, Day JH, Fielding KL, Grant AD, Hayes RJ, et al. HIV infection does not affect active case finding of tuberculosis in South African gold miners. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2009;180(12):1271-8.

161. Read JS, Mwatha A, Richardson B, Valentine M, Emel L, Manji K, et al. Primary HIV-1 infection among infants in sub-Saharan Africa: HPTN 024. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes: JAIDS. 2009;51(3):317-22.

162. Kheaw-on N, Kawkitinarong K, Sittipunt C, Udompanich V, Ruxrungtham K, Wongtim S. Bronchial hyperresponsiveness in HIV patients with CD4 count less than 500 cells/μL. Asian Biomedicine (Research Reviews and News). 2010;3(3):255-60.

163. Corbett EL, Zezai A, Cheung YB, Bandason T, Dauya E, Munyati SS, et al. Provider-initiated symptom screening for tuberculosis in Zimbabwe: diagnostic value and the effect of HIV status. Bull World Health Organ. 2010;88(1):13-21.

164. Drummond MB, Kirk GD, Ricketts EP, McCormack MC, Hague JC, McDyer JF, et al. Cross sectional analysis of respiratory symptoms in an injection drug user cohort: the impact of obstructive lung disease and HIV. BMC Pulmonary Medicine. 2010;10:27-.

165. Gounder CR, Wada NI, Kensler C, Violari A, McIntyre J, Chaisson RE, et al. Active tuberculosis case-finding among pregnant women presenting to antenatal clinics in Soweto, South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2011;57(4):e77-84.

166. Antwal M, Gurjar R, Chidrawar S, Pawar J, Gaikwad S, Panchal N, et al. Clinical profile of HIV infected patients attending a HIV referral clinic in Pune, India. Indian Journal of Medical Research. 2014;140(2):271-7.

167. Campo M, Oursler KK, Huang L, Goetz MB, Rimland D, Hoo GS, et al. Association of Chronic Cough and Pulmonary Function With 6-Minute Walk Test Performance in HIV Infection. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2014;65(5):557-63.

168. Telisinghe L, Fielding KL, Malden JL, Hanifa Y, Churchyard GJ, Grant AD, et al. High tuberculosis prevalence in a South African prison: the need for routine tuberculosis screening. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e87262.

Antwal M, Gurjar R, Chidrawar S, Pawar J, Gaikwad S, Panchal N, et al. Clinical profile of HIV infected patients attending a HIV referral clinic in Pune, India. Indian J Med Res. 2014;140(2):271-7.
Onyedum CC, Chukwuka JC, Onwubere BJ, Ulasi II, Onwuekwe IO. Respiratory symptoms and ventilatory function tests in Nigerians with HIV infection. Afr Health Sci. 2010;10(2):130-7.

171. Jones PW, Quirk F, Baveystock C. The St George's respiratory questionnaire. Respiratory medicine. 1991;85:25-31.

172. Fletcher C. Standardised questionnaire on respiratory symptoms: a statement prepared and approved by the MRC Committee on the Aetiology of Chronic Bronchitis (MRC breathlessness score). BMJ. 1960;2(2):1665.

Hollington R, Malbon R, Dickson N, Rosie G, Scourfield A, Youssef E, et al. Prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in an HIV-infected population. Hiv Medicine. 2013;14:41.
Miners A, Phillips A, Kreif N, Rodger A, Speakman A, Fisher M, et al. Health-related quality-of-life of people with HIV in the era of combination antiretroviral treatment: a cross-sectional

comparison with the general population. The Lancet HIV. 2014;1(1):e32-e40.

175. Brown AE, Nash S, Connor N, Kirwan PD, Ogaz D, Croxford S, et al. Towards elimination of HIV transmission, AIDS and HIV-related deaths in the UK. HIV Med. 2018.

176. McGowan JA, Brown J, Lampe FC, Lipman M, Smith C, Rodger A. Resilience and Physical and Mental Well-Being in Adults with and Without HIV. AIDS Behav. 2018;22(5):1688-98.

177. Jones PW, Harding G, Berry P, Wiklund I, Chen WH, Kline Leidy N. Development and first validation of the COPD Assessment Test. Eur Respir J. 2009;34(3):648-54.

178. Juniper EF, O'Byrne PM, Guyatt GH, Ferrie PJ, King DR. Development and validation of a questionnaire to measure asthma control. Eur Respir J. 1999;14(4):902-7.

179. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. 2001;16(9):606-13.

180. Jones PW. St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire: MCID. COPD. 2005;2(1):75-9.

181. Cannon DS, Tiffany ST, Coon H, Scholand MB, McMahon WM, Leppert MF. The PHQ-9 as a brief assessment of lifetime major depression. Psychological assessment. 2007;19(2):247-51.
182. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen M, Kind P, Parkin D, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Qual Life Res.

2011;20(10):1727-36.

183. Quanjer PH, Stanojevic S, Cole TJ, Baur X, Hall GL, Culver BH, et al. Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95-yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. Eur Respir J. 2012;40(6):1324-43.

184. Yeligar SM, Ward JM, Harris FL, Brown LAS, Guidot DM, Cribbs SK. Dysregulation of Alveolar Macrophage PPARgamma, NADPH Oxidases, and TGFbeta1 in Otherwise Healthy HIV-Infected Individuals. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2017;33(10):1018-26.

Brown AE, Mohammed H, Ogaz D, Kirwan PD, Yung M, Nash SG, et al. Fall in new HIV diagnoses among men who have sex with men (MSM) at selected London sexual health clinics since early 2015: testing or treatment or pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)? Euro Surveill. 2017;22(25).
Foundation BL. Estimating the economic burden of respiratory illness in the UK. London2017.

187. Croxford Sea. Mortality and causes of death in people diagnosed with HIV in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy compared with the general population: an analysis of a national observational cohort. The Lancet Public Health.2(1):e35-e46.

188. Obasi CN, Brown RL, Barrett BP. Item reduction of the Wisconsin Upper Respiratory Symptom Survey (WURSS-21) leads to the WURSS-11. Qual Life Res. 2014;23(4):1293-8.

189. Fitzner J, Qasmieh S, Mounts AW, Alexander B, Besselaar T, Briand S, et al. Revision of clinical case definitions: influenza-like illness and severe acute respiratory infection. Bull World Health Organ. 2018;96(2):122-8.

190. Pauwels R, Calverley P, Buist AS, Rennard S, Fukuchi Y, Stahl E, et al. COPD exacerbations: the importance of a standard definition. Respir Med. 2004;98(2):99-107.

191. Tsiligianni IG, van der Molen T, Moraitaki D, Lopez I, Kocks JW, Karagiannis K, et al. Assessing health status in COPD. A head-to-head comparison between the COPD assessment test (CAT) and the clinical COPD questionnaire (CCQ). BMC Pulm Med. 2012;12:20.

192. Macfarlane J, Holmes W, Gard P, Macfarlane R, Rose D, Weston V, et al. Prospective study of the incidence, aetiology and outcome of adult lower respiratory tract illness in the community. Thorax. 2001;56(2):109-14.

193. Martineau AR, Hanifa Y, Witt KD, Barnes NC, Hooper RL, Patel M, et al. Double-blind randomised controlled trial of vitamin D3 supplementation for the prevention of acute respiratory infection in older adults and their carers (ViDiFlu). Thorax. 2015;70(10):953-60.

194. Hayward AC, Fragaszy EB, Bermingham A, Wang L, Copas A, Edmunds WJ, et al. Comparative community burden and severity of seasonal and pandemic influenza: results of the Flu Watch cohort study. Lancet Respir Med. 2014;2(6):445-54.

195. Brown J, Roy A, Harris R, Filson S, Johnson M, Abubakar I, et al. Respiratory symptoms in people living with HIV and the effect of antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Thorax. 2016.

196. Ronit A, Mathiesen IH, Gelpi M, Benfield T, Gerstoft J, Pressler T, et al. Small airway dysfunction in well-treated never-smoking HIV-infected individuals. Eur Respir J. 2017;49(3).

197. Brown J MJ, Chouial H, Capocci S, Smith C, Ivens D, Johnson M, Sathia L, Shah R, Lampe F, Rodger A, Lipman M. Impaired respiratory health status in UK HIV positive adults with high uptake of antiretroviral therapy. HIV Med. 2017;In press.

198. Sepako E, Glennie SJ, Jambo KC, Mzinza D, Iwajomo OH, Banda D, et al. Incomplete recovery of pneumococcal CD4 T cell immunity after initiation of antiretroviral therapy in HIV-infected malawian adults. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e100640.

199. Gill CJ, Mwanakasale V, Fox MP, Chilengi R, Tembo M, Nsofwa M, et al. Impact of human immunodeficiency virus infection on Streptococcus pneumoniae colonization and seroepidemiology among Zambian women. J Infect Dis. 2008;197(7):1000-5.

200. Xu H, Wang X, Veazey RS. Mucosal immunology of HIV infection. Immunol Rev. 2013;254(1):10-33.

201. Marchetti G, Tincati C, Silvestri G. Microbial translocation in the pathogenesis of HIV infection and AIDS. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2013;26(1):2-18.

202. Valencia PM, Richard M, Brock J, Boglioli E. The human microbiome: opportunity or hype? Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2017;16(12):823-4.

203. Dickson RP, Erb-Downward JR, Martinez FJ, Huffnagle GB. The Microbiome and the Respiratory Tract. Annual review of physiology. 2016;78:481-504.

204. Beck JM, Schloss PD, Venkataraman A, Twigg H, 3rd, Jablonski KA, Bushman FD, et al. Multicenter Comparison of Lung and Oral Microbiomes of HIV-infected and HIV-uninfected Individuals. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;192(11):1335-44.

205. Twigg HL, 3rd, Knox KS, Zhou J, Crothers KA, Nelson DE, Toh E, et al. Effect of Advanced HIV Infection on the Respiratory Microbiome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;194(2):226-35.

206. Desai H, Eschberger K, Wrona C, Grove L, Agrawal A, Grant B, et al. Bacterial colonization increases daily symptoms in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2014;11(3):303-9.

207. Nimmo C, Capocci S, Honeyborne I, Brown J, Sewell J, Thurston S, et al. Airway bacteria and respiratory symptoms are common in ambulatory HIV-positive UK adults. Eur Respir J. 2015;46(4):1208-11.

208. van Deursen AM, van den Bergh MR, Sanders EA. Carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae in asymptomatic, community-dwelling elderly in the Netherlands. Vaccine. 2016;34(1):4-6.

209. Wyllie AL, Pannekoek Y, Bovenkerk S, van Engelsdorp Gastelaars J, Ferwerda B, van de Beek D, et al. Sequencing of the variable region of rpsB to discriminate between Streptococcus pneumoniae and other streptococcal species. Open biology. 2017;7(9).

210. Carvalho Mda G, Bigogo GM, Junghae M, Pimenta FC, Moura I, Roundtree A, et al. Potential nonpneumococcal confounding of PCR-based determination of serotype in carriage. J Clin Microbiol. 2012;50(9):3146-7.

211. Garcha DS, Thurston SJ, Patel AR, Mackay AJ, Goldring JJ, Donaldson GC, et al. Changes in prevalence and load of airway bacteria using quantitative PCR in stable and exacerbated COPD. Thorax. 2012;67(12):1075-80.

212. Abdeldaim GM, Stralin K, Olcen P, Blomberg J, Herrmann B. Toward a quantitative DNAbased definition of pneumococcal pneumonia: a comparison of Streptococcus pneumoniae target genes, with special reference to the Spn9802 fragment. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2008;60(2):143-50.

213. Suzuki N, Seki M, Nakano Y, Kiyoura Y, Maeno M, Yamashita Y. Discrimination of Streptococcus pneumoniae from viridans group streptococci by genomic subtractive hybridization. J Clin Microbiol. 2005;43(9):4528-34.

214. Bogaert D, De Groot R, Hermans PW. Streptococcus pneumoniae colonisation: the key to pneumococcal disease. Lancet Infect Dis. 2004;4(3):144-54.

215. Wilson R, Cohen JM, Jose RJ, de Vogel C, Baxendale H, Brown JS. Protection against Streptococcus pneumoniae lung infection after nasopharyngeal colonization requires both humoral and cellular immune responses. Mucosal Immunol. 2015;8(3):627-39.

216. Le Polain de Waroux O, Flasche S, Prieto-Merino D, Edmunds WJ. Age-dependent prevalence of nasopharyngeal carriage of streptococcus pneumoniae before conjugate vaccine introduction: a prediction model based on a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e86136.

217. Dunne EM, Satzke C, Ratu FT, Neal EFG, Boelsen LK, Matanitobua S, et al. Effect of ten-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine introduction on pneumococcal carriage in Fiji: results from four annual cross-sectional carriage surveys. Lancet Glob Health. 2018;6(12):e1375-e85.

218. Ansaldi F, de Florentiis D, Canepa P, Ceravolo A, Rappazzo E, Iudici R, et al. Carriage of Streptoccoccus pneumoniae in healthy adults aged 60 years or over in a population with very high and long-lasting pneumococcal conjugate vaccine coverage in children: rationale and perspectives for PCV13 implementation. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2013;9(3):614-20.

219. Mackenzie GA, Leach AJ, Carapetis JR, Fisher J, Morris PS. Epidemiology of nasopharyngeal carriage of respiratory bacterial pathogens in children and adults: cross-sectional surveys in a population with high rates of pneumococcal disease. BMC Infect Dis. 2010;10:304.

220. Satzke C, Turner P, Virolainen-Julkunen A, Adrian PV, Antonio M, Hare KM, et al. Standard method for detecting upper respiratory carriage of Streptococcus pneumoniae: updated recommendations from the World Health Organization Pneumococcal Carriage Working Group. Vaccine. 2013;32(1):165-79.

Tramuto F, Amodio E, Calamusa G, Restivo V, Costantino C, Vitale F. Pneumococcal
Colonization in the Familial Context and Implications for Anti-Pneumococcal Immunization in Adults:
Results from the BINOCOLO Project in Sicily. International journal of molecular sciences. 2017;18(1).
Heinsbroek E, Tafatatha T, Phiri A, Ngwira B, Crampin AC, Read JM, et al. Persisting high
prevalence of pneumococcal carriage among HIV-infected adults receiving antiretroviral therapy in

Malawi: a cohort study. Aids. 2015;29(14):1837-44.

223. Singh R, Mackay AJ, Patel AR, Garcha DS, Kowlessar BS, Brill SE, et al. Inflammatory thresholds and the species-specific effects of colonising bacteria in stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respir Res. 2014;15:114.

224. Donaldson GC, Seemungal TA, Bhowmik A, Wedzicha JA. Relationship between exacerbation frequency and lung function decline in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax. 2002;57(10):847-52.

225. Hsue PY, Waters DD. Heart failure in persons living with HIV infection. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2017;12(6):534-9.

226. Brittain EL, Duncan MS, Chang J, Patterson OV, DuVall SL, Brandt CA, et al. Increased Echocardiographic Pulmonary Pressure in HIV-infected and Uninfected Individuals in the Veterans Aging Cohort Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017.

227. Freiberg MS, Chang CH, Skanderson M, Patterson OV, DuVall SL, Brandt CA, et al. Association Between HIV Infection and the Risk of Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction and Preserved Ejection Fraction in the Antiretroviral Therapy Era: Results From the Veterans Aging Cohort Study. JAMA cardiology. 2017;2(5):536-46.

228. Jarrett H, Barnett C. HIV-associated pulmonary hypertension. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2017;12(6):566-71.

229. Hennrikus D, Joseph AM, Lando HA, Duval S, Ukestad L, Kodl M, et al. Effectiveness of a smoking cessation program for peripheral artery disease patients: a randomized controlled trial. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2010;56(25):2105-12.

230. Canga N, De Irala J, Vara E, Duaso MJ, Ferrer A, Martinez-Gonzalez MA. Intervention study for smoking cessation in diabetic patients: a randomized controlled trial in both clinical and primary care settings. Diabetes care. 2000;23(10):1455-60.

231. Beck CR, McKenzie BC, Hashim AB, Harris RC, Nguyen-Van-Tam JS. Influenza vaccination for immunocompromised patients: systematic review and meta-analysis by etiology. J Infect Dis. 2012;206(8):1250-9.

Appendix 1: Participant questionnaire for cross-sectional study reported in chapter 3.


We very much appreciate your help with this study.

The following questionnaire has been designed to look at people's beliefs about health and smoking. The results will be used to help us understand how to reduce the risk of heart attacks, strokes and lung disease and help people quit smoking.

At the end, there are some questions about how you feel. We would also like to check your breathing with a machine called a spirometer, which works out how much air you can blow out of your lungs and is a measure of lung function.

The questionnaire should not take more than 20 minutes to complete, then about 5 minutes to do the spirometry.

If you do not want to answer any specific questions or sections, simply leave these blank and move on to the next section. Your care in this clinic will not be affected in any way if you chose not to complete this questionnaire, or any particular questions within it.

Please tick the boxes where appropriate. There are no right or wrong answers so just select the answer that best suits you. We have also left some space for additional comments.

Many thanks for taking the time to help us with our study.

Your responses will be treated in confidence.



Section A. General Information: (tick boxes as appropriate)

A1)	What is your gender?: Male Female Transgender
A2)	What is your age (years)
A3)	Which ethnic group best describes you? (please tick only one) Asian – Indian/ Pakistani/ Bangladeshi Black African Black Caribbean Black other Mixed white and black Mixed other Chinese White British White Irish White other Other (please state) :
A4)	Were you born in the UK? Yes No
A5)	How would you describe your sexuality?: Heterosexual / straight Homosexual / gay Bisexual Other (please state) :

A6)	What is your current level of education? (please tick ONE ONLY)	
	Finished education with no qualifications	
	O levels / GCSE (or equivalent qualifications at age 16)	
	A levels (or equivalent qualifications at age 18)	
	University degree or above	
	Other qualifications (please specify)	

A7)	What is your current work situation? (please tick ONE ONLY)	
	Employed or self-employed FULL TIME (at least 30 hours per week)	
	Employed or self-employed PART-TIME (less than 30 hours per week)	
	Full time student / education / training	
	Unemployed	
	Permanently sick / disabled (for 3 months or more)	
	Temporarily sick / disabled (for less than 3 months)	
	Looking after home / family / dependants full time	
	Retired	
	Other (please specify)	
A8)	Do you have enough money to cover your basic needs (e.g. food, heating)	
	Yes, all of the time	
	Yes, most of the time	
	Yes, some of the time	
	No	

Section B. General health:

If unknown, please ask the person who gave you your questionnaire for assistance

B1)	Were you exposed to cigarette smoke at home as a child? Yes No
B2)	Are you currently living with someone else who smokes? Yes No
B3)	Have you EVER been told by a doctor that you have any of the following conditions?AsthmaChronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease or emphysemaCancerHeart disease / Coronary artery disease (e.g. heart attack, angina)StrokeDiabetesAny other major condition (please specify)
B4)	Are you currently receiving treatment (medicine or other therapy) for depression? Yes No
B5)	Did you have an influenza (flu) vaccine last winter 2013/14 (approximately between Oct 2013 and January 2014)? Yes No Yes No If so, where? If so, where? At a hospital Image: Compare the second seco

B6) Have you ever had a pneumonia (pneumococcal) vaccine – otherwise called Pneumovax or Prevenar?

Yes	No
If so, when was this?	
If so, where?	
At a hospital	
At my local GP surgery	
At a pharmacy/supermarket	
Other (please specify)	
Don't know	

B7) A. Do you use an inhaler/inhalers for your breathing? Yes No If so, please tick any that you take regularly (more than 1x/week): (blue inhalers are usually relievers, brown/purple/red/pink are usually preventers) Ventolin (blue) Terbutaline (blue) Beclomethasone (brown) Pulmicort (brown) Qvar (brown) Clenil (brown) Seretide (purple) Symbicort (red/white) Fostair (pink) Tiotropium/Spiriva (grey) Atrovent (white/green) Other (please name)

B8)	Recreational drug use. The answers confidential, however if you prefer this is fine, and please move on to t	to these questions are not to answer these questions he next section.	
	Have you ever used any of the following	g drugs?	
	Yes No		
	If YES, which drugs have you used?		
	Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked	Ketamine	
	Crack / cocaine smoked	Mephedrone	
	Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums)	Crystal meth	
	Ecstasy or GHB	Heroin (injected)	
	Heroin (smoked)		
	Others (please specify)		
B9)	Have you used any recreational dru	gs in the last 3 months?	
B9)	Have you used any recreational dru Yes No	gs in the last 3 months?	
B9)	Have you used any recreational drugYesNoIf YES, which drugs have you used?	gs in the last 3 months?	
B9)	Have you used any recreational drugYesNoIf YES, which drugs have you used?Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked	gs in the last 3 months? Ketamine	
B9)	Have you used any recreational drug Yes No If YES, which drugs have you used? Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked Crack / cocaine smoked	gs in the last 3 months? Ketamine Mephedrone	
B9)	Have you used any recreational dru Yes No No I If YES, which drugs have you used? Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked Crack / cocaine smoked Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums)	gs in the last 3 months? Ketamine Mephedrone Crystal meth	
B9)	Have you used any recreational dru Yes No No If YES, which drugs have you used? Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked Crack / cocaine smoked Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums) Ecstasy or GHB	gs in the last 3 months? Ketamine Mephedrone Crystal meth Heroin (injected)	
B9)	Have you used any recreational drue Yes No No If YES, which drugs have you used? Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked Crack / cocaine smoked Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums) Ecstasy or GHB Heroin (smoked)	gs in the last 3 months? Ketamine Mephedrone Crystal meth Heroin (injected)	
B9)	Have you used any recreational drue Yes No No If YES, which drugs have you used? Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked Crack / cocaine smoked Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums) Ecstasy or GHB Heroin (smoked) Others (please specify)	gs in the last 3 months? Ketamine Mephedrone Crystal meth Heroin (injected)	
B9)	Have you used any recreational drue Yes No If YES, which drugs have you used? Cannabis (marijuana, grass), smoked Crack / cocaine smoked Cocaine (sniffed or rubbed in gums) Ecstasy or GHB Heroin (smoked) Others (please specify)	gs in the last 3 months? Ketamine Mephedrone Crystal meth Heroin (injected)	

Section C. Your respiratory health and fitness:

C1)	Do you get Please tick t	t breathl he most a	ess wher appropriat	n you walk te statemer	:? ht (ONE C	ONLY)		
	1. Not trou strenuou	ibled by b us exercis	oreathless e	iness except	t on			
	2. Short of up a slig	breath w ht hill	/hen hurr	ying or wal	king			
	 Walk slo ground walking 	ower than or have to at your c	i contemp o stop for wn pace	poraries on r breath wh	level en			
	4. Stop for or after	breath a a few mi	fter walki nutes on	ing about 1 level groun	00m d			
	5. Too brea when dr	athless to ressing/ur	leave the ndressing	house, or l	breathles	S		
C2)	In the past (tick box)	12 mont	ths, have	e you had a	any of th	he follow	ing ill	nesses?
	Sinusitis			P	neumoni	а		
	Bronchitis			А	sthma			
	Chest infect	ion		P	leurisy			
	Cold or Flus miss work o	serious er r stop no	nough to rmal activ	vities				
C3)	Do you und (at least onc	dertake j e per we	p hysical a ek)	activity reg	gularly?			
	Yes	No		If so: time	es/wk:			
	Tune of phy	unical act	tivity (tic	k any that	annlyh			
	Type of phy Pup	ysical act	uvity (uc	K any that	appiy b	elow).		
	Kuli				ycie Wraz wysi	iaht traini		
	Othor			G	iyin - we	ight traini	ng	
	Other							

Section D. Health and Wellbeing

Jnd Jesc	er each heading, please tick the ONE box that best ribes your health TODAY	
	MOBILITY	
	I have no problems in walking about	
	I have slight problems in walking about	
	I have moderate problems in walking about	
	I have severe problems in walking about	
	I am unable to walk about	
	SELECADE	
	I have no problems washing or dressing myself	
	I have slight problems washing or dressing myself	
	I have moderate problems washing or dressing myself	
	I have severe problems washing or dressing myself	
	I am unable to wash or dress myself	
	USUAL ACTIVITIES (e.g. work, study, housework, family or leise	ure activities)
	I have no problems doing my usual activities	
	I have slight problems doing my usual activities	
	I have moderate problems doing my usual activities	
	I have severe problems doing my usual activities	
	I am unable to do my usual activities	

PAIN / DISCOMFORT

I have no pain or discomfort I have slight pain or discomfort I have moderate pain or discomfort I have severe pain or discomfort I have extreme pain or discomfort

ANXIETY / DEPRESSION

I am not anxious or depressed I am slightly anxious or depressed I am moderately anxious or depressed I am severely anxious or depressed I am extremely anxious or depressed



Section E: Anxiety and resilience

Over the PAST 2 WEEKS, how often have you been bothered by any of the following problems? Please tick one box in each row.

	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1) Little interest or pleasure in doing things				
2) Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless				
3) Feeling sad				
4) Feeling nervous, anxious or on edge				
5) Not being able to stop or control worrying				
6) Worrying too much about different things				
7) Becoming easily annoyed or irritable				
8) Trouble relaxing				
9) Being so restless that it is hard to sit still				
10) Feeling afraid as if something awful might happen				
11) Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much				
12) Feeling tired or having little energy				
13) Poor appetite or overeating				
14) Feeling bad about yourself—or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down				
15) Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television				
 Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. 				
17) Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself in some way				
If you were bothered by any of these problems, how difficult have they made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?	N S V E	lot at all dif omewhat d /ery difficult extremely dif	ficult lifficult fficult	

Please read the following statements. To the right of each you will find seven numbers, ranging from "1" (Strongly Disagree) on the left to "7" (Strongly Agree) on the right. Tick the box below the number which best indicates your feelings about that statement. For example, if you strongly disagree with a statement, click the circle below "1". If you are neutral, click "4", and if you strongly agree, click "7", etc. You must answer every question to submit the test for scoring.

		Strong disagr	gly ee				St	rongly agree
1.	I usually manage one way or another.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.	I feel proud that I have accomplished things in life.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
З.	I usually take things in stride.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.	I am friends with myself.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5.	I feel that I can handle many things at a time.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6.	I am determined.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7.	I can get through difficult times because I've experienced difficulty before.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8.	I have self-discipline.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9.	I keep interested in things.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
10.	I can usually find something to laugh about.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
11.	My belief in myself gets me through hard times.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
12.	In an emergency, I'm someone people can generally rely on.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
13.	My life has meaning.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
14.	When I'm in a difficult situation, I can usually find my way out of it.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Section F. Smoking:

F1)	Wh	ich of the following best applies to you?		
	a.	I have never been a smoker (i.e. smoked for	a year or n	nore)
	b.	I smoke cigarettes (or hand-rolled) every day	y	
	C.	I smoke cigarettes (or hand-rolled), but not	every day	
	d.	I do not smoke cigarettes at all, but I do sm of some kind (eg. pipe/cigar)	oke tobacco	C
	e.	I used to smoke but have stopped smoking	completely	
	f.	If you are an ex-smoker how old were you v stopped smoking? (If you cannot remember age, please provide an estimate)	when you r the exact	
				years old
	lf y	you have never smoked, please move on	to section	G.
	lf y	ou are a current or ex-smoker, please an	swer thes	e questions:
F2)	WI	nat age did you start smoking?		years old
	Wł cig	nen you smoked the most, how many arettes did you smoke a day?		
E2)				
F3)	lf y of (ple	you have tried or managed to quit smoki the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply)	ng: which, I you use?	if any,
F3)	lf y of (ple Nic	you have tried or managed to quit smoki the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply) notine replacement product (eg. patches/gum	ng: which, I you use? ı/inhaler)	if any,
F3)	lf y of (ple Nic Zyt	you have tried or managed to quit smoki the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply) totine replacement product (eg. patches/gum ban (bupropion) or Champix (varenicline)	ng: which, I you use? //inhaler)	if any,
F3)	lf y of (pla Nic Zyt	you have tried or managed to quit smoking the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply) notine replacement product (eg. patches/gum ban (bupropion) or Champix (varenicline) neended a Stop Smoking group or support ses	ng: which, I you use? //inhaler) sion	if any,
F3)	lf y of (ple Nic Zyt Att Use (e.)	you have tried or managed to quit smoking the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply) totine replacement product (eg. patches/gum ban (bupropion) or Champix (varenicline) tended a Stop Smoking group or support sess ed alternative or complementary therapies g. hypnotherapy or acupuncture)	ng: which, I you use? /inhaler) sion	if any,
F3)	lf y of (ple Nic Zyt Att Use (e.)	you have tried or managed to quit smoking the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply) totine replacement product (eg. patches/gum ban (bupropion) or Champix (varenicline) tended a Stop Smoking group or support sess ed alternative or complementary therapies g. hypnotherapy or acupuncture) ed Electronic cigarettes	ng: which, I you use? /inhaler) sion	if any,
F3)	lf y of (pla Nic Zyt Att Usa (e.g Usa Ott	you have tried or managed to quit smoking the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply) totine replacement product (eg. patches/gum ban (bupropion) or Champix (varenicline) tended a Stop Smoking group or support sess ed alternative or complementary therapies g. hypnotherapy or acupuncture) ed Electronic cigarettes her (please specify)	ng: which, I you use? /inhaler) sion	if any,
F3)	lf y of (ple Nic Zyt Atti Use (e.t Use Otti No	you have tried or managed to quit smoking the following smoking cessation aids did ease tick all that apply) notine replacement product (eg. patches/gum ban (bupropion) or Champix (varenicline) tended a Stop Smoking group or support sess ed alternative or complementary therapies g. hypnotherapy or acupuncture) ed Electronic cigarettes her (please specify) ne	ng: which, I you use? /inhaler) sion	if any,

F4)	At your most recent serious quit attempt did you cut down before trying to stop?Cut down firstStopped without cutting downDon't know/can't rememberNever tried to quit
F5)	Do you use electronic cigarettes? YES NO If no, please go to F7
F6)	If you do use electronic cigarettes is this: (please tick all that apply) Because I have stopped smoking and use it as a substitute for cigarettes As well as tobacco cigarettes To help me give up tobacco cigarettes In places where tobacco smoking is not allowed Because I prefer electronic cigarettes Other reason (please state)
F7)	If you have ever quit and restarted, why did you start smoking again? (e.g. stressful life event, just started again one night in the pub) Please give more than one reason if you've restarted more than once).

If you are a current smoker, please answer these questions. If you do not currently smoke please move on to section G:											
F8)	F8) If you currently smoke, how many cigarettes per day do you usually smoke?										
	Cigarettes			how	mar	ny are	e har	nd ro	lled?		
	How much spend on to	mone obacco	y do y in a v	ou th veek	iink y ?	/ou			£		
F9)	Which of the following best describes you?										
	I want to st	top sm	oking	andi	inten	d to	do s	o soc	on		
	I want to st	top sm	oking	but ł	naver	n't th	ougl	ht ab	out	when	n –
	l don't war	nt to st	op sm	oking	9						
	Don't know	v									
F10)) Thinking a	about	stopp	ing s	smol	king	nov	<i>ı</i> :			
	a. How in (circle c	nportai one nu	nt is it mber)	for y	ou to	o sto	p sm	okin	g at i	this t	ime?
	Not at all	1 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Very Much
	b. How m	nuch do	o you i	nten	d to	stop	smo	king	?		
	Not at all	12	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Very Much
	c. How co	onfider	nt are y	you t	hat y	ou v	vill b	e abl	e to	stop	smoking?
	Not at all	1 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	Very Much

F11) Has your GP advised you to stop smoking in the past year (i.e. last 12 months)?				
YES	NO	UNSURE		
F12) If your GP which of t	spoken to you about sn nese best described wh	noking in the past year at happened?	;	
My GP raise to stop smo	d the topic of smoking ar king	id advised me		
My GP raise of a prescrip	d the topic of smoking to otionor help from a stop-s	gether with the offer moking advisor		
Neither of t	hese			
Don't know				
Other (pleas	ie state)			
F13) If you have attempts to (By serious a smoked agai please includ	e tried to stop smoking, o stop smoking have yo ttempt, you decided that yo in. Please include any attem le any successful attempt m	how many serious ou made in the last 12 r ou would try to make sure opt that you are currently m nade within the last year)	months? you never naking and	

Section G. Respiratory symptoms:

St G	eorge's Respiratory Questionnaire	
	This questionnaire is designed to help how your breathing is troubling you as We are using it to find out which aspe you most problems, rather than what think your problems are.	us learn much more about nd how it affects your life. cts of your illness cause the doctors and nurses
	Please read the instructions carefully a understand anything. Do not spend to your answers.	nd ask if you do not o long deciding about
	Before completing the rest of the o	questionnaire:
	Please tick in one box to show how current health:	you describe your
	Very good Good Fair	Poor Very poor
	Questions about how much chest t past 3 months.	rouble you have had over the
	Please tick one box for each question:	
1.	Over the past 3 months, I have cou	ighed:
	most days a week	only with chest infections
	several days a week	not at all
	a few days a month	
2.	Over the past 3 months, I have bro	ught up phlegm (sputum):
	most days a week	only with chest infections
	several days a week	not at all
	a few days a month	

3.	Over the past 3 mont	hs, I have ha	d shortness of breath:	
	most days a week		only with chest infections	
	several days a week		not at all	
	a few days a month			
4.	Over the past 3 mont	hs, I have ha	d attacks of wheezing:	
	most days a week		only with chest infections	
	several days a week		not at all	
	a few days a month			
5.	During the past 3 mo attacks of chest troub	nths how ma ble have you	any severe or very unplease had? Please tick one:	ant
	more than 3 attacks		1 attack	
	3 attacks		no attacks	
	2 attacks			
6.	How long did the wo (Go to question 7 if you	rst attack of I had no sever	chest trouble last? e attacks)	
	Please tick one:			
	a week or more		1 or 2 days	
	3 or more days		less than a day	
7.	Over the past 3 mont (with little chest trou	hs, in an ave ble) have yo	rage week, how many goo u had?	d days
	Please tick one:			
	no good days		nearly every day is good	
	1 or 2 good days		every day is good	
	3 or 4 good days			
8.	If you have a wheeze Please tick one:	, is it worse	in the morning?	
	No		Yes	

These questions ask about chest problems. If you have not had any chest problems please still answer every question and simply tick the appropriate boxes (e.g. "False" or "Causes no problem").

Section 1

How would you describe your chest condition?	
Please tick one:	
The most important problem I have	
Causes me quite a lot of problems	
Causes me a few problems	
Causes no problem	
If you have ever had paid employment.	
Please tick one:	
My chest trouble made me stop work altogether	
My chest trouble interferes with my work or made	
me change my work	
ivily chest trouble does not affect my work	

Section 2

Questions about what activities usually make you feel breathless these days.			
Please tick in each box that applies to you these days	:		
	True	False	
Sitting or lying still			
Getting washed or dressed			
Walking around the home			
Walking outside on the level			
Walking up a flight of stairs			
Walking up hills			
Playing sports or games			

Section 3

Some more questions about your cough and breathlessness these days. Please tick in each box that applies to you these days:

	True	False
My cough hurts		
My cough makes me tired		
I am breathless when I talk		
I am breathless when I bend over		
My cough or breathing disturbs my sleep		
I get exhausted easily		

Section 4

Questions about other effects that your chest trouble may have on you these days.

Please tick in each box that applies to you these days:

	True	False
My cough or breathing is embarrassing in public		
My chest trouble is a nuisance to my family, friends or neighbours		
l get afraid or panic when I cannot get my breath		
I feel that I am not in control of my chest problem		
l do not expect my chest to get any better		
I have become frail or an invalid because of my chest		
Exercise is not safe for me		
Everything seems too much of an effort		

Section 5

 Questions about your medication, if you are receiving no medication
 medication 6.

 Please tick in each box that applies to you these days:
 True

 True
 False

 My medication does not help me very much
 I

 I get embarrassed using my medication in public
 I

 I have unpleasant side effects from my medication
 I

 My medication interferes with my life a lot
 I

Section 6

These are questions about how your activities might be affected by your breathing.				
Pleas	Please tick in each box that applies to you because of your breathing:			
		True	False	
	I take a long time to get washed or dressed			
	l cannot take a bath or shower, or l take a long time			
	I walk slower than other people, or I stop for rests			
	Jobs such as housework take a long time, or I have to stop for rests			
	If I walk up one flight of stairs, I have to go slowly or stop			
	If I hurry or walk fast, I have to stop or slow down			

	True	False
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as walk up hills, carrying things up stairs, light gardening such as weeding, dance, play bowls or play golf		
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as carry heavy loads, dig the garden or shovel snow, jog or walk at 5 miles per hour, play tennis or swim		
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as very heavy manual work, run, cycle, swim fast or play competitive sports		

Section 7

We would like to know how your chest usually affects your daily life.

Please tick in each box that applies to you because of your chest trouble:

	True	False
I cannot play sports or games		
I cannot go out for entertainment or recreation		
I cannot go out of the house to do the shopping		
I cannot do housework		
I cannot move far from my bed or chair		

Here is a list of other activities that your chest trouble may prevent you doing. (You do not have to tick these, they are just to remind you of ways in which your breathlessness may affect you):

Going for walks or walking the dog

Doing things at home or in the garden

Sexual intercourse

Going out to church, pub, club or place of entertainment

Going out in bad weather or into smoky rooms

Visiting family or friends or playing with children

Please write in any other important activities that your chest trouble may stop you doing:

Now would you tick in the box (one only) which you think best describes how your chest affects you:

It does not stop me doing anything I would like to do	
It stops me doing one or two things I would like to do	
It stops me doing most of the things I would like to do	
It stops me doing everything I would like to do	

Section G, Respiratory Symptoms, Copyright reserved, Professor PW Jones, St George's University of London

Section H. Thoughts about lung health: Please read the following statements and indicate, by ticking the most appropriate box, whether you agree with the statement:

H1) Most smokers will develop lung disease	
Strongly agree	
Tend to agree	
Unsure	
Tend to disagree	
Strongly disagree	
H2) Smoking increases the risk of heart disease	
Strongly agree	
Tend to agree	
Unsure	
Tend to disagree	
Strongly disagree	
H3) Only people who are old or overweight or pregnant die of the 'flu	
Strongly agree	
Tend to agree	
Unsure	
Tend to disagree	
Strongly disagree	

H4)	Having the 'flu vaccine:	
	Means I can't catch the 'flu at all this year:	
	Strongly agree	
	Tend to agree	
	Unsure	
	Tend to disagree	
	Strongly disagree	
	Means I can still get the 'flu, but it might be less se	vere.
	Strongly agree	vere.
	Tend to agree	
	Unsure	
	Tend to disagree	
	Strongly disagree	
	Shongiy disagree	
	Will make me feel terrible:	
	Strongly agree	
	Tend to agree	
	Unsure	
	Tend to disagree	
	Strongly disagree	

1 5)	Having the pneumococcal vaccine (Pneumovax or Previ	nar):
	Means I won't ever get pneumonia in the future:	
	Strongly agree	
	Tend to agree	
	Unsure	
	Tend to disagree	
	Strongly disagree	
	for a few years:	
	Strongly agree	
	Tend to agree	
	Unsure	
	Tend to disagree	
	Strongly disagree	
	Will make me feel terrible	
	Strongly agree	
	Tend to agree	
	Unsure	
	Tend to disagree	
	Strongly disagree	

ŀ

Appendix 2: Publications arising from this thesis.

The following published manuscripts and presented conference abstracts are reproduced here:

Published manuscripts:

- 1. Brown J, Roy A, Harris R, Filson S, Johnson M, Abubakar I, Lipman M Respiratory symptoms in people living with HIV and the effect of antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax. 2017 Apr;72(4):355-366.
- Brown J, McGowan J, Chouial H, Capocci S, Smith C, Ivens D, Johnson M, Sathia L, Shah R, Lampe FC, Rodger A, Lipman M Respiratory health status is impaired in UK HIV-positive adults with virologically suppressed HIV infection. HIV Med. 2017 Sep;18(8):604-612
- Pickett E, Brown J, van Schalkwyk M, Hunter A, Edwards K, Edwards S, Marshall N, Swaden L, Burns F, Johnson M, Lipman M Access to influenza immunisation services by HIV-positive patients in the UK. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. 2018 Jul;12(4):544-546

Conference abstracts:

- JP Brown, J McGowan, H Chouial, S Capocci, C Smith, D Ivens, F Lampe, M Johnson, L Sathia, A Rodger, M Lipman P226 Impaired respiratory health status in the UK HIV infected population despite the use of antiretroviral therapy Thorax Dec 2015, 70 (Suppl 3) A191; presented at British Thoracic Society winter meeting 2015
- C Kyriacou, N Stewart, A Melville, J Brown, K Edwards, R Lloyd, M Johnson, J Flint, A Rodger, M Lipman S81 Feasibility and uptake of enhanced smoking cessation services within ambulatory HIV care Thorax Dec 2015, 70 (Suppl 3) A47-A48; presented at British Thoracic Society winter meeting 2015
- James Brown, Jennifer McGowan, Hende Choual, Santino Capocci, Colette Smith, Daniel Ive ns, Fiona Lampe, Margaret Johnson, Alison Rodger, Marc Lipman Attitudes to smoking and quitting in UK HIV positive adults: Would more education help? European Respiratory Journal 2016 48: PA4603
- Elisha Pickett, May Van Schalkwyk, James Brown, Kelly Edwards, Neal Marshall, Sarah Edwards, Leenah Sathia, Maragaret Johnson, Marc Lipman Provision of influenza immunisation for UK HIV positive adults European Respiratory Journal Sep 2016, 48 (suppl 60) PA2606;
- James Brown, Elisha Pickett, Santino Capocci, Sara Madge, Mike Youle, Lucy Brookes, Marg aret Johnson, Swapna Mandal, John Hurst, Marc Lipman High frequency of unexplained breathlessness among UK HIV positive adults European Respiratory Journal Sep 2017, 50 (suppl 61) PA2601
- J Brown, E Pickett, C Smith, T Mahungu, D Lowe, S Madge, M Youle, M Sachikonye, M Johnson, J Hurst, T McHugh, I Abubakar and M Lipman Is there a difference in the frequency or severity of acute respiratory illness between HIV-positive and –negative individuals? British HIV Association conference, April 2018

- 7. J Brown, S Rofael, E Pickett, C Smith, I Abubakar, T McHugh, M Lipman: P191 No difference in the detection of pathogenic respiratory pathogens between HIV-positive individuals using ART and matched negative individuals: British HIV Association conference, April 2018
- 8. J Brown, E Pickett, C Smith, S Rofael, T Mahungu, D Lowe, S Madge, M Youle, M Johnson, JR Hurst, T McHugh, I Abubakar, M Lipman The Effect of HIV Status on the Frequency of Acute Respiratory Illness: A longitudinal Cohort Study: American Thoracic Society conference, May 2018.

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Respiratory symptoms in people living with HIV and the effect of antiretroviral therapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis

James Brown, 1,2 Anjana Roy, 3 Ross Harris, 3 Sarah Filson, 1 Margaret Johnson, 1 Ibrahim Abubakar, 3,4 Marc Lipman^{1,2}

 Additional material is published online only. To view please visit the journal online (http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/ thoraxjnl-2016-208657).

Departments of HIV and Respiratory Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation trust, London, UK ²UCL Respiratory, Division of Medicine, University College London, London, UK ³Public Health England, London, UK Department of Infection and Population Health, University College London, London, UK

Correspondence to Dr James Brown, Department of HIV and Respiratory Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London NW3 2QG, UK; James.brown13@nhs.net

Received 4 April 2016 Revised 17 August 2016 Accepted 5 September 2016 Published Online First 24 October 2016

CrossMark

To cite: Brown J. RoyA, Harris R, et al. Thorax 2017;72:355-366.

BMJ

ABSTRACT

Background Antiretroviral therapy (ART) has significantly altered the pattern of acute and chronic HIV-related disease. However, it is not clear what this means in terms of respiratory symptoms. We sought to investigate the association between HIV status and respiratory symptoms and how these have changed with the availability of ART.

Methods We searched Cochrane, Medline and Embase databases for studies published between 1946 and August 2015 comparing the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in populations with and without HIV infection. We undertook random effects meta-analysis of the main symptoms reported. We studied heterogeneity and completed sensitivity analyses and funnel plots. Results From 5788 unique references identified, 24 papers provided relevant data: 18 documented the prevalence of cough and 11 examined the prevalence of breathlessness among other symptoms reported. Compared with the HIV negative, people living with HIV (PLWH) were more likely to have respiratory symptoms with pooled ORs for the prevalence of cough of 3.05 (95% CI 2.24 to 4.16) in resource-limited populations without access to ART; 2.18 (1.56 to 3.18) in resourcerich populations without access to ART and 1.11 (0.99 to 1.24) in resource-rich populations with access to ART. In resource-rich settings, although the availability of ART was associated with a reduction in the difference between HIV-positive and HIV-negative individuals, PLWH were more likely to report breathlessness, OR 1.39 (95% CI 1.11 to 1.73).

Conclusions Respiratory symptoms are more common in PLWH than controls. This association persists although at a reduced level in populations with access to ART.

INTRODUCTION

Antiretroviral therapy (ART) has altered the natural history of HIV-associated respiratory illness such that acute, life-threatening opportunistic respiratory infections (eg, Pneumocystis pneumonia) are much less common. This has reduced the incidence of AIDS-related respiratory pathology, for instance, there is clear evidence of a reduction in the incidence of TB after ART in all CD4 count strata. This means that HIV infection can be a manageable chronic illness, with people on ART having a life expectancy approaching that of the general population.2 However, HIV-positive people appear to continue to have an increased frequency of respiratory

Key messages

What is the key question?

 Are respiratory symptoms more common in people living with HIV, and what effect has antiretroviral therapy had on this?

What is the bottom line?

 Our study suggests that respiratory impairment remains more common in HIV-positive adults despite the use of antiretroviral therapy.

Why read on?

 This is the first systematic evaluation of existing evidence regarding respiratory symptoms in people living with HIV, summarising the current evidence base and highlighting where deficiencies in this exist.

illness compared with the general population.3 This is important given that respiratory conditions are likely to become more common as populations age.

There is evidence from multiple sources of lung function impairment in people with long-standing HIV infection.4 5 Although most current evidence comes from cohorts in the USA or Europe and less is known about populations in other settings, higher rates of respiratory pathology despite antiretroviral treatment have been a consistent finding of studies in HIV-positive populations.6-8 There are likely to be several reasons for this, including higher rates of smoking and recreational drug use, lung injury occurring prior to antiretroviral treatment and possible consequences of the ongoing immune activation and disordered immune responses associated with HIV.5

Although objective impairment of lung function has received considerable recent attention, less attention has been paid to the symptoms that such individuals may experience. This is important, as lung function impairment can correlate poorly with symptoms and functional status.10 We sought, therefore, to provide a comprehensive analysis of existing data regarding respiratory symptoms in people living with HIV with the aim of understanding how this might have changed with ART, and where deficiencies in the current evidence base exist.

Brown J, et al. Thorax 2017;72:355-366. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208657



Respiratory epidemiology

We provide a systematic review of the evidence regarding respiratory symptoms from population-based studies directly comparing HIV-positive and HIV-negative individuals with or without ART in both resource-limited and resource-rich settings, and a meta-analysis of the effect of HIV infection on the prevalence of these symptoms.

METHODS

Search strategy

Our aim was to evaluate evidence regarding the relative frequency of respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive and HIV-negative populations. We chose search terms that would capture any respiratory symptom (excluding those arising from pathology of the ear, or of obstructive sleep apnoea). We did not seek to set rigid definitions, for instance, regarding the duration of symptoms required to distinguish chronic from acute cough, and instead used those provided by the investigators of the primary studies. This review was registered with the PROSPERO database and details of the protocol are available (PROSPERO 2015:CRD42015013762).

We completed a systematic literature search of publications in the MEDLINE, EMBASE, Cochrane and CINAHL databases between 1946 and August 2015, as well as search of abstracts from the Conference of Retroviruses and Opportunistic Infections and International AIDS Society and American Thoracic Society conferences since 1982 where available. Searches were limited to humans and there was no language limitation.

Search terms included 'HIV' OR 'Human Immunodeficiency virus' OR 'AIDS' AND 'Signs and symptoms, respiratory' (MeSH heading) OR 'cough' OR 'breathless' OR 'dyspnea' OR 'haemoptysis' OR 'short of breath' (see online supplementary appendix 1).

Study selection

Studies were included if they were published in peer-reviewed journals and included both HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants, measured respiratory symptoms in each group and provided quantitative data. All age groups were included in the review and there were no language restrictions.

Exclusion criteria were as follows: studies reporting symptoms of obstructive sleep apnoea (such as hypersomnolence); studies reporting symptoms arising from the ear (such as ear pain, discharge or hearing change); studies that did not include HIV-negative individuals; and studies reporting data with the intention of describing a specific condition (eg, TB, bacterial or *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia) rather than the occurrence of symptoms within the general or HIV-positive population. This included studies evaluating hospital in-patients alone, as these would not be representative of the population as a whole. We did not exclude population-based studies if, by chance, they contained people with prevalent respiratory conditions as part of the general (HIV-positive or HIV-negative) population under test.

Data extraction

All abstracts were independently reviewed by two members of the review team. Shortlisted full-text articles were then jointly reviewed by two reviewers based on the inclusion/exclusion criteria. Where necessary, discrepancies were resolved by discussion with a senior member of the team.

Data were extracted on the following study characteristics: study design, date of study, age and gender of participants, prevalence of tobacco smoking, risk of acquisition of HIV geographical location(s) of study, number of HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants, frequency of respiratory symptoms, description of respiratory symptoms/tool used to evaluate, availability of antiretroviral treatment, treatment provided for the respiratory illness, level of immunocompromise in the HIV-positive group (eg, median blood CD4 count).

The risk of bias in observational studies was assessed using a modified Newcastle Ottawa Scale (see online supplementary appendix 2);¹¹ the version used by Herzog *et al* for the evaluation of cross-sectional studies was modified with criteria selected appropriate to this field.¹² This scale awarded up to eight points to each study: three points for the adequate selection of participants, three points for comparability of the HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants included in the study and two points for the assessment of symptoms and reporting of statistical tests. In this scale, stars are awarded for higher scores in each criterion, giving a total score out of a possible 8 stars. We defined studies of high quality as those that scored 6–8 stars, moderate quality 5 or 6 stars and low quality those with 0–3 stars.

Statistical analysis

The relative prevalence of respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive and HIV-negative groups was compared using ORs: although different definitions of symptoms were used by the investigators of the primary studies (meaning that the absolute prevalence of particular symptoms varied considerably), the relative frequency of symptoms in HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants could be compared by means of ORs, thus allowing estimation of the effect of HIV infection on the likelihood of having these symptoms.

Studies of adults were stratified by location of study into resource-limited and resource-rich settings (which also equated with high and low TB prevalence and high and low HIV prevalence settings) and availability of ART (as reported by the authors). This stratification was undertaken because the aetiology and determinants of respiratory illness were likely to differ between these settings. Studies evaluating children were not included in the quantitative synthesis as these represent a unique population and these studies were highly heterogeneous in methodology and outcome. Meta-analysis was conducted using RevMan V5.3 (The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014).

Pooled ORs for the presence of specific respiratory symptoms were calculated within each stratum wherever more than one study provided data. The DerSimonian and Laird random effects model was used to account for between-study heterogeneity. Statistical heterogeneity was assessed using the Cochran χ^2 test and the I² statistic was used to summarise the degree of variation; causes of heterogeneity were further explored by meta-regression. A priori factors chosen for meta-regression were the proportion of HIV-positive individuals with undetectable viral load and the log OR of smoking in HIV-positive versus HIV-negative groups. The possibility that small studies have more extreme results (due to reporting bias) was assessed by the visual inspection of funnel plots.

RESULTS

A total of 5788 publications were identified by our database search after removal of duplicate publications. Of these, 5596 were excluded after review of the article title and abstract. One hundred and ninety-two potentially relevant articles were reviewed in full text, of which 154 were excluded; reasons for exclusion are given in figure 1. Twenty-four publications were included in the final list for review (table 1). Using a modified Newcastle Ottawa Scale, 6 studies were rated as low quality, 14 as moderate quality and 4 as high quality (see online supplementary appendix 3).



Figure 1 Flow chart of study selection.

Characteristics of included studies and data presented

All studies included were observational studies, although two papers investigated cohorts recruited as part of randomised triak.^{20 24} With the exception of five studies following birth cohorts over time, all studies were either cross-sectional in nature or reported data arising from prospective cohorts at a single time point.

The earliest study recruited patients from 1985,¹⁵ with the most recent provided data collected in 2012.³² Eight articles reported research conducted in the USA (detailing 9 separate studies), with 12 studies conducted in Africa, 2 in Asia and 2 in Europe (both from Italy). Nineteen studies included adult patients and five evaluated infants only.

The presence of cough and breathlessness were the most common symptoms evaluated: data on cough were presented by 17 of 19 studies in adults. Definitions of cough varied, with the most common being the presence of cough for >2 weeks (tables 2–6). Frequency of breathlessness was reported by 11 studies. Usually this was defined only as the presence of 'dyspnoea', 'breathlessness' or 'shortness of breath', though four studies (all evaluating adults with access to ART) used the Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea score as a standardised measure.³⁵

Studies that examined respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive adults without access to ART

Twelve studies provided data regarding respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive adults without access to ART (tables 2 and 3).

Brown J, et al. Thorax 2017;72:355-366. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208657

All of these demonstrated a greater proportion of HIV-positive participants with respiratory symptoms. Five studies reported prevalence of breathlessness (two from the USA, others from Nigeria, Zimbabwe and India).

Three studies provided data on respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive populations in the first decade of the HIV epidemic in the USA. The Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study collected data from a cohort of MSM at four sites from 1985 onwards; el Sadr et al studied a cohort of injection drug users in New York and Diaz et al evaluated a cohort of predominantly white men in Ohio. Data on respiratory symptoms in these populations are presented in table 3.

Nine studies reported the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive and HIV-negative individuals without access to ART in resource-limited settings, and seven of these were in sub-Saharan African populations. The earliest of these used data from Rwanda collected in 1988, and the most recent was from Antwal *et al* in 2014. Only two studies evaluated populations outside of the USA and Africa (Kheaw-on *et al* in Cambodia and Antwal *et al* in India).

Studies that examined symptoms in HIV-positive children

Five studies reported the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive and HIV-negative children (table 4). All of these evaluated cohorts of vertically infected infants followed up from birth, and no studies assessed older children. The earliest was conducted in Rwanda from 1988 with subsequent work in

357

First author and reference	Year of publication	Design of study	Risk for HIV	Study location	Total number of participants	% HIV+	Respiratory data collected	Quality rating*
Lepage ¹³	1991	Cross-sectional	General population	Rwanda	431	50	Persistent cough >1 month	Moderate
el Sadr ¹⁴ Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study	1992	Prospective cohortf	IDU‡	AZU	223	56	Standardised symptom checklist (SCS22)	Moderate
Hoover ¹⁵ Multicentre ADS Cohort Study Visit 3	1993	Prospective cohortf	MSM	ASU	2854	29	New or unusual cough	Moderate
Hoover-visit 7	1993	Prospective cohortf	MSM	USA	2627	29	New or unusual cough	
Norrgren ¹⁶	1998	Cross-sectional	General population	Guinea-Bissau	2215	9	Cough >1 month	Moderate
Spira ¹⁷	1999	Prospective (birth) cohort	Vertical transmission	Rwanda	401	13	Persistent cough	Moderate
Olayinka ¹⁰	1999	Prospective (birth) cohort	Vertical transmission	Zimbabwe	272	16	Cough since last review	Low
Nilses ¹⁹	2000	Cross-sectional	General population	Zimbabwe	1213	22	Dyspnoea, cough	Moderate
Taha ²⁰	2000	Prospective (birth) cohort	Vertical transmission	Makwi	808	24	History of wheezy illness collected at dinic appointments	Moderate
Diaz ²¹	2003	Cross-sectional	MSM	USA	379	86	ATS-DLD-78 questionnaire‡	Moderate
Galli ²²	2003	Prospective (birth) cohort	Vertical transmission	Italy	2060	4	Retraction of intercostal muscles, wheezes, cough, active nasal flaring or rales at follow-up visits	Low
Lewis ²³	2009	Cross-sectional	General population	South Africa	1955	29	New or worsening cough (>2 weeks or >3 weeks) Haemoptysis	Moderate
Read ²⁴	2009	Prospective (birth) cohort	Vertical transmission	Malawi, Tanzania, Zambia	1317	6	Chronic cough (>14 days)	Moderate
Khasw-On ²⁵	2009	Cross-sectional	General population	Thailand	210	50	History of chronic cough	Low
Corbett ²⁶	2010	Cross-sectional	General population	Zimbabwe	8979	21	Cough <2 weeks. Cough >3 weeks, haemoptysis	Low
Drummond ²⁷ ALIVE cohort	2010	Prospective cohort#	IDU	USA	974	30	Modified ATS-DLD-78 MRC dyspnoea scale	High
Onyedum ²⁰	2010	Cross-sectional	General	Nigeria	200	50	Cough, cough with sputum, breathlessness, wheezing	Low
Gounder ²⁹	2011	Cross-sectional	General	South Africa	3937	37	Cough >2 weeks. Sputum production	Moderate
Crothers [®] Lung HIV Study	2013	Prospective cohort#	Mixed	USA	589	51	Usual cough/phlegm, wheezing (ATS-DLD-78) MRC dysproce scale	High
Fitzpatrick ⁷ WHIS	2013	Prospective cohort#	Mixed	USA	99	64	ATS-DLD questionnaire	High
Madeddu ³⁰	2013	Cross-sectional	MSM	Italy	176	63	Symptom questionnaire MRC dyspnoea scale	Moderate
Antwal ³¹	2014	Cross-sectional	Not detailed	India	1546	35	Breathlessness, cough with soutum	Moderate

able 1	continued														
irst author eference	rand	Year of publication	Design	of stud	y Risk	for HIV Stu	ly location	Total number participants	rof % HIV+	Respiratory data	collected			Quality rating*	
ampo ³² XHALE sub:	study, VACS	2014	Prospective cohortf		rtf Mixed	Mixed USA		340	53	Chronic cough (for most days for 3 months or more per year for >1 year), chronic phlegm, wheeze, MRC dyspnoas scale				Moderate	
ingo ³³ (MA	(3)	2014	Prospec	tive coho	rtt MSM	USA		1895	48	ATS-DLD-78 questio	nnaire			High	
ngo (WIHS	a)	2014	Prospec	spective cohort† Mixed USA 1976			71	ATS-DLD-78 questio	nnaire						
lisinghe ³⁴ ison cohor	t	2014	Cross-s	ectional	Gene popul	ral Sour lation	h Africa	846	25	Chronic cough (>1	4 days)			Low	
able 2	Respiratory sy Year of	ymptoms in reso	urce-lim Total	nited set	ttings with	out access to A Mean/median	RT % HIV+	% HIV-	Definition of coug	h %HV+	% HIV-	Definition of	% HIV+ with	% HIV- w	
ble 2 st thor	Respiratory sy Year of publication	ymptoms in reso Study location	urce-lim Total N	nited se % HIV+	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%)	out access to A Mean/median blood CD4*	RT % HIV+ Smokers	% HIV- smokers	Definition of coug	h % HIV+ with cough	% HIV- with cough	Definition of breathlessness	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV— v breathless	
ble 2 tt hor age ¹³	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991	ymptoms in reso Study location Rwanda	urce-lim Total N 431	nited set % HIV+ 50	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0	out access to A Mean/median blood CD4* 24% CD4:CD8 <0.5	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR	% HIV— smokers NR	Definition of coug used Pensistent cough >1 month	h % HIV+ with cough 14	% HIV- with cough 7	Definition of breathlessness	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV- v breathless	
ble 2 t hor age ¹³ rgren ¹⁶	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 1998	ymptoms in reso Study Iocation Rwanda Guinea-Bissau	urce-lim Total N 431 2215	nited set % HIV+ 50 9	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0	out access to A Mean/median blood CD4* 24% CD4:CD8 <0.5 715 (mon) 430 (women)	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR NR	% HIV- smokers NR NR	Definition of coug used Pensistent cough >1 month Cough >1 month	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3	% HIV- with cough 7 1	Definition of breathles sne ss	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV— v breathless	
ble 2 tt age ¹³ ngren ¹⁶	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 1998 2000	ymptoms in reso Study location Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe	urce-lim Total 431 2215 1213	nited set <u>%</u> HIV+ 50 9 21	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0	out access to A Mean/median blood CD4* 24% CD4:CD8 <0.5 715 (men) 430 (women) NS	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR NR NR	% HIV- smokers NR NR	Definition of coug used Pensistent cough >1 month Cough >1 month Cough	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4	% HIV- with cough 7 1 2	Definition of breathles sne ss Dyspnoes	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV— v breathles	
ble 2 tt thor age ¹³ mgren ¹⁶ tes ¹⁹ tew-On ²³	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 1998 2000 2009	ymptoms in reso Study location Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe Thailand	urce-lim Total 431 2215 1213 210	nited set % HIV+ 50 9 21 50	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0 NR	out access to A Mean/median blood CD4* 24% CD4:CD8 <0.5 715 (men) 430 (women) NS 261	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR NR NR 36	% HIV smokers NR NR NR 15	Definition of coug used Pesistent cough >1 month Cough >1 month Cough History of chronic cough	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4 57	% HIV- with cough 7 1 2 31	Definition of breathles sness Dyspnoes	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV- 1 breathles	
ble 2 st thor age ¹³ rrgren ¹⁶ ses ¹⁹ swv-On ²³ vis ²³	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 1998 2000 2009 2009	Study location Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe Thailand South Africe	urce-lim Total N 431 2215 1213 210 1955	nited se % HIV+ 50 9 21 50 29 29	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0 NR NR	NR	RT % HIV+- Smokers NR NR NR 36 NR	% HIV smokers NR NR 15 NR	Definition of coug used Pensistent cough >1 month Cough >1 month Cough History of dronic cough New or womening cough, any duration	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4 57 4	% HIV with cough 7 1 2 31 2	Definition of breathles sness Dyspnoes	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV— v breathles	
ble 2 t hor age ¹³ rgren ¹⁶ es ¹⁹ ew-On ²⁵ ńs ²³	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 1998 2000 2009 2009	ymptoms in reso Study Iocation Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe Thailand South Africa	urce-lim Total N 431 2215 1213 210 1955	nited set <u>%</u> HIV+ 50 9 21 50 29	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0 NR NR	NR	RT %HIV+ Smokers NR NR NR 36 NR	% HIV- smokers NR NR 15 NR	Definition of coug used Pesistent cough >1 month Cough >1 month Cough History of dronic cough New or wowening cough, any duration >2 weeks	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4 57 4 2	% HIV with cough 7 1 2 31 2 1	Definition of breathles sness Dyspnoes	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV— breathles	
ble 2 t hor age ¹³ ngren ¹⁶ es ¹⁹ sw-On ²⁵ ńs ²³	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 2000 2009 2009	ymptoms in reso Study location Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe Thailand South Africa	urce-lim Total N 431 2215 1213 210 1955	nited set <u>%</u> HIV+ 50 9 21 50 29 29	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0 0 NR NR	out access to A Mean/median blood CD4* 24% CD4:CD8 <0.5 715 (men) 430 (women) N5 261 NR	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR NR NR 36 NR	% HIV smokers NR NR NR 15 NR	Definition of coug used >1 month Cough >1 month Cough History of chronic cough New or worsening cough, any duration >2 weeks	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4 57 4 2 2	% HIV- with cough 7 1 2 31 2 1 1 2	Definition of breathles sne ss Dyspnoes	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV- breathles	
ble 2 st age ¹³ rrgren ¹⁶ ses ¹⁹ asw-On ²⁵ vis ²³ bett ²⁶	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 1998 2000 2009 2009 2009	ymptoms in reso Study Iocation Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe Thailand South Africa Zimbabwe	urce-lim Total 431 2215 1213 210 1955 8979	nited set % HIV+ 50 9 21 50 29 21 20 21	ttings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0 0 NR NR NR	NR	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR NR NR 36 NR NR	% HIV smokers NR NR NR 15 NR NR	Definition of coug used >1 month Cough >1 month Cough >1 month New or wonsening cough, any duration >2 weeks Cough for 2 weeks of more	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4 57 4 2 2 2 2 2	% HIV- with cough 7 1 2 31 2 1 1 2	Definition of breathles sne ss Dyspnoes	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV breathles	
ble 2 tt thor age ¹³ rgren ¹⁶ ses ¹⁹ sew-On ²⁵ ris ²³ bett ²⁶ yedum ²⁸	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 2000 2009 2009 2010 2010	ymptoms in reso Study Iocation Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe Thaland South Africa Zimbabwe Nigeña	urce-lim Total N 431 2215 1213 210 1955 8979 200	nited set % HIV+ 50 9 21 50 29 21 50 29	tings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0 NR NR NR NR	NR 71% CD4 <200	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR NR NR NR NR NR NR 0	% HIV smokers NR NR NR 15 NR NR 0	Definition of coug used Penistent cough >1 month Cough >1 month Cough >1 History of chronic cough History of chronic cough, any duration >2 weeks >3 weeks Cough for 2 weeks o Cough of 2 weeks o	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4 57 4 57 4 2 2 2 or 8 48	% HIV with cough 7 1 2 31 2 1 1 2 8	Definition of breathlessness Dyspnoes Breathlessness	% HIV+ with breathlessness 1	% HIV- breathles	
thor st thor age ¹³ rngren ¹⁶ ses ¹⁹ sew-On ²⁵ wis ²³ tbett ²⁶ yedum ²⁸ under ²⁹	Respiratory sy Year of publication 1991 2000 2009 2009 2009 2010 2010 2011	ymptoms in reso Study Iocation Rwanda Guinea-Bissau Zimbabwe Thaland South Africa Zimbabwe Nigeria South Africa	urce-lim Total A31 2215 1213 210 1955 8979 200 3937	nited se <u>%</u> HIV+ 50 9 21 50 29 21 50 37	tings with HIV+ on ART (%) 0 0 NR NR NR NR 0 NR	NR NR 71% CD4 -200 333	RT % HIV+ Smokers NR NR 36 NR NR 0 NR	% HIV smokers NR NR 15 NR NR 0 NR	Definition of coug used Penistent cough >1 month Cough >1 month Cough 1 History of chronic cough New or worsening cough, any duration >2 weeks Cough for 2 weeks of Cough Cough for 2 weeks of Cough Cough for 2 weeks of	h % HIV+ with cough 14 3 4 57 4 57 4 2 2 or 8 48 or 7	% HIV with cough 7 1 2 31 2 1 1 2 8 4	Definition of breathlessness Dyspnom Breathlessness	% HIV+ with breathlessness 1	% HIV breathles	

Respiratory epidemiology

First author	Year	Study location	Total number of participants	% HIV+	Risk for HIV	HIV+ on ART (%)	Mean/ median blood CD4	% HIV+ Smokers	% HIV— smokers	Definition of cough use	% HIV+ with I cough	% HIV— with cough	Definition of breathlessness	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV— with breathlessnes
el Sadr ¹⁴	1992	USA	223	56	IDU	0	200-500	NR	NR	Persistent cough	17	7			
Hoover visit 3	3 ¹⁵ 1993	USA	2854	33	MSM	0	619	NR	NR	New or unusual cough	5	2	Persistent shortness of	1	2
loover-visit	1993	USA	2627	29	MSM	0	552	NR	NR	lasting >2 weeks	5	2	breath	3	2
Diaz	2003	USA	379	86	MSM	0	370	54	50%	Do you usually have a cough?	40	25	Are you troubled by shortness of breath when hurrying on the level or walking up a slight hill?	42	8
										Do you usually cough like this on most days For ≥3 consecutive mont of the year?	24	12	Do you have to walk slower than most people of your own age on the level ground because of breathlessness?	20	0
*Cells per m ART, antiretr	icolite. ovital therap	oy; IDU, injec	tion drug user; MS	M, men w	ho have se	x with men.									
*Gels per m ART, antiretr Table 4	icrolitre. oviral therap Studies ev Year of	oy; IDU, injec valuating (tion drug user, MS children (cohor	M, men w ts follow Total nur	tho have se wed up fro mber of	x with men. orn birth) %	% HIV+								
*Cells per m ART, antiretr Table 4 : First author	icrolitre. avital therap Studies ev Year of publicatio	valuating on St	tion drug uzer, MS children (cohor udy location	M, men w ts follow Total nur participa	wed up fr nber of nts	x with men. om birth) % HIV+	% HIV+ on ART	Duration of fo	ellow-up (fr	om birth) Respiratory	ista collecto	d	Notes/comm	ents	
*Cells per m ART, antiretr fable 4 : first suthor spira ¹⁷	icolite. wiral therap Studies ev Year of publicatio 1999	ey; IDU, injec valuating (on <u>St</u> Rw	tion drug uzer; MS children (cohor udy location) anda	M, men w ts follow Total nur participa 401	wed up fr nber of nts	x with men. orn birth) % HIV+ 13	% HIV+ on ART 0	Duration of fo Median 27 mor group), 51 mor group)	illow-up (fr nths (HIV-po nths (HIV-neg	om birth) Respiratory sitive Chronic coug sitive	iata collecto	d	Notes/comm Massured cur cough lating	ents nulative incidence >14 days	of developing a
*Cells per m ART, antiretr Table 4 : First author Spira ¹⁷ Dlaylinka ¹⁰	Studies ev Year of publication 1999	ey; IDU, injec valuating (on St Rw Zin	tion drug uzer; MS children (cohor udy location] anda nbabwe	M, men w ts follow Total nur participa 401 272	the have se wed up fr mber of mts	x with men. orn birth) <u>%</u> HIV+ 13 16	% HIV+ on ART 0	Duration of fo Median 27 mor group, 21 24 months	Now-up (fr nths (HIV-poo	om birth) Respiratory sitive Chronic coug gative Pensistent co	iata collecto (>14 days) gh	ल	Notes/comm Messured car cough lating	ents nulative incidence >14 days	of developing a
*Cells per m ART, ansint r Fable 4 : First author Diayinka ¹⁰ Taha ²⁰	Studies ev Year of publicatio 1999 2000	valuating (on <u>St</u> Rv Zin Ma	tion drug user, MS children (cohor udy location) enda nbabwe nbabwe	M, men w ts follow Total nur participa 401 272 689	the have se wed up fr mber of mts	x with men. om birth) % HIV+ 13 16 19	% HIV+ on ART 0 0	Duration of fo Median 27 mor group), 51 mor group) 24 months Median 18 mor	illow-up (fr nths (HIV-po nths	om birth) Respiratory citive Chronic coug gative Pessistent co Cough since	lata collecto (>14 days) gh est review	d	Notes/comm Messared car cough lating 2 HV-negativ infants and ur in esch.	ents nulative incidence >14 days e groups—exposed. Rate of	of developing a d uninfected cough the same
*Cells per m ART, ansietr Fable 4 : First suthor Spira ¹⁷ Diayinka ¹⁸ Taha ²⁰	Studies ev Year of publication 1999 2000 2003	valuating o on St Rw Zin Ma	sion drug uwer; MS children (cohor udy location anda nbabwe nbabwe by	M, men w ts follow Total nur participa 401 272 689 280	nberof nberof nts	x with men. om birth) % HIV+ 13 16 19 75	% HIV+ on ART 0 0 25	Duration of fo Median 27 mor group), 51 mor group) Median 18 mor 24 months	illow-up (fr nths (HIV-po nths (HIV-neg nths	om birth) Respiratory situe Chronic coug gative Pessistent co Cough since History of wi	lata collecto (>14 days) gh est review eszy illness c	ed sillected at d	Notes'comm Massared cur cough lating 2 HV-negativ infants and ur in esch. Presents prop illines in first	ents nulative incidence >14 days e groups—expose meposed. Rate of oution of infants w	of developing a d uninfected cough the same eth wheaty

Table 5 Stu	Table 5 Studies evaluating populations in resource-rich settings with access to ART														
Author	Year	Study location	Total number of participants	% HIV+	HIV+ on ART (%)	% undetectable HIV plasma load	Mean/ median blood CD4	% HIV+ smokers	% HIV— smokers	Definition of cough	% HIV+ with cough	% HIV— with cough	Definition of breathlessness	% HIV+ with breathlessness	% HIV— with breathlessness
Drummond ²⁷ ALIVE cohort	2010	USA	974	30	54	16.5	320	83	86	Cough present	3	29	MRC dyspnoea score ≥2	35	28
										Morning cough ≥4 days per	19	19	-		
										Morning cough ≥3 months	15	15			
Crothers [®] Lung HIV Study	2013	AZU	589	51	89	84	493	47	35	Unusual cough	28	20	MRC dyspnoea score ≥2	15	11
Fitzpatrick ⁷ WIHS	2013	USA	99	64	81	NS	426	46	50				Dyspnoea	35	31
Madeddu ³⁰	2013	Italy	176	63	78	71	541	57	58	Cough	32	14	MRC dyspnoea score ≥2	31	15
Campo ³² EXHALE substudy, VACS cohort	2014	USA	340	53	89	NS	431	64	58	Chronic cough	25	16	MRC dyspnoea score ≥2	25	16
Gingo ³³ MACS	2014	AZU	1896	48	77	70	572	31	23	Cough	42	38	Dyspnoea	14	9
Gingo WIHS	2014	AZU	1976	71	76	56	502	39	52	Cough	54	58	Dyspnoea	36	37

ART, antinetroviral therapy; MACS, Multi-Centre AIDS Cohort Study; VACS, Veterans Aging Cohort Study; WIHS, Women's Interagency HIV Study.

Respiratory epidemiology

Malawi and Zimbabwe. None of these study populations had access to ART.

One study evaluated symptoms in HIV-positive infants born in Chieti, Italy; this suggested a lower frequency of 'wheezy respiratory illness' in HIV-positive infants despite more maternal smoking, premature delivery, low birth rate and formula feeding. However, the design of the study (based on routine clinic records) did not allow appraisal of the possibility of differences in health-seeking behaviour or reporting of acute respiratory illness, which could bias the comparison of respiratory symptoms between the different groups.

Studies that examined respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive adults with access to ART

Six studies (using data from seven cohorts) reported on adults with access to ART. All were from resource-rich settings other than one from South Africa. Data on respiratory symptoms are presented in tables 5 and 6.

All contained a high proportion of current smokers in both the HIV-positive and HIV-negative groups and, where reported, often had high rates of former or ongoing recreational drug use.

The first systematic comparison of respiratory symptoms in a HIV-positive population with access to ART with HIV-negative comparators is provided by the AIDS Linked to the IntraVenous Experience (ALIVE) cohort of former and current injection drug users in Baltimore, Maryland, USA.²⁷ This found no difference in frequency of current cough, although a history of 'wheezing' was reported by 50% of HIV-positive and 37% of HIV-negative participants.

Several cohort studies have addressed respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive individuals with access to ART in the USA: the Women's Interagency HIV Study (WIHS); Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study and the EXHALE substudy of the Veterans Aging Cohort Study.^{3,2,36} Tobacco use was high in these cohorts, and smoking was more frequent in the HIV-positive than HIV-negative groups (reported in 39%–64% and 23%–58%, respectively). The prevalence of respiratory symptoms was high in these populations, for instance Fitzpatrick *et al*⁷ described breathlessness in 35% of HIV-positive and 31% HIV-negative participants in the WIHS study and Campo *et al* ³² reported cough in 25% of HIV-positive and 16% in HIV-negative participants in the EXHALE VACS substudy.

There is little information comparing respiratory symptoms in HIV-negative and HIV-positive individuals with access to ART outside of North America. The only study providing data from Europe documented the presence of any respiratory symptom in 47% HIV-positive participants and 23% of HIV-negative participants, with 32% vs 14% reporting cough (p=0.006) and 31% vs 15% breathlessness (p=0.02).³⁰ Telisinghe *et al*³⁴ evaluated a prison population in South Africa (with a 25% HIV prevalence) in which cough lasting 2 weeks or more was present in 13% of HIV-positive participants reported the use of ART.

The prevalence of tobacco smoking was only consistently reported in studies undertaken in resource-rich settings with access to ART. In all of these studies, a large proportion of both HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants were current smokers (see table 5), and this was similar across these groups.

Quantitative data synthesis

Data were available on 12 075 HIV-positive individuals compared with 24 450 individuals without HIV infection. The symptoms for which sufficient data were available to allow quantitative synthesis were cough and breathlessness. Figures 2 and 3 demonstrate the ORs for the presence of cough and breathlessness in those with and without access to ART and in resource-rich and resource-limited settings.

Meta-anaysis suggests that the availability of ART is associated with a reduction in the difference in prevalence of respiratory symptoms between HIV-positive and HIV-negative individuals, yet these remain more common in people living with HIV. There is little evidence regarding respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive populations in resource-limited settings. The pooled OR for the presence of cough in such populations without access to ART was 3.05 (95% CI 2.24 to 4.16, I^2 =68%); in resource-rich populations without access to ART, it was 2.18 (1.55 to 3.04 I^2 =0%), and in those from resource-rich settings with access to ART, the OR for the presence of cough was 1.26 (0.97 to 1.63) —although there was a substantial degree of heterogeneity in this analysis (I^2 =74%). Only one study reported frequency of cough in a high-prevalence setting with access to ART.³⁴

Breathlessness was also assessed, although fewer studies reported this. In resource-limited settings without access to ART, the OR for the presence of breathlessness was 7.5 (0.92 to 61.31, Γ^2 =83%). Only two studies were available from resource-rich settings without access to ART, and meta-analysis of these data provides an OR of 2.60 (0.25 to 26.93, Γ^2 =93%). In resource-rich settings with access to ART, there was good evidence for a higher rate of breathlessness in HIV-positive individuals with an OR of 1.39 (1.11 to 1.73, Γ^2 =52%).

Funnel plots were inspected to evaluate the possibility of reporting or publication bias where sufficient studies were available within each stratum of ART availability and location to make this useful. For the most part these did not suggest the presence of significant reporting bias (eg, see online supplementary figure S1) although this was possible for the apparent association between breathlessness in HIV-positive populations with access to ART (see online supplementary figure S2). As there were fewer than 10 studies within each stratum, quantitative tests of reporting bias were not used, in accordance with the Cochrane Handbook guidance.³⁷

Sensitivity analyses

Two studies (Onyedum 2010 and Antwal 2014) included in the analysis of respiratory symptoms in populations without access to ART were judged to be at high risk of bias due to the inclusion of significant numbers of participants presenting for care with acute respiratory illnesses due to their methodology (which involved recruitment within acute care services).³² ³³ Exclusion of these studies reduced somewhat the effect size for the prevalence of cough to an OR of 2.84 (2.45 to 3.30) as well as the heterogeneity in this analysis (I^2 =55%).

Four studies (all in populations with access to ART) used the MRC dyspnoea scale to measure breathlessness (see table 5). A meta-analysis including only studies using the MRC dyspnoea scale (with breathlessness defined as a score of ≥ 2) did not significantly change the effect size (compared with the analysis of all studies reporting the prevalence of breathlessness in populations with access to ART) but reduced heterogeneity significantly (OR for having MRC dyspnoea $\geq 2=1.50$, 95% CI 1.21 to 1.85, I²=0%, online supplementary figure S3).

The true effect of HIV status on respiratory symptoms may be exaggerated by the higher proportion of HIV-positive subjects who were current smokers in several of the included studies, as few studies provided data adjusted for smoking status. Meta-regression confirmed an association between higher rates of respiratory symptoms in studies with a greater imbalance of smokers versus non-smokers in the HIV-positive
Author	Year	Study location	Total number of participants	% HIV+	HIV+ on ART (%)	% Undetectable HIV plasma load	Mean/ median blood CD4	% HIV+ smokers	% HIV— smokers	Definition of cough	% HIV+ with cough	% HIV- with cough
Telisinghe ³⁴ Prison cohort	2014	South Africa	846	25	41	NS	NS	59	59	Cough >2 weeks	13	8



Figure 2 Forest plot of ORs for presence of cough, stratified by availability of ART and location. ART, antiretroviral therapy; MACS, Multicentre AIDS Cohort Study; WIHS, Women's Interagency HIV Study.

compared with HIV-negative group (data not shown). However, this had little impact on the estimated effect of HIV infection on the frequency of cough or breathlessness.

DISCUSSION

This systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrates that despite the availability of ART, HIV-positive populations continue to experience more respiratory symptoms than comparable HIV-negative groups, at least in resource-rich settings for which there are sufficient data to draw conclusions. It also highlights several research needs: in particular the lack of rigorous data concerning respiratory symptoms in HIV-positive populations in low-income and middle-income settings where the majority of the world's HIV-positive individuals live.

The successful provision of ART means that HIV-positive populations can expect considerable improvements in life expectancy;³⁸ however, ageing HIV-positive populations have more comorbidities and respiratory illness is likely to become increasingly important over time.³⁹ ⁴⁰ An improved understanding of the health needs of ageing HIV-positive populations is required,

Respiratory epidemiology

	HIV pos	sitive	HIV neg	ative	Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	Year	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Resource limite	d populati	ons wit	hout acce	ess to Al	RT		
Nilses 2000	3	249	9	889	1.19 [0.32, 4.44]	2000	
Onyedum 2010	32	100	0	100	95.36 [5.74, 1583.81]	2010	
Antwal 2014	23	548	5	998	8.70 [3.29, 23.02]	2014	
Subtotal (95% CI)		897		1987	7.50 [0.92, 61.31]		
Total events	58		14				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	2.69; Chi ² :	= 11.59,	df = 2 (P	= 0.003)	; I ² = 83%		
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.88 (P	= 0.06)					
Resource rich p	opulation	s withou	it access	to ART			
Hoover 1993 - Visit 3	12	838	34	2016	0.85 [0.44, 1.64]	1993	
Diaz 2003	136	327	4	52	8.54 [3.01, 24.26]	2003	
Subtotal (95% CI)		1165		2068	2.60 [0.25, 26.93]		
Total events	148		38				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	2.65; Chi ² :	= 14.32,	df = 1 (P	= 0.0002	2); I ² = 93%		
Test for overall effect:	Z = 0.80 (P	= 0.42)					
Resource rich p	opulation	s with a	ccess to	ART			
Drummond 2010	101	288	189	686	1.42 [1.06, 1.91]	2010	-
Crothers 2013	45	300	30	289	1.52 [0.93, 2.50]	2013	-
Fitzpatrick 2013	22	63	11	36	1.22 [0.51, 2.93]	2013	
Madeddu 2013	34	111	10	65	2.43 [1.11, 5.33]	2013	
Campo 2014	45	180	26	160	1.72 [1.00, 2.94]	2014	-
Gingo 2014 - MACS	123	907	93	989	1.51 [1.14, 2.01]	2014	-
Gingo 2014 - WIHS	508	1405	209	571	0.98 [0.80, 1.20]	2014	+.
Subtotal (95% CI)		3254		2796	1.39 [1.11, 1.73]		•
Total events	878		568				
Heterogeneity: Tau ² =	0.04; Chi2 :	= 12.61,	df = 6 (P	= 0.05);	I ^R = 52%		
Test for overall effect:	Z = 2.91 (P	= 0.004	0				
							0.01 0.1 1 10
							HIV negative HIV positive

Figure 3 OR for the presence of breathlessness, random effects meta-analysis stratified by location and availability of antiretroviral therapy.

as even in resource-rich settings, the impact of respiratory illness on individuals (measured by instruments designed to evaluate health-related quality of life) or at a societal health-economic level is evaluated infrequently in HIV-positive populations.

In resource-rich settings, HIV-positive populations often have greater cigarette and recreational drug use than the general population.⁴¹ ⁴² Interventions to reduce this are therefore important, given that there is accumulating evidence of increased rates of both cardiovascular and respiratory illness. In some high HIV prevalence settings, tobacco smoking is rising fast,⁴³ and attention should be given to the possibility that HIV-positive individuals may be particularly susceptible to the hammful effects of tobacco smoking.⁴⁴

Strengths of this analysis include a comprehensive search strategy and robust methods for study selection. Limitations include the lack of standardised assessments of respiratory symptoms in the primary studies, and incomplete reporting of important confounding factors (eg. smoking and recreational drug use), which may influence the effect sizes found. The incomplete reporting of exposures such as tobacco smoking and drug use in the original papers means that the extent to which the association identified between HIV status and respiratory symptoms is a direct result of the HIV virus is uncertain as we were not able to adjust for differing exposures to these possible confounding factors between HIV-positive and HIV-negative individuals. Another important limitation is that the data included in the quantitative meta-analyses were cross-sectional in nature and we cannot therefore infer causation from such studies. Bias or confounding in the primary studies may be one cause of the association between HIV status and respiratory symptoms found, and the strength of conclusions that can be

drawn is therefore limited by the paucity of evidence in many areas.

One difficulty when evaluating respiratory symptoms is the challenge of standardising assessments: The wide range in the reported frequency of respiratory symptoms arises in part from the diversity of methods used to evaluate them: the definitions used for symptoms such as cough or breathlessness were often not stated, and a minority of studies used validated tools such as the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire,⁴⁵ American Thoracic Society Division of Lung Disease questionnaire⁴⁶ or the MRC dyspnoea scale (see tables 2–6 for details of data collected in each study).³⁵ Furthermore, results were presented as the proportion/number with respiratory symptoms, with no study reporting estimates adjusted for potential confounders.

It is important to note that although populations may have access to ART, most studies include a significant proportion of participants who were either not using ART, or who do not have an undetectable viral load. We cannot therefore estimate the effect of HIV infection at an individual kevel in those with a favourable virological and immunological response to ART. Furthermore, most of the data regarding populations with access to ART derive from the USA and there is limited information from other settings. Exposures of importance that could lead to respiratory disease may differ in other locations, and the findings of the studies included in this review may not be generalisable for instance, to HIV-positive African populations using ART.

Our analysis suggests that despite the availability of ART, HIV-positive individuals are more likely to experience respiratory symptoms than those without HIV Part of the reason for this higher burden of symptoms is likely to be the greater prevalence of tobacco smoking and recreational drug use in many

Respiratory epidemiology

HIV-positive populations, particularly in resource-rich countries. However, direct HIV-related mechanisms may also play a role: although ART treatment achieves virological suppression for the majority of people treated, derangements of immune function pensist despite treatment, which include evidence of ongoing immunological activation, which may promote the development of comorbid disease.⁴⁷ There is growing evidence that this is clinically important for the development of cardiovascular disease.⁴⁸ and may also be relevant for respiratory pathology for instance, Attia *et al* demonstrated an association between soluble CD14 (a marker of immune activation) and radiological emphysema in HIV-positive adults.⁴

Interventions are required to address this health need. For populations with high levels of tobacco smoking, smoking cessation services should be prioritised. Earlier and more successful ART treatment may yield better lung health in the long term, although no significant differences in respiratory symptoms or lung function change were seen in HIV-positive adults with CD4 counts above 500 cells/µL randomised to early compared with deferred ART treatment in the recent START trial.⁴⁹

Furthermore, as highlighted in this review, there is little available evidence regarding the determinants of respiratory illness in HIV-positive individuals in resource-limited settings, where the majority of the world's HIV-positive individuals live.

Adxnowledgements We thank Ruth Muscat from the Royal Free Hospital library for assistance with database searches, and Monica Campo, Kristina Crothers, Jennifer Read and Jim Todd for providing their study data for analysis within this paper.

Contributors JB, AR, MJ, ML and IA planned the study, and JB is the guarantor of the work. JB, AR and SF undertook the literature review and selection of studies for inclusion in analysis. JB and AR undertook appraisal of the studies. JB and RH undertook statistical analysis. JB drafted the paper, and all authors revised and approved the final draft paper.

Funding JB is supported by an NIHR Doctoral Research Fellowship (DRF-2015-08-210).

Competing interests None.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

Open Access This is an Open Access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creative.commons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/

REFERENCES

- Suthar AB, Lawn SD, del Amo J, et al. Antiretroviral therapy for prevention of tuberculosis in adults with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* 2012;9:e1001270.
- Smith CJ, Ryom L, Weber R, et al. Trends in underlying causes of death in people with HIV from 1999 to 2011 (D:AD): a multicohort collaboration. Lancet 2014;384:241–8.
- Drummand MB, Krk GD. HIV-associated obstructive lung diseases: insights and implications for the clinician. *Larcet Respir Med* 2014;2:583–92.
- 4 Attia EF, Akgün KM, Wongtrakool C, et al. Increased risk of radiographic
- emphysema in HIV is associated with elevated soluble CD14 and nadir CD4. Chest 2014;146:1543-53.
- 5 Crothers K, Morris A. HIV infection and lung function decline: challenges, clinical implications, and new questions. AIDS 2013;27:1345–7.
- 6 Drummond MB, Huang L, Diaz PT, et al. Factors associated with abnormal spirometry among HIV-infected individuals. Aids 2015;29:1691–700.
- 7 Fitzpatrick ME, Gingo MR, Kessinger C, et al. HIV infection is associated with diffusing capacity impairment in women. J Acquir Immune Defit: Syndr 2013;64:284–8.
- Crothers K, McGimis K, Kleerup E, et al. HIV infection is associated with reduced pulmonary diffusing capacity. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013;64:271–8.
- 9 Almodovar S. The complexity of HN persistence and pathogenesis in the lung under antiretroviral therapy: challenges beyond ADS. Viral Immunol 2014;27:186–99.
- antiretroviral therapy: challenges beyond ADS. *Viral Immunol* 2014;27:186–99.
 Leung JM, Liu JC, Miambo A, et al. The determinants of poor respiratory health status in adults living with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *ADS Patient Care STDS* 2014;28:240–7.

- Wells GA, Shea B, O'connell D, et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of normandomised studies in meta-analyses, 2000. http://www.ohri.calprogramskc.inical_epidemiology/actord.asp
 Herzog R, Álvarez-Pasquin MU, Diaz C, Del Barrio JL, Estada JM, Gl Á. Are
- Herzog R, Álvarez-Pasquin MJ, Díaz C, Del Barrío JL, Estrada JM, GI Á. Are healthcare workers' intentions to vaccinate related to their knowledge, beliefs and attitudes? A systematic review. BMC Public Health 2013;13:154.
- 13 Lepage P, Dabis F, Hitimana DG, et al. Perinatal transmission of HIV-1: lack of impact of maternal HIV infection on characteristics of livebirths and on neonatal mortality in Kipal, Rwanda. AIDS 1991;5:295–300.
- 14 el-Sadt W, Goetz RR, Sonel S, et al. Clinical and laboratory conducts of human immunodeficiency virus infection in a cohort of intravenous drug users from New York, NY. Arch Intern Med 1992;152:1653–9.
- 15 Hoover DR, Sash AJ, Bacellar H, et al. Signs and symptoms of "asymptomatic" HV-1 infection in homosexual men. Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1993;6:66–71.
- 16 Norgren H, Da Silva ZJ, Andesson S, et al. Clinical features, immunological changes and mortality in a cohort of HIV-2-infected individuals in Bissau, Guinea-Bissau. Scand J Infect Dis 1998;30:323–9.
- Spira R, Lepage P, Msellati P, et al. Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in children: a five-year prospective study in Rwanda. Mother-to-Child HIV-1 Transmission Study Group. *Pediatrics* 1999;104:e56.
- 18 Olayirka BA, Obi CL. Symptomatic HIV-infection in infants according to serostatus of mothers during pregnancy. East Afr Med J 1999;76:566–70.
- Nises C, Nystrom L, Munjanja SP, et al. Symptoms and findings related to HV in women in rural Gutu District, Zimbabwe, 1992 to 1993. Cent Alt J Med 2000;46:242–6.
- 20 Taha TE, Graham SM, Kumwenda NI, et al. Morbidity among human immunodeficiency virus-1-infected and -uninfected African children. Pediatrics 2000;106:E77.
- 21 Diaz PT, Wevers MD, Pacht E, et al. Respiratory symptoms among HIV-seropositive individuals. CHEST 2003;123:1977–82.
- 22 Galii L, Sabatino G, Zappa M, et al. Reduced frequency of wheezing respiratory liness in infarts with perinatal human immunodeficiency virus-type 1 infection: a model for immunologic and inflammatory mechanisms of airway obstruction? Pediatr Alergy Immunol 2003;14:42–9.
- 23 Levis JJ, Charakmbous S, Day JH, et al. HV infection does not affect active case finding of tuberculosis in South African gold miners. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2009;180:1271–8.
- 24 Read JS, Mwatha A, Richardson B, et al. Primary HN-1 Infection among infants in sub-Saharan Africa: HPTN 024. J Acquir Immune Delic Syndr 2009;51:317–22.
- 25 Kheaw-on N, Kawkitharong K, Sittipunt C, et al. Bronchial hyperresponsiveness in HV patients with CD4 count less than 500 cells/µL. Asian Biomed 2010;3:255–60.
- 26 Corbett B, Zezai A, Cheung YB, et al. Provider-initiated symptom screening for tuberculosis in Zmbabwe: diagnostic value and the effect of HIV status. Bull World Health Organ 2010;88:13–21.
- 27 Drummond MB, Kirk GD, Ricketts EP, et al. Cross sectional analysis of respiratory symptoms in an injection drug user cohort: the impact of obstructive lung disease and HV. BMC Pulm Med 2010;10:27–27.
- 28 Onyedum CC, Chukwuka JC, Onwubere BJ, et al. Respiratory symptoms and ventilatory function tests in Nigerians with HIV infection. Alr Health Sci 2010;10:130–7.
- 29 Gounder CR, Wada NI, Kensler C, et al. Active tuberculosis case-finding among pregnant women presenting to antenatal clinks in Soweto, South Africa. J Acquir Immune Delic Syndr 2011;57:e77–84.
- Madeddu G, Fois AG, Calia GM, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an emerging comorbidity in HIV-infected patients in the HAART era? Infection 2013;41:347–53.
- 31 Antwal M, Gurjar R, Chidrawar S, et al. Clinical profile of HV infected patients attending a HN referral clinic in Pune, India. Indian J Med Res 2014;140:271–7.
- 32 Campo M, Dusler KK, Huang L, et al. Association of Chronic Cough and Pulmonary Function With 6-Minute Walk Test Performance in HV Infection. J Acquir Immune Delic Syndr 2014;65:557–63.
- 33 Gingo MR, Balasubramani GK, Kingsley L, et al. The impact of HAART on the respiratory complications of HV infection: longitudinal trends in the MACS and WHS cohorts. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e58812.
- 34 Telisinghe L, Fielding KL, Malden JL, et al. High tuberculosis prevalence in a South African prison: the need for routine tuberculosis screening. *PLoS ONE* 2014;9: e87262.
- 35 Fletcher CM. Standardised questionnaire on respiratory symptoms: a statement prepared and approved by the MRC Committee on the Aetiology of Chronic Bronchitis (MRC breathlessness score). Br Med J 1960;2:1665.
- 36 Gingo MR, Balasubramani GK, Rice TB, et al. Pulmonary symptoms and diagnoses are associated with HV in the MACS and WHS cohorts. BMC Pulm Med 2014;14:75.
- 37 Higgins J, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 5.1. 0. Vol. 5. The Cochrane Collaboration 2011.

Respiratory epidemiology

- 38 Bor J, Herbst AJ, Newell ML, et al. Increases in adult life expectancy in rural South Africa: valuing the scale-up of HIV treatment. Science 2013;339:961–5.
- 39 Smit M, Brinkman K, Geerlings S, et al. Future challenges for clinical care of an ageing population infected with HIV: a modelling study. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2015;15:810–8.
- 40 Shivakoti R, Yang WT, Gupte N, et al. Concurrent Anemia and Elevated C-Reactive Protein Predicts HIV Clinical Treatment Failure, Including Tuberculosis, After Antiretroviral Therapy Initiation. Clin Infect Dis 2015;61:102–10.
- 41 Daskabpoulou M, Rodger A, Philips AN, et al. Recreational drug use, polydrug use, and sexual behaviour in HV-diagnosed men who have sex with men in the UK: results from the cross-sectional ASTRA study. Lancet HIV 2014;1:e22–31.
- Helleberg M, May MT, Ingle SM, et al. Smoking and life expectancy among HIV-infected individuals on antitetroviral therapy in Europe and North America. AIDA 2015;29:221–9.
- 43 Blano V, Gilmour S, Mofflet T, et al. Global trends and projections for tobacco use, 1990–2025: an analysis of smoking indicators from the WHO Comprehensive Information Systems for Tobacco Control. Lancet 2015;385:966–76.
- 44 Heleberg M, Afzal S, Kronborg G, et al. Mortality attributable to smoking among HV-1-infected individuals: a nationwide, population-based cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2013;56:727–34.
- 45 Jones PW, Quirk FH, Baveystock CM, et al. A self-complete measure of health status for chronic airflow limitation. The SL George's Respiratory Questionnaire. Am Rev Respiratory Dis 1992;145:1321–7.
- Respir Dis 1992;145:1321–7.
 Ferris BG. Epidemiology Standardization Project (American Thorack Society). Am Rev Respir Dis 1978;118Pt 2):1–120.
- 47 Wada Å, Bream JH, Martinez-Maza O, et al. Inflammatory biomarkers predict mortality among HV-suppressed men: a multisite prospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2016;63:984–90.
- 48 Bahrami H, Budoff M, Haberlen SA, et al. Inflammatory Markers Associated With Subclinical Coronary Artery Disease: the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;5:e003371.
- 49 Drummond MB, Kunisaki KM, Huang L. Obstructive Lung Diseases in HIV: a Clinical Review and Identification of Key Future Research Needs. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2016;37:277–88.

© 2017 The Authors HIV Medicine published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British HIV Association. HIV Medicine (2017), 18, 604-612

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Respiratory health status is impaired in UK HIV-positive adults with virologically suppressed HIV infection

J Brown,^{1,2} JA McGowan,³ H Chouial,⁴ S Capocci,^{1,2} C Smith,³ D Ivens,⁴ M Johnson,⁴ L Sathia,⁴ R Shah,⁴ FC Lampe,³ A Rodger,^{3,4} and M Lipman,^{1,2}

¹Department of Respiratory Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK, ²UCL Respiratory, Division of Medicine, University College London, London, UK, ³Research Department of Infection and Population Health, University College London, London, UK and ⁴Departments of Sexual Health and HIV Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

Objectives

We sought to evaluate whether people living with HIV (PLWH) using effective antiretroviral therapy (ART) have worse respiratory health status than similar HIV-negative individuals.

Methods

We recruited 197 HIV-positive and 93 HIV-negative adults from HIV and sexual health clinics. They completed a questionnaire regarding risk factors for respiratory illness. Respiratory health status was assessed using the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) and the Medical Research Council (MRC) breathlessness scale. Subjects underwent spirometry without bronchodilation.

Results

PLWH had worse respiratory health status: the median SGRQ Total score was 12 [interquartile range (IQR) 6–25] in HIV-positive subjects *vs.* 6 (IQR 2–14) in HIV-negative subjects (P < 0.001); breathlessness was common in the HIV-positive group, where 47% compared with 24% had an MRC breathlessness score ≥ 2 (P = 0.001). Eighteen (11%) HIV-positive and seven (9%) HIV-negative participants had airflow obstruction. In multivariable analyses (adjusted for age, gender, smoking, body mass index and depression), HIV infection remained associated with higher SGRQ and MRC scores, with an adjusted fold-change in SGRQ Total score of 1.54 [95% confidence interval (CI) 1.14–2.09; P = 0.005] and adjusted odds ratio of having an MRC score of ≥ 2 of 2.45 (95% CI 1.15–5.20; P = 0.02). Similar findings were obtained when analyses were repeated including only HIV-positive participants with a viral load < 40 HIV-1 RNA copies/mL.

Conclusions

Despite effective ART, impaired respiratory health appears more common in HIV-positive adults, and has a significant impact on health-related quality of life.

Keywords: lung, patient reported outcome, quality of life, respiratory, smoking

Accepted 30 November 2016

Introduction

Antiretroviral therapy (ART) has transformed HIV infection into a manageable chronic condition [1]. Despite this, people living with HIV (PLWH) continue to have

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes. higher rates of comorbidities such as cardiovascular [2] and renal disease [3], as well as some malignancies [4]. There is also evidence that, despite ART, PLWH may have a higher prevalence of chronic respiratory illness [5]. For instance, in the large US Veterans Aging Cohort Study, after adjustment for smoking status and other characteristics, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) was 50–60% more common in PLWH than in HIV-negative participants [6]. The development of persistent, noncommunicable respiratory disease such as COPD in HIV-positive individuals may impact significantly on their quality of life [7].

Correspondence: Dr James Brown, Department of Respiratory Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK. Tel: 0207 7940500 ext. 34304; fax: 0207 7940500 ext. 319 28; e-mail: james. brown13@nhs.net

There are, however, limitations to the currently available data concerning chronic respiratory disease in HIV-positive people on ART. In particular, most reported studies have included significant proportions of participants without virological suppression. Also, results may be influenced by residual confounding factors such as tobacco smoking and recreational drug use. Furthermore, most studies assessing respiratory health in HIV-positive populations have focused on objective measurements of lung function (such as spirometry) rather than the subjective impact of respiratory impairment on health-related quality of life [5, 8]. This is an important issue, as respiratory symptoms can correlate poorly with objectively measured lung function [9], yet may have a significant effect on quality of life. There is a need, therefore, to better understand the degree to which PLWH with access to effective ART have worse respiratory health than HIVnegative individuals (with similar risk factors), and the impact of this on their quality of life [10].

The use of validated patient-reported outcome measures allows the systematic evaluation of the impact of pathologies on health-related quality of life, and enables direct comparisons to be made between different groups and populations. These instruments can attempt to quantify general health status (such as the EuroQoL 5D 5L (EQ5D)) or may be disease or organ specific [e.g. the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ)]. In this study, we used these measures to provide an assessment of overall respiratory health (rather than an assessment specific to one condition such as COPD) – which we refer to as "respiratory health status".

We sought to evaluate whether respiratory health status was impaired in a contemporary (on ART) HIVinfected population and to test the hypothesis that HIVpositive adults have worse respiratory health than HIV-negative people with similar risk factors; to assess whether impaired respiratory health correlated with spirometric impairment in this population, and to explore the effect of potential confounding factors such as smoking, recreational drug use, and physical and mental comorbidities. In addition, for those with HIV infection, we describe the relationship between HIV-related factors such as blood CD4 count, HIV load and duration of HIV infection and respiratory health status.

Methods

Study population

We conducted a cross-sectional observational study in the HIV ambulatory care service and sexual health clinics (at Royal Free and Barnet Hospital sites) of the Royal Free London NHS Trust, London, UK from February to July 2015. Consecutive clinic patients were invited to take part in the study when they attended routine care appointments. Subjects provided written informed consent, London sexual health clinics were chosen as the site for recruitment of HIV-negative participants as this population was anticipated to have similar lifestyle characteristics, including smoking behaviours, to the HIV clinic population. As service users in the sexual health clinics were significantly younger than those attending clinics for HIV care, recruitment in sexual health clinics was restricted to those over the age of 35 years to achieve a sample that approximated the age of the HIV-positive participants. There were no exclusion criteria for the HIV-positive group. Ethical approval was granted by the London - Camden and Islington Research Ethics Committee (14/LO/1646).

Procedures

Participants completed a questionnaire including items on risk factors for respiratory illness, smoking and recreational drug use and health-related quality of life (using the EQ5D) [11,12,13]. As depression might affect the experience and expression of respiratory symptoms (and therefore act as an important confounding factor), symptoms of depression were evaluated using the Patient Health Questionnaire – 9 (PHQ-9) (a scale providing scores of 0–27, where scores of \geq 10 suggest the presence of moderate or severe depressive symptoms [14]). Respiratory health status was measured using (a) the SGRQ and (b) the Medical Research Council dyspnoca (breathlessness) scale, a scale with scores from 1 to 5 recording the severity of breathlessness on exertion [15, 16].

The SGRQ is a patient-reported outcome measure which quantifies respiratory health using a 50-item selfcompleted questionnaire [15]. Responses are translated onto a scale from 0 to 100 in which higher scores indicate worse respiratory health status, with domains assessing symptoms, activities and impacts as well as a total score. Although initially developed for use in asthma and COPD, it is not disease-specific and has been widely used in other respiratory conditions.

Subjects underwent spirometry without bronchodilation (Carevision Micro I spirometer, Beckton Dickinson, New Jersey, USA) and had their height and weight measured. Normal values for spirometry were calculated using the Global Lung Function Initiative equations [17]; airflow obstruction was defined as an Forced Expiratory Volume in one second (FEV1)/ Forced Vital Capacity (FVC) of < 0.7. For current and past blood test results, data were obtained from hospital databases with participant consent. Self-

reported HIV status was noted and not independently confirmed in the sexual health clinic population.

Statistical analysis

Data were recorded and analysed in EXCEL (Microsoft) and spss version 22 (IBM, New York, USA). Univariable comparisons between HIV-positive and -negative participants were undertaken using χ^2 and Fisher's exact tests for categorical variables and unpaired t-tests or Mann-Whitney U-tests for continuous variables, as appropriate. To adjust for participant characteristics and to assess the independent associations of factors with respiratory measures, multivariable regression analyses were performed. SGRQ Total scores were log-transformed to normalize their distribution for these analyses. Multivariable linear regression analyses were used to assess factors independently associated with log-transformed SGRQ Total scores and estimates were then back-transformed to derive adjusted fold-changes in SGRQ score for covariates of interest. Multivariable logistic regression models were used to assess factors independently associated with having an MRC dysphoea score of ≥ 2 . For the multivariable analyses, a core set of variables of importance were selected a priori (age, tobacco smoking, gender and HIV status) and, following univariable analysis, additional variables found to be significantly associated at the 5% level with respiratory health status were added to the multivariable model.

Results

Study participants

Of 402 individuals invited to participate, 290 (72%) agreed: 197 HIV positive and 93 HIV negative. Recruitment of HIV-negative individuals was lower as fewer eligible individuals attended these clinics over the study period - however, the response rate was similar, being 75% among HIV-positive individuals and 73% among HIV-negative individuals. Demographics and details of comorbid conditions are listed in Tables 1 and 2.

The median blood CD4 count of HIV-positive participants was 627 cells/µL [interquartile range (IQR) 456-838 cells/µL]; 171 (94%) of PLWH reported using ART, with a median duration of treatment of 7 years. Eightynine per cent of all PLWH and 93% of those using ART had an undetectable plasma HIV load (< 40 HIV-1 RNA copies/ mL) at their last clinic visit. The median nadir CD4 count of this cohort was 250 cells/µL (IQR 122-365 cells/µL). No significant differences were found in gender, educational attainment or being non-UK born between HIV-positive and -negative participants, but PLWH were more often

Table 1 Comparison of demographic characteristics between HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants

	HIV-positive (n = 197)	HIV-negative (n = 93)	P-value
Gender			
Male [n (%)]	158 (80)	64 (71)	0.09*
Age (years) [median (IQR)]	50 (42-55)	43 (38-52)	0.025
BMI (kg/m ²) [mean (SD)]	25.84 (5.04)	25,36 (4.23)	0.434 [×]
Race/ethnicity [n (%)]			
White	143 (72)	54 (60)	0.003
Black	37 (20)	15 (17)	
Other	15 (8)	24 (26)	
Born in UK [n (%)]	121 (62)	49 (54)	0.24*
Gender/sexuality [n (%)]			
MSM	131 (66)	25 (27)	< 0.001
MSW	27 (14)	37 (40)	
Female	37 (20)	24 (28)	
Not stated	0	5 (5)	
Highest educational attainment	[n (%)]		
None	24 (12)	10 (12)	0.64
GCSE or equivalent	28 (14)	7 (8)	
A level or equivalent	31 (16)	14 (16)	
University degree or higher	106 (54)	50 (59)	
Other	6 (3)	4 (5)	
Employment [n (%)]			
Full-time	92 (47)	59 (67)	0.015
Part-time	22 (11)	11 (12)	
Unemployed	25 (13)	5 (6)	
Retired	18 (9)	4 (4)	
Student	5 (3)	1 (1)	
Not working because of ill health	28 (14)	4 (5)	
Other	6 (3)	5 (5)	

BML body mass index: GCSE. General Certificate of Secondary Education: IQR, interquartile range; MSM, men who have sex with men; MSW, men who have sex with women; SD, standard deviation.

χ² test. Mann-Whitney U-test.

Fisher's exact test. Independent samples t-test.

ethnically white (72% is. 60%, respectively; P = 0.001).

HIV-negative participants had a lower median age than those recruited from the HIV ambulatory care clinic (43 vs. 50 years, respectively; P = 0.05) and were more likely to be heterosexual (71% is. 32%, respectively; P < 0.01).

The HIV-positive and -negative groups had similar reported prevalences of a range of physical comorbidities (asthma, COPD, diabetes, heart disease and stroke). However, symptoms of depression were more common in the HIV-positive group: 39 (20%) of the HIV-positive group and 13 (14%) of the HIV-negative group had PHQ-9 scores of \geq 10, indicating moderate/severe depression (P = 0.64).

Smoking and recreational drug use

Sixty (30%) HIV-positive and 31 (33%) HIV-negative participants were current smokers; 54 (28%) and 22 (25%), respectively, were ex-smokers (Table 3). In smokers, PLWH reported more intensive smoking than HIV-negative individuals, with

Table 2 Comparison of comorbidities and their management between HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants

rative a shrowing and recreational drug as	Table 3	Smoking	and	recreational	drug	use
--	---------	---------	-----	--------------	------	-----

	HIV-positive (n = 197)	HIV-negative (n = 93)	P-value
Diagnosis of comorbid conditions (self-report), eve	r [n (%)]	
Asthma	36 (18)	21 (23)	0.34
COPD/emphysema	9 (5)	1 (1)	0.18
Cancer (any)	9 (5)	3 (3)	0.76
Heart disease	11 (6)	4 (4)	0.78
Stroke	3 (1)	1 (1)	10
Diabetes	10 (5)	6 (7)	0.59
Currently receiving treatment for depression [n (%)]	40 (20)	8 (9)	0.02*
Patient Health Question naire – 9 score [median (IQR)]	4 (1–8)	2 (0-6)	0.007
Patient Health Question naire $= 9$ score $\ge 10 [n (%)]$	39 (20)	13 (14)	0.254
Self-reported history of immunizati	ion against [n (N	e)]	
Influenza in past 12 months	138 (70)	27 (30)	< 0.01
Streptococcus pneu monia (ever)	5D (26)	6 (7)	< 0.01
Use of inhaled	24 (12)	15 (17)	0.30*
medications (any) [n (%)]			
Undertakes physical activity	115 (59)	63 (71)	0.05*
at least once per week [n (%)]			
History of acute respiratory illness			
in past year [n (%)]			
Sinusitis	23 (12)	7 (8)	0.41
Bronchitis	6 (3)	3 (3)	1.0
Chest infection	39 (20)	11 (12)	0.132
Cold or flu serious enough	54 (28)	19 (21)	0.307
to miss work or stop normal activities			
Pneumonia	3 (1.5)	0	0.55
Any acute respiratory illness	93 (47)	30 (32)	0.02*

COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; IQR, interquartile range. Fisher's exact test.

χ² test. Mann-Whitney U-test.

a median of 15 (IQR 8-20) is. 10 (5-13) cigarettes per day for current smokers, respectively (P < 0.001).

Past recreational drug use was more often reported in those with HIV infection, with 60% indicating drug use ever compared with 48% of HIV-negative participants (P = 0.05). No significant differences were found in the proportion of participants indicating any recreational drug use in the past 3 months.

Spirometry, respiratory symptoms and health-related quality of life

Spirometry was within normal limits in most people: 18 (11%) HIV-positive and seven (9%) HIV-negative participants had evidence of airflow obstruction (FEV1/ FVC < 0.7) (P = 0.55).

The MRC dyspnoea and SGRQ scores suggested a higher prevalence of breathlessness and respiratory health status impairment in PLWH (Table 4). SGRQ scores were higher in the HIV-positive group for all domains, with

	HIV-positive (n = 197)	HIV-negative (n = 93)	P-value
Smoking [n (%)]			
Current smoker	60 (30)	31 (33)	081
Ex-smoker	54 (27)	22 (24)	
Never smoker	80 (41)	37 (40)	
Not stated	3 (1.5)	3 (3)	
Cigarettes smoked per day	15 (8-20)	10 (5-13)	< 0.01*
(current smokers only)			
[median (IQR)]			
Most cigarettes smoked	20 (15-30)	12.5 (7.5-20)	0.04*
per day in the past			
[median (IQR)]			
Currently using electronic	20 (18)	8 (16)	083*
cigarettes [n (%)]			
History of recreational drugs use, eve	er [n (%)]		
Any	118 (61)	41 (48)	0.07 ^m
Cannabis	98 (51)	35 (41)	Q15 ^D
Cocaine (smoked)	23 (12)	3 (3)	Q03 ^D
Cocaine (sniffed or	71 (37)	21 (25)	Q05 ^{CI}
rubbed in gums)			
Ecstasy/Gamma-hydroxybutyrate/	72 (36)	13 (14)	< 0.001
ketamine/			
crystal meth			
Heroin (smoked)	13 (7)	1 (1)	Q07 ¹⁷
Heroin (injected)	7 (4)	1 (1)	0.44
History of recreational drug use in la	ist 3 months [n	r (%)]	
Any	58 (30)	18 (20.7)	Q15 ^D
Cannabis	39 (20)	14 (16.1)	Q51 ^D
Cocaine (smoked)	3 (1)	0	Q55 ^{CI}
Cocaine (sniffed or	13 (7)	8 (9)	Q.47
rubbed in gums)			
Ecstasy/Gamma-hydroxybutyrate/	22 (11)	3 (3)	0.025
ketamine/crystal meth			
Heroin (smoked)	3 (1)	0	Q55 ^{CI}
Heroin (injected)	0	0	-

[OR, interquartile range. Fisher's exact test. "Mann-Whitney U-test. *2² test.

median SGRQ Total scores of 12 in the PLWH and 6 in HIV-negative participants (P < 0.01). Breathlessness was more common in the HIV-positive group, with 47% having an MRC dysphoea score ≥ 2 (on a scale of 1-5), suggesting at least moderate breathlessness, compared with 25% of the HIV-negative participants (P = 0.001); 13% of HIV-positive vs. 1% of HIV-negative participants had MRC dysphoea scores of ≥ 3 (P = 0.001).

There was no significant difference in general healthrelated quality of life scores between the HIV-positive and HIV-negative groups, with median EQ5D (UK) index values of 0.88 and 0.85 (P = 0.06) and median Visual Analogue Scale scores of 78 and 72, respectively (P = 0.46).

Factors associated with respiratory health status impairment in univariable analyses

In addition to HIV status, we explored other possible contributors to impaired respiratory health in the whole

Table 4	Respiratory	symptoms and	health status
---------	-------------	--------------	---------------

	HIV-positive (n = 197)	HIV-negative (n = 93)	P-value
FEV,			
Mean (SD) (L)	3.49 (0.87)*	3.25 (0.76)*	0.56 ^A
% predicted	93	91	
RVC			
Mean (SD) (L)	4.29 (1.05)*	3.95 (0.91)*	0.23
% predicted	91	89	
FEV ₁ /FVC < 0.7 [n (%)]	18 (11)*	7 (9)*	0.50
MRC dysphoea scale [n (%)]			
1. Not troubled by	99 (53)	61 (75)	0.02
breathlegeness except			
on strenuous exercise			
2. Short of breath when	62 (33)	1 (24)	
hurrying or walking up a			
slight hill			
3. Walk slower than	8 (4)	1 (1)	
contemporaries on level ground			
or have to stop for breath when			
walking at your own pace			
Stop for breath after walking	13 (7)	1 (d)	
about 100 m or after a few			
minutes on level ground			
5. Too breathless to leave the	4 (2)	0 (d)	
house, or breathless when			
dressing/undressing			
St George's Respiratory Questionnaire	e (median (IQR))		
Symptoms	25 (7-48)	18 (0-29)	< 0.01*
Activity	17 (6-36)	12 (0-19)	< 0.01*
Impacts	5 (0-15)	0 (0-6)	< 0.01*
Total	12 (6-25)	6 (2–14)	< 0.01*

IOR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation. *157 (80%) HIV-positive and 74 (80%) HIV-negative participants had acceptable spirometry results. ^At-test; comparison of FEV % predicted. ^at-test; comparison of FVC % predicted.

Fisher's exact test. Mann-Whitney U-test

study sample (Table S1). Higher SGRQ scores were associated with impaired lung function, with a median total SGRQ score of 28.5 (IQR 7.2-41.9) in people with an FEV₁ < 80% predicted compared with 9.1 (IQR 4.4-17.4) in those with an FEV₁ in the normal range (P < 0.01). Symptoms of depression were associated with impaired self-reported respiratory health status: median SGRQ Total scores were 26.5 in the 52 participants with PHQ-9 scores of ≥ 10, and 7.7 in the 238 participants with PHQ-9 scores < 10.</p>

Combining HIV-positive and HIV-negative groups, no significant associations were found between gender, ethnicity, smoking status or recreational drug use and impaired respiratory health status in univariable analyses. An association between body mass index (BMI) and SGRQ Total score was seen (with higher scores in those with BMI < 20 or > 25), which approached statistical significance (P = 0.07).

Associations between HIV-related parameters and respiratory health

In analyses restricted to HIV-positive participants, neither current nor nadir CD4 count was significantly associated with higher SGRQ Total score (although trends were seen for higher scores being related to lower current or nadir blood CD4 counts). No significant difference in median SGRQ Total score was identified in those with and without an HIV load < 40 copies/mL (Table 5). After adjustment for age in a log-scale linear regression model, there was a trend towards higher SGRQ Total scores in people with a longstanding HIV diagnosis. A significant association was present between higher SGRQ Total score and longer interval from HIV diagnosis to starting ART.

Multivariable analysis of factors associated with respiratory health status including all participants

To allow adjustment for potential confounding factors, we constructed multivariable (log scale) linear regression models including all participants, with log SGRQ as the dependent variable. In addition to those factors chosen a priori (smoking status, age and gender), PHQ-9 scores and BMI were also included as they reached statistical significance at the 5% level in univariable analysis.

After adjustment for these other factors, HIV infection remained independently associated with an increased SGRQ Total score, with a 54% higher SGRQ Total score compared with HIV-negative individuals [adjusted fold-change 1.54; 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.14-2.09; P = 0.005] (Table 6). Depression (PHQ-9 score ≥ 10) was also independently associated with a higher SGRQ Total score (adjusted fold-change 1.90; 95% CI 1.42-2.53; P < 0.001).

We found similar factors to be independently associated with an MRC dyspnoea score ≥ 2 in a multivariable logistic regression model (Table S2). Here, the adjusted odds ratio (aOR) for an MRC dyspnoea score of ≥ 2 was 2.84 (95% CI 1.35-6.00; P = 0.006) in HIV-positive compared with HIV-negative participants. Independent associations were found with female gender (aOR 4.69; 95% CI 1.85-11.45; P = 0.001) and depression (aOR 6.30; 95% CI 2.75-14.46; P < 0.001).

Comparing HIV-positive participants with an undetectable HIV viral load with HIV-negative participants

As other studies have suggested that untreated HIV infection is associated with chronic respiratory impairment [18, 19], a greater prevalence of respiratory symptoms

	HIV-positive participants [<i>n</i> (%)]	SGRQ Total [median (IQR)]	Unadjusted fold-change in SGRQ* (95% CI)	Age-adjusted fold-change in SGRQ (95% CI)*	P-value*
Current CD4 cou	unt (cells/µL)				
0-350	19 (11)	20 (6-35)	1.53 (0.88-2.18)	1.57 (0.94-2.62)	0.109
350-500	30 (18)	16 (9-34)	1.39 (091-2.54)	1.40 (0.90-2.19)	
≥ 500	119 (71)	11 (6-20)	Reference		
Viral load < 40 (copies/mL at last clinic review				
No	19 (11)	15 (5-67)	1.31 (0.78-2.19)	1.52 (0.89-2.57)	0.12
Yes	149 (89)	13 (6-25)	Reference		
Nadir CD4 count	t (cells/µL)				
0-100	35 (21)	17 (7-43)	1.80 (0.98-3.32)	1.65 (0.88-1.74)	0.112
100-250	47 (28)	16 (8-33)	1.52 (0.85-2.73)	1.40 (0.76-2.55)	
250-500	67 (40)	12 (6-17)	1.04 (0.60-1.81)	1.0 (0.57-3.09)	
≥ 500	17 (10)	10.5 (4-14)	Reference		
Time since HIV of	fagnosis (years)				
> 20	47 (27)	16 (8-37)	1.72 (1.14-2.61)	1.56 (1.01-2.43)	0.067
10-20	62 (36)	11 (6-25)	1.24 (0.85-1.83)	1.19 (0.80-1.76)	
< 10	62 (36)	10 (4-20)	Reference		
Time between H	IV diagnosis and ART (years)				
> 10	33 (20)	21 (11-48)	1.90 (1.23-2.91)	1.79 (1.17-2.75)	0.004
5-10	43 (25)	9 (5-26)	1.00 (0.68-1.45)	0.95 (0.64-1.39)	
< 5	93 (55)	12 (5-21)	Reference		
Duration of ART	exposure				
> 10	68 (49)	17 (7-37)	1.73 (1.13-2.64)	1.58 (10-2.49)	0.148
5-10	26 (19)	13 (7-24)	1.54 (0.87-2.70)	1.41 (0.78-2.52)	
< 5	46 (33)	9 (4-21)	Reference		

Table 5 Associations between HIV-related factors and St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) Total score

ART, antiretroviral therapy; Cl, confidence interval; IQR, interquartile range.

*Log-scale linear regression model.

Table 6 Associations with St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) Total score in multivariable log-scale linear regression analysis

	Adjusted fold-change in SGRQ* (95% CI)	P-value
HIV status		
HIV positive	1.58 (1.18-2.12)	0.002
HIV negative	Reference	
Age (per 1 year older)	1.01 (1.01–1.02)	0.335
Gender		
Female	1.37 (0.96-1.09)	0.083
Male	Reference	
Depression (PHQ-9)		
≥ 10	2.77 (1.98-3.88)	<0.001
< 10	Reference	
Body mass index (kg/m²)		
< 20	1.18 (0.68-1.74)	0.681
≥ 20 < 25	Reference	
≥ 25 < 30	1.18 (0.85-1.37)	
≥ 30	1.23 (0.8-1.42)	
Smoking		
Current smoker	1.23 (0.89-1.24)	0.408
Ex-smoker	101 (0.72-2.57)	
Never smoker	Reference	

CI, confidence interval.

*Log-scale linear regression model.

within the PLWH population as a whole might result from increased symptoms only among HIV-positive individuals not yet taking ART, or on ART without

virological suppression. We therefore undertook a subgroup analysis comparing HIV-negative participants with HIV-positive participants whose HIV viral load was measured as being undetectable (< 40 copies/mL) within 6 months of the study visit. Participants who declined consent to access clinical records were excluded from this analysis, leaving 157 HIV-positive participants with documented virological suppression, compared with the 93 HIV-negative participants. Those with virological suppression had similar demographic characteristics to the PLWH study population as a whole (Table S3) and had a median CD4 count of 684 (IQR 473-839) cells/µL. The differences in respiratory health scores between HIV-positive (HIV suppressed) and HIV-negative groups were similar to those present in the complete data set: median SGRQ Total scores were 12 (IQR 6-25) and 6 (IQR 2-14), respectively (P < 0.001); and seventy (47.3%) of the HIV-positive group had MRC dyspnoea scores of ≥ 2 compared with 20 (24.7%) of the HIV-negative group (P = 0.001). In a log-scale linear regression model (including the same predictive factors as the whole-group analysis), HIV status remained independently associated with a higher SGRQ Total score, with a similar effect size to that in the whole group (fold-change in SGRQ 1.53; 1.13-2.06; P = 0.007).

Sensitivity analysis

To further explore the possible effect of the difference in age distribution between the HIV-positive and HIV-negative groups, we undertook a sensitivity analysis where we examined only those aged \leq 52 years (the 75th centile of the HIV-negative participants). Using this restricted analysis (including 127 HIV-positive and 69 HIV-negative participants), the age distributions were similar, with a median age of 42 years in both groups. The previously demonstrated differences remained, with median SGRQ Total scores of 11.2 (IQR 6–20) in the PLWH and 6.2 (IQR 3–15) in the HIV-negative group (P = 0.01). MRC dyspnoea scores were also higher, with 55 (46%) of the HIVpositive and 16 (27%) of the HIV-negative participants having a MRC dyspnoea score \geq 2 (P = 0.01).

Discussion

We compared HIV-positive individuals to an HIV-negative group with similar exposures to risk factors such as tobacco smoking. Our results suggest that HIV infection remains associated with impaired respiratory health despite virological suppression on ART. Although some differences were present in the age and ethnicity compositions of our two groups, these could not explain the differences in respiratory health status seen after adjustment in multivariable analyses.

Breathlessness was common in HIV-positive participants, with 47% of PLWH reporting this to be present and of at least moderate severity, compared with 25% of the HIV-negative participants. Using the SGRQ respiratory health questionnaire (which assesses not only respiratory symptoms but also the impacts on activity and quality of life), we found a 6-point difference in the median total score between HIV-positive and HIV-negative groups (a minimum clinically important difference in SGRQ being around 4 points [20]), suggesting that there is a meaningful impairment of the respiratory health of PLWH. This difference was present despite the prevalence of airflow obstruction in our HIV-positive subjects (11%) being lower than that reported in other HIV-positive populations (for instance 23% in Italy and 27% in the USA [8, 21]). Of note, there was also no difference in the prevalence of airflow obstruction in our study between the HIV-positive and HIV-negative groups.

To our knowledge, no other study has used patientreported outcomes to compare respiratory health status in HIV-positive and HIV-negative populations. Two previous reports used the SGRQ to evaluate respiratory health in HIV-positive adults: Hirani *et al.* evaluated 98 consecutive HIV-positive individuals (84% male) attending HIV care services in Philadelphia, USA, and found a mean SGRQ Total score of 7 [22]; in contrast, Leung et al. reported a mean SGRQ Total score of 32 in 199 HIV-positive men attending care services in Vancouver, Canada [9]. Our data therefore provide the first estimate of the difference in respiratory health (as experienced by individuals) between HIV-positive adults with optimized access to ART and HIV-negative adults.

What might be contributing to these findings? Impairment of lung function not measured by spirometry may be present, which could result from a higher frequency of respiratory infection prior to effective ART and lead to long-term lung damage [23]: this could also result from the direct effect of HIV in the lung [24]. Other possibilities include cardiovascular disease or other nonrespiratory comorbidities which can lead to respiratory symptoms. Depression was strongly associated with impaired respiratory health in our population and this may contribute to the burden of physical symptoms (although it should be noted that the difference in respiratory health status persisted after adjustment for depression in our population). Persistent HIV-associated immune dysregulation despite ART may also contribute an effect documented in the development of atherosclerosis [25]. This hypothesis is supported by Attia et al.'s finding that levels of circulating CD14 are associated with radiographic emphysema in HIV-positive individuals [26]. Prospective studies are needed to determine the relative importance of these possible causes.

The strengths of our study include the presence of an HIV-negative control group with similar exposures to tobacco smoking and recreational drugs and the use of well-validated measures of respiratory health status. Our high response rate (72%) suggests that participants were representative of the wider clinic population, who in turn are similar to the UK HIV-infected population as a whole [27].

Limitations include recruitment at a single study site and the cross-sectional nature of the data collected, meaning that temporality cannot be established. As people were not randomly selected to participate, recruitment bias is possible. Spirometry was our only objective measure of lung function, whereas several studies have suggested that impairment of gas transfer is more common than airflow obstruction in PLWH [28, 29]. The differences in age and ethnicity between groups could have influenced our results; however, our findings persisted after adjustment in multivariable analyses; and our sensitivity analysis is reassuring in that the difference in age distribution between HIV-positive and HIV-negative participants appeared to have little impact on the results.

Finally, we relied on self-reported HIV status in the HIVnegative participants, so we cannot exclude the possibility that HIV-positive or undiagnosed individuals were included in this group. However, we believe that this is unlikely to be a major issue as the prevalence of undiagnosed HIV infection in our sexual health clinics is low (data not shown). If this did occur, it would have acted to weaken the association between HIV infection and respiratory health status impairment.

Interventions that can preserve the respiratory health of people with chronic HIV infection are needed. The earlier use of ART may reduce non-AIDS-related comorbidities, including respiratory illness - although, notwithstanding a median duration of follow-up of only 2.8 years, this was not associated with differences in lung function decline in the recent Strategic Timing of Antiretroviral Treatment (START) trial [30]. However, the impaired respiratory health of PLWH despite effective virological suppression found in our study suggests that more than ART alone is required to maintain the health of this population. Reducing the effect of known risk factors such as tobacco is important, as many HIV-positive populations have high rates of smoking [31, 32]. Thus, the provision of appropriate smoking cessation services should be a priority. However, why HIV infection is associated with apparent worse respiratory health even in never-smokers remains uncertain and requires further investigation.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Chloe Lam, Anna Giedroyc, Ellie Bennett and Jayde Dix for their assistance in data management for this project.

Author contributions

J.B., S.C. and M.L. planned the study and obtained permissions; J.B., J.McG., H.C., D.I., M.J., L.S. and R.S. recruited participants for the study; J.B., J.McG., C.L., F.L., A.R. and M.L. analysed the data; J.B. created the first draft of the manuscript; all authors reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

References

- Smith CJ, Ryom L, Weber R et al. Trends in underlying causes of death in people with HIV from 1999 to 2011 (D: A:D): a multicohort collaboration. Lancet 2014; 384: 241–248.
- 2 Metkus TS, Brown T, Budoff M et al. HIV infection is associated with an increased prevalence of coronary

noncalcified plaque among participants with a coronary artery calcium score of zero: multicenter AIDS Cohort Study (MACS). HIV Med 2015; 16: 635–639.

- 3 Althoff KN, McGinnis KA, Wyatt CM et al. Comparison of risk and age at diagnosis of myocardial infarction, end-stage renal disease, and non-AIDS-defining cancer in HIV-infected versus uninfected adults. *Clin Infect Dis* 2015; 60: 627–638.
- 4 Kirk GD, Merlo C, O'Driscoll P et al. HIV infection is associated with an increased risk for lung cancer, independent of smoking. Clin Infect Dis 2007; 45: 103–110.
- 5 Drummond MB, Kirk GD. HIV-associated obstructive lung diseases: insights and implications for the clinician. Lancet Respir Med 2014: 2: 583–592.
- 6 Crothers K, Butt AA, Gibert CL, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, Crystal S, Justice AC. Increased COPD among HIV-positive compared to HIV-negative veterans. *Chest* 2006; 130: 1326– 1333.
- 7 Drummond MB, Kirk GD, McCormack MC et al. HIV and COPD: impact of risk behaviors and diseases on quality of life. Qual Life Res 2010; 19: 1295–1302.
- 8 Madeddu G, Fois AG, Calia GM et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an emerging comorbidity in HIV-infected patients in the HAART era? Infection 2013; 41: 347–353.
- 9 Leung JM, Liu JC, Mtambo A et al. The determinants of poor respiratory health status in adults living with human immunodeficiency virus infection. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2014; 28: 240–247.
- 10 Jones P, Miravitlles M, van der Molen T, Kulich K. Beyond FEV(1) in COPD: a review of patient-reported outcomes and their measurement. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2012; 7: 697–709.
- 11 Janssen MF, Pickard AS, Golicki D et al. Measurement properties of the EQ-5D-5L compared to the EQ-5D-3L across eight patient groups: a multi-country study. Qual Life Res 2013; 22: 1717–1727.
- 12 van Hout B, Janssen MF, Feng YS et al. Interim scoring for the EQ-5D-5L: mapping the EQ-5D-5L to EQ-5D-3L value sets. Value Health 2012; 15: 708-715.
- 13 Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Qual Life Res 2011; 20: 1727–1736.
- 14 Cannon DS, Tiffany ST, Coon H, Scholand MB, McMahon WM, Leppert MF. The PHQ-9 as a brief assessment of lifetime major depression. *Psychol Assess.* 2007 Jun; 19: 247–251.
- 15 Jones PW, Quirk FH, Baveystock CM, Littlejohns P. A selfcomplete measure of health status for chronic airflow limitation. The St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 145: 1321–1327.
- 16 Stenton C. The MRC breathlessness scale. Occup Med 2008; 58: 226–227.

- 17 Quanjer PH, Stanojevic S, Cole TJ et al. Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95-yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. Eur Respir J 2012; 40: 1324–1343.
- 18 Drummond MB, Merlo CA, Astemborski J et al. The effect of HIV infection on longitudinal lung function decline among IDUs: a prospective cohort. AIDS 2013; 27: 1303– 1311.
- 19 Diaz PT, King ER, Wewers MD et al. Increased susceptibility to pulmonary emphysema among HIV-seropositive smokers. Ann Intern Med 2000 Mar 7; 132: 369–372.
- 20 Jones PW. St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire: MCID. COPD 2005; 2: 75–79.
- 21 Drummond MB, Huang L, Diaz PT et al. Factors associated with abnormal spirometry among HIV-infected individuals. AIDS 2015; 29: 1691–1700.
- 22 Hirani A, Cavallazzi R, Vasu T et al. Prevalence of obstructive lung disease in HIV population: a cross sectional study. Respir Med 2011; 105: 1655–1661.
- 23 Morris AM, Huang L, Bacchetti P et al. Permanent declines in pulmonary function following pneumonia in human immunodeficiency virus-infected persons. The Pulmonary Complications of HIV Infection Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162: 612–616.
- 24 Popescu I, Drummond MB, Gama L et al. Activation-induced cell death drives profound lung CD4(+) T-cell depletion in HIV-associated chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2014; 190: 744–755.
- 25 Hsu DC, Ma YF, Hur S et al. Plasma IL-6 levels are independently associated with atherosclerosis and mortality in HIV-infected individuals on suppressive ART. AIDS 2016; 30: 2065–2074.
- 26 Attia EF, Akgun KM, Wongtrakool C et al. Increased risk of radiographic emphysema in HIV is associated with elevated soluble CD14 and nadir CD4. Chest 2014; 146: 1543–1553.

- 27 Yin Z, Brown A, Hughes G et al. HIV in the United Kingdom 2014 Report: Data to End 2013. London, UK, Public Health England, 2014.
- 28 Crothers K, McGinnis K, Kleerup E et al. HIV infection is associated with reduced pulmonary diffusing capacity. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013; 64: 271–278.
- 29 Fitzpatrick ME, Gingo MR, Kessinger C et al. HIV infection is associated with diffusing capacity impairment in women. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013; 64: 284–288.
- 30 Kunisaki K, Niewoehner D, Collins G et al. Lung function decline in HIV: effects of immediate versus deferred ART treatment on lung function decline in a multi-site, international, randomized controlled trial. European AIDS Conference: Barcelona 2015.
- 31 Miners A, Phillips A, Kreif N et al. Health-related quality-oflife of people with HIV in the era of combination antiretroviral treatment: a cross-sectional comparison with the general population. Lancet HIV 2014; 1: e32–e40.
- 32 Helleberg M, May MT, Ingle SM et al. Smoking and life expectancy among HIV-infected individuals on antiretroviral therapy in Europe and North America. AIDS 2015; 29: 221– 229.

Supporting Information

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article at the publisher's web-site:

Table S1. Univariable associations between participant characteristics and respiratory health status impairment. Table S2. Multivariable logistic regression of associations between MRC score ≥2 and participant characteristics. Table S3. Comparison of HIV positive participants with an undetectable HIV viral load and HIV negative participants.

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Access to influenza immunisation services by HIV-positive patients in the UK

Influenza is an important cause of morbidity in HIV-positive adults, who may be more susceptible and more likely to develop severe disease.^{1,2} Annual influenza immunisation is recommended for all HIV-positive adults in the UK, supported by British HIV Association (BHIVA) guidelines,¹ with evidence for reasonably good uptake.⁵ HIV services do not receive specific funding to provide immunisation; and the National Flu Immunisation Programme offers this instead via primary care and pharmacies.⁴ Whether this meets the needs of people living with HIV has not been evaluated.

To inform the design of services for influenza immunisation we undertook a survey of adults attending a metropolitan HIV service during autumn/winter 2015-2016. Participants were asked about their behaviour regarding influenza immunisation and preferences for services used to obtain this (Appendix). We obtained written consent to access clinical records and contact participants later in the season to establish whether immunisation had been received. We also documented whether participants consented to share details of their HIV status with their GP (General Practitioner), as we hypothesised that this might affect their ability to access influenza immunisation.

A total of 253 individuals participated: their median age was 48 years (IQR 41-54); 80% were male; 62% were White, 22% were Black and 4% were of Asian ethnicity. The median blood CD4 count was 627 cells/ μ L (IQR 434-873), 96% were using antiretroviral therapy, and 76% had an undetectable HIV load.

immunisation

TABLE 1 Relationship between participant characteristics and uptake of

	Was participant i	15-2016 season?				
	Yes (n = 176)	No (n = 53)	Unknown (n = 24)	P value		
Gender*						
Female n (row %)	37 (68)	12 (23)	5 (9)	.92		
Male n (row %)	136 (71)	38 (20)	18 (9)			
Race/ethnic origin						
White n (row %)	109 (70)	34 (22)	13 (8)	.884		
Black n (row %)	35 (64)	12 (22)	8 (14.5)			
Other n (row %)	16 (80)	3 (15)	1 (5)			
Mixed n (row %)	6 (86)	1 (14)	0			
Not stated n (row %)	10 (67)	3 (20)	2 (13)			
Age, years, median (IQR)	49 (43-55)	46 (39-50)	44 (39-51)	.005		
Blood CD4 count (cells/ µL) median (IQR) ^b	625 (429-867)	627 (473-881)	636 (459-840)	.979-		
Plasma HIV load <40 copie	es/mL ^b n (row %)					
Yes	143 (71.5)	40 (20)	17 (8)	.413*		
No	25 (66)	9 (24)	4 (10)			
Consent to contact Gener	Consent to contact General practitioner (GP) n (row %)					
Yes	134 (74)	35 (20)	11 (6)	.05**		
No	30 (61)	11 (22)	S (16)			

*Chi-Squared test.

Kruskal-Wallis test.

3 participants did not state their gender.

^bblood results available for 240 participants.

**calculation excludes 25 participants with no details regarding consent to GP contact.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

© 2017 The Authors. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Overall, 212 participants (84%) were aware of the recommendation for annual influenza immunisation. A total of 176 individuals (70%) were immunised during the 2015-2016 influenza season, 53 (21%) were not and in 24 (9%) we had no record of immunisation status as they did not respond to follow-up. Uptake did not differ significantly by gender, ethnicity, CD4 count or HIV load; those immunised were slightly older than those who were not (median 49 compared to 46 years, P = .005) (Table 1).

Of those immunised, 90 (51%) had this in their GP practice, 44 (25%) in an HIV service, 15 (9%) in a pharmacy and 20 (11%) elsewhere (7 individuals did not specify a location). Those immunised in their GP practice or pharmacy were older than those immunised in an HIV care service (mean age 50 and 49 years for those immunised in GP or pharmacies, respectively and 45 years for those immunised in HIV care services, P = .004). Consent to share information between HIV services and primary care appeared to influence uptake: overall, 180 participants (71%) consented to share details of their HIV status with their GP and 49 (19%) did not (for 24 participants this was not recorded). Uptake of influenza immunisation was higher in those consenting to data sharing (74% vs 61%, P = .05); and individuals immunised in primary care were more likely to consent to this than those immunised by HIV services (83% vs 67%, P = .013).

Our data suggest that HIV-positive adults have a reasonable uptake of influenza immunisation and around half of these immunisations are provided in primary care. Uptake was higher amongst people who consented to share details of their HIV status with their GP, and 25% of immunisations were provided by the HIV service. This suggests that the current (reasonably good) uptake of influenza immunisation relies on significant provision by HIV care providers.

The 2015 BHIVA guidelines on the immunisation of HIV-positive adults suggest that HIV services should work in partnership with primary care to ensure that patients receive annual immunisation.³ Exploring the reasons why individuals do not want to share information between HIV services and primary care, and creating mechanisms for sharing clinical data (particularly in a way that is accessible to service users) could enable better targeting of immunisations for those who do not receive these in primary care.

> Elisha Pickett¹ James Brown^{1,2} May van Schalkwyk¹ Alan Hunter¹ Kelly Edwards¹ Sarah Edwards¹ Neal Marshall¹ Leonie Swaden¹ Fiona Burns^{1,8}

WILEY 545

Margaret Johnson¹

Marc Lipman^{1,2}

¹Departments of HIV and Respiratory Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

²UCL Respiratory, Division of Medicine, University College London, London, UK

^aResearch Dept. of Infection & Population Health, University College London, London, UK

Correspondence

Elisha Pickett, Departments of HIV and Respiratory Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK. Email: elisha.pickett@nhs.net

ORCID

James Brown D http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5962-0253

REFERENCES

- Geretti AM, Brook G, Cameron C, et al. British HIV association guidelines on the use of vaccines in HIV-positive adults 2015. HIV Med. 2016;17(Suppl 3):s2-s81.
- Remschmidt C, Wichmann O, Harder T. Influenza vaccination in HIVinfected individuals: systematic review and assessment of quality of evidence related to vaccine efficacy, effectiveness and safety. Vaccine. 2014;32:5585-5592.
- Ellis J, Brown J, Smith C, et al. Influenza immunisation: knowledge and actions taken by UK HIV-positive adults. HIV Med. 2016;17:397-399.
- PHE. Flu plan. Winter 2015/16. London: PHE. https://www.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/526143/ Flu_Plan_Winter_2015_to_2016superseded.pdfMay 2016.

Presented conference abstracts:

British Thoracic Society conference 2015:

P226 IMPAIRED RESPIRATORY HEALTH STATUS IN THE UK HIV INFECTED POPULATION DESPITE THE USE OF ANTIRETROVIRAL THERAPY

¹JP Brown, ²J McGowan, ¹H Chouial, ³S Capocci, ²C Smith, ¹D Ivens, ²F Lampe, ¹M Johnson, ¹L Sathia, ²A Rodger, ¹M Lipman. ¹Departments of Respiratory and HIV Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Trust, London, UK; ²Department of Infection and Population Health, University College London, London, UK; ³Division of Medicine, University College London, London, UK

10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207770.362

Background The widespread use of antiretroviral therapy (ART) has led to a reduction in HIV related opportunistic infections. An increase in chronic non-HIV related co-morbidities has been observed in stable HIV positive individuals receiving ART. The extent to which HIV infection remains an independent risk factor for respiratory disease despite the use of antiretroviral therapy is uncertain and few studies have systematically evaluated respiratory disease in HIV-infected populations with access to antiretroviral therapy.

Aims We sought to evaluate the frequency of (a) smoking and (b) respiratory symptoms and (c) spirometric impairment in the ambulatory UK adult HIV infected population, compared to HIV uninfected controls.

Methods HIV-positive participants were recruited from a large HIV care service, HIV uninfected participants were recruited from Sexual Health services (where recruitment was stratified by age to approximate that of the HIV positive subjects). Participants completed a questionnaire which included questions on smoking history and respiratory health status using the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ), and undertook spirometry without bronchodilation.

Results 249 participants were recruited between April and July 2015 (Table 1). 28% of HIV positive and 33% of HIV negative participants were current smokers (p = 0.22). 9% of HIV positive and 7% of HIV negative participants had an FEV₁/FVC of <0.7 (p = 0.38). 92% of HIV positive participants were using antiretroviral therapy, 86% had an undetectable plasma HIV viral load and mean CD4 count was 684 cells/µL.

Significantly higher SGRQ scores were observed in HIV positive participants than HIV-negative participants with a median total SGRQ score of 12 for those with HIV infection and 8 for the HIV negative participants (p = 0.03). In a linear regression (log scale) model, HIV infection was associated with a 62% increase (95% CI 1.19–2.21, p < 0.01) in SGRQ in unadjusted analysis and 48% increase (1.08–2.02, p = 0.01) in a multivariable analysis adjusting for age, gender and smoking status.

Conclusions Despite widespread use of ART, HIV infection is independently associated with impaired respiratory health status. This does not appear to result from current smoking or obstructive lung disease.

581 FEASIBILITY AND UPTAKE OF ENHANCED SMOKING CESSATION SERVICES WITHIN AMBULATORY HIV CARE

¹C Kyriacou, ¹N Stewart, ¹A Melville, ¹J Brown, ¹K Edwards, ¹R Lloyd, ¹M Johnson, ¹J Flint, ²A Rodger, ¹M Lipman. ¹Royal Free London NHS Trust, London, UK; ²Department of Infection and Population Health, University College London, London, UK

10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207770.87

Background HIV infected individuals are at increased risk of smoking-related illness and smoking rates amongst populations with HIV are often significantly higher than the general population. Interventions that reduce the prevalence of smoking in this population are urgently required.

Aims We sought to establish the impact of initiating regular smoking screening and advice by healthcare assistants (HCAs) or nurses as part of routine care appointments in a HIV ambulatory care service.

Methods Individuals attending for ambulatory HIV care appointments were asked brief screening questions regarding cigarette smoking by Healthcare Assistants (HCAs) or nurses. This was completed whilst clinical observations were performed, allowing this intervention to be delivered as part of routine care. Those who were current smokers were given Very Brief Advice (VBA) regarding smoking cessation and offered referral to smoking cessation services. The number of referrals to smoking cessation services was compared to the six months prior to the introduction of the enhanced service.

Results 1,031 individuals were screened between October 2014 and March 2015: 262 (25%) reported that they were current smokers. 248 (93%) of these smokers were provided with VBA and the opportunity of referral to smoking cessation services. Of these, 103 (38%) accepted referral compared to 6 referrals from the HIV outpatient service in the preceding 6 months.

Conclusions An intervention to ask service users about smoking and provide smoking cessation advice can be undertaken as part of routine care in an ambulatory HIV care service and is effective in identifying smokers and increasing referrals to smoking cessation services. Further work will evaluate the impact of this intervention in HIV positive subjects.

European Respiratory Society congress 2016:

Attitudes to smoking and quitting in UK HIV positive adults: Would more education help?

James Brown, Jennifer McGowan, Hende Choual, Santino Capocci, Colette Smith, Daniel Ivens, Fiona Lampe, Margaret Johnson, Alison Rodger, Marc Lipman European Respiratory Journal 2016 48: PA4603; DOI: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.PA4603

Abstract

Background: HIV infection is associated with increased risk of smoking-related illness, yet people living with HIV (PLWH) are more likely to smoke than the general population in the UK.

Aims: To explore attitudes towards smoking and readiness to quit in adult PLWH compared to HIV negative individuals.

Methods: Cross-sectional observational study: PLWH were recruited from a metropolitan HIV care service; HIV negative participants were recruited from Sexual Health clinics. Participants completed a questionnaire including details of tobacco smoking, attitudes towards smoking cessation and beliefs regarding HIV-related respiratory illness.

Results: 402 individuals were invited, of whom 197 PLWH and 93 HIV negative participants of similar demographic and socioeconomic backgrounds agreed. 30% and 33% respectively were current smokers and 28% vs 25% ex-smokers (p=0.94). 65% of PLWH and 59% of HIV negative smokers either intended to, or wished to, stop smoking (p=0.56). When asked to rate the importance of stopping smoking on a 1-10 scale, there was no significant difference in mean scores between HIV positive and negative participants. Only 33% of PLWH agreed with the statement that there is an increased risk of developing lung cancer and 21% agreed that HIV is associated with the early onset of smoking-related lung disease.

Conclusions: Our data suggest that PLWH should be priority group for smoking cessation services and HIV status does not adversely affect desire to quit smoking. Most PLWH were unaware of an increased risk of non-communicable respiratory illness associated with HIV, so provision of information regarding this might help to reduce tobacco use in this population.

Provision of influenza immunisation for UK HIV positive adults

Elisha Pickett, May Van Schalkwyk, James Brown, Kelly Edwards, Neal Marshall, Sarah Edwards, Leenah Sathia, Maragaret Johnson, Marc Lipman European Respiratory Journal 2016 48: PA2606; DOI: 10.1183/13993003.congress-2016.PA2606

Abstract

Background: Annual influenza immunisation (FI) is recommended for people living with HIV (PLWH) in the UK but HIV services do not receive specific funding for this, whereas GP practices and pharmacies do. High uptake of FI requires services that are easy to access. We explored behaviour and attitudes towards the provision of FI amongst PLWH in the UK.

Methods: Cross-sectional survey of uptake of influenza immunisation, services used and patient attitudes towards FI in a metropolitan HIV care service.

Results: 209 individuals responded to the questionnaire of whom 171 (81%) were aware of the recommendation for annual influenza immunisation for PLWH. 136 (65%) had received FI; 23 (11%) planned to do so and 40 (24%) did not want to be immunised. Of those immunised, 71 (54%) received this in their GP practice, 31(23%) in their HIV care service, 10 (8%) at a pharmacy and 24 (18%) elsewhere. Of the 33 individuals who did not plan to have FI this year, 28 (85%) reported that this was because they did not want it, 3 (9%) indicated that they did not know where to get it and 2 (6%) reported allergy to the products used. When asked if they would be able to receive the FI at their GP practice, 109/153 (73%) of respondents reported that they would be prepared to do this. Of the 45 who reported that they could not receive FI at their GP practice, 36 (80%) reported that they would prefer it to be given in their HIV service.

Conclusion: We found high levels of awareness of the need for FI, and reasonable uptake. Most immunisations were provided by GP practices, although one-quarter prefer to be immunised in their HIV care service. Resources for influenza immunisation of HIV positive individuals should facilitate patient choice.

European Respiratory Society congress 2017

High frequency of unexplained breathlessness among UK HIV positive adults

James Brown, Elisha Pickett, Santino Capocci. Sara Madge, Mike Youle, Lucy Brookes, Margaret Johnson, Swapna Mandal, John Hurst, Marc Lipman European Respiratory Journal 2017 50: PA2601; DOI: 10.1183/1393003.congress-2017.PA2601

Abstract

Background: Antiretroviral therapy (ART) has transformed the lives of people living with HIV (PLWH). However, non-communicable non-AIDS conditions (including cardiovascular and respiratory disease) appear increasingly common.

Aims: To evaluate: (1) the proportion of PLWH who report breathlessness; (2) whether this is explained by known cardiac or respiratory diagnoses, or measured airflow obstruction.

Methods: Cross-sectional study of PLWH attending a HIV care service and age and gendermatched HIV negative individuals. Breathlessness was assessed using the MRC Dyspnoea scale and health-related quality of life with the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) and EuroQoL 5D. Details of relevant exposures and comorbidities were collected and spirometry performed.

Results: We recruited 318 HIV positive and 166 HIV negative adults (median age 49 years in both groups, 81% and 74% male, 28% vs 30% current smokers). 89% of PLWH had an undetectable HIV load. PLWH were more likely to report breathlessness: 41% (131/318) of HIV positive compared to 19% of HIV negative participants (32/166) had an MRC breathlessness score >1 (p<0.001). Of the 131 PLWH with an MRC score >1, 80 (61%) had no known cardiac or respiratory diagnosis or evidence of airflow obstruction. Therefore 25% (80/318) of PLWH had unexplained breathlessness compared to 18/166 (11%) controls (p<0.001). Those with an MRC dyspnoea score >1 also had significantly worse SGRQ and EQ5D scores than those with an MRC dyspnoea score of 1.

Conclusions: unexplained breathlessness appears to be twice as common in an ART-treated HIV population compared to controls. Management strategies are needed to address an unmet need that is present in around 1 in 4 patients.

British HIV Association conference 2018

P185

Is there a difference in the frequency or severity of acute respiratory illness between HIV-positive and -negative individuals?

<u>J Brown</u>¹, E Pickett², C Smith¹, T Mahungu², D Lowe², S Madge², M Youle², M Sachikonye³, M Johnson², J Hurst¹, T McHugh¹, I Abubakar¹ and M Lipman¹ ¹University College London, London, UK, ²Royal Free London NHS Trust, London, UK, ³UK-CAB, HIV Treatment Advocates Network, London, UK

Background: A growing prevalence of chronic non-communicable respiratory illness is recognised among people living with HIV (PLWH). Mechanisms underlying this are unclear: one possible cause could be a greater incidence and/or severity of acute respiratory illness despite antiretroviral therapy. We therefore sought to evaluate whether the frequency or severity of acute respiratory illness differed by HIV status now that most PLWH are using antiretroviral therapy (ART).

Methods: In this prospective observational cohort study, PLWH and age, gender and tobacco smoking matched HIV negative participants were followed for 12 months with weekly documentation of any acute respiratory illness using standardised illness definitions. Severity of illness was assessed using a scale asking about 9 different symptoms and impacts, each scored out of 6 points, where a higher score corresponded to more severe symptoms.

Results: 136 HIV positive and 73 HIV negative participants were recruited and followed-up for 12 months; the median number of weeks for which data were reported by each participant was 44/52 weeks (85%). Participants had a mean (SD) age of 50 (11) and 52 (8) years respectively; all but one HIV positive participant was using ART and 87% had an HIV viral load <40 copies/ml, HIV positive participants had a median (IQR) CD4 count of 686 (458-848) cells/µl. The frequency of acute respiratory illness did not differ with HIV status (incidence rate ratio in PLWH 0.87, (95% CI 0.65-1.12, p=0.28). However, when Acute Respiratory Illnesses occurred, HIV positive participants reported more severe symptoms, with a median total symptom score at the time of reporting illness of 14 points (IQR 8-22.5) in HIV positive and 9 (4.25-14) in HIV negative participants (p<0.001).

Conclusions: In an HIV positive population using ART with good levels of virological suppression, the frequency of acute respiratory illness did not differ compared to HIV negative individuals, but PLWH reported more severe symptoms when these illnesses occurred. Further work should evaluate whether this reported difference in severity reflects underlying changes in immune response despite antiretroviral therapy.

BHIVA Research Award Winner 2015, James Brown

P191

No difference in the detection of pathogenic respiratory pathogens between HIV-positive individuals using ART and matched negative individuals

J Brown¹, S Rofael¹, E Pickett², C Smith¹, I Abubakar¹, T McHugh¹ and M Lipman¹ ⁷University College London, London, UK, ²Royal Free London NHS Trust, London, UK

Background: Severe bacterial respiratory infections remain a significant cause of morbidity and mortality among people living with HIV (PLWH) despite the provision of antiretroviral therapy. A possible explanation is a greater frequency of bacterial colonisation by bacterial respiratory pathogens among PLWH.

Methods: As part of a cohort study evaluating acute respiratory illness among PLWH and a matched HIV negative population, we measured the prevalence of three common respiratory pathogens (*Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Moraxella catarrhalis*) in sputum samples obtained at baseline (when participants had no symptoms of acute respiratory illness). Culture-independent multiplex quantitative PCR assays were used to determine the prevalence and bacterial loads of these pathogens. Results: 65 sputum samples from PLWH and 36 from HIV negative individuals were tested. Mean (SD) age of participants was 52 (9.5) years; PLWH had a median (IQR) CD4 count of 700 (471–848) cells/µl.

Overall, one or more of the three respiratory pathogens were detected in 71 (69%) of samples. There were no significant differences in the prevalence of detectable bacterial pathogens between HIV and negative participants with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* detected in 55% of samples from PLWH and 44% from HIV negative participants (p=0.29), *Haemophilus influenzae* from 41 and 33% respectively (p=0.31) and *Moraxella catarrhalis* from 8 and 14% respectively (p=0.89). The only significant difference in the quantitative bacterial load in those with bacteria detected was that the concentration of *Haemophilus influenzae* was lower in samples from HIV positive participants (median (IQR) count 8×10^2 ($2 \times 10^2 - 3 \times 10^3$) vs. 1×10^4 ($2 \times 10^3 - 7 \times 10^4$, p=0.01).

Conclusions: There was no evidence of a difference by HIV status in frequency of airway colonisation with the three commonest bacterial respiratory pathogens. Other causes of the higher incidence of bacterial pneumonia should be sought.

BHIVA Research Award Winner 2015, James Brown

A6096 / 810 - The Effect of HIV Status on the Frequency of Acute Respiratory Illness: A Longitudinal Cohort Study

Participant

J. Brown¹, E. Pickett¹, C. Smith², S. Rofael³, T. Mahungu¹, D. Lowe⁴, S. Madge⁵, M. Youle⁵, M. Johnson¹, J. R. Hurst⁶, T. McHugh³, I. Abubakar⁷, M. C. I. Lipman⁸;

¹Respiratory Medicine, Royal Free Hospital, London, United Kingdom, ²Infection and Population Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ³Centre for Clinical Microbiology, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴Clinical Immunology, Royal Free Hospital, London, United Kingdom, ⁵HIV Medicine, Royal Free Hospital, London, United Kingdom, ⁶Division of Medicine, UCL, London, United Kingdom, ⁷Institute for Global Health, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁸Royal Free Hospital, London NW3 2QG, United Kingdom.

Abstract

Background: Acute respiratory illness is an important cause of morbidity and mortality among people living with HIV (PLWH). The provision of antiretroviral therapy (ART) has improved the outcome of many HIV-related conditions, but whether the use of ART means that PLWH have the same frequency of acute respiratory illness as HIV negative individuals is not known. Understanding this would guide clinical management and might reveal mechanisms leading to the development of chronic lung disease in this population. Methods: In this prospective observational cohort study, PLWH and HIV-negative participants matched by age, gender and tobacco smoking were followed for 12 months with weekly documentation of acute respiratory illnesses. Baseline data collected included respiratory health status measured using the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ). An acute respiratory tract illness was defined as the new occurrence of any of the following symptoms: cough, sore throat, blocked or runny nose with or without a sensation of facial pain or pressure, breathlessness or pain on breathing. Results: One hundred and forty three HIV positive and 73 HIV negative participants were recruited. Seventy-nine per cent of HIV positive and 75% of HIV negative participants were male (p=0.33), the median age in both groups was 51 years. HIV positive participants had a median (IQR) blood CD₄ count of 686 (458-848) cells/µL; 92% of HIV positive participants were using ART and 87% had an HIV viral load < 40 copies/ml. HIV positive participants reported greater impairment in respiratory health status at baseline with median (IQR) SGRQ Total scores of 13 (5-28) vs 6 (2-9), p<0.001. 418 acute respiratory illnesses were reported during 12 months of follow-up (median of 2, range between 0 and 9 events per participant). Overall, there was no significant difference in the incidence of acute respiratory illness between HIV positive and negative participants (IRR (95%CI) 0.86 (0.70-1.06)), p=0.15. Conclusions: In a population with a high uptake of antiretroviral therapy and good levels of virological suppression, the frequency of acute respiratory illness did not differ between HIV positive and negative individuals. Differences in the severity or patterns of acute respiratory illness in HIV positive and negative individuals require further investigation.